
  Page 1 
 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 
SANITATION DISTRICT 

Post Office Box 339, Oceano, California  93475-0339 
1600 Aloha, Oceano, California 93445-9735 

Telephone (805) 489-6666  FAX (805) 489-2765 
www.sslocsd.us 

 
 

AGENDA 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

VIRTUAL ZOOM MEETING 
Please click the link below to join the webinar: 

 
Wednesday, July 07, 2021 at 6:00 p.m. 

 
Board Members                                                             Agencies 
Linda Austin, Chair                  Oceano Community Services District 
Jeff Lee, Vice Chair       City of Grover Beach 
Caren Ray Russom, Director                   City of Arroyo Grande 
 
Alternate Board Members  
Karen Bright, Director           City of Grover Beach 
Lan George, Director       City of Arroyo Grande 
Shirley Gibson, Director       Oceano Community Services District 
 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82262033793?pwd=MkVMVHdFVm9ZTnlnakFLNWQ5ODZlUT09 

Passcode: 110898 
 

Or Telephone 
 

1 669 900 6833 
1 408 638 0968 
1 346 248 7799 
1 253 215 8782 
1 301 715 8592 
1 312 626 6799 
1 646 876 9923 

Webinar ID: 822 6203 3793 
Passcode: 110898 

International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kenxCeJwwP 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

3. AGENDA REVIEW 
 

http://www.sslocsd.us/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82262033793?pwd=MkVMVHdFVm9ZTnlnakFLNWQ5ODZlUT09
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kenxCeJwwP


  Page 2 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON ITEMS NOT APPEARING ON AGENDA 
Public Participation: 
 
In order to prevent and mitigate the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, the District, in 
accordance with Executive Order N-29-20, will not make available a physical location from 
which members of the public may observe the meeting and offer public comment. Remote 
public participation is allowed in the following ways: 
 
Community members are encouraged to submit agenda correspondence in advance of 
the meeting via email to the District Secretary at amy@sslocsd.us prior to the 
meeting and will be published on the District website. Agenda correspondence received 
less than 3 hours before the meeting start time may not be posted until after the meeting. 
Members of the public may watch the meeting either on cable Channel 20 or as streamed 
on SLOSPAN https://slo-span.org/static/index.php 
 
Alternatively, members of the public may watch the meeting and speak during general 
Public Comment or on a specific agenda item by logging in to the Zoom webinar using the 
information provided above. Please use the “raise hand” feature to indicate your desire to 
provide public comment. Each speaker will be allowed three minutes to provide input. 
 
This public comment period is an invitation to members of the community to present 
comments, thoughts or suggestions on matters not scheduled on this agenda.  Comments 
should be limited to those matters which are within the jurisdiction of the District.  The 
Brown Act restricts the Board from taking formal action on matters not published on the 
agenda.  In response to your comments, the Chair or presiding Board Member may: 

• Direct Staff to assist or coordinate with you. 
• Direct Staff to place your issue or matter on a future Board meeting 

agenda. 
Please adhere to the following procedures when addressing the Board: 

• Comments should be limited to three (3) minutes or less. 
• Your comments should be directed to the Board as a whole and not 

directed to individual Board members. 
• Slanderous, profane or personal remarks against any Board Member, Staff 

or member of the audience shall not be permitted 
Any writing or document pertaining to an open-session item on this agenda which is 
distributed to a majority of the Board after the posting of this agenda will be available for 
public inspection at the time the subject writing or document is distributed.  The writing or 
document will be available for public review in the offices of the Oceano CSD, a member 
agency located at 1655 Front Street, Oceano, California.  Consistent with the Americans 
with Disabilities Act (ADA) and California Government Code §54954.2, requests for 
disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may 
be made by a person with a disability who requires modification or accommodation in order 
to participate at the above referenced public meeting by contacting the District 
Administrator or Bookkeeper/Secretary at (805) 481-6903.  So that the District may 
address your request in a timely manner, please contact the District two business days in 
advance of the meeting. 

  

mailto:amy@sslocsd.us
https://slo-span.org/static/index.php


  Page 3 
 

5. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
The following routine items listed below are scheduled for consideration as a group.  Each 
item is recommended for approval unless noted.  Any member of the public who wishes 
to comment on any Consent Agenda item may do so at this time.  Any Board Member may 
request that any item be withdrawn from the Consent Agenda to permit discussion or to 
change the recommended course of action.  The Board may approve the remainder of the 
Consent Agenda on one motion. 
 
5A.  Approval of Warrants  
5B. Approval of Meeting Minutes of June 16, 2021 
 

6. ACTION ITEMS:  
 

6A. CONSIDERATION OF ADOPTING A RESOLUTION GRANTING COST OF 
LIVING ADJUSTMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS TO THE MEMORANDUM 
OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO 
COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT AND SERVICE EMPLOYEES’ 
INTERNATIONAL UNION LOCAL 620 

 
Recommendation: the Board Adopt Resolution No. 2021-429 which Grants Cost 
of Living Adjustments and Modifications to Benefits for the Memorandum of 
Understanding between the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District and 
the Service Employees’ International Union Local 620, Exhibit “A”. 
 

6B.  COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENTS AND BENEFITS FOR NON-REPRESENTED 
EMPLOYEES 

 
Recommendation: the Board Adopt Resolution No. 2021-430, granting Cost of 
Living Adjustments and Modifications to Benefits for Non-Represented Full-Time 
Employees, Exhibit “A”. 

 
6C. ADOPTION OF DISTRICT SALARY SCHEDULE, AS REQUIRED BY 

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (CALPERS) 
REGULATIONS, EXHIBIT “A”. 
 
Recommendation:  Adopt Resolution No. 2021-431 Adopting a Publicly Available 
Pay Schedule for Fiscal Years 2021, 2022 and 2023 in accordance with California 
Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) regulations, Exhibit “A”. 
 

6D. UPDATES AND REVISIONS TO PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL  
 

Recommendation:  The Board adopt Resolution No. 2021-432 amending and 
updating the District’s Personnel Policy Manual, Exhibit “A”. 

 
6E. DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR AND PLANT OPERATIONS REPORT 

  
Recommendation:  Receive and File. 
 

7. BOARD MEMBER COMMUNICATIONS: 
 



  Page 4 
 

8. CLOSED SESSION:  
 

Public Employee Performance Evaluation pursuant to Government Code 
Section 54957:  
 
Title: District Administrator 

 
9. ADJOURNMENT: 
 

The next regularly scheduled Board Meeting will be held August 4, 2021, at 6:00 pm. 
This meeting will be held either virtually via ZOOM or depending on the status of 
the COVID-19 Emergency at the Oceano Community Services District Board Room, 
1655 Front Street, Ocenao, California 93445 

 
 



VENDOR BUDGET LINE ITEM DETAIL WARRANT NO. ACCT ACCT BRKDN TOTAL
ARAMARK UNIFORMS 04/02; 05/28; 06/04; 06/11 0618/21-5373 7025 1,635.70 1,636
AT&T COMMUNICATIONS JUNE 11, 2021- JULY 10, 2021 5374 7013 455.12 455.12
BRENNTAG PLANT CHEMICALS BPI153098 5375 8050 3,338.88 3,338.88
ERIKA FROST CERTIFICATIONS GRADE II TEST 5376 7055 155.00 155.00
FED EX CHEMICAL ANALYSIS 7-400-81621 5377 7078 20.95 20.95
FGL ENVIRONMENTAL CHEMICAL ANALYSIS 181230A 5378 7078 3,559.50 3,559.50
I.I. SUPPLY EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 77523; 77626; 77570 5379 8030 445.99 445.99
JB DEWAR FUEL 115418 5380 8020 98.40 98.40
JONES & MAYER LEGAL COUNSEL MAY 2021 5381 7071 1,966.50 1,966.50
KEMIRA PLANT CHEMICALS 9017715326 5382 8050 8,727.30 8,727.30
MARCEL ALAIN PHOTOGRAPHY REDUNDANCY DRONE FOOTAGE 5383 20-7080 275.00 275.00
MC MASTER CARR EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 59875717 5384 8030 28.92 28.92
NBS AGENCY BILLING OCEANO JULY THROUGH SEPTEMBER 5385 7074 1,685.37 1,685.37
NEWEGG BUSINESS SCADA PO 2021-049 5386 20-7060 3,280.73 3,280.73
OCSD REDUNDANCY OCSD PROJECT # 6579 5387 20-7080 140.00 140.00
OILFIELD ENVIRONMENTAL CHEMICAL ANALYSIS 2100948; 2103484; 2103545 5388 7078 354.00 354.00
PC MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 21547;21565 5389 8030 1,800.00 1,800.00
PG&E ELECTRIC 05/11/21-06/09/21 5390 7091 17,113.26 17,113.26
POLYDYNE PLANT CHEMICALS 1552375 5391 8050 9,497.48 9,497.48
POWER FLO PRODUCTS STRUCTURE MAINTENANCE FFR PUMP NO. 1 REHAB 5392 26-8065 2,163.05 2,163.05
REGIONAL GOVT. SERVICES HUMAN RESOURCES MAY 2021 5393 7005 403.05 403.05
RINCON REDUNDANCY BIOLOGICAL MONITORING 5394 20-7080 446.25 20,010.29

COASTAL HAZARDS MONITORING MAY 2021 7020 19,564.04
ROYAL INDUSTRIAL SOLUTIONS STRUCTURE MAINTENANCE 7842-1002028 5395 26-8065 1,240.99 1,240.99
SANTA MARIA FAMCON PIPE STRUCTURE MAINTENANCE S1000056745.001 5396 26-8065 540.54 540.54
SPRINT COMMUNICATIONS 05/04/21-06/03/21 5397 7014 163.71 163.71
USA BLUEBOOK EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 633313; 58756 5398 8030 148.97 148.97

ARAMARK UNIFORMS 06/25/2021 062821-5399 7025 413.41 413.41
AUTOSYS, LLC SCADA 0023 5400 20-7060 8,205.00 8,205.00
BRENNTAG PLANT CHEMICALS MULTIPLE 5401 8050 10,788.95 10,788.95
CAREN RAY RUSSOM BOARD SERVICE JUNE 5402 7075 200.00 200.00
CAR QUEST AUTOMOTIVE 7314-1243235 5403 8032 6.45 6.45
CARRIE TROUP, CPA FINANCIAL SERVICES 2305 5404 7083 1,327.00 1,327.00
ENERGY RESOURCES CORP. EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE ANNUAL BOILER MAINTENANCE 5405 8030 4,165.88 4,165.88
GRAINGER SAFETY SUPPLY'S 9941428410 5406 8056 138.78 138.78
J.R. FILANC REDUNDANCY CONSTRUCTION 5407 20-7080 1,417,194.80 1,417,194.80
JAN PRO STRUCTURE MAINTENANCE JULY 2021 5408 8060 333.00 333.00
JEFF LEE BOARD SERVICE JUNE 5409 7075 200.00 200.00
LINDA AUSTIN BOARD SERVICE JUNE 5410 7075 100.00 100.00
MNS ENGINEERS, INC REDUNDANCY CM 78080 5411 20-7080 67,020.67 67,020.67
OILFIELD ENVIRONMENTAL CHEMICAL ANALYSIS 2103681 5412 7078 133.00 133.00
READY REFRESH ADMIN BUILDING SUPPLY'S 05/25/21-06/24/21 5413 8035 138.12 138.12
SHIRLEY GIBSON BOARD SERVICE JUNE 5414 7075 100.00 100.00
SPIESS CONSTRUCTION STRUCTURE MAINTENANCE DIGESTER 2 REHAB 5415 26-8065 119,357.22 119,357.22
VWR LAB SUPPLY'S 2021-053: 043 5416 8040 380.42 380.42
TOTAL 1,709,451.40 1,709,451.40

BOARD OF DIRECTORS: DATE:

Chairman Board Member

Board Member Secretary

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT
WARRANT REGISTER

7/7/2021

We hereby certify that the demands numbered serially from 061821-5373 to 062821-5416 together with the supporting evidence have been examined, and that they comply with the 
requirements of the SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT.  The demands are hereby approved by motion of the SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 
SANITATION DISTRICT, together with warrants authorizing and ordering the issuance of checks numbered identically with the particular demands and warrants.



 

Item 5B. Page 1 
 

 SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 
SANITATION DISTRICT 

Post Office Box 339, Oceano, California 93475-0339 
1600 Aloha, Oceano, California 93445-9735 

Telephone (805) 489-6666 FAX (805) 489-2765 
www.sslocsd.org 

__________ 
SUMMARY ACTION MINUTES 

Virtual Zoom Meeting of Wednesday, June 16, 2021 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
Vice Chair Lee called the meeting to order and recognized a quorum. 
 
Present: Jeff Lee, Vice Chair, City of Grover Beach 

Caren Ray Russom, Director, City of Arroyo Grande 
Shirley Gibson, Alternate, Oceano Community Services District 

      
District Staff: Jeremy Ghent, District Administrator 
  Carrie Raven, Assistant District Legal Counsel 
  Amy Simpson, District Bookkeeper/Secretary 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Director Gibson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. AGENDA REVIEW 
 

Motion: Director Gibson motioned to approve the Agenda as presented. 
Second:  Director Lee 

 Action: Approved unanimously by voice vote. 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS ON ITEMS NOT APPEARING ON AGENDA 
 

None. 
 

5. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
5A.  Approval of Warrants  
5B. Approval of Meeting Minutes of June 02, 2021 
5C. First Amendment to the Employment Agreement with District Administrator 

Jeremy Ghent 
 

Administrator Ghent announced that there were some formatting changes made 
to the Attachment of Item 5C.  The revised attachment is on the website.  The 
performance review of the Administrator will take place in July. 
 
Motion: Director Ray Russom motioned to approve Item 5A as presented. 



 

Item 5B. Page 2 
 

Second:  Director Lee 
  Action: Approved 2-0, Director Gibson abstained. 
 

Motion: Director Ray Russom motioned to approve Item 5B as presented. 
Second:  Director Lee 

  Action: Approved 2-0, Director Gibson abstained. 
 

Motion: Director Ray Russom motioned to approve Item 5C the Amendment 
One to the Employment Agreement with District Administrator 
Ghent with the amended staff report. 

Second:  Director Lee 
  Action: Approved 2-0, Director Gibson abstained. 
 

6. ACTION ITEMS: 
 
6A.  PUBLIC HEARING AND ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION NO. 2021-428 

APPROVING BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 
 

Bookkeeper Amy Simpson presented the Fiscal Year 2021/2022 budget with a 
PowerPoint slide show.  This fiscal year the District has a balanced budget with a 
cash reserve of 140.2%. 
 
Director Lee opened the Public Hearing to receive public input regarding the 
adoption of the Budget for Fiscal Year 2021-22. 
 
There was no public comment. 

 
Director Lee closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Motion: Director Ray Russom motioned to adopt Resolution No. 2021-428 

approving the Budget for FY 2021-22. 
Second: Director Gibson 
 
Action: Approved unanimously roll call vote. 
 

6B. DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR AND PLANT OPERATIONS REPORT 
 
Administrator Ghent presented the Administrators Report.  He updated the Board 
on the Redundancy Project, the Central Coast Blue.  He announced that the July 
7th meeting will be via zoom and not cancelled as previously reported.  The District 
intends to reconvene in person meetings beginning on the August 4th meeting at 
the Oceano Community Services District.  The District received a right of way 
permit from CalTrans.    
 
The Board had a brief discussion of where the dirt from the Redundancy Project 
will be going and reconvening District meetings. 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
Action: The Board received and filed this report. 
 



 

Item 5B. Page 3 
 

7. BOARD MEMBER COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Director Ray Russom would like to share the good news of a balanced budget and 
a 140% reserve. 
 
Director Gibson shared that the OCSD is replacing 2½ inch pipes and moving into 
the current century 
 
Director Lee announced that Grover Beach has earmarked some ARPA funding 
for sewer and water.  He also reported that Forrest Frost has passed away.  He 
was 101 and 11 months. 
 

8. ADJOURNMENT: 
 
 6:34 p.m. 

 
THESE MINUTES ARE DRAFT AND NOT OFFICIAL UNTIL APPROVED BY THE 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT A SUBSEQUENT MEETING. 
 



Item 6A. Page 1 
 

 
SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 

SANITATION DISTRICT 
Post Office Box 339 Oceano, California  93475-0339 

1600 Aloha Oceano, California 93445-9735 
Telephone (805) 489-6666 FAX (805) 489-2765 

www.sslocsd.org 
 

______________________________________________________________________ 
STAFF REPORT 

To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Jeremy Ghent, District Administrator 
 
Date:  July 7, 2021 
 
Subject: CONSIDERATION OF ADOPTING A RESOLUTION GRANTING COST OF 

LIVING ADJUSTMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS TO THE MEMORANDUM 
OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO 
COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT AND SERVICE EMPLOYEES’ 
INTERNATIONAL UNION LOCAL 620 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Adopt Resolution No. 2021-429 Which Grants Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) and 
Modifications to Benefits for the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the South San 
Luis Obispo County Sanitation District and the Service Employees’ International Union Local 620, 
Exhibit “A”. 

 
BACKGROUND 
On November 6, 2019, the Board approved a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for 
classifications represented by the Service Employees’ International Union (SEIU) Local 620. 
Within the MOU were provisions for salary Cost of Living Adjustments and changes in benefit 
provisions. 
 
There are six District operator classifications represented by SEIU. Those classifications are 
Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor, Wastewater Plant Senior Operator, Laboratory 
Technician, Wastewater Plant Operator II, Wastewater Plant Operator I, and Wastewater Plant 
Operator-in-Training Intern. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
The item before the Board this evening is a recommendation to authorize salary increases and 
benefit modifications for employees in classifications represented by SEIU. Below are highlights 
of the changes to compensation and benefits followed by a summary of costs.  
 
  



Item 6A. Page 2 
 

Summary of Changes to SEIU MOU: (3 Year Term – 07/01/2021 – 06/30/2024) 
 
Salary: Employees in classifications represented by SEIU are recommended to receive salary 
increases of 3% of base salary in July 2021, 3% of base salary in July 2022, and 3% of base 
salary in July 2023.  
 
Medical: The current MOU uses the Calpers Blueshield Access+ as the basis for establishing the 
District’s contribution toward medical insurance.  Calpers rate changes occur on January 1st of 
each calendar year.  The presented MOU provides that the employee will pay 30% of any increase 
to the cost of the ‘base’ plan. The District will add the remaining 70% annual increase in premiums 
to the ‘District Flex Dollar Contribution’. Previously, the cost share was split 50% between the 
Employee and the District.  
 
Medical Trust/HRA: The current MOU funds $500 annually for each employee for a Health 
Reimbursement Account.  The presented MOU increases this amount to $600 annually.   
 
Standby Pay: Increase to Standby pay.  Currently the District pays $3.13/hr for Standby and 
$0.63/hr for Backup Standby.  The presented MOU provides an increase to both rates.  The new 
rates are $3.75/hr for Standby and $1.00/hr for Backup Standby. 
 
Holidays: The MOU negotiates an additional District holiday for Christmas Eve.  There are now 
14 recognized District holidays. 
 
Vacation Cap: The MOU negotiates an increase to the maximum vacation balance an employee 
can accrue. Currently the maximum accrual is 280hrs.  Vacation hours earned in excess of this 
cap are forfeited.  The presented MOU increases this maximum balance to 320 hrs. 
 
Operator Upgrade 1: The MOU currently provides that an Operator who possesses a certification 
higher than the “Grade” necessary for the position qualifies for a 2.5% increase in base pay.  The 
presented MOU adds the same benefit to the Laboratory Technician position for possessing a 
higher certification than is necessary for the position.  These 2.5% ‘Upgrades’ are non-stackable. 
 
Operator Upgrade 2: The presented MOU provides a $100 monthly stipend to the operator 
assigned the duties of ‘Safety Officer.’ 
 
Market Class Adjustment: The District reviewed Job Class Salaries and the tentative agreement 
includes a one-time 3.5% market adjustment to the Senior Plant Operator position.  Other 
positions were within market. 
 
Staff is recommending the Board adopt Resolution 2021-429 and attachment Exhibit “A”, which 
defines the compensation package for current employees in classifications represented by SEIU. 
 
Options: 

1. Adopt the attached resolution and exhibit defining the compensation package for 
employees in classifications represented by SEIU.  

2. Do not adopt the resolution. 
3. Provide further direction to staff.  

  



Item 6A. Page 3 
 

Fiscal Considerations: 
 

 
 
The estimated cost during the FY 2021/22 is approximately $26,902.  The FY 21/22 Budget 
anticipated increases in payroll costs and there is adequate budget available for these additional 
expenses. 
 
Attachments: 

1. Redlined MOU 
2. Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 2021-429  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2021-429 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 
SANITATION DISTRICT GRANTING COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENTS AND 

MODIFICATIONS TO THE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE 
SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO SANITATION DISTRICT AND THE SERVICE 

EMPLOYEES’ INTERNATIONAL UNION LOCAL 620 
 
WHEREAS, the District employees are committed to providing high quality service; and 
 
WHEREAS, the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District (District) desires to 
remain competitive in salary and benefits that it provides to its employees and to staff its 
plant in an effective and economical manner; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District and SEIU have met and negotiated in good faith for a period of 
approximately three (3) months; and 
 
WHEREAS, to remain competitive, from time to time the District provides cost of living 
adjustments and modifications to benefits; and 
 
WHEREAS, the agreement reached by both sides is memorialized in the Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU), Exhibit “A”; and 
 

CATEGORY COST
Salary 13,011.00$ 
Medical 1,440.00$    
Medical Trust 600.00$       
Standby Pay 4,380.00$    
Holidays 1,668.00$    
Vacation Cap Minimal
Operator Upgrade 1 1,786.00$    
Operator Upgrade 2 1,200.00$    
Market Class Adjustment 2,817.00$    
TOTAL ANNUAL COST 26,902.00$ 



Item 6A. Page 4 
 

WHEREAS, The District reviewed Job Class Salaries and agrees to a onetime 3.5% 
market adjustment to the Senior Plant Operator position. 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Board of South San Luis 
Obispo County Sanitation District hereby approves the changes in the MOU and the 
following Cost of Living Adjustments: 

1. Cost of Living Adjustments for employees in represented classifications as follows: 
a. July 2021 – effective on the first day of the first full pay period in July 2021, a 

three percent (3%) Cost of Living Adjustment to base salary; and 
b. July 2022 – effective on the first day of the first full pay period in July 2022, a 

three percent (3 %) Cost of Living Adjustment to base salary; and 
c. July 2023 – effective on the first day of the first full pay period in July 2023, a 

three percent (3%) Cost of Living Adjustment to base salary; and 
2. Adopt the Memorandum of Understanding between the South San Luis Obispo 

County Sanitation District and Service Employees’ International Union Local 620 
for the period of July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2024, Exhibit “A”. 

 
The District Administrator, or his/her designee, is hereby authorized and directed to take 
all steps necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the South San Luis County Sanitation 
District Board of Directors held this 7th day of July 2021. 
 
On the motion of ___________________seconded by______________, and after the 
following roll call vote:  
 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
CONFLICTS:  
 
________________________________________________ 
Linda Austin, Chair 
Board of Directors  
South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District  
 
 
ATTEST: 
  APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
DISTRICT SECRETARY 
 BY: 
 DISTRICT COUNSEL 
 
 
 CONTENTS: 
 



Item 6A. Page 5 
 

 BY:   
 DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR 

 



 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BY AND BETWEEN 

THE SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO 
COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 

AND 
THE SERVICE EMPLOYEES 

INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 620  
 
 

 
July 1, 20212019 through June 30, 20242021 

  

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 1



SEIU MOU - Page 2 of 24 
 

 
Table of Contents 
1 DESIGNATION OF THE PARTIES ........................................................................................................................ 5 

A. PARTIES ......................................................................................................................................................................... 5 
B. RECOGNITION ................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

2 DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................................................................... 5 
A. FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES ................................................................................................................................................ 5 
B. PART-TIME EMPLOYEES ................................................................................................................................................ 5 

3 REPRESENTATION ................................................................................................................................................ 5 
A. UNION OFFICERS AND REPRESENTATIVES ................................................................................................................... 5 
B. EMPLOYEE RELATIONS OFFICER .................................................................................................................................. 5 
C. RELEASE TIME ............................................................................................................................................................... 6 

4 MEMBERSHIP AND MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP .................................................................................. 6 
A. DUES/FEE DEDUCTIONS ............................................................................................................................................... 6 
B. LEAVE WITHOUT PAY .................................................................................................................................................... 6 
C. INDEMNIFICATION/HOLD HARMLESS CLAUSE ............................................................................................................... 6 
D. MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP ................................................................................................................................... 6 

5 UNION STEWARDS ................................................................................................................................................ 6 
A. APPOINTMENT ............................................................................................................................................................... 6 
B. RELEASE TIME ............................................................................................................................................................... 6 

6 USE OF DISTRICT FACILITIES ............................................................................................................................. 7 
A. AGREEMENT TO USE BULLETIN BOARD ........................................................................................................................ 7 
B. DISTRICT RIGHT ............................................................................................................................................................ 7 
C. MEETING ROOMS .......................................................................................................................................................... 7 

7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION .................................................................................................................................. 7 
8 STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS ................................................................................................................................... 7 
9 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS RESERVED – RELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ................................... 7 

A. SPECIFIC MANAGEMENT RIGHTS RESERVED ............................................................................................................... 8 
10 EMPLOYEES’ RIGHTS ........................................................................................................................................... 8 

A. REPRESENTATION ......................................................................................................................................................... 8 
B. REFUSAL ........................................................................................................................................................................ 9 
C. RIGHT OF FREE EXERCISE ............................................................................................................................................ 9 
D. EMPLOYEE STATUS ....................................................................................................................................................... 9 

11 UNION RIGHTS ....................................................................................................................................................... 9 
A. LEAVE FOR UNION BUSINESS ....................................................................................................................................... 9 
B. NAMES OF UNIT MEMBERS ........................................................................................................................................... 9 
C. AGENDA ......................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

12 NON-DISCRIMINATION .......................................................................................................................................... 9 
A. APPLICATION ................................................................................................................................................................. 9 
B. UNLAWFUL INTERFERENCE ......................................................................................................................................... 10 

13 PERSONNEL FILES .............................................................................................................................................. 10 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 2



SEIU MOU - Page 3 of 24 
 

A. INSPECTION OF FILES .................................................................................................................................................. 10 
B. COMMENTS AND REVIEW ............................................................................................................................................ 10 
C. AUTHORIZATION TO EXAMINE FILES ........................................................................................................................... 10 

14 WORKING OUT OF POSITION ............................................................................................................................ 10 
15 HOURS OF WORK ................................................................................................................................................ 10 

A. WORK SCHEDULE ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 
B. EMERGENCY RESPONSE ............................................................................................................................................. 11 

16 OVERTIME ............................................................................................................................................................. 11 
A. OVERTIME HOURS ....................................................................................................................................................... 11 
B. WORKING ON A HOLIDAY............................................................................................................................................. 11 
C. OVERTIME AUTHORIZATION ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

17 COMPENSATORY TIME ...................................................................................................................................... 12 
A. DEFINITION .................................................................................................................................................................. 12 
B. COMP TIME OR CASH PAYMENT ................................................................................................................................. 12 
C. ANNUAL CASH OUT ..................................................................................................................................................... 12 

18 STANDBY PAY AND AFTER-HOURS CALL-BACK ......................................................................................... 12 
A. STANDBY ..................................................................................................................................................................... 12 
B. AFTER HOURS CALL-BACK .......................................................................................................................................... 12 

19 HOLIDAYS ............................................................................................................................................................. 13 
A. RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS .............................................................................................................................................. 13 
B. FLOATING HOLIDAY ..................................................................................................................................................... 13 
C. HOLIDAY OBSERVATION .............................................................................................................................................. 13 
D. REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES ............................................................................................................................. 13 

20 VACATION ............................................................................................................................................................. 14 
A. FULL-TIME ACCRUAL BASIS ........................................................................................................................................ 14 
B. PART-TIME ACCRUAL BASIS ........................................................................................................................................ 14 
C. HOLIDAYS DURING VACATION ..................................................................................................................................... 14 
D. PAY-OUT UPON TERMINATION ................................................................................................................................... 14 

21 SICK LEAVE .......................................................................................................................................................... 14 
A. ACCRUAL ..................................................................................................................................................................... 14 
B. USAGE ......................................................................................................................................................................... 14 
C. SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT ................................................................................................................................... 15 
D. SICK LEAVE DONATION ............................................................................................................................................... 15 
E. CONVERSION OF SICK LEAVE ..................................................................................................................................... 15 

22 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ...................................................................................................................................... 16 
23 DEFINITION OF IMMEDIATE FAMILY FOR BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ........................................................... 16 
24 JURY DUTY............................................................................................................................................................ 16 
25 ALLOWANCES ...................................................................................................................................................... 16 

A. BOOT ........................................................................................................................................................................... 16 
B. DAILY UNIFORM ........................................................................................................................................................... 16 
C. CERTIFICATE REIMBURSEMENT .................................................................................................................................. 17 
D. OPERATOR GRADE ...................................................................................................................................................... 17 
E. COMPUTER PURCHASE ............................................................................................................................................... 17 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 3



SEIU MOU - Page 4 of 24 
 

F. LONGEVITY PAY .......................................................................................................................................................... 17 
26 HEALTH .................................................................................................................................................................. 17 

A. EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS FOR ACTIVE EMPLOYEE HEALTHCARE COVERAGE ..................................................... 17 
B. RETIREE HEALTH COVERAGE ..................................................................................................................................... 19 
C. EMPLOYEES HIRED AFTER NOVEMBER 15, 2017 ...................................................................................................... 20 

27 DENTAL AND LIFE INSURANCE........................................................................................................................ 20 
A. DENTAL INSURANCE .................................................................................................................................................... 20 
B. LIFE INSURANCE .......................................................................................................................................................... 21 

28 VISION/DENTAL/MEDICAL TRUST .................................................................................................................... 21 
29 RETIREMENT ........................................................................................................................................................ 21 
30 STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE (SDI)/FICA/MEDICARE .............................................................................. 21 
31 ADVANCEMENT IN SALARY .............................................................................................................................. 22 

A. STEP PLACEMENT ....................................................................................................................................................... 22 
B. STEP INCREASES......................................................................................................................................................... 22 

32 SALARY INCREASE ............................................................................................................................................. 22 
A. SALARY RANGES ......................................................................................................................................................... 22 
B. COMPARABLE AGENCIES ............................................................................................................................................ 23 

33 LAYOFF, BUMPING RIGHTS, REINSTATEMENT ............................................................................................ 23 
34 GRIEVANCE .......................................................................................................................................................... 23 
35 DISCIPLINE AND APPEALS................................................................................................................................ 23 
36 TERM OF MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING .......................................................................................... 24 
37 CONTRACTING OUT ............................................................................................................................................ 24 
38 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE ..................................................................................................................................... 24 

 
  

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 4



SEIU MOU - Page 5 of 24 
 

1 DESIGNATION OF THE PARTIES 

A. Parties 
This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is made by and between the South San Luis 
Obispo County Sanitation District, a California Special District, hereinafter called the 
District, and the Service Employees International Union, CLC, Local 620, hereinafter 
called the Union. 

B. Recognition  
The Union unit was recognized by State Mediation and Conciliation Services on October 
13, 2016. This MOU expressly excludes all employees in classifications not represented 
in the bargaining unit. Represented classifications are: Wastewater Plant Operations 
Supervisor, Wastewater Plant Senior Operator, Laboratory Technician, Wastewater Plant 
Operator II, Wastewater Plant Operator I, and Wastewater Plant Operator-in-Training 
Intern.  

2 DEFINITIONS 

A. Full-Time Employees 
Full-time employees (defined in Personnel Policy Manual Section 2000), are scheduled 
40-hours per work week. Benefits defined in this MOU are based on full-time employment. 

 

B. Part-time Employees 
Part-time employees (defined in Personnel Policy Manual Section 2000), scheduled a 
consistent average of 30 hours per workweek, shall receive a pro-rata portion of paid 
leave and health benefits according to hours worked; and are eligible to participate in 
CalPERS retirement, as determined by CalPERS. 

 

3 REPRESENTATION 

A. Union Officers and Representatives 
The District and the Union agree that Union Officers and Representatives shall be allowed 
to meet with District Representatives for the purposes of meeting and conferring in good 
faith. If meetings occur during working hours, a reasonable number of participating 
employees shall receive reasonable time off without loss of compensation or any other 
benefit when formally meeting and conferring with representatives of the District. For the 
purposes of this MOU, “reasonable number of participating employees” shall be defined 
as one (1) employee, unless the District Administrator deems it appropriate to release 
more than one (1) employee. When determining appropriateness, the District 
Administrator shall consider the effect on the operations of the District. 
 

B. Employee Relations Officer 
The Union agrees to provide the District Employee Relations Officer with a list of Union 
Officers and Representatives who are authorized to Meet and Confer in good faith and to 
keep the list up to date. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 5



SEIU MOU - Page 6 of 24 
 

 

C. Release Time 
The District and Union agree that, upon approval of the District Administrator to release 
employees from their normal duties, Union staff representatives shall be given access to 
working locations during hours of work to conduct grievance investigations, unless doing 
so would unduly disrupt operations. A staff representative is defined as a paid full-time or 
part-time employee of the Union.  

 

4 MEMBERSHIP AND MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP 

A. Dues/Fee Deductions 
Dues shall be processed by the District in the usual and customary manner and time 
frames. 

B. Leave Without Pay 
Employees on an unpaid leave of absence for an entire pay period or more shall have 
dues suspended. 

C. Indemnification/Hold Harmless Clause 
The Union agrees to fully indemnify, defend and hold harmless the District and its officers, 
employees and agents against any and all claims, proceedings, settlements and/or 
liability regarding the legality of this Article or any action taken or not taken by or on behalf 
of the District under this Section.  

D. Maintenance of Membership 
All employees in the bargaining unit who are members and dues payers on the effective 
date of the agreement shall remain dues payers for the duration of the agreement unless 
they choose to drop membership dues in June of each year of the agreement. 

 

5 UNION STEWARDS 

A. Appointment 
The District agrees that the Union may appoint union stewards. The Union shall furnish 
the District Administrator with a current written list identifying by name and work location 
the steward(s) of the Union.  

B. Release Time 
One union steward shall be authorized when participating in the investigation and 
processing of a grievance to take a reasonable amount of District time without loss of 
compensation or benefits to perform these duties, in accordance with Article 3 C of this 
MOU.  

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 6



SEIU MOU - Page 7 of 24 
 

6 USE OF DISTRICT FACILITIES 

A. Agreement to Use Bulletin Board 
The parties agree that the Union shall have the right to use District bulletin board space 
allocated for Union literature and notices at the various work sites. This includes 
allowance of notices of Union meetings, social gatherings, and minutes of Union 
meetings. All Union notices shall clearly state that they are prepared and authorized by 
the Union staff representative. Items posted on District bulletin board space shall not 
contain anything that may be reasonably construed as maligning the District or its 
representatives. The Union agrees not to post any notices that concern job actions or the 
political activities of the Union on any District bulletin board. 

B. District Right 
The District reserves the right to remove any bulletin board notice that does not conform 
to the above standards. The Union will be given immediate notice of any material that is 
removed, and the District agrees to, if requested by the Union, meet and discuss this 
removal as soon as it is mutually convenient. 

C. Meeting Rooms 
Upon prior arrangement with the District Administrator or designee the District may 
provide a meeting room (if available) at no cost to the Union for the purpose of conducting 
meetings. The Union agrees to fully indemnify, defend and hold harmless the District and 
its officers, employees and agents against any and all claims, proceedings, settlements 
and/or liability arising as a result of meetings conducted on District property.  

 

7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION 

The District will supply names, addresses, phone numbers and personal e-mail addresses (if 
available) when employees are hired.  
 

8 STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS 

During the term of this MOU, District agrees that it will not lock out employees, and the Union 
agrees that it will not engage in, encourage, or approve any strike, slowdown, or other work 
stoppage growing out of any dispute relating to the terms of the MOU. The Union will take 
whatever possible lawful steps necessary to prevent any interruption of work in violation of this 
MOU. 
 

9 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS RESERVED – Relegation of Management Rights  

The District retains, solely and exclusively, all rights and authority of Management which have 
not been expressly abridged or limited by the various provisions of: (1) The Rules, Policies, 
Procedures, Resolutions, Ordinances or Bylaws of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation 
District Board of Directors as they now exist or may subsequently be amended; or of (2) this 
MOU.  

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 7



SEIU MOU - Page 8 of 24 
 

A. Specific Management Rights Reserved 
The sole and exclusive rights and authority of Management, which are not to be abridged 
by this Memorandum of Understanding, shall include but shall not be limited to, the 
following: 

1. The right to determine the existence or non-existence of facts that are the basis 
for management decision. 

2. The right to determine the nature, manner, and extent of services to be provided 
to the public, methods of financing, and types or equipment to be used. 

3. The rights to establish, continue, discontinue, or modify policies, practices, or 
procedures (subject to provisions of Meyers-Milias-Brown Act). 

4. The right to determine, and to re-determine from time to time, the number, 
relocation, and types of its operations, and the methods, processes and materials 
to be employed, including the right to introduce new or improved methods or 
facilities; to discontinue processes or operations or to discontinue their 
performance by employees; to determine the number of hours per day or per week 
operations shall be carried on, and the schedules thereof (subject to provisions of 
Meyers-Milias-Brown Act). 

5. The right to select and determine the number of employees and schedule the 
number and types of employees required. 

6. The right to assign work to such employees in accordance with requirements 
determined by management consistent with provisions provided in District’s Policy, 
Procedures & Rules. 

7. The right to establish and change work schedules and assignments (subject to 
provisions of Meyers-Milias-Brown Act). 

8. The rights to transfer, reclassify, promote, or demote employees, or to layoff, 
terminate, or otherwise relieve employees from duty for lack of work or other lawful 
reasons; to determine the facts of lack of work. 

9. The right to make and enforce safety rules and work rules for the maintenance of 
discipline, and to take disciplinary action. 

10. The right to determine and exercise the procedures and standards of selection for 
employment and promotion. 

11. The right to establish and enforce dress and grooming standards. 
12. The right to determine the content and intent of job classifications. 
13. The right to determine the style and/or types of District-issued wearing apparel, 

equipment or technology to be used. 
14. The District shall reserve all other prerogatives and responsibilities normally 

inherent in management, provided the same are not contrary to the Memorandum 
of Understanding (subject to provisions in Meyers-Milias-Brown Act). (Sections A-
1-14) 

 

10 EMPLOYEES’ RIGHTS 

A. Representation 
Employees of the District shall have the right, subject to the Rules, Policies, Procedures, 
Resolutions, Ordinances or Bylaws of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation 
District Board of Directors as they now exist or may subsequently be amended, to join 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 8



SEIU MOU - Page 9 of 24 
 

and be represented by an organization of their own choice and participate in their 
employment with the District.  

B. Refusal 
Employees of the District shall also have the right to refuse to join or participate in the 
activities of employee organizations and have the right to represent themselves 
individually in their employment relations with the District. 

C. Right of Free Exercise 
No employee shall be interfered with, intimidated, restrained, coerced or discriminated 
against by the District or any employee organization because of their exercise of these 
rights. 

D. Employee Status 
With the exception of employees serving new-hire probation, employees represented by 
this agreement are not “at will” employees and as such have rights codified not only under 
federal and state law, but also under the terms of this MOU.  

11 UNION RIGHTS 

A. Leave for Union Business 
The District shall allow an employee to take leave for Union business if the District 
Administrator determines that such leave will not be disruptive of District business. One 
employee per calendar year shall be designated to attend Union Board meetings. Such 
employee, with prior approval of the employee’s supervisor, may attend Union Board 
meetings. Such leave is limited to three (3) days per year. Each day is defined as a day 
equal in length to the employees’ normal workday at the time of leave. When approving 
such leave, the District Administrator shall consider the effect of the leave on the 
operations of the District.  

B. Names of Unit Members 
As permitted by law, the District will give the Union a list of names, addresses, telephone 
numbers and e-mail addresses, classifications and work locations of unit members upon 
request by the Union. The District will not charge for the list. 

 

C. Agenda 
The Agendas for District Board Meetings will be available to the Union on the District 
website, in the same manner as to the public. 

12 NON-DISCRIMINATION 

A. Application 
The District and the Union agree that the provisions of this agreement shall be applied 
equally without favor or discrimination, to all employees in classes protected by Federal 
or State law including, but not limited to: age, genetic information, marital status, medical 
condition, mental or physical disability, national origin/ancestry, pregnancy, race/color, 
religion/creed, sex/gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, military/veteran status, 
political affiliations, or any other class protected by law. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 9



SEIU MOU - Page 10 of 24 
 

B. Unlawful Interference 
The District and the Union agree that neither will unlawfully interfere, intimidate, restrain, 
coerce, nor discriminate against any employee in their free choice to participate or not 
participate in Union activities, or to join or not to join the Union. 

13 PERSONNEL FILES 

A. Inspection of Files 
Material in the personnel file of a unit member which may serve as a basis for affecting 
the status of their employment will be made available for inspection by the employee 
involved. The request to review a file shall be made by the affected employee in writing 
to the District Administrator. Upon receipt of a written request, the District Administrator 
or designee shall allow for review within a reasonable amount of time, within two (2) 
working days if possible. 

B. Comments and Review 
When information of a derogatory nature is placed in their personnel file a unit member 
will be given notice and an opportunity to review and comment on that material. An 
employee will have the right to have their own written comments attached to any such 
derogatory statement, within fifteen (15) working days after given notice of opportunity to 
review and comment. 

C. Authorization to Examine Files 
A unit member shall have the right to authorize, in writing, a Union staff representative to 
examine their personnel files. This authorization must be renewed with each subsequent 
request for review.  

 

14 WORKING OUT OF POSITION 

Subject to the provisions in Policy and Procedures Manual Section 3032, Out-of-Class pay, 
employees directed by their supervisor and assigned to work in a higher salary range position 
for a period exceeding a full 40 hours of holiday pay and non-overtime hours (productive time) 
shall be paid in the step of the higher salary range that is deemed by the District Administrator 
to best reflect the work performed, but no less than a 5% increment over their regular rate of 
pay, for the entire period that they are required to work out of classification except that the higher 
salary range cannot be exceeded. The determination of whether an employee has worked out 
of position will be made solely by the District Administrator in his reasonable discretion and any 
such decision will not be arbitrary or capricious. The District Administrator’s determination shall 
be final.  

15 HOURS OF WORK 

A. Work Schedule 
The regular daily work schedule for full-time employees shall be eight (8) hours and the 
regular weekly work schedule shall be forty (40) hours. The regular daily work schedule 
for part-time employees is at least 30-hours per workweek.  

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 10



SEIU MOU - Page 11 of 24 
 

The workweek begins on Saturday at 12:00 a.m., and ends on the following Friday at 
11:59 p.m. A bi-weekly payroll period for full-time employees consists of ten (10) 
workdays of eight (8) hours each. 

 
Assignment of workdays and scheduled days off under this schedule shall be at the 
discretion of the District. Changes of work schedule while at the discretion of management 
will require a minimum of 72 hours’ notice unless the schedule change is due to an 
emergency declared by the District Administrator and/or Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent that would significantly affect operations. 

B. Emergency Response 
In the event of a declared emergency, the District Administrator or their designee shall 
have the authority to suspend all leave and cause all employees to return to duty. 

 
Employees are responsible for providing current contact information and responding to 
work upon call at all times outside the regular work week for response in times of national 
emergency, civil disorder or a disaster, or during times when the health, welfare and 
safety of the public may be in jeopardy, and to be compensated for the extra work.  

 

16 OVERTIME 

A. Overtime Hours 
Overtime is defined as hours worked in excess of the regular daily eight (8) hour work 
schedule, or in excess of the assigned 40-hour work schedule in a workweek. Paid leave 
shall be considered time worked for the purposes of computing overtime hours. 
Employees shall receive overtime pay at a rate of one and one-half (1–1/2) times the 
regular hourly rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of an eight (8) hour day or a forty 
(40) hour workweek. 

B. Working on a Holiday 
If an employee works on a holiday, in addition to the straight time standard holiday pay, 
all actual hours worked on that holiday shall be compensated at the overtime rate of 1.5 
times the actual hours worked. 

C. Overtime Authorization 
Authorization for overtime work must be given in advance by the District Administrator if 
the need for such overtime work can be anticipated during normal working hours. During 
evenings and weekends, the employee on standby duty is authorized to perform essential 
emergency work and to approve the overtime hours of one additional employee to assist 
when necessary. If more than one additional employee is needed to assist, then approval 
must be obtained from a supervisor or the District Administrator. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 11



SEIU MOU - Page 12 of 24 
 

17 COMPENSATORY TIME 

A. Definition 
Definition: For purposes of this MOU, compensatory time off (“CTO”) is time earned in 
lieu of immediate cash payment for overtime hours worked. Overtime hours are defined 
above. 

B. Comp Time or Cash Payment 
When employees work overtime, they may request to be paid in compensatory time in 
lieu of cash payment and the decision is at the discretion of the District Administrator. 
CTO may be used in lieu of Vacation or Sick Leave and as requested under those 
provisions. 

C. Annual Cash Out 
Compensatory time balances as of the first full pay period in June of each year shall 
automatically be converted to a cash payment to the employee on the last paycheck in 
June unless State or federal regulations indicate differently, or extenuating circumstances 
warrant the District Administrator to authorize a carry-over amount not to exceed 40 hours 
upon request of an employee. Requests for carry-overs must be submitted in writing to 
the District Administrator no later than June 15th of each year. 

18 STANDBY PAY AND AFTER-HOURS CALL-BACK 

A. Standby 
An employee assigned to standby duty will: 

• Be required to use a District issued cell phone; and 
• Be able to arrive at District facilities within 35 minutes. 

 
The standby employee may pursue any personal activity that leaves them available to 
promptly, safely and competently respond to calls for response to operational problems 
or emergencies. 
 
Employees required to perform standby service will be paid at the rate of $3.7513 per 
hour. When required, backup standby will be paid at a rate of $1.000.63 per hour. No 
employee shall simultaneously be paid for standby duty time and other compensable duty 
time. 
 
If an employee on standby must respond to a problem that results in overtime, the standby 
employee will be paid pursuant to After Hours Call-back, below. 
 
Standby pay will end once the employee is on site. 

B. After Hours Call-back 
Each non-exempt employee who responds to a call-back after normal work hours, shall 
be compensated for a minimum of two (2) hours for each response. If the time worked on 
call-back qualifies as overtime, then the hours worked will be compensated at one-and-
one-half times the regular rate of pay. If actual work exceeds 2 hours, then all-time worked 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 12



SEIU MOU - Page 13 of 24 
 

will be accounted for and paid to the nearest quarter hour. This call-back section applies 
to call-back on regular workdays or on weekends and holidays. 

19 HOLIDAYS 

A. Recognized Holidays 
The following are the standard paid holidays observed by this District: 

January 1 (New Year’s Day) 
Third Monday in January (Martin Luther King Day)  
February 12 (Lincoln’s Birthday) 
Third Monday in February (Washington’s Birthday observed) 
March 31 (Cesar Chavez Day) 
Last Monday in May (Memorial Day) 
July 4 (Independence Day) 
First Monday in September (Labor Day) 
Second Monday in October (Columbus Day) 
November 11 (Veterans Day) 
Fourth Thursday in November (Thanksgiving Day) 
Friday after Thanksgiving Day 
December 24 (Christmas Eve Day) 
December 25 (Christmas Day) 

 

B. Floating Holiday 
The parties agree that in exchange for the previously provided holiday known as 
“September 9, Admissions Day”, each employee shall be provided with one floating 
holiday that may be taken in accordance with the current Personnel Policy Manual (PPM), 
Section 4000.  
 
Floating holiday shall be credited to each employee who is employed by the District on 
July 1 of each year, provided the employee was employed continuously by the District on 
or before the previous January 1. 

C. Holiday Observation 
Unless otherwise provided in this Article, when a holiday listed herein falls on a Sunday, 
the following Monday shall be deemed to be the holiday in lieu of the day listed, and when 
a holiday falls on a Saturday the preceding Friday shall be deemed to be the holiday in 
lieu of the day listed. If the holiday falls on an employee’s Standard Day Off, the employee 
is to take the holiday on their regular scheduled workday either immediately preceding or 
following their Standard Day Off. 

D. Regular Part-time Employees  
Regular part-time employees shall receive holiday pay on a pro rata basis according to 
hours worked. 

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 13



SEIU MOU - Page 14 of 24 
 

20 VACATION 

Except as specifically contradicted by this MOU, the District policies regarding vacation are 
provided in the District’s PPM and incorporated herein.  
 

A. Full-time Accrual Basis 
Represented employees shall earn and accrue vacation time on an annual basis in the 
following manner: 

 
From 0 up to 2 years  10 days 
From 2+ up to 4 years  11 days 
From 4+ up to 5 years  12 days 
From 5+ up to 6 years  13 days 
From 6+ up to 7 years  14 days 
From 7+ up to 8 years  15 days 
From 8+ up to 10 years  16 days 
From 10+ years   1+ day/year, up to 22 days maximum 
 

B. Part-time Accrual Basis 
Part-time employees shall earn and accrue vacation time on a pro-rata basis according 
to hours work, pursuant to the schedule above. 

C. Holidays During Vacation 
In the event one or more District holiday falls within an annual vacation leave, such 
holidays shall not be charged as vacation leave. 

D. Pay-Out Upon Termination 
Employees who terminate employment shall be paid in a lump sum for all accrued 
vacation leave earned prior to the effective date of termination with a cap of 320280 hours. 

 

21 SICK LEAVE 

A. Accrual 
Each full-time employee covered by this MOU will earn sick leave from the date of 
employment, at the rate of one (1) day of sick per month to be accrued. Each part-time 
employee shall receive sick leave from date of employment on a pro rata basis according 
to hours worked. 

 

B. Usage 
Sick leave may be used for: personal illness or injury; required attendance of an employee 
upon a sick or injured spouse, child or other immediate family member residing with the 
employee; medical or dental appointments. 

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 14



SEIU MOU - Page 15 of 24 
 

C. Separation of Employment 
Upon separation of employment, long-term employees accumulated sick leave of up to a 
maximum of 480 hours to be paid out according to length of District service: 

 
10 years’ service completed  50% 
15 years’ service completed   100% 

 

D. Sick Leave Donation 

1. Employees may voluntarily donate up to forty (40) hours of unused sick leave per fiscal 
year in one (1) hour increments to a “sick leave bank” under the conditions established 
herein. The sick leave donation shall be on an hour for hour basis and subject to the 
following conditions: 

 

2. The employee donating the sick leave must have a minimum of eighty (80) hours of 
accrued sick leave available after the donation. All donations to the “sick leave bank” shall 
be non-reversible and donations shall be processed on the District’s Personnel Action 
Form in the same manner as any other leave request. 

 

3. Employees eligible to receive sick leave hours from the “sick leave bank” must have 
been employed by the District for a minimum of eighteen (18) months, have exhausted 
all paid leave and are suffering from a long term illness or injury that will result in the loss 
of work for a period of at least twenty consecutive (20) working days. These “sick leave 
bank” provisions shall extend to the required attendance of an employee for the care of a 
spouse, child or other immediate family member residing with the employee. The District 
Administrator shall review, approve, modify or deny requests for the use of the “sick leave 
bank” based on the employee requests and the criteria established in this Section. 

 

4. Employees utilizing the “sick leave bank” may integrate these benefits with the 
provisions of Section 35 of this Memorandum of Understanding for State Disability 
Insurance, as well as Worker’s Compensation, provided however that the total 
compensation from these sources combined shall not exceed the employee’s base 
salary. 

 

5. The District reserves the right to request sufficient documentation from a health care 
provider prior to making an eligibility determination. 

 

E. Conversion of Sick Leave 
Twenty-five percent (25%) of an employee’s sick leave balance may be converted to 
vacation or cashed-out if no sick leave is used by an employee during the fiscal year, 
provided that the employee was employed continuously from July 1st through June 30th. 
The employee must request the conversion during the month of July for the previous fiscal 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 15



SEIU MOU - Page 16 of 24 
 

year. Failure to request the conversion during July will result in ineligibility for conversion 
for the previous fiscal year. All requests for conversion are non-reversible and shall 
require prior approval by the District Administrator. 

 

22 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

A unit member shall be eligible for a temporary leave of absence without loss of salary upon the 
death of any member of the immediate family. Such leave is available for each incident but shall 
be limited to 3 days (24 hours). If bereavement leave has been exhausted, a covered employee 
may elect to use other paid leave including sick leave, if necessary, for this purpose, not to 
exceed two (2) additional days. “Immediate family member” is defined below. The employee 
shall include their familial relationship to the deceased on their bereavement leave form.  
 

23 DEFINITION OF IMMEDIATE FAMILY FOR BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

“Member(s) of Immediate Family” as used for Bereavement Leave only shall mean mother, 
father, husband, wife, son, daughter, brother, sister, grandmother, grandfather, grandson, 
granddaughter, guardian, aunts, uncles, and cousins with whom employee has lived. The 
definition includes “In-Law” relationships in each case and “Step” relationships in the case of 
parents and children.  
 

24 JURY DUTY  

Employees of the District who are called or required to serve as a trial juror upon notification and 
appropriate verification submitted to their supervisor shall be entitled to be absent from their 
duties with the District during the period of such service or while necessarily being present in 
court as a result of such call. The employee’s normal pay shall be continued during jury duty. It 
is also conditional upon the employee’s conveyance to the District of any compensation 
received. The employee shall turn over their jury duty pay to the District if jury duty pay is issued 
by the Courts. Mileage reimbursement issued by the Court remains the property of the employee. 
 

25 ALLOWANCES  

A. Boot 
Employees in the operations and maintenance unit shall receive an annual boot or safety 
shoe allowance of $250 payable in July of each year. 

B. Daily Uniform 
Employees in the operations and maintenance unit shall be provided uniforms daily as 
follows: 

 
Work shirt 
Pants 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 16



SEIU MOU - Page 17 of 24 
 

Jacket 
 

Employees shall avoid negligence to limit damage in the care of their uniforms. 
 

Operations and Maintenance Employees shall be required to wear these items while on 
duty. 

 
Employees shall maintain their uniforms and other clothing worn on the job in neat and 
clean condition. The employee shall notify their supervisor if an item becomes worn or 
damaged for timely replacement by the District.  

C. Certificate Reimbursement 
The District will pay for certification if necessary, for the employee’s current position and 
up to one step above what is required for the employee’s current position subject to the 
District Administrator’s discretion and according to budgetary constraints on training and 
certification. The District shall reimburse the examination application fee upon evidence 
of successful passing of the exam provided by the employee.  

D. Operator and Lab Grade 
A salary certificate incentive of 2.5% of base pay for operator or lab grade obtained above 
that required for the employee’s classification will be paid upon certification as issued by 
the State of California. The salary certificate incentive of 2.5% shall only be paid for one 
operator grade obtained and maintained above that required for the classification. 

E. Computer Purchase 
Provides for $1,500 interest free computer purchase loan payable within two years from 
employee’s salary as a payroll deduction. In order to receive this loan, the employee is 
required to have passed probation and must enter into a repayment contract for District 
reimbursement. 

F. Longevity Pay 
Longevity pay of 2.5% of base pay shall be paid to employees who have completed ten 
(10) continuous years of service. 

G.  The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to the 
employee tasked with serving as the District Safety Officer.  The District may rotate safety 
officer duties at the discretion of the District Administrator. 

26 HEALTH 

The District shall make monthly premium contributions as defined below, for the District’s 
medical plan for the employee and the employee’s dependent coverage. 
 

A. Employer Contributions for Active Employee Healthcare Coverage 
For active employees participating in the District’s full flex plan, the District will contribute 
the Minimum Employer Contribution (MEC) as required by the Public Employees’ Medical 
and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA) per month per employee to be used solely toward 

Formatted: Heading 2

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 17



SEIU MOU - Page 18 of 24 
 

medical premiums. If the premium cost for medical coverage is less than the District’s flex 
dollar contribution, the employee shall not receive any unused portion in the form of cash. 
The MEC is determined by CalPERS and subject to change on an annual basis. 

 
Effective upon the date of adoption of this MOU by the Board of Directors, the District will 
implement a full flex cafeteria plan for active employees in accordance with IRS Code 
Section 125, for those employees who participate in health coverage through the District. 
Active employees participating in the District’s full flex cafeteria plan receive a base 
monthly flex dollar allowance to purchase benefits under the full flex cafeteria plan. 

 
The monthly flex dollar allowance effective upon the date of adoption of this MOU by the 
Board of Directors shall be a dollar amount equal to the base amounts defined below, 
which includes the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution, for an Employee, and 
Employee & One Dependent or an Employee & Two or More Dependents. 

 
There shall be an open enrollment period once each year prior to the insurance policy 
anniversary date to allow for changes in coverage. 

 

1. District Flex Dollar Contributions 
In each of the contract years, the District’s base flex dollar allowance will be 
established on the following amounts for health. The amounts include the 
PEMHCA MEC, which for calendar year 202119 is $143136.00 per month. Part-
time employees shall receive a prorated share of the District’s flex dollar 
contribution. 

 
The calendar year 2021 District contributions including the MEC are up to: 

 
Employee only:    $867.92778.45 
Employee plus 1 dependent:  $1,735.821,556.90 
Employee plus 2+ dependents:  $2,256.572,023.97 

 

2. Cost Sharing for Rate Increases for Calendar Year 20220 and 20231 and 2024 
In calendar year’s 20220, 2023 and 2024 the cost of increases beyond the base 
premiums stated above shall be shared between the District and employees. The 
plan used to calculate the cost sharing shall be the CalPERS Blue Shield California 
Access + plan for active employee health care. The District shall contribute seventy 
percent (70%) and employees shall each contribute fifty thirty percent (3050%) of 
any increase in health care premiums.; except that the out-of-pocket increase per 
employee per month shall not exceed $150.00 in calendar year 2020.  

 
In calendar year 2021, the cost in increases beyond the District’s 2020 contribution 
shall be shared between the District and employees. The plan used to calculate 
the cost sharing shall be the CalPERS Blue Shield California Access + plan for 
active employee health care. The District and employees shall each contribute fifty 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 18



SEIU MOU - Page 19 of 24 
 

percent (50%) of any increased costs; except that the out-of-pocket increase per 
employee per month shall not exceed $150.00 in calendar year 2021. 

 
Employees may select the available plan of their choosing and are responsible for 
paying the difference (through payroll deduction) after the District’s flex dollar 
contribution of the new maximum monthly base contribution. The new District flex 
dollar contribution maximum monthly base amounts will be updated annually and 
made available to unit employees prior to each open enrollment period. 

 

B. Retiree Health Coverage 
Employees represented by the Union who retire from the California Public Employees’ 
Retirement System (CalPERS) within 120 days of leaving their position with the District 
are eligible, as determined by CalPERS, to continue in the District’s retiree group health 
insurance program, offered through the Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act 
(PEMHCA).  

 
The District will contribute the Minimum Employer Contribution (MEC) as required by the 
PEMHCA per month per retiree to be used solely toward medical premiums. Effective 
January 1, 20212019, the MEC is $136143.00 per month, with future adjustments as 
determined by CalPERS from time to time. 

 
The District shall provide an additional contribution as a reimbursement toward the cost 
of medical premiums, to an employee who retires from the District as described in this 
section, and who qualifies for and exercises their right through CalPERS to receive the 
District’s retiree group health insurance. The additional contribution reimbursement shall 
be paid to the retiree through a Retiree Healthcare Reimbursement Account Trust (HRA 
Trust) to be established by the District. 

 

1. Current Classic Employees 
Current Classic employees who were members of CalPERS prior to January 1, 
2013 and employed by the District prior to November 15, 2017 and who retire from 
the District while meeting the eligibility requirements for CalPERS retiree health 
insurance are eligible for the following: 

 
For CalPERS medical plans under PEMHCA, the District contribution to the 
PEMHCA minimum employer contribution combined with the Retiree HRA Trust 
shall be capped at the below rates. In no event shall the District’s total contribution 
to the Retiree HRA Trust exceed the amount defined in this section. The District’s 
maximum obligations for contributions towards a retiree’s Retiree HRA Trust 
account shall not be subject to change and shall continue for the lifetime of the 
retiree and the retiree’s spouse, in accordance with the PEMHCA eligibility 
provisions for coverage, except that the District’s contribution to a retiree’s Retiree 
HRA Trust account will decrease if the retiree experiences a change in family 
status, i.e., a spouse passes away, thereby reducing coverage to retiree only 
coverage. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 19



SEIU MOU - Page 20 of 24 
 

 
The amounts below include the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution, which 
for calendar year 202119 is $143136.00. The District’s contribution to the Retiree 
HRA Trust shall be up to the difference between the amounts below minus the 
PEMHCA minimum employer contribution. The District contribution as a 
reimbursement shall be up to the following amounts: 

 
Retiree only/surviving spouse:  Up to $662.00 
Retiree plus 1 dependent:   Up to $1,324.00 
Retiree plus 2+ dependents:  Up to $1,720.00 

 
The District’s contribution is only for medical plans available through 
CalPERS/PEMCHA. 

 

2. Current “InterimNew Members” 
Current “interimnew members” (as defined by the Public Employees’ Pension 
Reform Act of 2013) hired by the District after January 1, 2013, and prior to 
November 15, 2017 are eligible for the following: 

 
To receive the stipend in addition to the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution 
employees shall have been employed by the District for ten (10) continuous years 
of service to be vested in the benefit and must be otherwise eligible for retirement 
from the District. The District contribution toward the Retiree HRA Trust, when 
combined with the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution, shall be no more 
than fifty percent (50%) of the individual employee only premium at the time of 
retirement (50% of the individual employee only premium in the year in which the 
employee retires) and shall not increase. The District’s contribution is only for 
medical plans available through CalPERS/PEMHCA. 

 

C. Employees Hired After November 15, 2017 
Any employees hired after November 15, 2017, shall not be eligible for an additional 
contribution as a reimbursement. The District shall contribute the PEMHCA MEC as 
determined by CalPERS from time to time. For calendar year 202119, the minimum 
contribution amount is $143136.00. 

27 DENTAL AND LIFE INSURANCE 

A. Dental Insurance 
Throughout the term of this MOU, the District shall pay an amount equal to the current 
monthly premium for the District’s dental plan for the employee and the employee’s 
dependent coverage. 20212019 rates are: 

 
Employee only:    $47.16 
Employee plus 1 dependent:  $94.33 
Employee plus 2+ dependents:  $145.93 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 20



SEIU MOU - Page 21 of 24 
 

 

B. Life Insurance 
The District shall provide term life insurance for each unit member in the amount of 
$25,000. 

28 VISION/DENTAL/MEDICAL TRUST 

Throughout the term of this MOU, the District shall pay an initial amount of $600500 for each 
full-time employee and $500 per fiscal year thereafter into a vision/dental/medical trust fund 
account. This account will reimburse out of pocket expenses not covered by an individual’s 
vision/dental/medical plan into the next fiscal year. Funds remaining at the end of the fiscal year 
will carryover, not to exceed an amount equal to $1,000. The District shall not make the full 
$600500 annual contribution to an individual’s account if the full $600500 annual contribution 
would cause the balance to exceed $1,000. The District shall only contribute an amount that 
brings the individual account balance to $1,000. and shall only make such contribution after the 
initial contribution of $500 per fiscal year. No remaining unused benefit shall be paid to an 
employee upon termination or retirement. This benefit may be provided through a Third-Party 
Administrator of the District’s choosing. 

29 RETIREMENT 

The District provides a retirement program for all eligible employees that qualify under CalPERS 
working half-time or more. The Retirement Program may be provided through contract with the 
California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) as is currently provided and may be 
integrated with Federal Social Security Program, as is currently provided.  
 
Throughout the term of this MOU, in addition to the District’s employer contributions, the District 
shall pay an amount equal to the employee’s contribution to CalPERS (less the difference 
required to upgrade from prior 2%@55 to 2.5%@55 which is the employee’s responsibility) on 
behalf of the employee. 
 
Contributions made by the District on behalf of employees who are considered “new members” 
by CalPERS, will be mandated by the PEPRA. 
 
To the extent that the provisions of this Section 29 contradict with the requirements of State law, 
State law will control.  
 

30 STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE (SDI)/FICA/MEDICARE 

The District shall contribute 50% of the total cost for each employee to become part of the State 
Disability Insurance Program. Current contribution rate is 1.0% of gross payroll.  
 
The District will make contributions for Social Security Tax at 6.2% and Medicare at 1.45% of 
gross payroll. The employee pays matching contributions. 
 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 21

mailto:2.5%25@55


SEIU MOU - Page 22 of 24 
 

31 ADVANCEMENT IN SALARY 

The salary range as set forth for each position is divided into five (5) steps (Steps A through E) 
that shall be applied as follows. The ranges usually reflect approximately 5% between steps in 
the range. 
 

A. Step Placement 
Normally a newly appointed employee is placed upon the “A” step (bottom step) of their 
salary range. However, upon determination of the District Administrator that the needs of 
the District service and the qualifications of the newly appointed employees warrant such 
placement, the District Administrator shall have the authority to plan an employee at Step 
B or C of the salary range. The Chair of the Board of Directors shall make the decision to 
hire any employee at Step D or higher and would only do so after reviewing 
recommendations made by the District Administrator with respect to the employee’s 
experience and value to the District. 

 

B. Step Increases 
Progression from one step of the salary range to the next shall be based upon a 
satisfactory written employee evaluation of the employee’s performance by the District 
Administrator.  

1. Step B 
Employees may qualify for advancement to Step B, after completion of one year 
of service, upon the recommendation of the Wastewater Plant Superintendent and 
approval by the District Administrator. 
 

2. Step C 
Employees may qualify for advancement to Step C, after the completion of one 
year of service at Step B, upon recommendation of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and approval by the District Administrator.  
 

3. Step D 
Employees may qualify for advancement to Step D, after completion of one year 
of service at Step C, upon recommendation of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and the approval of the District Administrator.  
 

4. Step E 
Employees may qualify for advancement to Step E, after completion of one year 
of service at Step D, upon recommendation of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and the approval of the District Administrator.  

 

32 SALARY INCREASE 

A. Salary Ranges 
Salary ranges of unit members will be increased as follows: 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 22



SEIU MOU - Page 23 of 24 
 

1. July 202119 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 202119, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.0% of base 
salary. 

2. July 202220 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 20220, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.002.75% of 
base salary. 
 

3. July 2023 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2023, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.00% of base 
salary. 
 

B. Comparable Agencies 
The parties agree to establish a labor-management committee to meet and confer during 
the term of this contract regarding the selection of comparable agencies. 

 

33 LAYOFF, BUMPING RIGHTS, REINSTATEMENT 

Whenever, in the judgment of the District Board, it becomes necessary, due to the lack of work 
or lack of funds, or other economic reason, or because the necessity for a regularly allocated 
30-hour or full-time position no longer exists, the Board of Directors may abolish any position of 
employment, and the employee holding such position may be laid off or assigned to a lower 
paying position. 
 
If layoffs become necessary, the procedure outlined in the PPM Section 2050 will apply. 
 

34 GRIEVANCE  

An employee may formally claim that they have been affected by a specific violation, 
misapplication, or misinterpretation of a law, District policy, rule, regulation, written instruction 
and/or MOU provision. The procedure for filing and resolving a grievance described above is 
provided for in PPM Section 5010. 
 

35 DISCIPLINE AND APPEALS 

The procedure for discipline and the appeal thereof is provided for in PPM Section 5020. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 23



SEIU MOU - Page 24 of 24 

36 TERM OF MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

As adopted by the Board of Directors the term of this memorandum of understanding shall be 
from July 1, 2019, through June 30th, 2021. If either party requests modification or extension of 
the MOU by April 1 of the year in which the MOU expires, then Meeting and Conferring shall 
commence no later than May 1 of the same year to strive for such modification or extension. 
Provided, however, on mutual agreement of the parties, items subject to the meet and confer 
process may be opened for discussion during the term with the exception of wages and 
retirement benefits. 

37 CONTRACTING OUT 

If it will result in the reduction of normal hours, the District, in accordance with law, will notify the 
Union 30 days in advance of Board action if it intends to contract out the functions currently 
performed by employees within the unit. Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the 
rights of the Board of Directors to contract outside work in its sole discretion. 

38 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 

If any article or section of this MOU shall be found invalid or unlawful by reason of existing or 
subsequently enacted legislation or by judicial authority, all other articles or sections of this MOU. 
shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this MOU.  

This Memorandum of Understanding is effective July 71, 202119, and executed this 
day of , 202119. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have signed this 
Memorandum of Understanding as of the date first above written. 

SERVICE EMPLOYEES’ INTERNATIONAL SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY
UNION LOCAL 620:  SANITATION DISTRICT: 

Robert MacLeod, Field Representative Jeremy Ghent, District Administrator 
SEIU Negotiations Team 

Susan Thomas 
SEIU Negotiations Team 

Billy Romhild 
SSLOCSD Representative to 
SEIU Negotiations Team 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 1 Page 24



 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BY AND BETWEEN 

THE SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO 
COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 

AND 
THE SERVICE EMPLOYEES 

INTERNATIONAL UNION, LOCAL 620  
 
 

 
July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2024 

  

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 2 of 24 
 

 
Table of Contents 
1 DESIGNATION OF THE PARTIES ........................................................................................................................ 5 

A. PARTIES ......................................................................................................................................................................... 5 
B. RECOGNITION ................................................................................................................................................................ 5 

2 DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................................................................... 5 
A. FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES ................................................................................................................................................ 5 
B. PART-TIME EMPLOYEES ................................................................................................................................................ 5 

3 REPRESENTATION ................................................................................................................................................ 5 
A. UNION OFFICERS AND REPRESENTATIVES ................................................................................................................... 5 
B. EMPLOYEE RELATIONS OFFICER .................................................................................................................................. 5 
C. RELEASE TIME ............................................................................................................................................................... 6 

4 MEMBERSHIP AND MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP .................................................................................. 6 
A. DUES/FEE DEDUCTIONS ............................................................................................................................................... 6 
B. LEAVE WITHOUT PAY .................................................................................................................................................... 6 
C. INDEMNIFICATION/HOLD HARMLESS CLAUSE ............................................................................................................... 6 
D. MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP ................................................................................................................................... 6 

5 UNION STEWARDS ................................................................................................................................................ 6 
A. APPOINTMENT ............................................................................................................................................................... 6 
B. RELEASE TIME ............................................................................................................................................................... 6 

6 USE OF DISTRICT FACILITIES ............................................................................................................................. 7 
A. AGREEMENT TO USE BULLETIN BOARD ........................................................................................................................ 7 
B. DISTRICT RIGHT ............................................................................................................................................................ 7 
C. MEETING ROOMS .......................................................................................................................................................... 7 

7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION .................................................................................................................................. 7 
8 STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS ................................................................................................................................... 7 
9 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS RESERVED – RELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ................................... 7 

A. SPECIFIC MANAGEMENT RIGHTS RESERVED ............................................................................................................... 8 
10 EMPLOYEES’ RIGHTS ........................................................................................................................................... 8 

A. REPRESENTATION ......................................................................................................................................................... 8 
B. REFUSAL ........................................................................................................................................................................ 9 
C. RIGHT OF FREE EXERCISE ............................................................................................................................................ 9 
D. EMPLOYEE STATUS ....................................................................................................................................................... 9 

11 UNION RIGHTS ....................................................................................................................................................... 9 
A. LEAVE FOR UNION BUSINESS ....................................................................................................................................... 9 
B. NAMES OF UNIT MEMBERS ........................................................................................................................................... 9 
C. AGENDA ......................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

12 NON-DISCRIMINATION .......................................................................................................................................... 9 
A. APPLICATION ................................................................................................................................................................. 9 
B. UNLAWFUL INTERFERENCE ......................................................................................................................................... 10 

13 PERSONNEL FILES .............................................................................................................................................. 10 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 3 of 24 

A. INSPECTION OF FILES .................................................................................................................................................. 10 
B. COMMENTS AND REVIEW ............................................................................................................................................ 10 
C. AUTHORIZATION TO EXAMINE FILES ........................................................................................................................... 10 

14 WORKING OUT OF POSITION ............................................................................................................................ 10 
15 HOURS OF WORK ................................................................................................................................................ 10 

A. WORK SCHEDULE ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 
B. EMERGENCY RESPONSE ............................................................................................................................................. 11 

16 OVERTIME ............................................................................................................................................................. 11 
A. OVERTIME HOURS ....................................................................................................................................................... 11 
B. WORKING ON A HOLIDAY............................................................................................................................................. 11 
C. OVERTIME AUTHORIZATION ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

17 COMPENSATORY TIME ...................................................................................................................................... 12 
A. DEFINITION .................................................................................................................................................................. 12 
B. COMP TIME OR CASH PAYMENT ................................................................................................................................. 12 
C. ANNUAL CASH OUT ..................................................................................................................................................... 12 

18 STANDBY PAY AND AFTER-HOURS CALL-BACK ......................................................................................... 12 
A. STANDBY ..................................................................................................................................................................... 12 
B. AFTER HOURS CALL-BACK .......................................................................................................................................... 12 

19 HOLIDAYS ............................................................................................................................................................. 13 
A. RECOGNIZED HOLIDAYS .............................................................................................................................................. 13 
B. FLOATING HOLIDAY ..................................................................................................................................................... 13 
C. HOLIDAY OBSERVATION .............................................................................................................................................. 13 
D. REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES ............................................................................................................................. 13 

20 VACATION ............................................................................................................................................................. 13 
A. FULL-TIME ACCRUAL BASIS ........................................................................................................................................ 14 
B. PART-TIME ACCRUAL BASIS ........................................................................................................................................ 14 
C. HOLIDAYS DURING VACATION ..................................................................................................................................... 14 
D. PAY-OUT UPON TERMINATION ................................................................................................................................... 14 

21 SICK LEAVE .......................................................................................................................................................... 14 
A. ACCRUAL ..................................................................................................................................................................... 14 
B. USAGE ......................................................................................................................................................................... 14 
C. SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT ................................................................................................................................... 14 
D. SICK LEAVE DONATION ............................................................................................................................................... 15 
E. CONVERSION OF SICK LEAVE ..................................................................................................................................... 15 

22 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ...................................................................................................................................... 16 
23 DEFINITION OF IMMEDIATE FAMILY FOR BEREAVEMENT LEAVE ........................................................... 16 
24 JURY DUTY............................................................................................................................................................ 16 
25 ALLOWANCES ...................................................................................................................................................... 16 

A. BOOT ........................................................................................................................................................................... 16 
B. DAILY UNIFORM ........................................................................................................................................................... 16 
C. CERTIFICATE REIMBURSEMENT .................................................................................................................................. 17 
D. OPERATOR GRADE ...................................................................................................................................................... 17 
E. COMPUTER PURCHASE ............................................................................................................................................... 17 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 4 of 24 
 

F. LONGEVITY PAY .......................................................................................................................................................... 17 
26 HEALTH .................................................................................................................................................................. 17 

A. EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS FOR ACTIVE EMPLOYEE HEALTHCARE COVERAGE ..................................................... 17 
B. RETIREE HEALTH COVERAGE ..................................................................................................................................... 18 
C. EMPLOYEES HIRED AFTER NOVEMBER 15, 2017 ...................................................................................................... 20 

27 DENTAL AND LIFE INSURANCE........................................................................................................................ 20 
A. DENTAL INSURANCE .................................................................................................................................................... 20 
B. LIFE INSURANCE .......................................................................................................................................................... 20 

28 VISION/DENTAL/MEDICAL TRUST .................................................................................................................... 20 
29 RETIREMENT ........................................................................................................................................................ 21 
30 STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE (SDI)/FICA/MEDICARE .............................................................................. 21 
31 ADVANCEMENT IN SALARY .............................................................................................................................. 21 

A. STEP PLACEMENT ....................................................................................................................................................... 21 
B. STEP INCREASES......................................................................................................................................................... 22 

32 SALARY INCREASE ............................................................................................................................................. 22 
A. SALARY RANGES ......................................................................................................................................................... 22 
B. COMPARABLE AGENCIES ............................................................................................................................................ 23 

33 LAYOFF, BUMPING RIGHTS, REINSTATEMENT ............................................................................................ 23 
34 GRIEVANCE .......................................................................................................................................................... 23 
35 DISCIPLINE AND APPEALS................................................................................................................................ 23 
36 TERM OF MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING .......................................................................................... 23 
37 CONTRACTING OUT ............................................................................................................................................ 23 
38 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE ..................................................................................................................................... 24 

 
  

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 5 of 24 
 

1 DESIGNATION OF THE PARTIES 

A. Parties 
This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is made by and between the South San Luis 
Obispo County Sanitation District, a California Special District, hereinafter called the 
District, and the Service Employees International Union, CLC, Local 620, hereinafter 
called the Union. 

B. Recognition  
The Union unit was recognized by State Mediation and Conciliation Services on October 
13, 2016. This MOU expressly excludes all employees in classifications not represented 
in the bargaining unit. Represented classifications are: Wastewater Plant Operations 
Supervisor, Wastewater Plant Senior Operator, Laboratory Technician, Wastewater Plant 
Operator II, Wastewater Plant Operator I, and Wastewater Plant Operator-in-Training 
Intern.  

2 DEFINITIONS 

A. Full-Time Employees 
Full-time employees (defined in Personnel Policy Manual Section 2000), are scheduled 
40-hours per work week. Benefits defined in this MOU are based on full-time employment. 

 

B. Part-time Employees 
Part-time employees (defined in Personnel Policy Manual Section 2000), scheduled a 
consistent average of 30 hours per workweek, shall receive a pro-rata portion of paid 
leave and health benefits according to hours worked; and are eligible to participate in 
CalPERS retirement, as determined by CalPERS. 

 

3 REPRESENTATION 

A. Union Officers and Representatives 
The District and the Union agree that Union Officers and Representatives shall be allowed 
to meet with District Representatives for the purposes of meeting and conferring in good 
faith. If meetings occur during working hours, a reasonable number of participating 
employees shall receive reasonable time off without loss of compensation or any other 
benefit when formally meeting and conferring with representatives of the District. For the 
purposes of this MOU, “reasonable number of participating employees” shall be defined 
as one (1) employee, unless the District Administrator deems it appropriate to release 
more than one (1) employee. When determining appropriateness, the District 
Administrator shall consider the effect on the operations of the District. 
 

B. Employee Relations Officer 
The Union agrees to provide the District Employee Relations Officer with a list of Union 
Officers and Representatives who are authorized to Meet and Confer in good faith and to 
keep the list up to date. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 6 of 24 
 

 

C. Release Time 
The District and Union agree that, upon approval of the District Administrator to release 
employees from their normal duties, Union staff representatives shall be given access to 
working locations during hours of work to conduct grievance investigations, unless doing 
so would unduly disrupt operations. A staff representative is defined as a paid full-time or 
part-time employee of the Union.  

 

4 MEMBERSHIP AND MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP 

A. Dues/Fee Deductions 
Dues shall be processed by the District in the usual and customary manner and time 
frames. 

B. Leave Without Pay 
Employees on an unpaid leave of absence for an entire pay period or more shall have 
dues suspended. 

C. Indemnification/Hold Harmless Clause 
The Union agrees to fully indemnify, defend and hold harmless the District and its officers, 
employees and agents against any and all claims, proceedings, settlements and/or 
liability regarding the legality of this Article or any action taken or not taken by or on behalf 
of the District under this Section.  

D. Maintenance of Membership 
All employees in the bargaining unit who are members and dues payers on the effective 
date of the agreement shall remain dues payers for the duration of the agreement unless 
they choose to drop membership dues in June of each year of the agreement. 

 

5 UNION STEWARDS 

A. Appointment 
The District agrees that the Union may appoint union stewards. The Union shall furnish 
the District Administrator with a current written list identifying by name and work location 
the steward(s) of the Union.  

B. Release Time 
One union steward shall be authorized when participating in the investigation and 
processing of a grievance to take a reasonable amount of District time without loss of 
compensation or benefits to perform these duties, in accordance with Article 3 C of this 
MOU.  

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 7 of 24 
 

6 USE OF DISTRICT FACILITIES 

A. Agreement to Use Bulletin Board 
The parties agree that the Union shall have the right to use District bulletin board space 
allocated for Union literature and notices at the various work sites. This includes 
allowance of notices of Union meetings, social gatherings, and minutes of Union 
meetings. All Union notices shall clearly state that they are prepared and authorized by 
the Union staff representative. Items posted on District bulletin board space shall not 
contain anything that may be reasonably construed as maligning the District or its 
representatives. The Union agrees not to post any notices that concern job actions or the 
political activities of the Union on any District bulletin board. 

B. District Right 
The District reserves the right to remove any bulletin board notice that does not conform 
to the above standards. The Union will be given immediate notice of any material that is 
removed, and the District agrees to, if requested by the Union, meet and discuss this 
removal as soon as it is mutually convenient. 

C. Meeting Rooms 
Upon prior arrangement with the District Administrator or designee the District may 
provide a meeting room (if available) at no cost to the Union for the purpose of conducting 
meetings. The Union agrees to fully indemnify, defend and hold harmless the District and 
its officers, employees and agents against any and all claims, proceedings, settlements 
and/or liability arising as a result of meetings conducted on District property.  

 

7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION 

The District will supply names, addresses, phone numbers and personal e-mail addresses (if 
available) when employees are hired.  
 

8 STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS 

During the term of this MOU, District agrees that it will not lock out employees, and the Union 
agrees that it will not engage in, encourage, or approve any strike, slowdown, or other work 
stoppage growing out of any dispute relating to the terms of the MOU. The Union will take 
whatever possible lawful steps necessary to prevent any interruption of work in violation of this 
MOU. 
 

9 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS RESERVED – Relegation of Management Rights  

The District retains, solely and exclusively, all rights and authority of Management which have 
not been expressly abridged or limited by the various provisions of: (1) The Rules, Policies, 
Procedures, Resolutions, Ordinances or Bylaws of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation 
District Board of Directors as they now exist or may subsequently be amended; or of (2) this 
MOU.  

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 8 of 24 
 

A. Specific Management Rights Reserved 
The sole and exclusive rights and authority of Management, which are not to be abridged 
by this Memorandum of Understanding, shall include but shall not be limited to, the 
following: 

1. The right to determine the existence or non-existence of facts that are the basis 
for management decision. 

2. The right to determine the nature, manner, and extent of services to be provided 
to the public, methods of financing, and types or equipment to be used. 

3. The rights to establish, continue, discontinue, or modify policies, practices, or 
procedures (subject to provisions of Meyers-Milias-Brown Act). 

4. The right to determine, and to re-determine from time to time, the number, 
relocation, and types of its operations, and the methods, processes and materials 
to be employed, including the right to introduce new or improved methods or 
facilities; to discontinue processes or operations or to discontinue their 
performance by employees; to determine the number of hours per day or per week 
operations shall be carried on, and the schedules thereof (subject to provisions of 
Meyers-Milias-Brown Act). 

5. The right to select and determine the number of employees and schedule the 
number and types of employees required. 

6. The right to assign work to such employees in accordance with requirements 
determined by management consistent with provisions provided in District’s Policy, 
Procedures & Rules. 

7. The right to establish and change work schedules and assignments (subject to 
provisions of Meyers-Milias-Brown Act). 

8. The rights to transfer, reclassify, promote, or demote employees, or to layoff, 
terminate, or otherwise relieve employees from duty for lack of work or other lawful 
reasons; to determine the facts of lack of work. 

9. The right to make and enforce safety rules and work rules for the maintenance of 
discipline, and to take disciplinary action. 

10. The right to determine and exercise the procedures and standards of selection for 
employment and promotion. 

11. The right to establish and enforce dress and grooming standards. 
12. The right to determine the content and intent of job classifications. 
13. The right to determine the style and/or types of District-issued wearing apparel, 

equipment or technology to be used. 
14. The District shall reserve all other prerogatives and responsibilities normally 

inherent in management, provided the same are not contrary to the Memorandum 
of Understanding (subject to provisions in Meyers-Milias-Brown Act). (Sections A-
1-14) 

 

10 EMPLOYEES’ RIGHTS 

A. Representation 
Employees of the District shall have the right, subject to the Rules, Policies, Procedures, 
Resolutions, Ordinances or Bylaws of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation 
District Board of Directors as they now exist or may subsequently be amended, to join 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 9 of 24 
 

and be represented by an organization of their own choice and participate in their 
employment with the District.  

B. Refusal 
Employees of the District shall also have the right to refuse to join or participate in the 
activities of employee organizations and have the right to represent themselves 
individually in their employment relations with the District. 

C. Right of Free Exercise 
No employee shall be interfered with, intimidated, restrained, coerced or discriminated 
against by the District or any employee organization because of their exercise of these 
rights. 

D. Employee Status 
With the exception of employees serving new-hire probation, employees represented by 
this agreement are not “at will” employees and as such have rights codified not only under 
federal and state law, but also under the terms of this MOU.  

11 UNION RIGHTS 

A. Leave for Union Business 
The District shall allow an employee to take leave for Union business if the District 
Administrator determines that such leave will not be disruptive of District business. One 
employee per calendar year shall be designated to attend Union Board meetings. Such 
employee, with prior approval of the employee’s supervisor, may attend Union Board 
meetings. Such leave is limited to three (3) days per year. Each day is defined as a day 
equal in length to the employees’ normal workday at the time of leave. When approving 
such leave, the District Administrator shall consider the effect of the leave on the 
operations of the District.  

B. Names of Unit Members 
As permitted by law, the District will give the Union a list of names, addresses, telephone 
numbers and e-mail addresses, classifications and work locations of unit members upon 
request by the Union. The District will not charge for the list. 

 

C. Agenda 
The Agendas for District Board Meetings will be available to the Union on the District 
website, in the same manner as to the public. 

12 NON-DISCRIMINATION 

A. Application 
The District and the Union agree that the provisions of this agreement shall be applied 
equally without favor or discrimination, to all employees in classes protected by Federal 
or State law including, but not limited to: age, genetic information, marital status, medical 
condition, mental or physical disability, national origin/ancestry, pregnancy, race/color, 
religion/creed, sex/gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, military/veteran status, 
political affiliations, or any other class protected by law. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 10 of 24 
 

B. Unlawful Interference 
The District and the Union agree that neither will unlawfully interfere, intimidate, restrain, 
coerce, nor discriminate against any employee in their free choice to participate or not 
participate in Union activities, or to join or not to join the Union. 

13 PERSONNEL FILES 

A. Inspection of Files 
Material in the personnel file of a unit member which may serve as a basis for affecting 
the status of their employment will be made available for inspection by the employee 
involved. The request to review a file shall be made by the affected employee in writing 
to the District Administrator. Upon receipt of a written request, the District Administrator 
or designee shall allow for review within a reasonable amount of time, within two (2) 
working days if possible. 

B. Comments and Review 
When information of a derogatory nature is placed in their personnel file a unit member 
will be given notice and an opportunity to review and comment on that material. An 
employee will have the right to have their own written comments attached to any such 
derogatory statement, within fifteen (15) working days after given notice of opportunity to 
review and comment. 

C. Authorization to Examine Files 
A unit member shall have the right to authorize, in writing, a Union staff representative to 
examine their personnel files. This authorization must be renewed with each subsequent 
request for review.  

 

14 WORKING OUT OF POSITION 

Subject to the provisions in Policy and Procedures Manual Section 3032, Out-of-Class pay, 
employees directed by their supervisor and assigned to work in a higher salary range position 
for a period exceeding a full 40 hours of holiday pay and non-overtime hours (productive time) 
shall be paid in the step of the higher salary range that is deemed by the District Administrator 
to best reflect the work performed, but no less than a 5% increment over their regular rate of 
pay, for the entire period that they are required to work out of classification except that the higher 
salary range cannot be exceeded. The determination of whether an employee has worked out 
of position will be made solely by the District Administrator in his reasonable discretion and any 
such decision will not be arbitrary or capricious. The District Administrator’s determination shall 
be final.  

15 HOURS OF WORK 

A. Work Schedule 
The regular daily work schedule for full-time employees shall be eight (8) hours and the 
regular weekly work schedule shall be forty (40) hours. The regular daily work schedule 
for part-time employees is at least 30-hours per workweek.  

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 11 of 24 
 

The workweek begins on Saturday at 12:00 a.m., and ends on the following Friday at 
11:59 p.m. A bi-weekly payroll period for full-time employees consists of ten (10) 
workdays of eight (8) hours each. 

 
Assignment of workdays and scheduled days off under this schedule shall be at the 
discretion of the District. Changes of work schedule while at the discretion of management 
will require a minimum of 72 hours’ notice unless the schedule change is due to an 
emergency declared by the District Administrator and/or Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent that would significantly affect operations. 

B. Emergency Response 
In the event of a declared emergency, the District Administrator or their designee shall 
have the authority to suspend all leave and cause all employees to return to duty. 

 
Employees are responsible for providing current contact information and responding to 
work upon call at all times outside the regular work week for response in times of national 
emergency, civil disorder or a disaster, or during times when the health, welfare and 
safety of the public may be in jeopardy, and to be compensated for the extra work.  

 

16 OVERTIME 

A. Overtime Hours 
Overtime is defined as hours worked in excess of the regular daily eight (8) hour work 
schedule, or in excess of the assigned 40-hour work schedule in a workweek. Paid leave 
shall be considered time worked for the purposes of computing overtime hours. 
Employees shall receive overtime pay at a rate of one and one-half (1–1/2) times the 
regular hourly rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of an eight (8) hour day or a forty 
(40) hour workweek. 

B. Working on a Holiday 
If an employee works on a holiday, in addition to the straight time standard holiday pay, 
all actual hours worked on that holiday shall be compensated at the overtime rate of 1.5 
times the actual hours worked. 

C. Overtime Authorization 
Authorization for overtime work must be given in advance by the District Administrator if 
the need for such overtime work can be anticipated during normal working hours. During 
evenings and weekends, the employee on standby duty is authorized to perform essential 
emergency work and to approve the overtime hours of one additional employee to assist 
when necessary. If more than one additional employee is needed to assist, then approval 
must be obtained from a supervisor or the District Administrator. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 12 of 24 
 

17 COMPENSATORY TIME 

A. Definition 
Definition: For purposes of this MOU, compensatory time off (“CTO”) is time earned in 
lieu of immediate cash payment for overtime hours worked. Overtime hours are defined 
above. 

B. Comp Time or Cash Payment 
When employees work overtime, they may request to be paid in compensatory time in 
lieu of cash payment and the decision is at the discretion of the District Administrator. 
CTO may be used in lieu of Vacation or Sick Leave and as requested under those 
provisions. 

C. Annual Cash Out 
Compensatory time balances as of the first full pay period in June of each year shall 
automatically be converted to a cash payment to the employee on the last paycheck in 
June unless State or federal regulations indicate differently, or extenuating circumstances 
warrant the District Administrator to authorize a carry-over amount not to exceed 40 hours 
upon request of an employee. Requests for carry-overs must be submitted in writing to 
the District Administrator no later than June 15th of each year. 

18 STANDBY PAY AND AFTER-HOURS CALL-BACK 

A. Standby 
An employee assigned to standby duty will: 

• Be required to use a District issued cell phone; and 
• Be able to arrive at District facilities within 35 minutes. 

 
The standby employee may pursue any personal activity that leaves them available to 
promptly, safely and competently respond to calls for response to operational problems 
or emergencies. 
 
Employees required to perform standby service will be paid at the rate of $3.75 per hour. 
When required, backup standby will be paid at a rate of $1.00 per hour. No employee 
shall simultaneously be paid for standby duty time and other compensable duty time. 
 
If an employee on standby must respond to a problem that results in overtime, the standby 
employee will be paid pursuant to After Hours Call-back, below. 
 
Standby pay will end once the employee is on site. 

B. After Hours Call-back 
Each non-exempt employee who responds to a call-back after normal work hours, shall 
be compensated for a minimum of two (2) hours for each response. If the time worked on 
call-back qualifies as overtime, then the hours worked will be compensated at one-and-
one-half times the regular rate of pay. If actual work exceeds 2 hours, then all-time worked 
will be accounted for and paid to the nearest quarter hour. This call-back section applies 
to call-back on regular workdays or on weekends and holidays. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 13 of 24 
 

19 HOLIDAYS 

A. Recognized Holidays 
The following are the standard paid holidays observed by this District: 

January 1 (New Year’s Day) 
Third Monday in January (Martin Luther King Day)  
February 12 (Lincoln’s Birthday) 
Third Monday in February (Washington’s Birthday observed) 
March 31 (Cesar Chavez Day) 
Last Monday in May (Memorial Day) 
July 4 (Independence Day) 
First Monday in September (Labor Day) 
Second Monday in October (Columbus Day) 
November 11 (Veterans Day) 
Fourth Thursday in November (Thanksgiving Day) 
Friday after Thanksgiving Day 
December 24 (Christmas Eve Day) 
December 25 (Christmas Day) 

 

B. Floating Holiday 
The parties agree that in exchange for the previously provided holiday known as 
“September 9, Admissions Day”, each employee shall be provided with one floating 
holiday that may be taken in accordance with the current Personnel Policy Manual (PPM), 
Section 4000.  
 
Floating holiday shall be credited to each employee who is employed by the District on 
July 1 of each year, provided the employee was employed continuously by the District on 
or before the previous January 1. 

C. Holiday Observation 
Unless otherwise provided in this Article, when a holiday listed herein falls on a Sunday, 
the following Monday shall be deemed to be the holiday in lieu of the day listed, and when 
a holiday falls on a Saturday the preceding Friday shall be deemed to be the holiday in 
lieu of the day listed. If the holiday falls on an employee’s Standard Day Off, the employee 
is to take the holiday on their regular scheduled workday either immediately preceding or 
following their Standard Day Off. 

D. Regular Part-time Employees  
Regular part-time employees shall receive holiday pay on a pro rata basis according to 
hours worked. 

 

20 VACATION 

Except as specifically contradicted by this MOU, the District policies regarding vacation are 
provided in the District’s PPM and incorporated herein.  
 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 14 of 24 
 

A. Full-time Accrual Basis 
Represented employees shall earn and accrue vacation time on an annual basis in the 
following manner: 

 
From 0 up to 2 years  10 days 
From 2+ up to 4 years  11 days 
From 4+ up to 5 years  12 days 
From 5+ up to 6 years  13 days 
From 6+ up to 7 years  14 days 
From 7+ up to 8 years  15 days 
From 8+ up to 10 years  16 days 
From 10+ years   1+ day/year, up to 22 days maximum 
 

B. Part-time Accrual Basis 
Part-time employees shall earn and accrue vacation time on a pro-rata basis according 
to hours work, pursuant to the schedule above. 

C. Holidays During Vacation 
In the event one or more District holiday falls within an annual vacation leave, such 
holidays shall not be charged as vacation leave. 

D. Pay-Out Upon Termination 
Employees who terminate employment shall be paid in a lump sum for all accrued 
vacation leave earned prior to the effective date of termination with a cap of 320 hours. 

 

21 SICK LEAVE 

A. Accrual 
Each full-time employee covered by this MOU will earn sick leave from the date of 
employment, at the rate of one (1) day of sick per month to be accrued. Each part-time 
employee shall receive sick leave from date of employment on a pro rata basis according 
to hours worked. 

 

B. Usage 
Sick leave may be used for: personal illness or injury; required attendance of an employee 
upon a sick or injured spouse, child or other immediate family member residing with the 
employee; medical or dental appointments. 

 

C. Separation of Employment 
Upon separation of employment, long-term employees accumulated sick leave of up to a 
maximum of 480 hours to be paid out according to length of District service: 

 
10 years’ service completed  50% 
15 years’ service completed   100% 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 15 of 24 
 

 

D. Sick Leave Donation 

1. Employees may voluntarily donate up to forty (40) hours of unused sick leave per fiscal 
year in one (1) hour increments to a “sick leave bank” under the conditions established 
herein. The sick leave donation shall be on an hour for hour basis and subject to the 
following conditions: 

 

2. The employee donating the sick leave must have a minimum of eighty (80) hours of 
accrued sick leave available after the donation. All donations to the “sick leave bank” shall 
be non-reversible and donations shall be processed on the District’s Personnel Action 
Form in the same manner as any other leave request. 

 

3. Employees eligible to receive sick leave hours from the “sick leave bank” must have 
been employed by the District for a minimum of eighteen (18) months, have exhausted 
all paid leave and are suffering from a long term illness or injury that will result in the loss 
of work for a period of at least twenty consecutive (20) working days. These “sick leave 
bank” provisions shall extend to the required attendance of an employee for the care of a 
spouse, child or other immediate family member residing with the employee. The District 
Administrator shall review, approve, modify or deny requests for the use of the “sick leave 
bank” based on the employee requests and the criteria established in this Section. 

 

4. Employees utilizing the “sick leave bank” may integrate these benefits with the 
provisions of Section 35 of this Memorandum of Understanding for State Disability 
Insurance, as well as Worker’s Compensation, provided however that the total 
compensation from these sources combined shall not exceed the employee’s base 
salary. 

 

5. The District reserves the right to request sufficient documentation from a health care 
provider prior to making an eligibility determination. 

 

E. Conversion of Sick Leave 
Twenty-five percent (25%) of an employee’s sick leave balance may be converted to 
vacation or cashed-out if no sick leave is used by an employee during the fiscal year, 
provided that the employee was employed continuously from July 1st through June 30th. 
The employee must request the conversion during the month of July for the previous fiscal 
year. Failure to request the conversion during July will result in ineligibility for conversion 
for the previous fiscal year. All requests for conversion are non-reversible and shall 
require prior approval by the District Administrator. 

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 16 of 24 
 

22 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

A unit member shall be eligible for a temporary leave of absence without loss of salary upon the 
death of any member of the immediate family. Such leave is available for each incident but shall 
be limited to 3 days (24 hours). If bereavement leave has been exhausted, a covered employee 
may elect to use other paid leave including sick leave, if necessary, for this purpose, not to 
exceed two (2) additional days. “Immediate family member” is defined below. The employee 
shall include their familial relationship to the deceased on their bereavement leave form.  
 

23 DEFINITION OF IMMEDIATE FAMILY FOR BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

“Member(s) of Immediate Family” as used for Bereavement Leave only shall mean mother, 
father, husband, wife, son, daughter, brother, sister, grandmother, grandfather, grandson, 
granddaughter, guardian, aunts, uncles, and cousins with whom employee has lived. The 
definition includes “In-Law” relationships in each case and “Step” relationships in the case of 
parents and children.  
 

24 JURY DUTY  

Employees of the District who are called or required to serve as a trial juror upon notification and 
appropriate verification submitted to their supervisor shall be entitled to be absent from their 
duties with the District during the period of such service or while necessarily being present in 
court as a result of such call. The employee’s normal pay shall be continued during jury duty. It 
is also conditional upon the employee’s conveyance to the District of any compensation 
received. The employee shall turn over their jury duty pay to the District if jury duty pay is issued 
by the Courts. Mileage reimbursement issued by the Court remains the property of the employee. 
 

25 ALLOWANCES  

A. Boot 
Employees in the operations and maintenance unit shall receive an annual boot or safety 
shoe allowance of $250 payable in July of each year. 

B. Daily Uniform 
Employees in the operations and maintenance unit shall be provided uniforms daily as 
follows: 

 
Work shirt 
Pants 
Jacket 

 
Employees shall avoid negligence to limit damage in the care of their uniforms. 

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 17 of 24 
 

Operations and Maintenance Employees shall be required to wear these items while on 
duty. 

 
Employees shall maintain their uniforms and other clothing worn on the job in neat and 
clean condition. The employee shall notify their supervisor if an item becomes worn or 
damaged for timely replacement by the District.  

C. Certificate Reimbursement 
The District will pay for certification if necessary, for the employee’s current position and 
up to one step above what is required for the employee’s current position subject to the 
District Administrator’s discretion and according to budgetary constraints on training and 
certification. The District shall reimburse the examination application fee upon evidence 
of successful passing of the exam provided by the employee.  

D. Operator and Lab Grade 
A salary certificate incentive of 2.5% of base pay for operator or lab grade obtained above 
that required for the employee’s classification will be paid upon certification as issued by 
the State of California. The salary certificate incentive of 2.5% shall only be paid for one  
grade obtained and maintained above that required for the classification. 

E. Computer Purchase 
Provides for $1,500 interest free computer purchase loan payable within two years from 
employee’s salary as a payroll deduction. In order to receive this loan, the employee is 
required to have passed probation and must enter into a repayment contract for District 
reimbursement. 

F. Longevity Pay 
Longevity pay of 2.5% of base pay shall be paid to employees who have completed ten 
(10) continuous years of service. 

G.  The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to the 
employee tasked with serving as the District Safety Officer.  The District may rotate safety 
officer duties at the discretion of the District Administrator. 

26 HEALTH 

The District shall make monthly premium contributions as defined below, for the District’s 
medical plan for the employee and the employee’s dependent coverage. 
 

A. Employer Contributions for Active Employee Healthcare Coverage 
For active employees participating in the District’s full flex plan, the District will contribute 
the Minimum Employer Contribution (MEC) as required by the Public Employees’ Medical 
and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA) per month per employee to be used solely toward 
medical premiums. If the premium cost for medical coverage is less than the District’s flex 
dollar contribution, the employee shall not receive any unused portion in the form of cash. 
The MEC is determined by CalPERS and subject to change on an annual basis. 

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 18 of 24 
 

Effective upon the date of adoption of this MOU by the Board of Directors, the District will 
implement a full flex cafeteria plan for active employees in accordance with IRS Code 
Section 125, for those employees who participate in health coverage through the District. 
Active employees participating in the District’s full flex cafeteria plan receive a base 
monthly flex dollar allowance to purchase benefits under the full flex cafeteria plan. 

 
The monthly flex dollar allowance effective upon the date of adoption of this MOU by the 
Board of Directors shall be a dollar amount equal to the base amounts defined below, 
which includes the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution, for an Employee, and 
Employee & One Dependent or an Employee & Two or More Dependents. 

 
There shall be an open enrollment period once each year prior to the insurance policy 
anniversary date to allow for changes in coverage. 

 

1. District Flex Dollar Contributions 
In each of the contract years, the District’s base flex dollar allowance will be 
established on the following amounts for health. The amounts include the 
PEMHCA MEC, which for calendar year 2021 is $143.00 per month. Part-time 
employees shall receive a prorated share of the District’s flex dollar contribution. 

 
The calendar year 2021 District contributions including the MEC are up to: 

 
Employee only:    $867.92 
Employee plus 1 dependent:  $1,735.82 
Employee plus 2+ dependents:  $2,256.57 

 

2. Cost Sharing for Rate Increases for Calendar Year 2022 2023 and 2024 
In calendar year’s 2022, 2023 and 2024 the cost of increases beyond the base 
premiums stated above shall be shared between the District and employees. The 
plan used to calculate the cost sharing shall be the CalPERS Blue Shield California 
Access + plan for active employee health care. The District shall contribute seventy 
percent (70%) and employees shall contribute  thirty percent (30%) of any increase 
in health care premiums.  

 
Employees may select the available plan of their choosing and are responsible for 
paying the difference (through payroll deduction) after the District’s flex dollar 
contribution of the new maximum monthly base contribution. The new District flex 
dollar contribution maximum monthly base amounts will be updated annually and 
made available to unit employees prior to each open enrollment period. 

 

B. Retiree Health Coverage 
Employees represented by the Union who retire from the California Public Employees’ 
Retirement System (CalPERS) within 120 days of leaving their position with the District 
are eligible, as determined by CalPERS, to continue in the District’s retiree group health 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 19 of 24 
 

insurance program, offered through the Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act 
(PEMHCA).  

 
The District will contribute the Minimum Employer Contribution (MEC) as required by the 
PEMHCA per month per retiree to be used solely toward medical premiums. Effective 
January 1, 2021, the MEC is $143.00 per month, with future adjustments as determined 
by CalPERS from time to time. 

 
The District shall provide an additional contribution as a reimbursement toward the cost 
of medical premiums, to an employee who retires from the District as described in this 
section, and who qualifies for and exercises their right through CalPERS to receive the 
District’s retiree group health insurance. The additional contribution reimbursement shall 
be paid to the retiree through a Retiree Healthcare Reimbursement Account Trust (HRA 
Trust) to be established by the District. 

 

1. Current Classic Employees 
Current Classic employees who were members of CalPERS prior to January 1, 
2013 and employed by the District prior to November 15, 2017 and who retire from 
the District while meeting the eligibility requirements for CalPERS retiree health 
insurance are eligible for the following: 

 
For CalPERS medical plans under PEMHCA, the District contribution to the 
PEMHCA minimum employer contribution combined with the Retiree HRA Trust 
shall be capped at the below rates. In no event shall the District’s total contribution 
to the Retiree HRA Trust exceed the amount defined in this section. The District’s 
maximum obligations for contributions towards a retiree’s Retiree HRA Trust 
account shall not be subject to change and shall continue for the lifetime of the 
retiree and the retiree’s spouse, in accordance with the PEMHCA eligibility 
provisions for coverage, except that the District’s contribution to a retiree’s Retiree 
HRA Trust account will decrease if the retiree experiences a change in family 
status, i.e., a spouse passes away, thereby reducing coverage to retiree only 
coverage. 

 
The amounts below include the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution, which 
for calendar year 2021 is $143.00. The District’s contribution to the Retiree HRA 
Trust shall be up to the difference between the amounts below minus the PEMHCA 
minimum employer contribution. The District contribution as a reimbursement shall 
be up to the following amounts: 

 
Retiree only/surviving spouse:  Up to $662.00 
Retiree plus 1 dependent:   Up to $1,324.00 
Retiree plus 2+ dependents:  Up to $1,720.00 

 
The District’s contribution is only for medical plans available through 
CalPERS/PEMCHA. 

 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 20 of 24 
 

2. Current “Interim Members” 
Current “interim members” (as defined by the Public Employees’ Pension Reform 
Act of 2013) hired by the District after January 1, 2013, and prior to November 15, 
2017 are eligible for the following: 

 
To receive the stipend in addition to the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution 
employees shall have been employed by the District for ten (10) continuous years 
of service to be vested in the benefit and must be otherwise eligible for retirement 
from the District. The District contribution toward the Retiree HRA Trust, when 
combined with the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution, shall be no more 
than fifty percent (50%) of the individual employee only premium at the time of 
retirement (50% of the individual employee only premium in the year in which the 
employee retires) and shall not increase. The District’s contribution is only for 
medical plans available through CalPERS/PEMHCA. 

 

C. Employees Hired After November 15, 2017 
Any employees hired after November 15, 2017, shall not be eligible for an additional 
contribution as a reimbursement. The District shall contribute the PEMHCA MEC as 
determined by CalPERS from time to time. For calendar year 2021, the minimum 
contribution amount is $143.00. 

27 DENTAL AND LIFE INSURANCE 

A. Dental Insurance 
Throughout the term of this MOU, the District shall pay an amount equal to the current 
monthly premium for the District’s dental plan for the employee and the employee’s 
dependent coverage. 2021 rates are: 

 
Employee only:    $47.16 
Employee plus 1 dependent:  $94.33 
Employee plus 2+ dependents:  $145.93 

 

B. Life Insurance 
The District shall provide term life insurance for each unit member in the amount of 
$25,000. 

28 VISION/DENTAL/MEDICAL TRUST 

Throughout the term of this MOU, the District shall pay an amount of $600 for each full-time 
employee per fiscal year into a vision/dental/medical trust fund account. This account will 
reimburse out of pocket expenses not covered by an individual’s vision/dental/medical plan. 
Funds remaining at the end of the fiscal year will carryover, not to exceed an amount equal to 
$1,000. The District shall not make the full $600 annual contribution to an individual’s account if 
the full $600 annual contribution would cause the balance to exceed $1,000. The District shall 
only contribute an amount that brings the individual account balance to $1,000. No remaining 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 21 of 24 
 

unused benefit shall be paid to an employee upon termination or retirement. This benefit may 
be provided through a Third-Party Administrator of the District’s choosing. 

29 RETIREMENT 

The District provides a retirement program for all eligible employees that qualify under CalPERS 
working half-time or more. The Retirement Program may be provided through contract with the 
California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) as is currently provided and may be 
integrated with Federal Social Security Program, as is currently provided.  
 
Throughout the term of this MOU, in addition to the District’s employer contributions, the District 
shall pay an amount equal to the employee’s contribution to CalPERS (less the difference 
required to upgrade from prior 2%@55 to 2.5%@55 which is the employee’s responsibility) on 
behalf of the employee. 
 
Contributions made by the District on behalf of employees who are considered “new members” 
by CalPERS, will be mandated by the PEPRA. 
 
To the extent that the provisions of this Section 29 contradict with the requirements of State law, 
State law will control.  
 

30 STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE (SDI)/FICA/MEDICARE 

The District shall contribute 50% of the total cost for each employee to become part of the State 
Disability Insurance Program. Current contribution rate is 1.0% of gross payroll.  
 
The District will make contributions for Social Security Tax at 6.2% and Medicare at 1.45% of 
gross payroll. The employee pays matching contributions. 
 

31 ADVANCEMENT IN SALARY 

The salary range as set forth for each position is divided into five (5) steps (Steps A through E) 
that shall be applied as follows. The ranges usually reflect approximately 5% between steps in 
the range. 
 

A. Step Placement 
Normally a newly appointed employee is placed upon the “A” step (bottom step) of their 
salary range. However, upon determination of the District Administrator that the needs of 
the District service and the qualifications of the newly appointed employees warrant such 
placement, the District Administrator shall have the authority to plan an employee at Step 
B or C of the salary range. The Chair of the Board of Directors shall make the decision to 
hire any employee at Step D or higher and would only do so after reviewing 
recommendations made by the District Administrator with respect to the employee’s 
experience and value to the District. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2

mailto:2.5%25@55


SEIU MOU - Page 22 of 24 
 

 

B. Step Increases 
Progression from one step of the salary range to the next shall be based upon a 
satisfactory written employee evaluation of the employee’s performance by the District 
Administrator.  

1. Step B 
Employees may qualify for advancement to Step B, after completion of one year 
of service, upon the recommendation of the Wastewater Plant Superintendent and 
approval by the District Administrator. 
 

2. Step C 
Employees may qualify for advancement to Step C, after the completion of one 
year of service at Step B, upon recommendation of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and approval by the District Administrator.  
 

3. Step D 
Employees may qualify for advancement to Step D, after completion of one year 
of service at Step C, upon recommendation of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and the approval of the District Administrator.  
 

4. Step E 
Employees may qualify for advancement to Step E, after completion of one year 
of service at Step D, upon recommendation of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and the approval of the District Administrator.  

 

32 SALARY INCREASE 

A. Salary Ranges 
Salary ranges of unit members will be increased as follows: 

1. July 2021 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2021, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.0% of base 
salary. 

2. July 2022 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2022, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.00% of base 
salary. 
 

3. July 2023 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2023, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.00% of base 
salary. 
 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 23 of 24 
 

B. Comparable Agencies 
The parties agree to establish a labor-management committee to meet and confer during 
the term of this contract regarding the selection of comparable agencies. 

 

33 LAYOFF, BUMPING RIGHTS, REINSTATEMENT 

Whenever, in the judgment of the District Board, it becomes necessary, due to the lack of work 
or lack of funds, or other economic reason, or because the necessity for a regularly allocated 
30-hour or full-time position no longer exists, the Board of Directors may abolish any position of 
employment, and the employee holding such position may be laid off or assigned to a lower 
paying position. 
 
If layoffs become necessary, the procedure outlined in the PPM Section 2050 will apply. 

34 GRIEVANCE  

An employee may formally claim that they have been affected by a specific violation, 
misapplication, or misinterpretation of a law, District policy, rule, regulation, written instruction 
and/or MOU provision. The procedure for filing and resolving a grievance described above is 
provided for in PPM Section 5010. 

35 DISCIPLINE AND APPEALS 

The procedure for discipline and the appeal thereof is provided for in PPM Section 5020. 

36 TERM OF MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

As adopted by the Board of Directors the term of this memorandum of understanding shall be 
from July 1, 2019, through June 30th, 2021. If either party requests modification or extension of 
the MOU by April 1 of the year in which the MOU expires, then Meeting and Conferring shall 
commence no later than May 1 of the same year to strive for such modification or extension. 
Provided, however, on mutual agreement of the parties, items subject to the meet and confer 
process may be opened for discussion during the term with the exception of wages and 
retirement benefits. 

37 CONTRACTING OUT 

If it will result in the reduction of normal hours, the District, in accordance with law, will notify the 
Union 30 days in advance of Board action if it intends to contract out the functions currently 
performed by employees within the unit. Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the 
rights of the Board of Directors to contract outside work in its sole discretion. 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



SEIU MOU - Page 24 of 24 
 

38 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 

If any article or section of this MOU shall be found invalid or unlawful by reason of existing or 
subsequently enacted legislation or by judicial authority, all other articles or sections of this MOU. 
shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this MOU.  
 
 
This Memorandum of Understanding is effective July 7, 2021, and executed this    day of 
  , 2021. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have signed this Memorandum 
of Understanding as of the date first above written. 
 
SERVICE EMPLOYEES’ INTERNATIONAL  SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 
UNION LOCAL 620:     SANITATION DISTRICT: 
 
 
    
Robert MacLeod, Field Representative  Jeremy Ghent, District Administrator 
SEIU Negotiations Team 
 
 
  
Billy Romhild 
SSLOCSD Representative to 
SEIU Negotiations Team 

Item 6A. Attachment No. 2



Item 6B, Page 1 
 

 
SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 

SANITATION DISTRICT 
Post Office Box 339 Oceano, California  93475-0339 

1600 Aloha Oceano, California 93445-9735 
Telephone (805) 489-6666 FAX (805) 489-2765 

www.sslocsd.org 
 

______________________________________________________________________ 
STAFF REPORT 

To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Jeremy Ghent, District Administrator 
 
Date:  July 7, 2021 
 
Subject: COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENTS AND BENEFITS FOR NON-

REPRESENTED EMPLOYEES 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Adopt Resolution No. 2021-430, granting Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) and 
Modifications to Benefits for Non-Represented Full-time Employees, Exhibit “A”. 
 
BACKGROUND 
There are two full-time District classifications covered in the attached resolution.  Those 
classifications are the Wastewater Plant Superintendent, and the Bookkeeper/Secretary. 
The District Administrator is hired by contract in an executive capacity to the Board and 
is also not represented. The employment contract for the District Administrator is adopted 
by the Board as a separate open session item. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
The item before the Board this evening is a recommendation to authorize salary increases 
and benefit modifications for Non-Represented full-time employees. Below are highlights 
of the changes to compensation and benefits followed by a summary of costs.  
 
Summary of Changes 
 
Salary: Non-represented employees are recommended to receive salary increases of 3% 
of base salary in July 2021, 3% of base salary in July 2022, and 3% of base salary in July 
2023.  
 
Medical: The District currently uses the Calpers Blueshield Access+ as the basis for 
establishing the District’s contribution toward medical insurance.  Calpers rate changes 
occur on January 1st of each calendar year.  The presented Exhibit A of Resolution 2021-
430 provides that the employee will pay 30% of any increase to the cost of the ‘base’ 



  Item 6B, Page 3 

plan. The District will add the remaining 70% annual increase in premiums to the ‘District 
Flex Dollar Contribution’. Previously, the cost share was split 50% between the Employee 
and the District. 
 
Medical Trust/HRA: Currently the District funds $500 annually for each employee for a 
Health Reimbursement Account.  The attached resolution and exhibit increases this 
amount to $600 annually.   
 
Market Class Adjustment: The District reviewed Job Class Salaries for both the 
represented and non-represented staff. In the non-represented positions, a 3.5% one-
time market adjustment to the Bookkeeper/Secretary position is recommended.  Other 
positions were within market. 
 
Staff is recommending the Board adopt Resolution 2020-430 and attachment Exhibit “A”, 
which defines the compensation package for current employees in Non-Represented 
classifications. 
 
Options: 
 

1. Adopt the attached resolution and exhibit defining the compensation package 
for employees in Non-Represented classifications. 

2. Do not adopt the resolution. 
3. Provide further direction to staff.  
 

Fiscal Considerations: 
 

 
 
The estimated costs during the FY 2021/22 is approximately $9,178.  The FY 21/22 
Budget anticipated increases in payroll costs and there is adequate budget available for 
these additional expenses. 
 
Attachment: Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 2021-430 
  
  

CATEGORY COST
Salary 5,547.00$    
Medical 480.00$       
Medical Trust 200.00$       
Holidays 711.00$       
Market Class Adjustment 2,240.00$    
TOTAL ANNUAL COST 9,178.00$    



  Item 6B, Page 3 

RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO 
COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT GRANTING COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENTS 

AND MODIFICATIONS TO BENEFITS FOR NON-REPRESENTED FULL-TIME 
EMPLOYEES  

 
WHEREAS, the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District (District) desires to 
remain competitive in salary and benefits that it provides to its employees and to staff its 
plant in an effective and economical manner; and 
 
WHEREAS, to remain competitive, from time to time the District provides cost of living 
adjustments and modifications to benefits; and 
 
WHEREAS, The District reviewed Job Class Salaries and agrees to a one-time 3.5% 
market adjustment to the Bookkeeper/Secretary position, and   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Board of South San Luis 
Obispo County Sanitation District hereby approves the changes included in Exhibit “A” 
and the following Cost of Living Adjustments: 

1. Cost of Living Adjustments for employees in Non-Represented Full-time 
classifications as follows: 

a. July 2021 – effective on the first day of the first full pay period in July 2021, 
a three percent (3%) Cost of Living Adjustment to base salary; and 

b. July 2022 – effective on the first day of the first full pay period in July 2022, 
a three percent (3%) Cost of Living Adjustment to base salary; and 

c. July 2023 – effective on the first day of the first full pay period in July 2023, 
a three percent (3%) Cost of Living Adjustment to base salary 

2. Adopt Exhibit “A” Contributions on Behalf of Non-Represented Employees for the 
period of July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2024. 

 
The District Administrator, or his/her designee, is hereby authorized and directed to take 
all steps necessary to implement this resolution. 
  



  Item 6B, Page 3 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the South San Luis County Sanitation 
District Board of Directors held this 7th day of July 2021. 
 
On the motion of ___________________seconded by______________, and after the 
following roll call vote:  
 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
CONFLICTS:  
 
 
________________________________________________ 
Linda Austin, Chair 
Board of Directors  
South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
DISTRICT SECRETARY 
 BY: 
 DISTRICT COUNSEL 
 
 
 CONTENTS: 
 
 BY:   

 DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR 
 
 



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

Page 1 of 5 

 
CONTRIBUTIONS ON BEHALF OF NON-REPRESENTED EMPLOYEES 

FOR THE PERIOD OF JULY 1, 2021 TO JUNE 30, 2024 
 
The below contributions are for employees in the following non-represented 
classifications: 

Wastewater Plant Superintendent 
Bookkeeper/Secretary     
 

SALARY INCREASE 

A. Salary Ranges 
Salary ranges of non-represented members will be increased as follows: 

1. July 2021 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2021, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.0% of 
base salary. 

2. July 2022 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2022, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.0% of 
base salary. 

3. July 2023 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2023, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.0% of 
base salary. 

 
MEDICAL  
For those employees electing medical coverage in the District’s plans through CalPERS, 
the District shall make monthly premium contributions as defined below, for the District’s 
medical plan for the employee and the employee’s dependent coverage. 
 
There shall be an open enrollment period once each year prior to the insurance policy 
anniversary date to allow for changes in coverage. 
 

A. Employer Contributions for Active Employee Healthcare Coverage 
Active employees who elect health coverage through the District shall participate 
in the District’s full flex cafeteria plan in accordance with IRS Code Section 125. 
For active employees participating in the District’s full flex plan, the District will 
contribute the Minimum Employer Contribution (MEC) as required by the Public 
Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA), per month per employee 
to be used solely toward medical premiums.  
 
Active employees participating in the District’s full flex cafeteria plan receive a 
monthly flex dollar allowance to purchase benefits under the full flex cafeteria plan. 
The monthly flex dollar allowance shall be a dollar amount equal to the amounts 



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

Page 2 of 5 

defined below, each of which include the PEMHCA minimum employer 
contribution, for Employee Only, and Employee plus One Dependent or an 
Employee plus Two or More Dependents. If the premium cost for medical coverage 
is less than the District’s flex dollar contribution, the employee shall not receive 
any unused portion in the form of cash. The MEC is determined by CalPERS and 
subject to change on an annual calendar year basis. 

4. District Flex Dollar Contributions 
In each of the contract years, the District’s base flex dollar allowance will be 
established on the following amounts for health. The amounts include the 
PEMHCA MEC, which for calendar year 2021 is $143.00 per month. Part-
time employees shall receive a prorated share of the District’s flex dollar 
contribution. 

 
The calendar year 2021 District contributions including the MEC are up to: 

 
Employee only:    $867.92 
Employee plus 1 dependent:  $1,735.82 
Employee plus 2+ dependents:  $2,256.57 
 
2. Cost Sharing for Rate Increases for Calendar Year 2022, 2023 and 2024 
In calendar year’s 2022, 2023 and 2024 the cost of increases beyond the 
base premiums stated above shall be shared between the District and 
employees. The plan used to calculate the cost sharing shall be the 
CalPERS Blue Shield California Access + plan for active employee health 
care. The District shall contribute seventy percent (70%) and employees 
shall contribute thirty percent (30%) of any increase in health care 
premiums.   
 
Employees may enroll in any available medical plan of their choosing and 
are responsible for paying the difference (through payroll deduction) after 
the District’s flex dollar contribution. Information on the new District flex 
dollar contribution maximum monthly amounts will be updated annually and 
made available to unit employees prior to each open enrollment period.  

 
B. Retiree Health Coverage 
Employees who retire from the California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
(CalPERS) within 120 days of leaving their position with the District are eligible, as 
determined by CalPERS, to continue in the District’s retiree group health insurance 
program, offered through the Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act 
(PEMHCA). 
 
The District will contribute the Minimum Employer Contribution (MEC) as required 
by the PEMHCA per month per retired annuitant to be used solely toward medical 
premiums for CalPERS medical plans under PEMHCA. For 2021 the MEC is 
$143.00 per month, with future adjustments as determined by CalPERS from time 
to time. 



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

Page 3 of 5 

 
The District shall provide an additional monthly dollar allowance toward the cost of 
medical premiums, to an eligible employee who retires with CalPERS within 120 
days of leaving their position with the District, and as otherwise described herein; 
and who qualifies for and exercises their right through CalPERS to receive the 
District’s retiree group health insurance. The additional dollar allowance, after 
deduction of the MEC, shall be reimbursed to the retiree (as noted below), which 
may be through a Trust established by the District. 

 
1. Employees Hired Prior to December 6, 2017 
Current employees hired by the District after January 1, 2013, and prior to 
December 6, 2017 are eligible as follows: 
 
To receive a dollar allowance reimbursement for single coverage in addition 
to the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution, employees shall have 
been employed by the District for ten (10) continuous years of service at the 
time of retirement to be vested in this benefit, and must have retired within 
120 days of separation from the District, and be otherwise eligible for 
retirement from the District. The District contribution toward the dollar 
allowance, when combined with the PEMHCA minimum employer 
contribution, shall be up to no more than fifty percent (50%) of the individual 
employee only premium at the time of retirement (50% of the individual 
employee only premium in the year in which the employee retires) and shall 
be capped with no increase prospectively.  
 
Retired annuitants may only be reimbursed for out of pocket premium costs, 
up to the dollar allowance set at the time of retirement, after the deduction 
of the minimum employer contribution, which is paid directly to CalPERS. If 
the cost of the premium for the health plan selected, is less than the initial 
amount of dollar allowance at the time of retirement, due to benefit changes 
such as a different plan selection, then the dollar allowance shall be capped 
at the new lower amount, and shall not increase prospectively. Dependents 
and/or beneficiaries are not eligible for this benefit. 

 
C. Employees Hired After December 6, 2017 
 
Any employees hired after December 6, 2017, shall not be eligible for an additional 
dollar allowance. The District shall contribute the PEMHCA minimum employer 
contribution toward the retired annuitant’s coverage, the amount of which is 
determined by CalPERS and changes from time to time. For calendar year 2021 
the minimum employer contribution amount is $143.00. per month. 

  



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

Page 4 of 5 

DENTAL  
The District shall pay an amount equal to the current monthly premium for the District’s 
dental plan for the employee and the employee’s dependent coverage. 2021 rates are: 

 
Employee only:    $47.16 
Employee plus 1 dependent:  $94.33 
Employee plus 2+ dependents:  $145.93 

 
LIFE INSURANCE  
The District shall provide term life insurance for each non-represented employee in the 
amount of $25,000.  
 
VISION/DENTAL/MEDICAL TRUST 
Throughout the term of this agreement, the District shall pay an amount of $600 for 
each full-time employee per fiscal year into a vision/dental/medical trust fund account. 
This account will reimburse out of pocket expenses not covered by an individual’s 
vision/dental/medical plan. Funds remaining at the end of the fiscal year will carryover, 
not to exceed an amount equal to $1,000. The District shall not make the full $600 
annual contribution to an individual’s account if the full $600 annual contribution would 
cause the balance to exceed $1,000. The District shall only contribute an amount that 
brings the individual account balance to $1,000. No remaining unused benefit shall be 
paid to an employee upon termination or retirement. This benefit may be provided 
through a Third-Party Administrator of the District’s choosing. 
 
SOCIAL SECURITY AND MEDICARE 
The District will make contributions for Social Security Tax at 6.2% and Medicare at 1.45% 
of gross payroll. The employee pays matching contributions. 
 
STATE RETIREMENT (CalPERS)  
The District provides a retirement program for all eligible employees. The Retirement 
Program may be provided through contract with the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (CalPERS) as is currently provided and may be integrated with 
Federal Social Security Program, as is currently provided. Eligibility for CalPERS 
membership is determined by CalPERS. Contributions made by the District on behalf of 
employees, who are considered “new members” by CalPERS, shall be as mandated by 
the California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) of 2013. 
 
STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE PROGRAM  
The District shall contribute 50% of the total cost for each employee to become part of 
the State Disability Insurance Program. Current contribution rate is 1.0% of gross payroll. 
 
INCREASE FOR HIGHER OPERATOR GRADE  
A one-time increase of 2.5% for operator grade obtained above that required for position 
will be paid upon certification by the State of California for those non-represented 
individuals required to maintain an operator’s certificate. The salary increase of 2.5% shall 
only be paid for one operator grade obtained above that required for the position. 



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

Page 5 of 5 

 
LONGEVITY PAY  
Longevity pay of 2.5% of base pay shall be paid to employees who have completed ten 
(10) continuous years of service. 
 
STIPEND FOR COMMERCIAL DRIVERS LICENSE  
The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to 
employees holding a valid Commercial Driver’s License (Class A) while occupying a 
District position requiring use of that license and designated by the District to utilize the 
related equipment. 
 
STANDBY PAY  
See Personnel Policy Manual Section 3010 – Standby Policy and Pay 
 
VACATION 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section 4000 – Vacation 
 
SICK LEAVE 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section – 4020 Sick Leave 
 
SICK LEAVE CONVERSION 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section – 4020 Sick Leave 
 
SICK LEAVE PAYOUT UPON SEPARATION FROM EMPLOYMENT 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section – 4020 Sick Leave 
 
EMPLOYEE COMPUTER PURCHASE PROGRAM 
Provides for $1,500.00 interest-free computer purchase loan, payable within two years 
from employee’s salary as a payroll deduction. In order to receive this loan, the employee 
is required to have passed probation and must enter into a repayment contract for District 
reimbursement. 
 
HOLIDAYS 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section 4010 – Holidays 
 
 



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

Page 1 of 5 

 
CONTRIBUTIONS ON BEHALF OF NON-REPRESENTED EMPLOYEES 

FOR THE PERIOD OF JULY 1, 2021 TO JUNE 30, 2024 
 
The below contributions are for employees in the following non-represented 
classifications: 

Wastewater Plant Superintendent 
Bookkeeper/Secretary     
 

SALARY INCREASE 

A. Salary Ranges 
Salary ranges of non-represented members will be increased as follows: 

1. July 2021 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2021, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.0% of 
base salary. 

2. July 2022 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2022, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.0% of 
base salary. 

3. July 2023 
Effective with the first day of the first full pay period in July 2023, employees 
covered by this MOU shall receive an increase in salary equal to 3.0% of 
base salary. 

 
MEDICAL  
For those employees electing medical coverage in the District’s plans through CalPERS, 
the District shall make monthly premium contributions as defined below, for the District’s 
medical plan for the employee and the employee’s dependent coverage. 
 
There shall be an open enrollment period once each year prior to the insurance policy 
anniversary date to allow for changes in coverage. 
 

A. Employer Contributions for Active Employee Healthcare Coverage 
Active employees who elect health coverage through the District shall participate 
in the District’s full flex cafeteria plan in accordance with IRS Code Section 125. 
For active employees participating in the District’s full flex plan, the District will 
contribute the Minimum Employer Contribution (MEC) as required by the Public 
Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA), per month per employee 
to be used solely toward medical premiums.  
 
Active employees participating in the District’s full flex cafeteria plan receive a 
monthly flex dollar allowance to purchase benefits under the full flex cafeteria plan. 
The monthly flex dollar allowance shall be a dollar amount equal to the amounts 

Item 6B. Attachment



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 

Page 2 of 5 

defined below, each of which include the PEMHCA minimum employer 
contribution, for Employee Only, and Employee plus One Dependent or an 
Employee plus Two or More Dependents. If the premium cost for medical coverage 
is less than the District’s flex dollar contribution, the employee shall not receive 
any unused portion in the form of cash. The MEC is determined by CalPERS and 
subject to change on an annual calendar year basis. 

4. District Flex Dollar Contributions
In each of the contract years, the District’s base flex dollar allowance will be
established on the following amounts for health. The amounts include the
PEMHCA MEC, which for calendar year 2021 is $143.00 per month. Part-
time employees shall receive a prorated share of the District’s flex dollar
contribution.

The calendar year 2021 District contributions including the MEC are up to: 

Employee only: $867.92 
Employee plus 1 dependent: $1,735.82 
Employee plus 2+ dependents: $2,256.57 

2. Cost Sharing for Rate Increases for Calendar Year 2022, 2023 and 2024
In calendar year’s 2022, 2023 and 2024 the cost of increases beyond the
base premiums stated above shall be shared between the District and
employees. The plan used to calculate the cost sharing shall be the
CalPERS Blue Shield California Access + plan for active employee health
care. The District shall contribute seventy percent (70%) and employees
shall contribute thirty percent (30%) of any increase in health care
premiums.

Employees may enroll in any available medical plan of their choosing and 
are responsible for paying the difference (through payroll deduction) after 
the District’s flex dollar contribution. Information on the new District flex 
dollar contribution maximum monthly amounts will be updated annually and 
made available to unit employees prior to each open enrollment period.  

B. Retiree Health Coverage
Employees who retire from the California Public Employees’ Retirement System
(CalPERS) within 120 days of leaving their position with the District are eligible, as
determined by CalPERS, to continue in the District’s retiree group health insurance
program, offered through the Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act
(PEMHCA).

The District will contribute the Minimum Employer Contribution (MEC) as required 
by the PEMHCA per month per retired annuitant to be used solely toward medical 
premiums for CalPERS medical plans under PEMHCA. For 2021 the MEC is 
$143.00 per month, with future adjustments as determined by CalPERS from time 
to time. 

Item 6B. Attachment



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

Page 3 of 5 

 
The District shall provide an additional monthly dollar allowance toward the cost of 
medical premiums, to an eligible employee who retires with CalPERS within 120 
days of leaving their position with the District, and as otherwise described herein; 
and who qualifies for and exercises their right through CalPERS to receive the 
District’s retiree group health insurance. The additional dollar allowance, after 
deduction of the MEC, shall be reimbursed to the retiree (as noted below), which 
may be through a Trust established by the District. 

 
1. Employees Hired Prior to December 6, 2017 
Current employees hired by the District after January 1, 2013, and prior to 
December 6, 2017 are eligible as follows: 
 
To receive a dollar allowance reimbursement for single coverage in addition 
to the PEMHCA minimum employer contribution, employees shall have 
been employed by the District for ten (10) continuous years of service at the 
time of retirement to be vested in this benefit, and must have retired within 
120 days of separation from the District, and be otherwise eligible for 
retirement from the District. The District contribution toward the dollar 
allowance, when combined with the PEMHCA minimum employer 
contribution, shall be up to no more than fifty percent (50%) of the individual 
employee only premium at the time of retirement (50% of the individual 
employee only premium in the year in which the employee retires) and shall 
be capped with no increase prospectively.  
 
Retired annuitants may only be reimbursed for out of pocket premium costs, 
up to the dollar allowance set at the time of retirement, after the deduction 
of the minimum employer contribution, which is paid directly to CalPERS. If 
the cost of the premium for the health plan selected, is less than the initial 
amount of dollar allowance at the time of retirement, due to benefit changes 
such as a different plan selection, then the dollar allowance shall be capped 
at the new lower amount, and shall not increase prospectively. Dependents 
and/or beneficiaries are not eligible for this benefit. 

 
C. Employees Hired After December 6, 2017 
 
Any employees hired after December 6, 2017, shall not be eligible for an additional 
dollar allowance. The District shall contribute the PEMHCA minimum employer 
contribution toward the retired annuitant’s coverage, the amount of which is 
determined by CalPERS and changes from time to time. For calendar year 2021 
the minimum employer contribution amount is $143.00. per month. 

  

Item 6B. Attachment



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

Page 4 of 5 

DENTAL  
The District shall pay an amount equal to the current monthly premium for the District’s 
dental plan for the employee and the employee’s dependent coverage. 2021 rates are: 

 
Employee only:    $47.16 
Employee plus 1 dependent:  $94.33 
Employee plus 2+ dependents:  $145.93 

 
LIFE INSURANCE  
The District shall provide term life insurance for each non-represented employee in the 
amount of $25,000.  
 
VISION/DENTAL/MEDICAL TRUST 
Throughout the term of this agreement, the District shall pay an amount of $600 for 
each full-time employee per fiscal year into a vision/dental/medical trust fund account. 
This account will reimburse out of pocket expenses not covered by an individual’s 
vision/dental/medical plan. Funds remaining at the end of the fiscal year will carryover, 
not to exceed an amount equal to $1,000. The District shall not make the full $600 
annual contribution to an individual’s account if the full $600 annual contribution would 
cause the balance to exceed $1,000. The District shall only contribute an amount that 
brings the individual account balance to $1,000. No remaining unused benefit shall be 
paid to an employee upon termination or retirement. This benefit may be provided 
through a Third-Party Administrator of the District’s choosing. 
 
SOCIAL SECURITY AND MEDICARE 
The District will make contributions for Social Security Tax at 6.2% and Medicare at 1.45% 
of gross payroll. The employee pays matching contributions. 
 
STATE RETIREMENT (CalPERS)  
The District provides a retirement program for all eligible employees. The Retirement 
Program may be provided through contract with the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (CalPERS) as is currently provided and may be integrated with 
Federal Social Security Program, as is currently provided. Eligibility for CalPERS 
membership is determined by CalPERS. Contributions made by the District on behalf of 
employees, who are considered “new members” by CalPERS, shall be as mandated by 
the California Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act (PEPRA) of 2013. 
 
STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE PROGRAM  
The District shall contribute 50% of the total cost for each employee to become part of 
the State Disability Insurance Program. Current contribution rate is 1.0% of gross payroll. 
 
INCREASE FOR HIGHER OPERATOR GRADE  
A one-time increase of 2.5% for operator grade obtained above that required for position 
will be paid upon certification by the State of California for those non-represented 
individuals required to maintain an operator’s certificate. The salary increase of 2.5% shall 
only be paid for one operator grade obtained above that required for the position. 

Item 6B. Attachment



EXHIBIT “A” TO RESOLUTION 2021-430 
 

Page 5 of 5 

 
LONGEVITY PAY  
Longevity pay of 2.5% of base pay shall be paid to employees who have completed ten 
(10) continuous years of service. 
 
STIPEND FOR COMMERCIAL DRIVERS LICENSE  
The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to 
employees holding a valid Commercial Driver’s License (Class A) while occupying a 
District position requiring use of that license and designated by the District to utilize the 
related equipment. 
 
STANDBY PAY  
See Personnel Policy Manual Section 3010 – Standby Policy and Pay 
 
VACATION 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section 4000 – Vacation 
 
SICK LEAVE 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section – 4020 Sick Leave 
 
SICK LEAVE CONVERSION 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section – 4020 Sick Leave 
 
SICK LEAVE PAYOUT UPON SEPARATION FROM EMPLOYMENT 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section – 4020 Sick Leave 
 
EMPLOYEE COMPUTER PURCHASE PROGRAM 
Provides for $1,500.00 interest-free computer purchase loan, payable within two years 
from employee’s salary as a payroll deduction. In order to receive this loan, the employee 
is required to have passed probation and must enter into a repayment contract for District 
reimbursement. 
 
HOLIDAYS 
See Personnel Policy Manual Section 4010 – Holidays 
 
 

Item 6B. Attachment



Item 6C. Page 1 
 

 
SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 

SANITATION DISTRICT 
Post Office Box 339 Oceano, California  93475-0339 

1600 Aloha Oceano, California 93445-9735 
Telephone (805) 489-6666 FAX (805) 489-2765 

www.sslocsd.org 
 

______________________________________________________________________ 
STAFF REPORT 

To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Jeremy Ghent, District Administrator 
 
Date:  July 7, 2021 
 
Subject: ADOPTION OF A DISTRICT SALARY SCHEDULE, AS REQUIRED BY 

CALIFORNIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (CALPERS), 
EXHIBIT “A”. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Adopt Resolution No. 2021-431 Adopting a Publicly Available Pay Schedule for Fiscal Years 
2021, 2022 and 2023 in accordance with California Public Employees Retirement System 
(CalPERS) regulations, Exhibit “A”. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: 
 
In 2011 CalPERS adopted regulations setting forth the required elements necessary to meet the 
definition of publicly available pay schedules.  The required elements are as follows: 
 

1) Has been duly approved and adopted by the employer’s governing body in accordance 
with requirements of applicable public meetings laws; 

2) Identifies the position title for every employee position; 
3) Shows the payrate for each identified position, which may be stated as a single amount 

or as multiple amounts within a range; 
4) Indicates the time base, including, but not limited to, whether the time base is hourly, daily, 

bi-weekly, monthly, bi-monthly, or annually; 
5) Is posted at the office of the employer or immediately accessible and available for public 

review from the employer during normal business hours or posted on the employer’s 
internet website; 

6) Indicates an effective date and date of any revisions; 
7) Is retained by the employer and available for public inspection for not less than five years; 

and  
8) Does not reference another document in lieu of disclosing the payrate. 

 
 
  



Item 6C. Page 2 
 

Options: 
 

1. Adopt the attached resolution and exhibit  
2. Do not adopt the resolution. 
3. Provide further direction to staff.  
 

Fiscal Considerations: 
 
There is no fiscal impact associated with publishing the attached document on the District’s 
website. 
 
Attachment: Exhibit “A” to Resolution No. 2021-431, A Resolution approving salary for all 
District employees for the 2021, 2022, 2023 fiscal years. 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2021-431 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 
SANITATION DISTRICT  

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors for the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation 
District has the authority to implement Government Code Section 20636(b)(1); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has adopted salary schedules for all District positions; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, one of the requirements for Government Code Section 20636(b)(1) is the 
adoption by the governing body of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District 
of a Publicly Available Pay Schedule;  
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors for the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation 
District has approved Resolutions 2018-396(Amended 6/16/21), 2021-429, and 2021-430 
establishing salaries for the District Administrator, Non-Represented Employees, and 
SEIU Local 620 represented members; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Board of South San Luis 
Obispo County Sanitation District adopts the attached Publicly Available Pay Schedule 
for the 2021; 2022; and 2023 fiscal years, 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the South San Luis County Sanitation 
District Board of Directors held this 7th day of July 2021. 
 
On the motion of ___________________seconded by______________, and after the 
following roll call vote:  
 
 
AYES:  



Item 6C. Page 3 
 

NOES:  
ABSENT:  
CONFLICTS:  
 
 
________________________________________________ 
Linda Austin, Chair 
Board of Directors  
South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
DISTRICT SECRETARY 
 BY: 
 DISTRICT COUNSEL 
 
 
 CONTENTS: 
 
 BY:   

 DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR 
 
 



SEIU Salaries Per Resolution 2021-429 - Effective July 3, 2021
Non-Rep Salaries Per Resolution 2021-430 - Effective July 3, 2021
Exec Mgmt Salary Per Resolution 2018-396 - (First Amendment 06.16.21) Effective July 3, 2021

Classifications Unit Rate Type Step A Step B Step C Step D Step E
District Administrator 1 Exec Mgmt Monthly n/a n/a n/a n/a 13527

Wastewater Plant Superintendent* 1 Non-Rep Monthly 8964 9412 9883 10377 10896

Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor* 1 SEIU Monthly 6244 6556 6884 7228 7589

Wastewater Plant Senior Operator* 1 SEIU Monthly 5739 6025 6327 6643 6975

Laboratory Technician* 1 SEIU Monthly 5144 5401 5671 5955 6252

Wastewater Plant Operator II* 4 SEIU Monthly 4999 5249 5511 5786 6076

Wastewater Plant Operator I* 0 SEIU Monthly 4641 4873 5117 5373 5641

Wastewater Plant Operator In Training Intern 0 SEIU Monthly 4195 4405 4625 4856 5099

Maintenance Assistant 0 Non-Rep Monthly 4165 4374 4592 4822 5063

Bookkeeper/Secretary 1 Non-Rep Monthly 4677 4911 5156 5414 5685
10

*Eligible for Higher Operator Grade Program;  2.5% 

Board Member or Alternate (elected)

Volunteers

Plant Worker (temporary)

Summer Intern (temporary) California Minimum Wage

See Resolution No. 76

Hourly rate of equiv position 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT
SALARY SCHEDULE ADOPTED BY RESOLUTION 2021-431

Au
th

or
iz

ed
  

N
um

be
r

OTHERS

$100 per meeting attended 
(Resolution 1995-150)

Item 6C. Attachment Page 1



SEIU Salaries Per Resolution 2021-429 - Effective July, 2022
Non-Rep Salaries Per Resolution 2021-430 - Effective July 2022
Exec Mgmt Salary Per Resolution 2018-396 - (First Amendment 06.16.21) Effective July 2022
 

Classifications Unit Rate Type Step A Step B Step C Step D Step E
District Administrator 1 Exec Mgmt Monthly n/a n/a n/a n/a 13933

Wastewater Plant Superintendent* 1 Non-Rep Monthly 9233 9695 10179 10688 11223

Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor* 1 SEIU Monthly 6431 6753 7090 7445 7817

Wastewater Plant Senior Operator* 1 SEIU Monthly 5911 6206 6517 6842 7184

Laboratory Technician* 1 SEIU Monthly 5298 5563 5841 6133 6440

Wastewater Plant Operator II* 4 SEIU Monthly 5149 5406 5676 5960 6258

Wastewater Plant Operator I* 0 SEIU Monthly 4780 5019 5270 5534 5811
 

Wastewater Plant Operator In Training Intern 0 SEIU Monthly 4321 4537 4764 5002 5252

Maintenance Assistant 0 Non-Rep Monthly 4290 4505 4730 4967 5215

Bookkeeper/Secretary 1 Non-Rep Monthly 4817 5058 5311 5576 5855
10

*Eligible for Higher Operator Grade Program;  2.5% 

Board Member or Alternate (elected)

Volunteers

Plant Worker (temporary)

Summer Intern (temporary) California Minimum Wage

See Resolution No. 76

Hourly rate of equiv position 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT
SALARY SCHEDULE ADOPTED BY RESOLUTION 2021-431

Au
th

or
iz

ed
   

  
N

um
be

r

OTHERS

$100 per meeting attended 
(Resolution 1995-150)

Item 6C. Attachment Page 2



SEIU Salaries Per Resolution 2021-429 - Effective July, 2023
Non-Rep Salaries Per Resolution 2021-430 - Effective July, 2023
Exec Mgmt Salary Per Resolution 2018-396 - (First Amendment 06.16.21) Effective July 2023
 

Classifications Unit Rate Type Step A Step B Step C Step D Step E
District Administrator 1 Exec Mgmt Monthly n/a n/a n/a n/a 14351

Wastewater Plant Superintendent* 1 Non-Rep Monthly 9510 9986 10485 11009 11559

Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor* 1 SEIU Monthly 6624 6955 7303 7668 8052

Wastewater Plant Senior Operator* 1 SEIU Monthly 6088 6392 6712 7048 7400

Laboratory Technician* 1 SEIU Monthly 5457 5730 6016 6317 6633

Wastewater Plant Operator II* 4 SEIU Monthly 5303 5568 5847 6139 6446

Wastewater Plant Operator I* 0 SEIU Monthly 4924 5170 5429 5700 5985
 

Wastewater Plant Operator In Training Intern 0 SEIU Monthly 4451 4673 4907 5152 5410

Maintenance Assistant 0 Non-Rep Monthly 4419 4640 4872 5116 5371

Bookkeeper/Secretary 1 Non-Rep Monthly 4962 5210 5470 5744 6031
10

*Eligible for Higher Operator Grade Program;  2.5% 

Board Member or Alternate (elected)

Volunteers

Plant Worker (temporary)

Summer Intern (temporary) California Minimum Wage

See Resolution No. 76

Hourly rate of equiv position 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT
SALARY SCHEDULE ADOPTED BY RESOLUTION 2021-431

Au
th

or
iz

ed
   

  
N

um
be

r

OTHERS

$100 per meeting attended 
(Resolution 1995-150)

Item 6C. Attachment Page 3



Item 6D Page 1 
 

 
SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 

SANITATION DISTRICT 
Post Office Box 339 Oceano, California  93475-0339 

1600 Aloha Oceano, California 93445-9735 
Telephone (805) 489-6666 FAX (805) 489-2765 

www.sslocsd.org 
 

______________________________________________________________________ 
STAFF REPORT 

To:  Board of Directors 
 
From:  Jeremy Ghent, District Administrator 
 
Date:  July 07, 2021 
 
Subject: PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL UPDATE 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Adopt Resolution No. 2021-432 amending and updating the District’s Personnel Policy Manual, 
Exhibit “A”. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The District Personnel Policy Manual (PPM) provides District staff with direction and procedures 
for District policies, toward promoting consistency in the handling of employee personnel matters, 
as well as providing information for the administration of benefits, expectations and requirements 
of employment with the District. Where employment law mandates are complex, a Personnel 
Policy Manual provides general guidelines, and defers to legal counsel or human resources 
professionals to facilitate complex processes and procedures. 
 
From time to time, on an as needed basis, staff brings forth specific individual policies for Board 
review and approval, to either add to or amend the Personnel Policy Manual. With the constant 
updates required of employers relative to employment law, it is also important to perform 
comprehensive reviews of a Personnel Policy Manual in its entirety on a regular basis, to stay 
consistent and up to date with local, state, and federal mandates. The District's Personnel Policy 
Manual most recent comprehensive update was in December of 2018.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The item before the Board this evening is a recommendation to update the District’s Personnel 
Policy Manual.  Most of the updates are necessary to incorporate the changes made to the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) into the PPM.  Below are highlights of the updates to the 
District’s PPM.   
 
 
 
 
 



Item 6D Page 2 
 

 
Changes resulting from SEIU Negotiations 
Language from the following sections of the Personnel Policy Manual have been updated to 
reflect the changes negotiated in the 2019 and 2021 SEIU Memorandum of Understanding’s. 
 

• 3000 Hours of Work and Overtime 
o Corrected ‘Comp Time’ language to be consistent with 2019 MOU 

• 3010 Standby Pay 
o Revised ‘Standby Pay’ for rate change. 

• 3031 Certificate Pay 
o Revised certificate pay to include LabTech 
o Revised stipend pay to include Safety Officer 

• 4000 Vacation 
o Revised to increase Vacation cap from 280hrs to 320hrs 

• 4010 Holidays  
o Revised to add December 24th Christmas Eve 

• 4020 Sick Leave  
o Revised sick leave to reflect changes to the sick leave policy consistent with the 

2019 MOU 
 
Administrative Changes 
 

• 6010 Cell & Handheld Devices Policy 
o Modified cellphone reimbursement to include a frequent user stipend of $75 per 

month. 
 
The District’s Personnel Policy Manual modifications and update have historically been updated 
by resolution. Staff recommends the Board approve Resolution 2021-432 adopting the revision 
of the District Personnel Policy Manual.  
 
Options: 
 

1. Adopt Resolution 2021-432 approving modifications to the Personnel Policy Manual: 
or 

2.  Provide other direction. 
 

Fiscal Considerations: 
 
None 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Redlined Sections 
2. Updated 2021 Personnel Policy Manual Redlined Sections 

 
RESOLUTION 2021-432 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION 

DISTRICT ADOPTING REVISIONS 
TO THE DISTRICT PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL 



Item 6D Page 3 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District 
previously adopted a Personnel Policy Manual by Resolution 2018-401; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors desire to ensure that said Personnel Policy Manual 
accurately reflects the current practices of the District; and 
 
WHEREAS, District staff has prepared a revision of the District Personnel Policy Manual; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Directors desires to adopt the revised Personnel Policy Manual in its 
entirety, which reflects up to date District practices. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that the Board of South San Luis Obispo 
County Sanitation District hereby approves the following: 
 

1. The 2021 Personnel Policy Manual update attached as Exhibit “A” is hereby adopted: 
and 
 

2. The District Administrator, or his/her designee, is hereby further authorized and directed 
to take all steps necessary to implement this resolution. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the South San Luis County Sanitation District 
Board of Directors held this 7th day of July 2021. 
 
On the motion of  seconded by  , and after the following roll call 
vote: 
 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
CONFLICTS: 
 
 
 CERTIFICATION 
I do hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and 
regularly adopted at a meeting of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District held this 
7th day of July 2021. 
 
 
  
LINDA AUSTIN,  
CHAIR OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 
 
ATTEST: 
 
BY:   
DISTRICT SECRETARY 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 



Item 6D Page 4 
 

BY:   
DISTRICT COUNSEL 
 
CONTENTS: 
 
BY:   
DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR 
 



3000 1 

3000 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 

The Board of Directors of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District, from time 
to time, set forth salary, compensation and benefits adjustment by resolution for both 
exempt and non-exempt employees. It is anticipated that future Boards will adopt a 
resolution typically in conjunction with the budget in regard to salary, compensation and 
benefits in future years. 

1. This policy section shall apply to all non-exempt employees.

2. The regular hours of work each day shall be consecutive except for interruptions for
meal periods. The regular working day is generally defined as an 8-hour working day
Saturday through Friday, excluding holidays, with a mid-morning break of fifteen (15)
minutes and a midafternoon break of fifteen (15) minutes as well as a 30-minute unpaid
lunch break.

Break time must be used on a daily basis and time allocated to breaks may not be 
accumulated. All breaks except for lunch must be taken on the job site. The District 
Administrator may authorize flexible work schedules provided it does not interfere with 
the regular workload of the District and is within the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards 
Act. The District Administrator may also alter the workday of administrative staff 
depending on the District’s needs, not to exceed 10 hours per day. 

3. Tardiness may be cause for disciplinary action. If an employee cannot report for work,
then that employee is expected to notify his/her immediate supervisor within one half hour 
after the time the workday should have begun.

4. The workweek shall consist of seven (7) consecutive days from 12:01 A.M. Saturday,
through midnight Friday. However alternative shifts may be assigned at the convenience
of the District as approved by the District Administrator.

5. Overtime: It is the policy of the District to discourage overtime whenever possible.
However, when overtime is necessary and authorized by the District Administrator or
Wastewater Plant Superintendent, it shall be paid as follows, subject to the Fair Labor
Standards Act:

A. Time worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek;

B. Time worked on a designated holiday.

C. If an employee is directed by the District’s Administrator or his/her designee or
for mandatory schooling required for existing employment to attend a seminar,
conference, and/or training session, time spent including travel time will be
compensated.

D. Compensated time off in lieu of overtime pay is not allowed.

6. Compensatory Time:

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 1



3000 2 

A. Definition 
Definition: For purposes of this MOU, compensatory time off (“CTO”) is time 
earned in lieu of immediate cash payment for overtime hours worked. Overtime 
hours are defined above. 

B. Comp Time or Cash Payment 
When employees work overtime, they may request to be paid in compensatory 
time in lieu of cash payment and the decision is at the discretion of the District 
Administrator. CTO may be used in lieu of Vacation or Sick Leave and as 
requested under those provisions. 

C. Annual Cash Out 
Compensatory time balances as of the first full pay period in June of each year 
shall automatically be converted to a cash payment to the employee on the last 
paycheck in June unless State or federal regulations indicate differently, or 
extenuating circumstances warrant the District Administrator to authorize a carry-
over amount not to exceed 40 hours upon request of an employee. Requests for 
carry-overs must be submitted in writing to the District Administrator no later than 
June 15th of each year. 

 Formatted: Font color: Blue

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 2



3010 1 

3010 - STANDBY POLICY AND PAY  
 
1. A written schedule shall be maintained by the Plant Superintendent whereby utility and 
maintenance employees including non-exempt supervisory level staff, shall be assigned, 
on a rotational basis, to be "on-call" on weekends, holidays and other times not 
considered regular hours of work for District employees. 
 
2. When an employee is on-call, he/she shall be provided a cell phone, radio and/or pager, 
etc., that will provide notification in the event of an emergency. Said cell phone, radio and 
pager, etc., shall be kept in the on-call employee's possession during the entire on-call 
period of time. 
 
Notification of an emergency may also be given verbally, in person or telephonically, by 
the District Administrator or Plant Superintendent. 
 
3. When an employee is on-call, he/she shall be free to utilize his/her time as desired; 
and shall refrain from activities which may impair their ability to perform their assigned 
duties. In addition, the employee must remain within 25 miles of the District and be able 
to arrive at District facilities within 35 minutes from the time of the initial callback 
notification. 
 
4. Standby duty shall be compensated at the rate defined by current compensation 
agreement or MOU. An employee shall not receive standby pay for hours actually worked 
or for hours reimbursed by a call-back minimum of two hours. 
 
5. Exempt employees may be compensated for standby duty, with authorization by 
District Administrator. 
 
6. Standby pay will end once the employee is on site. 
 
7. Employees required to perform standby service will be paid at the rate of $3.7500 per 
hour, or as determined by an applicable current MOU. When required, backup standby 
will be paid at the rate of $1.000.50 per hour. Stand by shall not be paid if on "call back" 
overtime pay.  
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 3



3031 1 

3031 – CERTIFICATE PAY  
 
1. All operators are eligible for stipend up to a maximum of 2.5% to base pay for an 
operator or laboratory grade obtained above that required for the employee's current 
regular position, to be paid upon full certification, as issued by the State of California. 
 
2. The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to 
employees holding a valid Commercial Driver License (Class A) while occupying a District 
position requiring use of that license and designated by the District to utilize the related 
equipment. 
 
3. The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to 
the employee tasked with serving as the District Safety Officer.  The District may rotate 
safety officer duties at the discretion of the District Administrator. 
 
43. The Lab Technician classification shall receive a 3% increase for designation and 
performance as the District's Laboratory Technician after six (6) months' experience in 
that position and after recommendation by the Wastewater Plant Superintendent and 
approval of the District Administrator. This increase shall be in addition to any stipend for 
higher operator grade license. 
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 4



4000 1 

4000 – VACATION 
 

1. This policy shall apply to regular and probationary employees in all classifications and shall 
supersede and repeal the previous vacation provisions contained in resolutions or as 
attachments to resolutions. 
  
Prospective amendments by resolution shall be incorporated into this policy, with a notation 
of the resolution number and the date of adoption. 
 

2. The purpose of annual vacation leave is to enable each eligible employee to return to his 
work mentally refreshed. All employees in the competitive service shall be entitled to annual 
vacation leave with pay except the following:  
 

A. Employees still serving their original probationary period in the service of the 
Sanitation District. However, vacation credits for the time may be granted to each 
such employee who later successfully passes his/her new hire probationary period. 
 
B. Employees who work on an intermittent, temporary, or seasonal basis and all 
employees who work less than half-time. 

 
3. After six months of continuous service a newly hired employee may be permitted to take 

vacation leave. 
 

4. All eligible full-time employees in a paid status, shall earn vacation credits by pay period at 
the rates as follows, unless he/she has reached the maximum accumulation of hours. All 
eligible employees who work less than full-time and at least half time (and are not noted in 
(b) above), shall earn vacation credits on a prorated basis. 
 

 Years of completed continuous service  Vacation Days 
 
 From 0 up to 2 years 10 days 
 From 2+ up to 4 years 11 days 
 From 4+ up to 5 years 12 days 
 From 5+ up to 6 years 13 days 
 From 6+ up to 7 years 14 days 
 From 7+ up to 8 years 15 days 
 From 8+ up to 10 years 16 days 
 From 10+ up to 20 years +1 day/year; up to 220 days max 
 

5. Effective dates for rate of earnings shall be the first day of the next full pay period after 
employee completed the referenced year’s service. 

 
6. The maximum amount of vacation accumulation at any one time for an employee shall be 

320280 hours. When an employee reaches the maximum allowable vacation credit, no 
additional vacation credit shall be earned until the vacation balance is below the maximum. 
Employees are responsible to regularly monitor their own accumulated vacation hours 
balance.  

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 5



4000 2 

7. The District will not require an employee to take vacation time in lieu of sick leave or leave 
of absence during periods of illness. However, the employee may elect to take vacation time 
in case of extended illness where sick leave has been fully used. Vacation taken in lieu of 
sick leave, will be recorded as such on employee time cards. 

 
8. If a District recognized holiday falls on a workday during an employee’s vacation period, that 

day shall be considered as a paid holiday and not vacation time. 
 

9. The times during a calendar year when an employee may take his vacation shall be 
determined with due regard for the wishes of the employee and the needs of the District. If 
the requirements of the District are such that an employee must defer part or all of his annual 
vacation in a particular calendar year, the appointing authority may permit the employee to 
take such deferred vacation during the following calendar year.  

 
Employees are responsible to monitor their own vacation balances, and if requirements of 
service are such that a deferral may be necessary, they are to advise the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and District Administrator in advance. A written record of each pre-approved 
deferred vacation, signed by the Wastewater Plant Superintendent and District 
Administrator, noting the details, shall be kept on file with the District AdministratorManager. 

 
10. Vacations may be scheduled at any time during the year upon approval of the employees’ 

immediate supervisor. Vacation requests must be submitted in writing and may not be 
approved if not submitted at least two weeks in advance, or if the request conflicts with other 
vacation requests. If a vacation conflict exists employee District seniority shall be used to 
resolve conflict.  

 
11. Vacations are provided by the District to employees as a period of exemption from work with 

pay for the purpose of rest, relaxation and recreation. This respite is a benefit and is intended 
as an aid in maintaining the long-term and consistent productivity and contentment of the 
employee. As such, pay in lieu of vacation time away from work shall not be permitted except 
at termination.  

 
12. Employees who terminate employment shall be paid in a lump sum for all accrued vacation 

leave up to 320280 hours earned prior to the effective date of termination. No such payment 
shall be made for vacation accumulated contrary to the provisions of these rules. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 6



4010 1 

 4010 - HOLIDAYS 
 
1. This policy shall apply to all full-time employees and is further defined as follows: 
 
The following legal holidays shall be observed by the South San Luis Obispo County 
Sanitation District and that its office shall be closed on these days: 
 

A. January 1st, New Year's Day 
B. Third Monday in January, Martin Luther King Day 
C. February 12th, Lincoln's Birthday 
D. Third Monday in February, Washington's Birthday observed 
E. March 31st, Cesar Chavez Day 
F. The last Monday in May, Memorial Day 
G. July 4th, Independence Day 
H. First Monday in September, Labor Day 
I. Second Monday in October, Columbus Day 
J. November 11th, Veterans' Day 
K. Fourth Thursday in November, Thanksgiving Day 
L. Friday following Thanksgiving Day 
L.M. December 24th, Christmas Eve 
M.N. December 25th, Christmas 

 
Floating Holiday – In exchange for the previously provided holiday known as September 
9th, Admissions Day, each employee shall be provided with one floating holiday that may 
be scheduled at any time during the year upon approval of the employee’s immediate 
supervisor. Floating Holiday requests must be submitted in writing and may not be 
approved if not submitted at least two weeks in advance, or if the request conflicts with 
other floating holiday requests. If a conflict exists, employee District seniority shall be 
used to resolve conflict. The floating holiday shall be credited to each employee is 
employed by the District on July 1 of each year, provided the employee was employed 
continuously by the District on or before the previous January 1. The floating holiday hours 
will be credited on July 1 of each year. 
 
2. All regular work shall be suspended, and full-time employees shall receive one (1) eight 
(8) hour day's pay for each of the holidays listed above. An employee on a leave without 
pay will not receive holiday pay. 
 
3. Whenever a holiday falls on Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be observed as the 
holiday. Whenever a holiday falls on Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed as 
the holiday. 
 
4. If an employee is taking an authorized leave with pay when a holiday occurs, the day 
shall be compensated as holiday pay.  
 

Formatted: Superscript

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 7



4010 2 

5. If any employee works on any of the holidays listed above, he/she shall, in addition to 
his/her holiday pay, be paid for all hours worked at the rate of time and one-half (1 1/2) 
his/her regular rate of pay or as otherwise specified under Policy #3000 (Hours of Work 
and Overtime). 
 
Additional Observed Holiday: Each day appointed through executive order by the 
President of the United States or Governor of the State for a public fast, thanksgiving, or 
holiday. In the event Congress approves a fixed holiday, the Board of Directors shall 
determine if the District shall observe it as an annually fixed holiday. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 8



4020 1 

4020 – SICK LEAVE 
 
1. This policy shall apply to probationary and regular employees in all classifications. 
 
2. Sick leave is defined as absence from work due to illness, non-industrial injury, or 
quarantine due to exposure to a contagious disease. In addition, dentist and doctor 
appointments and physician prescribed sickness prevention measures shall be subject to 
sick leave provided prior notice is provided to employee's immediate supervisor. 
 
3. Sick leave shall be accrued at a rate of one eight (8) hour day per month, provided 
employee is not on leave without pay. Only available and accrued sick leave per the last 
payroll report may be used.  
 
During the month of July, employees may convert a portion (25%) of sick leave earned 
within a fiscal year, to regular pay. 
 
Upon separation of employment, long term employees accumulated sick leave of up to a 
maximum of 480 hours shall be paid out according to length of District service: 

 
10 years' service completed 5025% 
15 years' service completed 10050% 
20 years' service completed 100% 

 
4. Sick leave may be used for the need of the employee and his/her spouse, parents, 
grandparents, child, step child, brother or sister, grandchild or corresponding relatives by 
marriage or any other person who is a legal dependent of employee in accordance with 
the Healthy Workplace Healthy Families Act. 
 
5. In order to receive compensation while on sick leave, the employee shall notify his/her 
supervisor within half an hour after the time the work day should have begun, or as soon 
as practical in emergency situations. 
 
6. If absence from duty by reason of illness occurs, satisfactory evidence may be required 
by the District Administrator or other responsible managing employee after the first 24 
hours or three days leave have been used each year (in an annual 12-month period based 
on employee's anniversary date). 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 9



 
 

6010 1 

6010 – CELL & HANDHELD DEVICES POLICY 

1. PURPOSE 
This policy establishes procedures for the use of cell phones, and other cellular/wireless devices, 
and is applicable to all District employees. This policy is intended to provide uniform and consistent 
standards of application and use of communications devices, including but not limited to: land-line 
telephones, cellular telephones, PDA’s, tablets, pagers, and other portable/mobile devices. 
References herein to phones may include any electronic portable device. 
 
Because the technology industry is an ever-changing field, this policy may cover portable/mobile 
communications devices that are developed after the adoption of this policy not specifically cited 
herein. A statement within this policy referencing cell phone use, also means use of any mobile 
device. 
 
For additional procedures with regard to District technology use, please reference the District 
Personnel Policy Manual. 

2. POLICY 
The District seeks to operate using efficient and safe methods for use of handheld devices. District 
issued cellular/wireless devices shall be utilized for business purposes. Further, any use of said 
devices, while conducting District business shall be in a safe, appropriate, and legal manner. 
Therefore, as defined herein, use of personal cellular/wireless devices is considered “attending to 
personal business” and except for emergencies or with prior supervisory approval as stated herein, 
any personal business, is limited to breaks and meal periods. 
 
Drivers shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws and regulations regarding the use of mobile 
technology devices including cell phones. 

3. RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. Individual Employees 
 
All employees are responsible to: 
 
• Abide by the provisions of this policy, including attention to safety. 
• Review any perceived discrepancy or provision of this policy with a supervisor to ensure clarity 

of the intent. 
• Thoroughly read the policy, and request supervisory direction, should questions arise, to affect 

a clear understanding of this policy. 
• Bring forth issues (with regard to any portion of this policy), in a timely manner, to the attention 

of management staff. 
• Cooperate in any investigation of alleged policy violations, including not destroying evidence. 
• Understand they will be held accountable with regard to frequency or length of personal use of 

devices covered by this policy. 
• Understand they may incur personal tax liability for personal use of a District device, under 

Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regulations. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 10



 
 

6010 2 

• Personal cell phone use, even when permitted when representing the District, must never include 
language that is obscene, discriminatory, offensive, prejudicial or defamatory in any way (such 
as jokes, slurs and/or inappropriate remarks regarding a person's race, ethnicity, sex, sexual 
orientation, religion, color, age or disability). 

• Not use cameras or other recording features on the device, unless expressly authorized and 
requested to by a supervisor, so as to protect the privacy rights of other employees and the 
District. 

 

B. Management/Supervisory Responsibilities 
 
In addition to responsibilities as an individual employee, Management and Supervisory employees 
are to communicate the provisions of this policy to subordinate staff. As with any policy, management 
and supervisory staff are held to a higher standard; therefore, serve as role models for proper 
compliance with the provisions herein. Managers and supervisors are required to: 
 
• Be conversant with the provisions of this policy. 
• Ensure employees are aware of the provisions herein. 
• Provide a copy of this policy and updates to all employees. 
• Provide training through review and expectations of said policy to all new staff upon hire, and 

current employees on a periodic basis. 
• Maintain employee signature form of acknowledgment of this policy. 
• Review monthly District device charges to monitor inappropriate, excessive or irregular use. 
• Regularly remind employees of their responsibilities in complying with this policy. 
• Advise management staff, including the District Administrator with regard to personnel or 

operational issues relative to this policy. 
• Be responsive and take immediate documented steps to address policy violations, appropriate 

to the facts. 
• Cooperate with any investigation with regard to policy violations and preserve evidence to the 

extent possible. 

4. SAFETY 
 
The use of personal devices, including cell phones is expressly prohibited while driving on District 
time. Although state law allows for use of a wireless telephone or electronic wireless communications 
device specifically designed and configured to allow voice-operated and hands-free operation, even 
use of a voice activated wireless device while driving may be a distraction while driving. Therefore, 
employees must pull off to a reasonably safe location, and stop as soon as it is safe to do so, to 
place or accept phone calls. 
 
Texting while driving or operating machinery is prohibited. 
 
Employees are to be proactive in using safety precautions relative to use of cellular phones or other 
devices. 

5. DISTRICT ISSUED DEVICES 
Where job or business needs demand immediate access to an employee, the District may issue a 
District-owned and serviced cell phone to an employee for work-related communications.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 11



 
 

6010 3 

 
District issued cellular phones and/or wireless devices shall remain the sole property of the District 
and shall be subject to inspection and/or monitoring (including related records including text 
messages) at any time. Employees in possession of District equipment such as cellular phones are 
expected to protect the equipment from loss, damage, or theft. Upon resignation or termination of 
employment, or at any time upon request, the employee may be asked to produce the phone for 
return or inspection. The use of District issued mobile devices is a privilege and not a right. 

A. Procedures 
The District will maintain a minimum of two (2) cellular devices for staff use, when the assignment 
requires or may require the need to communicate electronically in carrying out duties. 
 

1. Non-Exempt Staff – Employees assigned to Standby Duty or traveling in the field shall “check-out” 
a District issued device, prior to using it. When the assignment or fieldwork is completed, the device 
is to be immediately returned, by “checking-in” the device. Checkout and check-in shall be 
documented on a form provided by the District, which includes signatures and reflect dates of use.  
 

2. Exempt Management Staff – In conducting District business, an exempt employee may choose to 
either be issued a District-provided cellular device; or use their own personal device and be 
reimbursed a reasonable percentage of the monthly cost, which may be subject to IRS regulations. 
Said employee shall complete an acknowledgment form, documenting which option is selected. 

B. Usage 
In order to avoid incurring a tax liability for the personal use of District equipment, such equipment 
should be used for business reasons. 
 
All employees understand that while some de minimis personal use is inevitable, a District provided 
mobile device is intended for business calls. Employees are not authorized to conduct personal 
business on District time, and shall limit personal phone calls, or other personal business to breaks 
or meal periods. Call summary reports (i.e. number of minutes used) are distributed to supervisors 
on a periodic basis and are to be reviewed for reasonableness. Employees will reimburse the 
District for any overage charges related to personal use, including but not limited to, charges for 
long distance and/or roaming charges, overage charges, multimedia charges, and charges for 
directory assistance. The call detail records generated from assigned cell phones are considered 
records of the District and may, on occasion, be subject to internal and outside audits by the District 
and/or official agencies. 
 
Users are not authorized to access any website using their District issued cellular/wireless device 
that would be a violation of the District’s Computer Systems, Email, and Internet Use Policy. 
 
Use of cells phones, or other mobile device may create an overtime liability to the District, therefore, 
use is only by advance Supervisory approval. 

6. PERSONAL DEVICES 
The District will not be liable for the loss or damage of personal mobile devices brought into the 
workplace. Personal use of any mobile device, unless authorized (e.g., on Standby) is considered 
personal time.  
 
Excessive personal use of cellular/wireless devices during the workday, regardless of the phone or 
device used, can interfere with employee productivity and be distracting to others. During paid work 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 12



 
 

6010 4 

time, employees must exercise the same discretion in using personal cellular/wireless devices as is 
expected for the use of any District telephone or computer. 

A. Telephone Calls/Text Messaging 
1. Employees must turn off ringers or change ringers to “mute/vibrate” on personal electronic 

devices, to avoid disruption in the workplace.  
2. A reasonable standard the District encourages is to limit personal calls and/or text 

messaging during work time to an average of no more than two or three short-duration 
calls/exchanges per day when needed. Employees are to conduct personal business, during breaks 
and meal periods and to ensure that friends and family members are aware of the District’s policy. 

3. Cellular phones may not be used at any work site where the operation of the phone is or 
may be a distraction or otherwise unsafe to the public or other employees. 

4. When a situation exists that requires the employee to be available to outside callers, the 
employee is responsible for timely notification to their supervisor, to seek temporary authorization 
with regard to sending and accepting limited outside communications during productive time.  

B. Prohibited Activities 
In order to ensure a productive workday, the following use of a personal cellular/wireless device are 
prohibited during working hours: 
 

1. Unless otherwise authorized, the use of cameras on cell phones during work time is 
prohibited to protect the privacy of the employer as well as of fellow employees; 

2. Accessing the internet for non-work-related purposes; 
3. Playing games; 
4. Watching movies, television, sports, etc.; 
5. Any activity that violates District policy, including accessing and/or distributing 

pornographic or harassing material; 
6. Cellular telephones, or other mobile devices, may not be used to defame, harass, 

intimidate, or threaten any other person; 
7. Employees are prohibited from using cell phones in any illegal, illicit or offensive manner. 

7. PRIVACY 
As with use of any communications device issued by the District, employees understand there is no 
expectation or right of privacy. 
 
The District has the right to review all records related to District issued cellular and/or mobile devices.  
 
Users should further be aware that in conducting District business, all records maintained by the 
District may be subject to discovery under the Public Records Act. 

8. EMPLOYEE REIMBURSEMENT 
The District will not be liable for the loss of personal cell phones or mobile devices brought into the 
workplace. Unless otherwise stated herein, employees are not authorized to use personal cell 
phones, or other devices in place of District provided equipment. 
 

A. Occasional User 
Employees may be reimbursed $.45 per phone call, when the work-related use is necessary 
in carrying out work duties, and there is no other option for the communication.  
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 13



 
 

6010 5 

B. Frequent User 
In lieu of a District issued device,  District Employees who receive frequent and regular phone 
calls may submit written justification to receive a $75 per month cellphone stipend for use 
and listing of their personal cellphone for work purposes when requested and approved by 
District Administrator. 

 
Exempt employees choosing to use their personal device, rather than a District issued device, shall 
be reimbursed a reasonable percentage of the basic monthly cost, commensurate with frequency of 
use. The District may request proof of use (e.g., review of monthly phone bill) to determine a 
reasonable percentage. 

9. POLICY VIOLATIONS 
Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of a cellular phone while 
driving on duty may be subject to disciplinary action and to personal liability resulting from such traffic 
violations and are responsible for paying the cost of the citation. 
 
Policy violations shall be addressed with corrective measures appropriate to the situation; including 
but not limited to policy re-review, training; loss of privileges, and/or as applicable, disciplinary action 
up to and including termination of employment. 
 

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  0.81"

Item 6D. Attachment No. 1 Page 14



SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 
SANITATION DISTRICT 

PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL 

JULY 2021 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 1



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1 

CHAPTER ONE – INTRODUCTION 
1000 – Purpose of Personnel Policies 
1010 – Policy Amendments 

CHAPTER TWO – EMPLOYMENT 
2000 – Definitions 
2010 – Chain of Command 
2015 – Nepotism 
2020 – Recruitment 
2030 – Break in Service 
2040 – Outside Employment 
2050 – Separation from District Employment 

CHAPTER THREE – COMPENSATION 
3000 – Hours of Work and Overtime 
3010 – Standby Policy and Pay 
3020 – Pay Periods 
3030 – Compensation 
3031 – Certificate Pay 
3032 – Out of Class Pay 
3040 – Accepting and Providing Gifts 
3050 – Performance Evaluation 

CHAPTER FOUR – BENEFITS 
4000 – Vacation 
4005 – Management Leave 
4010 – Holidays 
4020 – Sick Leave 
4025 – Family and Medical Leave 
4030 – Bereavement Leave 
4035 – Pregnancy Related Leaves and Transfer Privileges 
4040 – Leave for Jury Duty 
4045 – Catastrophic Leave 
4050 – Leave of Absence 
4055 – Family-School Partnership Leave 
4060 – Injured on Duty 
4065 – Leave for Victims 
4080 – Cobra Health Insurance 
4090 – Military Leave 
4095 – Time off to Vote 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 2



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

     2 

 
CHAPTER FIVE - EMPLOYEE RELATIONS 

5000 – Unauthorized Voluntary Absence 
5010 – Grievance Procedure 
5020 – Discipline and Appeals Procedure 
5030 – Safety 
5040 – Use of District Vehicles and Property 
5050 – Appearance and Conduct 
5060 – Substance Abuse 
5070 – Policy and Complaint Procedure Against Harassment, Discrimination, and Retaliation 
5080 – Political Activities 
5090 – Fitness for Duty 
5091 – Technology Use 
5092 – Solicitation and Distribution 
 

CHAPTER SIX - GENERAL 
6000 – Business Travel and Reimbursement 
6010 – Cell and Handheld Devices Policy 
 

CHAPTER SEVEN - JOB DESCRIPTIONS 
7000 – District Administrator 
7010 – Wastewater Plant Superintendent 
7020 – Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor 
7025 – Wastewater Plant Senior Operator 
7030 – Wastewater Plant Operator II 
7035 – Wastewater Plant Operator I 
7042 – Laboratory Technician 
7050 – Bookkeeper/Secretary 
7060 – Wastewater Plant Operator in Training 
7061 – Maintenance Assistant 

 
CHAPTER EIGHT - APPENDICES 

8000 – APPENDIX A Grievance Form 
8010 – APPENDIX B Consent and Release Form 
8020 – APPENDIX C Core Values 
8030 – APPENDIX D Code of Conduct 
8040 – APPENDIX E Work Performance and Evaluation Report 
8050 – APPENDIX F Employment Application 
8060 – APPENDIX G Background Authorization 
8070 – APPENDIX H Job Physical Requirements 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 3



 
 

1000 1 

 
1000 - PURPOSE OF PERSONNEL POLICIES 
 
It is the intent of the Board of Directors of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District 
to maintain a Personnel Policy Manual. Contained therein shall be a comprehensive listing of 
the Board's current policies, being the rules and regulations enacted by the Board from time to 
time. The Personnel Policy Manual will serve as a resource for Directors, staff, and members 
of the public in determining the manner in which matters of District business are to be 
conducted. The information contained in this manual constitutes the District’s personnel rules 
and policies. It is not to be interpreted as a contract between the District and any of its 
employees. 
 
Except as provided herein, this manual applies to all employees. Except as herein provided 
these rules do not apply to members of the Board of Directors, contract employees, volunteer 
personnel, such as advisory committees; persons engaged under contract to provide expert, 
professional, technical, or other services; or to temporary employees. 
 
If any policy or portion of a policy contained within this Personnel Policy Manual is in conflict 
with rules, regulations or legislation having authority over the South San Luis Obispo County 
Sanitation District, said rules, regulations, or legislation shall prevail. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 4



 
 

1010 1 

1010 – POLICY AMENDMENTS 
 
1. The District reserves the right to modify or delete any of these policies when, in the opinion 
of its management and the Board of Directors, it becomes advisable to do so on those 
provisions of these policies that do not require the District to meet and confer. The District may 
also deviate from these policies in emergency situations provided that the Board conducts an 
emergency meeting and votes to take appropriate action regarding said deviation from policies. 
 
2. Announcement of changes will be made through standard communication channels (for 
example, employee meetings and District Administrator communications), but advance notice 
to every employee may not always be possible. The amendment will become effective even 
though personal notice was not provided to one or more of the District’s employees. 
 
3. No oral statements or representations can, in any way, change or alter the provisions of this 
manual. 
 
4. Except in emergency situations, proposed modifications or deletions to these policies shall 
first be introduced at one meeting of the Board of Directors, at which meeting the Board may 
provide direction to staff on the proposed modifications or deletions after receiving public 
comment. The proposed modifications or deletions shall then, at a second meeting of the Board 
of Directors, be presented for final adoption. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 5



 
 

2000 1 

2000 – DEFINITIONS 
 

1. At-Will Employee:  An individual appointed as either a probationary employee, a contract 
employee, or an hourly employee who has no property rights in his/her position, or an 
individual who holds employment with the District under contract which defines the terms and 
conditions of employment. 

 
2. Contract Employee: Employee hired as specified in an employment contract, and typically 

serves at-will.  
 

3. Division(s)" is/are defined as: 
 

A. Administration Division of South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District; 
 

B. Operations Division of South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District 
 

3. Exempt Employee: Employees designated as exempt employees as defined by the Fair Labor 
Standards Act, including administrative employees and division heads. Exempt employees 
are expected to complete their assigned duties rather than adhere to a strict workday 
schedule. Consequently, no overtime, standby time, or compensatory time will be provided 
for working beyond a forty-hour work week, unless prior approval is given by the District 
Administrator. 

 
4. Full-time Employee: An individual appointed to an allocated position in the District service 

normally scheduled for at least forty (40) hours per week. 
 

5. Hourly Employee: An individual appointed to an allocated position in the District service 
scheduled to work less than thirty (30) hours per week on a temporary, or seasonal basis, 
which is designated by hourly compensation on the regular salary schedule. 

 
6. Regular Employee: A regular employee is one who has been hired to fill a vacant allocated 

position in any job classification, has successfully completed his/her probationary period and 
works 30 to 40 hours per week on a consistent basis. 

 
7. Part-time Employee: A part-time employee is one who has been hired to fill a vacant allocated 

part-time position in job classification and has successfully completed his/her probationary 
period and works thirty (30) hours per week. 

 
8. Probationary Employee: A probationary period is regarded as part of the examination process, 

which provides the District Administrator the opportunity to observe and evaluate an 
employee’s competence, performance, and ability to perform assigned duties. A new and 
returning employee shall be regarded as a probationary employee for the first year of 
employment. In addition, this probationary period may be extended an additional 6 months at 
the discretion of the District Administrator. Probationary employees serve entirely at the will 
and pleasure of the District Administrator and may be terminated by the District Administrator 
without cause and without right of appeal. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 6



 
 

2000 2 

 
9. Re-employed Individuals: Those who are in good standing before they were separated from 

District employment as a result of a lay-off, and subsequently re-employed, pursuant to 
Section 2050 (2) of these policies. Re-employed individuals are not subject to a probationary 
period. 

 
10. Retired Annuitant: A retired annuitant is one who has retired from CalPERS and is eligible for 

hire on an hourly basis, for a limited duration of time and may work no more than 960 hours 
in a fiscal year. The rate of pay for a retired annuitant cannot be less than the minimum nor 
exceed the maximum monthly base salary of the full-time equivalent position being filled, 
divided by 173.333 hours to equal an hourly pay rate. A retired annuitant is paid only for hours 
worked. No other benefit, incentive, compensation in lieu of benefits, or other form of 
compensation can be paid in addition to this hourly pay rate. A retired annuitant may not be 
appointed to a full-time or part-time classification on the regular salary schedule. 

 
11. Returning Employees: Individuals who meet all of the following conditions shall be considered 

returning and probationary employees. 
 
 A. Previously employed in good standing by the District. 
 
 B. Separated from the District other than by layoff. 
 
 C. Re-hired by the District. 
 
 D. Does not meet the definition of a re-employed individual. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 7



2010 - CHAIN OF COMMAND

 

 

Maintenance Assistant

Board of Directors

District Administrator

Administration Division

Bookkeeper/Secretary

Operations Division

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT

Laboratory Technician

Wastewater Plant Operator II

Wastewater Plant Operator I

Wastewater Plant Operator-In-Training

Wastewater Plant Superintendent

Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor

Wastewater Plant Senior Operator

 2010 1
Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 8



2015 1 

2015 – NEPOTISM AND FRATERNIZATION POLICY 
 
1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to establish the nepotism and fraternization policy for the 
South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District. This policy is intended to avoid conflicts 
of interest between work-related and personal/family obligations; reduce favoritism or 
even the appearance of favoritism; prevent personal/family conflicts from affecting the 
workplace; and decrease the likelihood of sexual harassment and/or gender 
discrimination in the workplace. 
 
2. Definitions 
 
As used in this Policy. 
 

A. “Cohabitation” applies to those employees who live together, share room and 
board or sire children, without being married to one another. 

 
B. The term “dating” includes but is not limited to one or more social meetings under 

circumstances that may lead to exchange of personal affection, and sexual or 
physical intimacy. 

 
C. "Division(s)" is defined as: 

• Administration Division of South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District; 
• Operations Division of South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District 

 
D. “Employee” means any person who receives a District payroll check for services, 

full or part time, rendered to the District. 
 

E. “Marital status” means an individual’s state of marriage, non-marriage, divorce or 
dissolution, separation, widowhood, annulment, or other marital state for purpose 
of this policy, pursuant to Section 2.F.  

 
F. "Marriage" includes the relationships described in California Family Code §297-

300.  
 

G. “Relative” means spouse, child, step-child, parent, step-parent, grandparent, 
grandchild, brother, sister, step-brother, step-sister, aunt, uncle, cousin, niece, 
nephew, parent-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, legal guardian and/or 
significant other as defined herein and in the fraternization policy, and/or any other 
individual related by blood or marriage living in the same household as the District 
employee. 

 
H. A "romantic and/or sexual relationship" exists when two District employees 

become personally involved with each other to the point that there is dating, 
exchange of personal affection, sexual or physical intimacy and/or cohabitation. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 9



2015 2 

 
I. A “significant other” means a relationship between an employee of the District and 

another individual as defined herein in (a), (b), (c) and/or (d) and elsewhere in the 
policy. 

 
J. A "social meeting” occurs when co-employees gather for purposes not related to 

work for the District. 
 

K. Spouse” means a partner in marriage, pursuant to Section 2.F. 
 
3. Policy/Procedure 
 
Nepotism 
 
It is an express finding of the District that the situation specified in this section, the 
employment of relatives as that term is defined herein, is contrary to appropriate District 
goals of safety and efficiency. The purpose of this section is to define those specific 
circumstances and to delineate the manner in which such employment issues will be 
addressed. 
 
Close family relatives of elected officials appointed to serve on the Board of Directors of 
the District are not eligible for initial hire during the District member’s term on the Board. 
 

A. Relatives of employees shall not be employed in the same division of such a 
relative at any time by the District as further proscribed below. 
 

1. It is found by the District that a business purpose exists and dictates that a 
prohibition on employment of relatives within District divisions is essential to 
safety and efficiency when such employment result in any of the following: 

• a supervisor-subordinate relationship; 
• the employees having job duties, which authorize performance of shared 
duties on the same or related work assignment; 
• both employees being under the jurisdiction of the same immediate 
supervisor; or 
• an adverse impact on supervision, safety, security and/or morale. 

 
B. Effect of Post-Employment Marriage or Creation of Other “Relative” Status of 
District Employees 
 
In determining rules and regulations governing the employment of District 
employees who become related, as defined herein, after commencement of 
District employ, the District is guided by the principles enunciated in the California 
Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) which prohibits discrimination on the 
grounds of marital status. However, FEHA and its Regulations defining the same 
do authorize restrictions being placed upon married District employees (or upon 
people deemed related as a result of marriage [i.e., in-laws]) where for business 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 10



2015 3 

reasons of supervision, safety, security or morale, the employer may refuse to 
place one spouse or other relative under the direct supervision of another spouse 
or other relative and refuse to place both spouses or other relatives in the same 
division or facility if the work involves potential conflicts of interest or other hazards 
greater for married couples or other relatives than for other persons. (2 Cal. Code 
Regs., Section 11057; Government Code section 12940(a)(3)(A)). 
 

1. The District retains the right to refuse to place one spouse or other relative 
under the direct supervision of the other spouse where there is a potential for 
creating adverse impact on supervision, safety, security or morale. 
 
The District retains the right to refuse to place both spouses or other relatives in 
the same division where doing so has the potential for creating adverse impact 
on supervision, safety, security or morale or involves potential conflicts of 
interest. 
 
2. In order to implement these policies, and where the above circumstances 
exist and mandate that two spouses or other relatives shall not work in a 
prohibited relationship, the District will attempt to do any of the following: 
• Attempt to redefine the job responsibilities of the related employees within 

the division to minimize the conflict,  
• If the redefinition of job status is not feasible, will attempt to transfer one 

spouse or other relative to a similar classified position in another District 
division.  

 
3. Although the wishes of the involved parties as to which spouse or other 
relative is to be transferred will be given consideration by the District, the 
controlling factor in determining who is to be transferred shall be operation and 
efficiency of the District. If any such transfer results in a reduction in salary or 
compensation, the transfer shall not be considered disciplinary in nature and 
shall not be the subject of any form of administrative appeal. 
 
4. In lieu of a transfer from one division to another, or in situations where no 
similar counterpart classification exists to which a spouse or other relative can 
be transferred, the District may request the voluntary resignation of one of the 
employees. If one of the employees does not voluntarily resign, the employee 
with the least employment experience/service with the District may be 
discharged by the District Administrator. Married or other related employees 
may continue to be employed within the same District division subject to 
approval by the District Administrator. However, any such continuing 
employment is predicated upon both spouses or other similarly situated relatives 
as defined in this Policy: not reporting to the same immediate supervisor; one 
not being supervised by the other; not working the same shift at the same work 
site; or, otherwise not becoming involved in a work environment having the 
potential for adverse impact on supervision, safety, security or morale. 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 11



2015 4 

Fraternization 
 

A. Romantic Relationships Between Supervisors and Subordinate Employees Are 
Prohibited 
 
Public trust, safety and District morale require that employees avoid the 
appearance of a conflict between their professional responsibilities and any 
involvement that they may have in a romantic or sexual relationship with other 
District employees. In order to promote efficient operation of the District and to 
avoid misunderstandings, complaints of favoritism, other problems of supervision, 
security, morale, and possible claims of sexual harassment and/or gender-based 
discrimination, romantic and/or sexual relations between supervisors and 
subordinate employees are prohibited. 
 
B. Romantic Relationships Between Co-Employees In The Same Division Are 
Prohibited 
 
Public trust, safety and District morale require that employees avoid relations that 
may negatively impact the efficient operation of the District. In order to promote 
efficient operation of the District and to avoid formation of cliques and factions, 
claims of sexual harassment and gender-based discrimination, and the blurring of 
professional and personal responsibilities and relationships in the workplace, 
romantic and/or sexual relationships between co-employees in the same division 
are prohibited. 
 
C. Enforcement 
 
The District reserves the right to reasonably investigate situations in the workplace 
to determine whether a romantic and/or sexual relationship exists and therefore 
presents a possible violation of this Policy. If the District determines that a 
proscribed relationship (as described by this policy) exists, remedial and/or 
disciplinary measures, including but not limited to a transfer, reassignment, or 
dismissal, shall be utilized to mitigate issues that arise relevant to the enforcement 
of this policy. 

 
1. The District retains the right to refuse to place employees engaged in 
relationships prohibited by this policy in the same division where it has the 
potential for creating adverse impact on supervision, safety, security or 
morale or involves potential conflicts of interest. 
 
2. In order to implement such policies, and where the above circumstances 
exist and mandate that employees shall not work in a prohibited 
relationship, the District will attempt to transfer one party to the proscribed 
relationship to a similarly classified position in another District division, 
should such a position exist, be available, and should the employee 
possess the skills and qualifications necessary to perform the essential 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 12



2015 5 

duties of the position.  Although the wishes of the involved parties as to 
which individual will be transferred will be given consideration by the District, 
the controlling factor in determining who is to be transferred shall be the 
positive operation and efficiency of the District. If any such transfer results 
in a reduction in salary or compensation, applicable and legally required due 
process procedures shall be applied. 
 
3. In lieu of a transfer from one division to another, or in situations where no 
similar counterpart classification exists to which an employee in a 
proscribed relationship can be transferred, that employee may continue to 
be employed within the same District division subject to approval by the 
District Administrator. However, any such continuing employment is 
predicated upon both subject employees not reporting to the same 
immediate supervisor; one not being supervised by the other; not working 
the same shift at the same work site; or, otherwise becoming involved in a 
work environment having the potential for adverse impact on supervision, 
safety, security or morale. 
 
4. If continuing employment of employees in a relationship prohibited by this 
Policy cannot be accommodated consistent with the District’s interest in 
promotion of safety, security, morale and efficiency, then the District retains 
sole discretion to separate one of the parties from District employ. Absent 
resignation by one affected employee, the less senior, in terms of overall 
District service, of the involved employees shall be subject to separation. In 
the event of separation, applicable and governing due process procedures 
shall be applied. 
 

The provisions of this fraternization policy are not applicable to individuals employed by 
the District on or before the date of initial adoption of this policy in their current state of 
marriage or non-marriage. As such, a change in marital status/cohabitation, etc., of any 
current employee, will result in the applicability of this policy. Furthermore, those 
employees are subject to any and all employment-related actions by the District, that are 
permissible pursuant to existing District policies and procedures to address conduct that 
may negatively impact the work environment. 
 
4. Employee Duty 
 
It is the duty of all involved employees who are in a situation prohibited under this policy 
to immediately notify their supervisor either in person or through the chain of command 
that a situation exists in which the involved employee may be in violation of this policy. 
The District reserves the right to reasonably investigate the situation and determine 
whether the employee has violated this policy. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 13



2020 1 

2020 – RECRUITMENT 
 
1. Employment – Appointments 
 
A recruitment is an open or promotional competitive examination process. Applicants for 
employment shall be evaluated on the basis of their completed employment application 
(Appendix F), submitted material(s), personal interview(s), and demonstrated ability. This 
District shall retain all employment applications and related materials for a period of three 
years, whereupon they shall be destroyed pursuant to the District Records Management 
System. 
 
The District will only solicit applications when position openings exist, when letters of 
resignation or retirement have been tendered by employees, or when vacancies occur or 
after new position openings are approved by the Board of Directors, and the District 
Administrator, as the appointing authority, has determined it is in the best interest of the 
District to open a recruitment. Upon completion of such evaluation, the Board will be 
notified of final applicants for exempt employees, and the District Administrator or his/her 
designee shall select the candidate to be employed to fill the position opening and shall 
promptly notify the Board of Directors of the name of the person selected.  
 
If two people are hired on the same day for jobs that have the same rate of pay, it must 
be determined who was hired first based on the date the employment letter is issued. If 
two people are hired on the same day for different rates of pay, the employee with the 
higher pay rate will be deemed the employee hired first. 
 
2. District Philosophy for Advancement 
 
It is the philosophy of the District to promote from within the District, unless it would be in 
the District’s best interest to hire from the outside. For this reason, most employment 
openings as they occur will be announced to all departments. All interested employees 
will be considered for the announced employment opening through a recruitment 
examination process. 
 
3. Employment of Relatives 
 
Close family relatives of elected officials appointed to serve on the Board of Directors of 
the District are not eligible for initial hire during the District member’s term on the Board. 
 
The District Administrator may disqualify from competition any applicant for employment 
or transfer request where the result of a positive hiring or transfer decision would put an 
employee in direct supervision of (or under the direct supervision of) a close family 
relative: spouses, co-habitants, parents, children and siblings. 
 
4. Pre-Employment Physical Examination 
 

A. All offers of employment shall be made contingent upon the respective 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 14



2020 2 

applicant’s successfully passing a physician’s examination and drug test, to be 
provided at District expense. 
 
B. An applicant shall not be employed until a negative drug screen result is 
obtained and a qualified physician has certified the applicant is qualified to do the 
type of work required by the position being applied for. 
 
C. Prior to conducting the exam, the physician will be supplied with a 
specification/description of the position for which the applicant is applying, which 
shall include the description of the physical requirements and working environment 
of the position. 
 
D. When the applicant reports to the medical facility for the scheduled examination 
and drug testing, identification shall be provided to said facility in the form of a 
photograph and verifiable signature (e.g. valid vehicle operator’s license). 
 
E. Applicants who refuse to cooperate in the examination and testing shall not be 
considered for employment. A diluted result or any other non-negative result shall 
be considered a positive drug test. Applicants who have a positive drug test shall 
be denied employment. 
 
F. Retesting of an individual who was previously employed by the District, will be 
required.  
 
G. Appointments with the medical facility providing the examination and drug 
testing shall be made at least one day prior to testing, if possible, with the applicant 
provided minimal advance notice. 
 
H. All test results shall be kept confidential and shall be limited to only pass/fail 
information. The applicant may be told he/she failed to pass the test, but only the 
District Administrator or designee shall have access to the actual pass/fail test 
results. 
 
I. District employment application forms shall contain a notice to applicants as 
follows: 

 
District has a policy that any offer of employment shall be contingent upon the 
applicant successfully passing a physician’s exam for illicit drugs pursuant to 
Section 5060. Persons who do not receive said physician’s certification of 
qualification to do the type of work required by the position applied for, or who test 
positive for the presence of illicit drugs in their body will not be considered further 
for employment. If you have reason to believe that you will not pass a physician’s 
examination or will register positive on a drug test, or if you are unwilling to consent 
to such a test or examination, it is recommended that you not submit an application. 
 
Immediately prior to reporting for drug testing, all applicants shall complete a 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 15



2020 3 

Consent and Release Form to be kept on file in the District office, which shall 
conform to the format in Appendix B. 

 
5. DMV Record 
 
All applicants shall submit a current Department of Motor Vehicle Record and shall be 
required to provide proof of insurance to the District. The insurance carrier of the District 
will be requested to verify eligibility of insurability based upon the applicant’s previous 
driving history. Applicants who are denied insurability by the District’s insurance carrier 
will be disqualified. 
 
6. Immigration 
 
The District requires satisfactory evidence prior to the commencement of employment of 
legal authority to work in the United States. 
 
7. Written/Oral Examination 
 
The District may conduct employment testing and interviews of job applicants. Individuals 
who will require reasonable accommodation to participate in the selection process must 
make such request when submitting the application. 
 
8. Equal Opportunity Employment 
 
It is the policy of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District that there shall be 
no discrimination based upon protected activities, nor protected classes including but not 
limited to: race, color, national origin, religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, and 
related medical conditions), disability (physical or mental), military or veteran's status, age 
(40 and older), genetic information, marital status, sexual orientation and identity 
AIDS/HIV, medical condition, political activities or affiliations, status as a victim of 
domestic violence, assault, or stalking, in any personnel action, including recruitment, 
appointment, performance evaluation, promotion, the granting of leaves and any 
disciplinary or grievance action. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 16



2030 1 

 
2030 - BREAK IN SERVICE 
 
1. For probationary and regular employees in all classifications, length of continuous 
service with the District will be used as the basis for determining benefits including sick 
leave and vacation time benefits. Length of continuous service will also be one of the 
considerations in promotions and layoffs. 
 
2. Continuous service with the District will start with the date of employment and will 
continue until one of the following occurs: 
 
 A. An employee retires; 
 
 B. An employee voluntarily terminates his/her employment; 
 
 C. An employee is laid off; or 
 
 D. An employee is discharged for cause. 
 
3. Continuity of an employee's service will not be broken by absence for the following 
reasons, and his/her length of service will accrue for the period of such absence: 
 
 A. Absence by reason of industrial temporary disability; 
 
 B. Authorized absence without pay for less than thirty (30) days in a calendar year; 
 
 C. Absences governed by applicable state and/or federal laws such as military or 

National Guard service; or protected leave. 
 
4. A re-employment list shall be established and maintained by the District Administrator, 
or his designee for those employees who are separated from District Employment as a 
result of a layoff pursuant to Section 2050.2 of these policies. An employee may remain 
on the re-employment list for one year; and at the discretion of the District Administrator 
may remain on the list for one additional year. In addition to its use for re-employing 
regular employees, the re-employment list shall be used to determine the order in which 
part-time employees shall be employed when other than full-time regular work is available 
and additional employees are needed. 
 
Previous full-time employees who were laid off and rehired as part-time employees will 
have their employment service records maintained so that they accumulate length-of-
service as they work on an "hour-for-hour" basis. 
 
Part-time employees who are re-hired for a full-time allocated position will have previously 
earned length-of-service maintained in their employment service records on an hour-for-
hour basis after successful completion of a probationary period. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 17



2040 1 

 
2040 - OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT 
 
1. No District employee shall be permitted to accept employment in addition to or outside 
of District service if: 
 
 A. The additional or outside employment leads to a conflict, or potential conflict of 

interest for said employee; or 
 
 B. The nature of the additional or outside employment is such that it will reflect 

unfavorably on the District; or 
 
 C. The duties to be performed in the additional or outside employment are in 

conflict with the duties including scheduling involved in District service. 
 
2. Prior to accepting outside employment, an employee must seek approval from the 
District Administrator (via a District form) to ensure the above conditions have been met. 
 
3. An employee who has approved additional or outside employment shall keep the 
District Administrator current as to their status with said additional or outside employment. 
 
4. An employee who does have approved outside employment shall not be permitted to 
use District records, materials, equipment, facilities or other District resources in 
connection with said employment. 
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 18



2050 1 

2050 - SEPARATION FROM DISTRICT EMPLOYMENT 
 
1. Resignation  
 
To leave District service in good standing, an employee must file a written notice of termination with 
the District Administrator at least two (2) weeks before the effective date. The District Administrator 
may, however, grant good standing with less notice if he/she determines the circumstances warrant. 
 
Resignations may not be withdrawn without the District Administrator's approval. 
 
Separation from District employment may also occur by retirement, release from probation, 
termination of employment for cause, if the employee is not available for work without approved 
leave, or in the event of the employee's death. 
 
2. Layoffs 
 
Whenever, in the judgment of the District Board, it becomes necessary, due to the lack of work, lack 
of funds, or other economic reason, or because the necessity for a regularly allocated 30-hour or 
full-time position no longer exists, the Board of Directors may abolish any position of employment, 
and the employee holding such position may be laid off or assigned to a lower paying position. 
 

A. Employees to be laid off shall be notified as soon as practicable and given at least 30 
calendar days prior written notice. 
 
B. Except as otherwise provided, whenever there is a reduction in the work force, the District 
Administrator shall first demote to a vacancy, if any, in a lower position for which the employee 
who is the latest to be laid off is qualified. 
 
C. An employee affected by layoff may have retreat (also known as bumping) rights to 
displace an employee who has less seniority in a lower position that the employee has 
previously occupied or supervised. For the purpose of this section, seniority includes all 
periods equivalent to full-time service at or above the retreat position being considered. 
 
D. In order to retreat to a former or lower position, an employee must request displacement 
action in writing to the District Administrator within five (5) working days of receipt of the layoff 
notice. The displaced employee shall receive notice of lay-off pursuant to this section. 
 
E. Employees retreating to a lower position shall be placed at the salary step representing the 
least loss of pay. In no case shall the salary be increased above that received in the position 
from which the employee was laid off. 
 
F. If two positions have the same job description, then employees shall be laid off as follows: 
 

1. Part-time employees within the affected class(es) shall be laid off first. 
 
2. Probationary full-time employees working the affected class(es) shall be laid off next 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 19



2050 2 

in reverse order of seniority. 
 
3. Regular employees working in the affected class(es) who have one or more regular 
evaluations during the last three years with an overall rating of Unsatisfactory, shall be 
laid off next in reverse order of seniority. 
 
4. Regular employees working in the affected class(es) who have not received an 
Unsatisfactory performance evaluation in the last three years, shall be reduced or laid 
off last, with the employee having the lowest number of layoff points being laid off or 
reduced first. Regular employees laid off shall be entitled to retreat to a position at the 
same or lower pay range in a class in which they were previously employed. 

 
G. Layoff points shall be computed in the following manner: 
 

1. Employees shall earn one point for each month of continuous full-time employment 
or a proportionate fraction of a point for part-time employment. 
 
2. To a maximum of 18 total points, using the last three regular performance 
evaluations, an employee shall earn 6 points for each Exceptional regular performance 
evaluation which he or she has received during the period of District employment which 
has immediately preceded the date of layoff.  
 
3. To a maximum of 9 total points, using the last three regular performance evaluations, 
an employee shall earn 3 points for each Superior regular performance evaluation 
which he or she has received during the period of District employment immediately 
preceding the date of layoff. 
 
4. To a maximum of 18 points, using the last three regular performance evaluations, 
an employee shall have 6 points deducted for each Marginal regular performance 
evaluation which he or she has received during the period of District employment 
immediately preceding the date of layoff. 

 
H. Should it occur that after the computation of layoff points, two or more persons have earned 
equal totals of such points, among those so equal in points, that person shall be laid off first, 
who had the later date of hire, or whoever was hired last if they were hired on the same 
effective date. 
 
I. The names of persons laid off or demoted in accordance with this policy shall be entered 
upon a re-employment list in reverse order of the succession of layoff. Such list shall be used 
by the District Administrator when a vacancy arises in the same or a lower related class of 
position as determined by the District Administrator for which the person possesses the 
minimum qualifications including current required certifications/licenses. 
 
J. Names of persons laid off shall be carried on the re-employment list for one year, except 
that persons appointed to regular positions of the same level as that from which they were 
laid off, shall upon such appointment, be removed from the list.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 20



2050 3 

 
Persons who decline re-employment shall be removed from the list. Persons re-employed in 
a lower position in the same classification, or on a part-time basis, shall be continued on the 
list for the higher position for the full year. At the discretion of the District Administrator, the 
list may be extended for an additional year. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 21



3000 1 

3000 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 
 
The Board of Directors of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District, from time 
to time, set forth salary, compensation and benefits adjustment by resolution for both 
exempt and non-exempt employees. It is anticipated that future Boards will adopt a 
resolution typically in conjunction with the budget in regard to salary, compensation and 
benefits in future years. 
 
1. This policy section shall apply to all non-exempt employees. 
 
2. The regular hours of work each day shall be consecutive except for interruptions for 
meal periods. The regular working day is generally defined as an 8-hour working day 
Saturday through Friday, excluding holidays, with a mid-morning break of fifteen (15) 
minutes and a midafternoon break of fifteen (15) minutes as well as a 30-minute unpaid 
lunch break. 
 
Break time must be used on a daily basis and time allocated to breaks may not be 
accumulated. All breaks except for lunch must be taken on the job site. The District 
Administrator may authorize flexible work schedules provided it does not interfere with 
the regular workload of the District and is within the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards 
Act. The District Administrator may also alter the workday of administrative staff 
depending on the District’s needs, not to exceed 10 hours per day. 
 
3. Tardiness may be cause for disciplinary action. If an employee cannot report for work, 
then that employee is expected to notify his/her immediate supervisor within one half hour 
after the time the workday should have begun. 
 
4. The workweek shall consist of seven (7) consecutive days from 12:01 A.M. Saturday, 
through midnight Friday. However alternative shifts may be assigned at the convenience 
of the District as approved by the District Administrator. 
 
5. Overtime: It is the policy of the District to discourage overtime whenever possible. 
However, when overtime is necessary and authorized by the District Administrator or 
Wastewater Plant Superintendent, it shall be paid as follows, subject to the Fair Labor 
Standards Act: 
 

A. Time worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek;  
 
B. Time worked on a designated holiday. 
 
C. If an employee is directed by the District’s Administrator or his/her designee or 
for mandatory schooling required for existing employment to attend a seminar, 
conference, and/or training session, time spent including travel time will be 
compensated.  
 
D. Compensated time off in lieu of overtime pay is not allowed.  

 
6. Compensatory Time: 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 22



3000 2 

A. Definition 
Definition: For purposes of this MOU, compensatory time off (“CTO”) is time 
earned in lieu of immediate cash payment for overtime hours worked. Overtime 
hours are defined above. 

B. Comp Time or Cash Payment 
When employees work overtime, they may request to be paid in compensatory 
time in lieu of cash payment and the decision is at the discretion of the District 
Administrator. CTO may be used in lieu of Vacation or Sick Leave and as 
requested under those provisions. 

C. Annual Cash Out 
Compensatory time balances as of the first full pay period in June of each year 
shall automatically be converted to a cash payment to the employee on the last 
paycheck in June unless State or federal regulations indicate differently, or 
extenuating circumstances warrant the District Administrator to authorize a carry-
over amount not to exceed 40 hours upon request of an employee. Requests for 
carry-overs must be submitted in writing to the District Administrator no later than 
June 15th of each year. 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 23



3010 1 

3010 - STANDBY POLICY AND PAY  
 
1. A written schedule shall be maintained by the Plant Superintendent whereby utility and 
maintenance employees including non-exempt supervisory level staff, shall be assigned, 
on a rotational basis, to be "on-call" on weekends, holidays and other times not 
considered regular hours of work for District employees. 
 
2. When an employee is on-call, he/she shall be provided a cell phone, radio and/or pager, 
etc., that will provide notification in the event of an emergency. Said cell phone, radio and 
pager, etc., shall be kept in the on-call employee's possession during the entire on-call 
period of time. 
 
Notification of an emergency may also be given verbally, in person or telephonically, by 
the District Administrator or Plant Superintendent. 
 
3. When an employee is on-call, he/she shall be free to utilize his/her time as desired; 
and shall refrain from activities which may impair their ability to perform their assigned 
duties. In addition, the employee must remain within 25 miles of the District and be able 
to arrive at District facilities within 35 minutes from the time of the initial callback 
notification. 
 
4. Standby duty shall be compensated at the rate defined by current compensation 
agreement or MOU. An employee shall not receive standby pay for hours actually worked 
or for hours reimbursed by a call-back minimum of two hours. 
 
5. Exempt employees may be compensated for standby duty, with authorization by 
District Administrator. 
 
6. Standby pay will end once the employee is on site. 
 
7. Employees required to perform standby service will be paid at the rate of $3.75 per 
hour, or as determined by an applicable current MOU. When required, backup standby 
will be paid at the rate of $1.00 per hour. Stand by shall not be paid if on "call back" 
overtime pay.  
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 24



3020 1 

3020 - PAY PERIODS 
 
1. The salaries and wages of all District employees shall be paid every two weeks, on the 
following Friday. Each two-week cycle shall be considered a pay period.  
 
2. In the event a payday falls on one of the holidays listed, the immediately previous 
working day shall become the payday. 
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 25



3030 1 

3030 - COMPENSATION 
 
1. This policy shall apply to all District employees. 
 

A. All full-time employees entering the employ of the District shall be paid at the 
first or Step A of the salary range established for their classification unless 
authorized by the District Administrator.  
 
B. The District Administrator shall have the authority to place an individual at Step 
B or C upon reviewing their experience and making a determination that said Step 
B or C salary is in the best interest of the District to provide at the time of 
employment. The Chair of the Board of Directors shall make the decision to hire 
any employee at Step D or higher and would only do so after reviewing 
recommendations made by the District Administrator with respect to the 
employee's experience and value to the District.  
 
C. Re-employed Individuals - A person who previously held a full-time position from 
which the person was separated in good standing may, when re-employed in a 
position with the same or lower pay range than held at separation, be appointed at 
the same salary rate which was paid at the effective date of the person's 
termination, or the nearest lower applicable step for the range to which the person 
is appointed, provided such re-employment occurs within twelve (12) months from 
the date of said termination. 
 
D. Out-of-Class Pay – see Section 3032.  

 
2. Salary step increases - As provided herein, salary step increases are not automatic, 
rather are based on performance and merit. Employees shall be placed on a salary step 
and qualify for increases in compensation for advancement to the next higher step of the 
pay ranges in the manner following: 
 
A performance report verifying satisfactory performance of each employee recommended 
for step advancement shall be submitted to the District Administrator prior to final action 
on such recommendation. 
 

A. Employees may qualify for advancement to Step B, after completion of one year 
of service, upon the recommendation of the Wastewater Plant Superintendent and 
approval by the District Administrator. 
 
B. Employees may qualify for advancement to Step C, after the completion of one 
year of service in Step B, upon recommendation of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and approval by the District Administrator. 
 
C. Employees may qualify for advancement to Step D, after completion of one year 
of service at Step C, upon recommendation of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and approval of the District Administrator. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 26



3030 2 

 
D. Employees may qualify for advancement to Step E, after completion of one year 
of service in Step D, upon recommendation of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and approval of the District Administrator. 

 
3. For the purpose of determining eligibility for step advancement for employees, the 
anniversary date shall be as follows: 
 

A. For employees entering the District service and appointed to a full-time or part-
time position the anniversary date shall be the day following the completion of 12 
months (26 completed pay periods) of service at such step. 
 
B. Thereafter, on the annual anniversary date employees shall be eligible for 
consideration for a step increase to the next step in the salary range; such 
consideration shall include overall satisfactory performance as documented by a 
written performance evaluation (Appendix E). The effective date of a step increase 
if granted, shall be the first day of the pay-period in which the anniversary date 
falls, provided the performance evaluation has been approved by the District 
Administrator. 

 
4. Promotion – Non-exempt employees promoted (pursuant to Section 2020) to a position 
with a higher pay range shall be placed on the step of the range allocated to the new 
classification which would grant such employee an increase in pay nearest to five percent. 
Such increase shall not exceed the top step of the range allocated to the new 
classification. The effective date of promotional appointment shall be the first day of the 
subsequent full pay-period following written approval by the District Administrator. Such 
action shall require the District Administrator to establish a new anniversary date in 
accordance with the following criteria: 
 

A. For employees who are promoted the anniversary date shall be the date 
following the completion of 12 months (26 completed pay periods) of service at 
such step.  

 
5. The Board of Directors, as part of the budget process, shall consider compensation 
rates and cost-of-living adjustments for employees, to meet District needs. 
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 27



3031 1 

3031 – CERTIFICATE PAY  
 
1. All operators are eligible for stipend up to a maximum of 2.5% to base pay for an 
operator or laboratory grade obtained above that required for the employee's current 
regular position, to be paid upon full certification, as issued by the State of California. 
 
2. The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to 
employees holding a valid Commercial Driver License (Class A) while occupying a District 
position requiring use of that license and designated by the District to utilize the related 
equipment. 
 
3. The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to 
the employee tasked with serving as the District Safety Officer.  The District may rotate 
safety officer duties at the discretion of the District Administrator. 
 
4. The Lab Technician classification shall receive a 3% increase for designation and 
performance as the District's Laboratory Technician after six (6) months' experience in 
that position and after recommendation by the Wastewater Plant Superintendent and 
approval of the District Administrator. This increase shall be in addition to any stipend for 
higher operator grade license. 
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 28



3032 1 

3032 – OUT-OF-CLASS PAY 
 
1. A five percent (5%) stipend shall be paid to those employees required to work and 
perform duties in a vacant classification above their classification as approved by the 
District Administrator. However, if an employee meets the full qualifications of the position 
for the temporary assignment by holding the necessary certification, the employee shall 
be compensated at Step A of the range for the temporary classification assignment, or at 
the next step to avoid a reduction in pay. 
 
2. Assignments on a temporary basis shall be recommended by the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and approved by the District Administrator via a Personnel Action Form. 
 
3. The waiting period for out-of-class pay shall be a full 40 hours of regular pay and non-
overtime hours actually worked (productive time). During a work week where a holiday 
falls; the holiday shall be considered as productive time worked. Management shall not 
rotate assignments among employees to avoid payment of minimum out-of-class pay. 
 
4. Once the employee assigned to work in a higher classification has worked 40 hours of 
productive time, he/she shall be compensated effective the first day of the assignment. 
An employee who volunteers and is approved for such assignment shall receive no 
increase in salary if he/she is volunteering for training purposes. 
 
5. Once the temporary assignment has ended, the employee shall be restored to their 
regular classification. 
 
6. Temporary assignments shall not count toward time in service at the higher 
classification level and employee shall have no rights to permanently fill the position. 
Should the position remain vacant, all qualified employees may compete for a vacant 
position in a District recruitment that may be undertaken to fill the vacancy. 
 
7. With the written approval of the District Administrator an employee may volunteer to 
perform duties of a higher classification when he/she is not fully qualified, for the purposes 
of training and professional development. 
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 29



3040 1 

3040 - ACCEPTING AND PROVIDING GIFTS 
 
1. An employee or his/her spouse, or other family members who could cause a conflict of 
interest for the employee pursuant to the California Political Reform Act and other laws 
and regulations, may not accept from, or provide to, individuals or companies doing or 
seeking to do business with the district, gifts, entertainment, and/or other services or 
benefits unless the transaction meets all of the following guidelines: 
 

A. Is customary and gives no appearance of impropriety, may be shared by the 
staff, and does not have more than a $25 value;  
 
B. Does not impose any sense of obligation on either the giver or the receiver; 
 
C. Does not result in any kind of special or favored treatment; 
 
D. Cannot be viewed as extravagant, excessive, or too frequent considering all the 
circumstances including the ability of the recipient to reciprocate at District 
expense; 
 
E. Is given and received with no effort to conceal the full facts by either the giver 
or receiver. 

 
2. Exceptions to these policies that do not exceed state or federal statutes may be 
approved by District Administrator.  
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 30



3050 1 

3050 - PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS 
 
1. These policies apply to all full-time and 30-hour part-time employees. 
 

A. The District Administrator or other responsible managing employee or his/her 
designated representative shall conduct a scheduled performance review of each 
employee using Appendix E, prior to the date upon which an employee is eligible for 
increases in compensation based on merit (see Section 3030). 
 
Probationary employees shall be evaluated in writing at six, and twelve months prior 
to the first anniversary date. Documented verbal evaluation/review shall occur at three 
months and nine months. 
 
Regular employees shall be evaluated annually in writing on the salary anniversary 
date. 
 
B. Performance evaluations shall be in writing on forms prescribed by the District 
Administrator or other responsible managing employee (see Appendix E). Said 
evaluation shall provide recognition for effective performance and also identify areas 
that need improvement. All evaluations will have an overall evaluation of 
Unsatisfactory, Marginal, Less Than Satisfactory, Satisfactory, Commendable, 
Superior, or Exceptional. 

 
(1) Unsatisfactory performance is defined as: well below the standard expected 
of a competent worker in that job, a majority of the time. Unsatisfactory ratings 
must be substantiated in a written statement by the rater. 
 
(2) Marginal performance is defined as: frequently less than the standard 
expected of a competent worker in that job, and improvable with additional training, 
experience and/or employee effort. 
 
(3) Less Than Satisfactory performance is defined as: occasional performance 
less than the standard expected of a competent worker in that job, and improvable 
with additional training, experience and/or employee effort. 
 
(4) Satisfactory performance is defined as: consistently meeting the standard 
expected of a competent worker in that job. 
 
(5) Commendable performance is defined as: at times above the standard 
expected of a competent worker in that job, a majority of the time. 
 
(6) Superior performance is defined as: generally above the standard expected of 
a competent worker in that job, a majority of the time. 
 
(7) Exceptional performance is defined as: consistently and distinctly well above 
the standard expected of a competent worker in that job; performance is definitely 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 31



3050 2 

superior;  
 

All ratings must be substantiated in a written statement by the rater. 
 
C. The performance evaluation shall be signed by the evaluator and employee and 
shall be discussed with the employee. 
 
D. Unscheduled performance evaluations may be made at the discretion of the District 
Administrator or other responsible managing employee or his/her designated 
representative. 
 
E. Employees may provide a rebuttal in writing within 30 calendar days of receipt of 
the performance evaluation. The rebuttal shall be filed with the original performance 
evaluation in the official personnel file. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 32



4000 1 

4000 – VACATION 
 

1. This policy shall apply to regular and probationary employees in all classifications and shall 
supersede and repeal the previous vacation provisions contained in resolutions or as 
attachments to resolutions. 
  
Prospective amendments by resolution shall be incorporated into this policy, with a notation 
of the resolution number and the date of adoption. 
 

2. The purpose of annual vacation leave is to enable each eligible employee to return to his 
work mentally refreshed. All employees in the competitive service shall be entitled to annual 
vacation leave with pay except the following:  
 

A. Employees still serving their original probationary period in the service of the 
Sanitation District. However, vacation credits for the time may be granted to each 
such employee who later successfully passes his/her new hire probationary period. 
 
B. Employees who work on an intermittent, temporary, or seasonal basis and all 
employees who work less than half-time. 

 
3. After six months of continuous service a newly hired employee may be permitted to take 

vacation leave. 
 

4. All eligible full-time employees in a paid status, shall earn vacation credits by pay period at 
the rates as follows, unless he/she has reached the maximum accumulation of hours. All 
eligible employees who work less than full-time and at least half time (and are not noted in 
(b) above), shall earn vacation credits on a prorated basis. 
 

 Years of completed continuous service  Vacation Days 
 
 From 0 up to 2 years 10 days 
 From 2+ up to 4 years 11 days 
 From 4+ up to 5 years 12 days 
 From 5+ up to 6 years 13 days 
 From 6+ up to 7 years 14 days 
 From 7+ up to 8 years 15 days 
 From 8+ up to 10 years 16 days 
 From 10+ years +1 day/year; up to 22 days max 
 

5. Effective dates for rate of earnings shall be the first day of the next full pay period after 
employee completed the referenced years’ service. 

 
6. The maximum amount of vacation accumulation at any one time for an employee shall be 

320 hours. When an employee reaches the maximum allowable vacation credit, no 
additional vacation credit shall be earned until the vacation balance is below the maximum. 
Employees are responsible to regularly monitor their own accumulated vacation hours 
balance.  

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 33



4000 2 

7. The District will not require an employee to take vacation time in lieu of sick leave or leave 
of absence during periods of illness. However, the employee may elect to take vacation time 
in case of extended illness where sick leave has been fully used. Vacation taken in lieu of 
sick leave, will be recorded as such on employee timecards. 

 
8. If a District recognized holiday falls on a workday during an employee’s vacation period, that 

day shall be considered as a paid holiday and not vacation time. 
 

9. The times during a calendar year when an employee may take his vacation shall be 
determined with due regard for the wishes of the employee and the needs of the District. If 
the requirements of the District are such that an employee must defer part or all of his annual 
vacation in a particular calendar year, the appointing authority may permit the employee to 
take such deferred vacation during the following calendar year.  

 
Employees are responsible to monitor their own vacation balances, and if requirements of 
service are such that a deferral may be necessary, they are to advise the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent and District Administrator in advance. A written record of each pre-approved 
deferred vacation, signed by the Wastewater Plant Superintendent and District 
Administrator, noting the details, shall be kept on file with the District Administrator. 

 
10. Vacations may be scheduled at any time during the year upon approval of the employees’ 

immediate supervisor. Vacation requests must be submitted in writing and may not be 
approved if not submitted at least two weeks in advance, or if the request conflicts with other 
vacation requests. If a vacation conflict exists employee District seniority shall be used to 
resolve conflict.  

 
11. Vacations are provided by the District to employees as a period of exemption from work with 

pay for the purpose of rest, relaxation and recreation. This respite is a benefit and is intended 
as an aid in maintaining the long-term and consistent productivity and contentment of the 
employee. As such, pay in lieu of vacation time away from work shall not be permitted except 
at termination.  

 
12. Employees who terminate employment shall be paid in a lump sum for all accrued vacation 

leave up to 320 hours earned prior to the effective date of termination. No such payment 
shall be made for vacation accumulated contrary to the provisions of these rules. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 34



4005 1 

 
4005 –MANAGEMENT LEAVE 

 
1. Exempt employees shall earn management leave in the amount of 40 hours per service 

year, to be used subject to District Administrator approval, in a similar manner as vacation 
time. However, management leave is not a vested leave right, and as such, shall not be 
accumulated and carried over from one calendar year to the next, nor paid off in a lump 
sum at termination. 

 
2. Additional management leave of up to 40 hours may be granted by the District 

Administrator if warranted. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 35



4010 1 

 4010 - HOLIDAYS 
 
1. This policy shall apply to all full-time employees and is further defined as follows: 
 
The following legal holidays shall be observed by the South San Luis Obispo County 
Sanitation District and that its office shall be closed on these days: 
 

A. January 1st, New Year's Day 
B. Third Monday in January, Martin Luther King Day 
C. February 12th, Lincoln's Birthday 
D. Third Monday in February, Washington's Birthday observed 
E. March 31st, Cesar Chavez Day 
F. The last Monday in May, Memorial Day 
G. July 4th, Independence Day 
H. First Monday in September, Labor Day 
I. Second Monday in October, Columbus Day 
J. November 11th, Veterans' Day 
K. Fourth Thursday in November, Thanksgiving Day 
L. Friday following Thanksgiving Day 
M. December 24th, Christmas Eve 
N. December 25th, Christmas 

 
Floating Holiday – In exchange for the previously provided holiday known as September 
9th, Admissions Day, each employee shall be provided with one floating holiday that may 
be scheduled at any time during the year upon approval of the employee’s immediate 
supervisor. Floating Holiday requests must be submitted in writing and may not be 
approved if not submitted at least two weeks in advance, or if the request conflicts with 
other floating holiday requests. If a conflict exists, employee District seniority shall be 
used to resolve conflict. The floating holiday shall be credited to each employee is 
employed by the District on July 1 of each year, provided the employee was employed 
continuously by the District on or before the previous January 1. The floating holiday hours 
will be credited on July 1 of each year. 
 
2. All regular work shall be suspended, and full-time employees shall receive one (1) eight 
(8) hour day's pay for each of the holidays listed above. An employee on a leave without 
pay will not receive holiday pay. 
 
3. Whenever a holiday falls on Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be observed as the 
holiday. Whenever a holiday falls on Sunday, the following Monday shall be observed as 
the holiday. 
 
4. If an employee is taking an authorized leave with pay when a holiday occurs, the day 
shall be compensated as holiday pay.  
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 36



4010 2 

5. If any employee works on any of the holidays listed above, he/she shall, in addition to 
his/her holiday pay, be paid for all hours worked at the rate of time and one-half (1 1/2) 
his/her regular rate of pay or as otherwise specified under Policy #3000 (Hours of Work 
and Overtime). 
 
Additional Observed Holiday: Each day appointed through executive order by the 
President of the United States or Governor of the State for a public fast, thanksgiving, or 
holiday. In the event Congress approves a fixed holiday, the Board of Directors shall 
determine if the District shall observe it as an annually fixed holiday. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 37



4020 1 

4020 – SICK LEAVE 
 
1. This policy shall apply to probationary and regular employees in all classifications. 
 
2. Sick leave is defined as absence from work due to illness, non-industrial injury, or 
quarantine due to exposure to a contagious disease. In addition, dentist and doctor 
appointments and physician prescribed sickness prevention measures shall be subject to 
sick leave provided prior notice is provided to employee's immediate supervisor. 
 
3. Sick leave shall be accrued at a rate of one eight (8) hour day per month, provided 
employee is not on leave without pay. Only available and accrued sick leave per the last 
payroll report may be used.  
 
During the month of July, employees may convert a portion (25%) of sick leave earned 
within a fiscal year, to regular pay. 
 
Upon separation of employment, long term employees accumulated sick leave of up to a 
maximum of 480 hours shall be paid out according to length of District service: 

 
10 years' service completed 50% 
15 years' service completed 100% 
 

 
4. Sick leave may be used for the need of the employee and his/her spouse, parents, 
grandparents, child, step child, brother or sister, grandchild or corresponding relatives by 
marriage or any other person who is a legal dependent of employee in accordance with 
the Healthy Workplace Healthy Families Act. 
 
5. In order to receive compensation while on sick leave, the employee shall notify his/her 
supervisor within half an hour after the time the work day should have begun, or as soon 
as practical in emergency situations. 
 
6. If absence from duty by reason of illness occurs, satisfactory evidence may be required 
by the District Administrator or other responsible managing employee after the first 24 
hours or three days leave have been used each year (in an annual 12-month period based 
on employee's anniversary date). 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 38



4025 1 

4025 - FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE POLICY 
 
1. Statement of Policy 
 
To the extent not already provided for under current leave policies and provisions, the 
South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District (District) will provide family and medical 
care leave for eligible employees as required by state and federal law. The following 
provisions set forth certain of the rights and obligations with respect to such leave. Rights 
and obligations which are not specifically set forth below are set forth in the Department 
of Labor regulations implementing the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act (“FMLA”), 
and the regulations of the California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”). Unless otherwise 
provided by this policy, “leave” under this policy shall mean leave pursuant to the FMLA 
and CFRA. 
 
2. Definitions 
 

A. “12-Month Period” means a rolling 12-month period measured backward from 
the date leave is taken and continuous with each additional leave day taken. 

 
1. “Single 12-month period” means a 12-month period which begins on the 

first day the eligible employee takes FMLA leave to take care of a covered 
servicemember and ends 12 months after that date. 

 
B. “Child” means a child under the age of 18 years of age, or 18 years of age or 
older who is incapable of self care because of a mental or physical disability. An 
employee’s child is one for whom the employee has actual day-to-day 
responsibility for care and includes, a biological, adopted, foster or step-child. 
 
A child is “incapable of self care” if he/she requires active assistance or supervision 
to provide daily self care in three or more of the activities of daily living or 
instrumental activities of daily living — such as, caring for grooming and hygiene, 
bathing, dressing and eating, cooking, cleaning, shopping, taking public 
transportation, paying bills, maintaining a residence, using telephones and 
directories, etc. 
 
C. “Covered active duty” means: (1) in the case of a member of a regular 
component of the Armed Forces, duty during the deployment of the member with 
the Armed Forces to a foreign country, or (2) in the case of a member of a reserve 
component of the Armed Forces, duty during the deployment of member of the 
Armed Forces to a foreign country under a call or order to active duty under certain 
specified provisions. 
 
D. “Covered Servicemember” means (1) a current member of the Armed Forces, 
including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical 
treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is 
otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness; or 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 39



4025 2 

(2) a veteran who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, for a 
serious injury or illness and who was a member of the Armed Forces, including a 
member of the National Guard or Reserves, at any time during the period of five 
years preceding the date on which the veteran undergoes that medical treatment, 
recuperation, or therapy. 
 
E. “Domestic Partner,” (also known as Registered Domestic Partner) as defined 
by Family Code §§ 297 and 299.2, shall have the same meaning as “Spouse” for 
purposes of CFRA Leave. 
 
F. “Health Care Provider” means: 

 
 1. A doctor of medicine or osteopathy who is authorized to practice medicine 

or surgery by the State of California; 
 
 2. Individuals duly licensed as a physician, surgeon, or osteopathic 

physician or surgeon in another state or jurisdiction, including another 
country, who directly treat or supervise treatment of a serious health 
condition; 

 
 3. Podiatrists, dentists, clinical psychologists, optometrists, and 

chiropractors (limited to treatment consisting of manual manipulation of the 
spine to correct a subluxation as demonstrated by X-ray to exist) authorized 
to practice in California and performing within the scope of their practice as 
defined under California State law; 

 
 4. Nurse practitioners and nurse-midwives, clinical social workers, and 

physician assistants who are authorized to practice under California State 
law and who are performing within the scope of their practice as defined 
under California State law; 

 
 5. Christian Science practitioners listed with the First Church of Christ, 

Scientist in Boston, Massachusetts; and 
 
 6. Any health care provider from whom an employer or group health plan’s 

benefits manager will accept certification of the existence of a serious health 
condition to substantiate a claim for benefits. 

 
G. “Next of Kin of a Covered Servicemember” means the nearest blood relative 
other than the covered servicemember’s spouse, parent, son, or daughter, in the 
following order of priority: Blood relatives who have been granted legal custody of 
the covered servicemember by court decree or statutory provisions, brothers and 
sisters, grandparents, aunts and uncles, and first cousins, unless the covered 
servicemember has specifically designated in writing another blood relative as his 
or her nearest blood relative for purposes of military caregiver leave under the 
FMLA. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 40



4025 3 

 
H. “Outpatient Status” means, with respect to a covered servicemember, the status 
of a member of the Armed Forces assigned to either: (1) a military medical 
treatment facility as an outpatient; or (2) a unit established for the purpose of 
providing command and control of members of the Armed Forces receiving 
medical care as outpatients. 
 
I. “Parent” means the biological, adoptive, step or foster parent of an employee, or 
an individual who stands or stood in loco parentis (in place of a parent) to an 
employee when the employee was a child. This term does not include parents-in-
law. 
 
J. “Qualifying Exigency Leave” Eligible employees may take FMLA leave while the 
employee’s spouse, son, daughter, or parent (the ‘‘covered military member’’) is 
on active duty or call to active duty status, which may include one or more of the 
following qualifying non-medical exigencies: 
 
Short-notice deployment, attending certain military events, arranging for 
alternative childcare, addressing certain financial and legal arrangements, 
attending certain counseling sessions, attending post-deployment reintegration 
briefings, and arranging for parental care. 
 
K. “Serious health condition” means an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or 
mental condition that involves: 

 
1. Inpatient care in a hospital, hospice, or residential medical care facility, 
including any period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work, or perform other 
regular daily activities due to the serious health condition, treatment 
involved, or recovery therefrom). A person is considered “inpatient” when a 
health care facility formally admits him or her to the facility with the 
expectation that he or she will remain at least overnight, even if it later 
develops that such person can be discharged or transferred to another 
facility, and does not actually remain overnight; or 
 
2. Continuing treatment by a health care provider: A serious health condition 
involving continuing treatment by a health care provider includes any one 
or more of the following: 
 

a) A period of incapacity (i.e., inability to work, or perform other regular 
daily activities) due to serious health condition of more than three full 
consecutive calendar days, and any subsequent treatment or period of 
incapacity relating to the same condition, that also involves: 
 

i) Treatment two or more times within 30 days of the first day of 
incapacity, unless extenuating circumstances exist by a health care 
provider, by a nurse, or by a provider of health care services (e.g., a 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 41



4025 4 

physical therapist) under orders of, or on referral by a health care 
provider. The first in-person treatment visit must take place within 
seven days of the first day of incapacity; or 
 
ii) Treatment by a health care provider on at least one occasion which 
must take place within seven days of the first day of incapacity and 
results in a regimen of continuing treatment under the supervision of 
the health care provider. This includes for example, a course of 
prescription medication or therapy requiring special equipment to 
resolve or alleviate the health condition. If the medication is over the 
counter, and can be initiated without a visit to a health care provider, 
it does not constitute a regimen of continuing treatment. 

 
b) Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy or for prenatal care. This 
entitles the employee to FMLA leave, but not CFRA leave. (Under California 
law, an employee disabled by pregnancy is likely entitled to pregnancy 
disability leave.) 
 
c) Any period of incapacity or treatment for such incapacity due to a chronic 
serious health condition. A chronic serious health condition is one which: 

 
i) Requires periodic visits (defined as at least twice a year) for 
treatment by a health care provider or by a nurse; 
 
ii) Continues over an extended period of time (including recurring 
episodes of a single underlying condition); and 
 
iii) May cause episodic rather than a continuing period of incapacity 
(e.g., asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, etc.). Absences for such incapacity 
qualify for leave even if the absence lasts only one day. 

 
d) A period of incapacity, which is permanent or long term due to a condition 
for which treatment may not be effective. The employee or family member 
must be under the continuing supervision of, but need not be receiving 
active treatment by, a health care provider. 
 
e) Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments (including any 
period of recovery therefrom) by a health care provider or by a provider of 
health care services under orders of, or on referral by, a health care 
provider, either for restorative surgery after an accident or other injury, or 
for a condition that would likely result in a period of incapacity of more than 
three consecutive calendar days in the absence of medical intervention or 
treatment. 

 
L. “Serious Injury or Illness”: (1) in the case of a member of the Armed Forces, 
including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, means an injury or illness 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 42



4025 5 

that was incurred by the member in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed 
Forces (or existed before the beginning of the member’s active duty and was 
aggravated by service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces) and 
that may render the member medically unfit to perform the duties of the member’s 
office, grade, rank, or rating; or (2) in the case of a veteran who was a member of 
the Armed Forces, including a member of the National Guard or Reserves, at any 
time during the period of five years preceding the date on which the veteran 
undergoes that medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, means a qualifying 
injury or illness that was incurred by the member in the line of duty on active duty 
in the Armed Forces (or existed before the beginning of the member’s active duty 
and was aggravated by service in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed 
Forces) and that manifested itself before or after the member became a veteran. 

 
M. “Spouse” means a husband or wife as defined or recognized under California 
State law for purposes of marriage. “Spouse” also includes registered domestic 
partners and same-sex partners in marriage. 
 
N. "Workweek" means the employee's normally scheduled workweeks. For eligible 
employees who work more or less than five days a week, or who work on 
alternative work schedules, the number of working days that constitute 12 weeks 
is calculated on a pro rata, or proportional, basis. 

 
3. Reasons for Leave 
 
Leave is only permitted for the following reasons: 
 

A. The birth of a child or to care for a newborn of an employee; 
 
B. The placement of a child with an employee in connection with the adoption or 
foster care of a child; 
 
C. Leave to care for a child, parent, spouse, or domestic partner who has a serious 
health condition; 
 
D. Leave because of a serious health condition that makes the employee unable 
to perform the functions of his/her position (i.e., an employee is unable to perform 
any one or more of the essential functions of his/her position); 
 
E. Leave for a “qualifying exigency” may be taken arising out of the fact that an 
employee’s spouse, son, daughter, or parent is on covered active duty or call to 
active duty status (under the FMLA only, not the CFRA); or 
 
F. Leave to care for a spouse, son, daughter, parent, or “next of kin” who is a 
covered servicemember of the United States Armed Forces who has a serious 
injury or illness incurred in the line of duty while on active military duty or existed 
before the beginning of the member’s active duty and was aggravated by service 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 43



4025 6 

in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces (this leave can run up to 26 
weeks of unpaid leave during a single 12-month period) (under the FMLA only, not 
the CFRA). 

 
Employees who misuse or abuse FMLA and/or CFRA leave may be disciplined up to and 
including termination. Moreover, an employee who fraudulently obtains or uses 
FMLA/CFRA leave is not protected by the FMLA/CFRA’s job restoration or maintenance 
of health benefits provisions. 
 
See Section 4035 – Pregnancy Related Leaves and Transfer Privileges 
 
4. Employees Eligible for Leave 
 
An employee is eligible for leave if the employee: 
 

A. Has been employed for at least 12 months; and 
 
B. Has been employed for at least 1,250 hours during the 12-month period 
immediately preceding the commencement of the leave. 

 
5. Amount of Leave 
 
Eligible employees are entitled to up to a total of 12 workweeks (or 26 weeks to care for 
a covered servicemember) of leave during any 12-month period. Where FMLA leave 
qualifies as both military caregiver leave and care for a family member with a serious 
health condition, the leave will be designated as military caregiver leave first. 
 

A. Minimum Duration of Leave 
 
If leave is requested for the birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child of 
the employee, leave must be concluded within one year of the birth or placement 
of the child. In addition, the basic minimum duration of such leave is two weeks. 
However, an employee is entitled to leave for one of these purposes (e.g., bonding 
with a newborn) for less than two weeks duration on any two occasions. 
 
If leave is requested to care for a child, parent, spouse or the employee him/herself 
with a serious health condition, there is no minimum amount of leave that must be 
taken. However, the employee must comply with the notice and medical 
certification provisions of this policy. 

 
B. Parents/Spouses Both Employed by the District 
 
In any case in which both parents are employed by the District and are entitled to 
leave, the aggregate number of workweeks of leave to which both may be entitled 
may be limited to 12 workweeks during any 12-month period if leave is taken for 
the birth or placement for adoption or foster care of the employees’ child (i.e., 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 44



4025 7 

bonding leave). Similarly, where married spouses both work for the same 
employer, they may be limited to a total of 12 weeks of FMLA leave for bonding 
leave. 
 
In any case in which a husband and wife both employed by the District are entitled 
to leave, the aggregate number of workweeks of leave to which both may be 
entitled may be limited to 26 workweeks during any 12-month period if leave is 
taken to care for a covered servicemember. 
 
Except as noted above, these limitations do not apply to any other type of leave 
under this policy. 

 
6. Employee Benefits While on Leave 
 
Leave under this policy is unpaid. While on family and medical care leave, employees will 
continue to be covered by the District's group health insurance to the same extent that 
coverage is provided while the employee is on the job for up to 12 weeks each leave year. 
If the employee is disabled by pregnancy, coverage will continue to be covered for up to 
4 months (i.e. 17 and 1/3 weeks) for each pregnancy. In the event an employee is 
disabled by pregnancy and also uses leave under the California Family Rights Act, the 
District will maintain the employee’s health benefits while the employee is disabled by 
pregnancy (up to four months or 17 and 1/3 weeks) and during the employee’s CFRA 
leave (up to 12 weeks). Employees will still be responsible for the employee’s share of 
the premiums for health benefits.  
 
Employees will not continue to be covered under the District for any other non-health plan. 
If employees would like to continue to be covered under these non-health benefit plans, 
employees may make the appropriate contributions for continued coverage by payroll 
deductions or direct payments made to these plans. Depending on the particular plan, the 
District will inform you whether the premiums should be paid to the carrier or to the District.  
 
Your coverage on a particular plan, including health benefits plans, may be dropped if 
you are more than 30 days late in making a premium payment. However, you will receive 
a notice at least 15 days before coverage is to cease, advising you that you will be 
dropped if your premium payment is not paid by a certain date. Employee contribution 
rates are subject to any change in rates that occurs while the employee is on leave. 
 
If an employee fails to return to work after his/her leave entitlement has been exhausted 
or expires, the District shall have the right to recover its share of health plan premiums 
for the entire leave period, unless the employee does not return because of the 
continuation, recurrence, or onset of a serious health condition of the employee or his/her 
family member which would entitle the employee to leave, or because of circumstances 
beyond the employee’s control. The District shall have the right to recover premiums 
through deduction from any sums due the District (e.g. unpaid wages, vacation pay, etc.). 
 
7. Substitution of Paid Accrued Leaves 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 45



4025 8 

 
While on leave under this policy, as set forth herein, an employee may elect to 
concurrently use paid accrued leaves. Similarly, the District may require an employee to 
concurrently use paid accrued leaves after requesting FMLA and/or CFRA leave, and 
may also require an employee to use family and medical care leave concurrently with a 
non-FMLA/CFRA leave which is FMLA/CFRA-qualifying. 
 

A. Employee’s Right to Use Paid Accrued Leaves Concurrently with Family Leave 
 
Where an employee has earned or accrued paid vacation, management leave, or 
other paid leave, that paid leave may be substituted for all or part of any (otherwise) 
unpaid leave under this policy. 
 
As for sick leave, an employee may elect or the District may require an employee 
to use accrued sick leave only if: 

 
1. The leave is for the employee’s own serious health condition; or 
 
2. The leave is for another reason mutually agreed upon between the 
District and the employee. 

 
If the District and employee do not “mutually agree” to allow use of accrued sick 
leave to care for a family member, under Labor Code section 233 and Labor Code 
section 245 et seq., employees can use no more than 48 hours of sick leave, which 
is half of the sick leave hours a full-time employee can and has accrued in one 
year, to care for a family member with a serious health condition.  
 
B. District's Right to Require an Employee to Use Paid Leave When Using 
FMLA/CFRA Leave  
 
Employees must exhaust their accrued leaves concurrently with FMLA/CFRA 
leave to the same extent that employees have the right to use their accrued leaves 
concurrently with FMLA/CFRA leave, with two exceptions: 

 
1. Employees are required to use any accrued and available compensatory 
time earned in lieu of overtime earned pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards 
Act. 
 
2. Employees will only be required to use sick leave concurrently with 
FMLA/CFRA leave if the leave is for the employee’s own serious health 
condition or another reason mutually agreed upon between the District and 
the employee. 
 

C. District's Right to Require an Employee to Exhaust FMLA/CFRA Leave 
Concurrently with Other Leaves 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 46



4025 9 

If an employee takes a leave of absence for any reason, which is FMLA/CFRA-
qualifying, the District may designate that non-FMLA/CFRA leave as running 
concurrently with the employee’s 12-week FMLA/CFRA leave entitlement.  
 
D. District's and Employee’s Rights if an Employee Requests Accrued Leave, 
Other Than Accrued Sick Leave, Without Mentioning Either the FMLA or CFRA 
 
If an employee requests to utilize accrued vacation leave or other accrued paid 
time off, other than accrued sick leave, without reference to a FMLA/CFRA-
qualifying purpose, the District may not ask the employee if the leave is for a 
FMLA/CFRA-qualifying purpose. However, if the District denies the employee’s 
request and the employee provides information that the requested time off is for a 
FMLA/CFRA-qualifying purpose, the District may inquire further into the reason for 
the absence. If the reason is FMLA/CFRA-qualifying, the District may require the 
employee to exhaust accrued leave as described above in Section C. 
 

8. Medical Certification 
 
Employees who request leave for their own serious health condition or to care for a child, 
parent, registered domestic partner, or spouse who has a serious health condition must 
provide written certification from the health care provider of the individual requiring care 
if requested by the District. 
 
If the leave is requested because of the employee’s own serious health condition, the 
certification must include a statement that the employee is unable to work at all or is 
unable to perform the essential functions of his/her position. 
 
Employees who request leave to care for a covered servicemember who is a child, 
spouse, parent, or “next of kin” of the employee must provide written certification from a 
health care provider regarding the injured servicemember’s serious injury or illness. 
 
The first time an employee requests leave because of a qualifying exigency, an employer 
may require the employee to provide a copy of the military member’s active duty orders 
or other documentation issued by the military which indicates that the military member is 
on covered active duty or call to active duty status in a foreign country, and the dates of 
the military member’s active duty service. A copy of new active duty orders or similar 
documentation shall be provided to the employer if the need for leave because of a 
qualifying exigency arises out of a different active duty or call to active duty status of the 
same or a different military member. 
 

A. Time to Provide a Certification 
 
When an employee’s leave is foreseeable and at least 30 days’ notice has been 
provided, if a medical certification is requested, the employee must provide it 
before the leave begins. When this is not possible, the employee must provide the 
requested certification to the District within the time frame requested by the District 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 47



4025 10 

(at least 15 calendar days), unless it is not practicable under the particular 
circumstances to do so despite the employee’s diligent, good faith efforts. 
 
B. Consequences for Failure to Provide an Adequate or Timely Certification 
 
If an employee provides an incomplete medical certification, the employee will 
have seven calendar days to cure any such deficiency. 
 
However, if an employee fails to provide a medical certification within the seven 
calendar days, the District may delay the taking of FMLA/CFRA leave until the 
required certification is provided. 
 
C. Second and Third Medical Opinions 
 
If the District has a good faith, objective reason to doubt the validity of a 
certification, the District may require a medical opinion of a second health care 
provider chosen and paid for by the District. If the second opinion is different from 
the first, the District may require the opinion of a third provider jointly approved by 
the District and the employee but paid for by the District. The opinion of the third 
provider will be binding. An employee may request a copy of the health care 
provider’s opinions when there is a second or third medical opinion sought. 
 
D. Intermittent Leave or Leave on a Reduced Leave Schedule 
 
If an employee requests leave intermittently (a few days or hours at a time) or on 
a reduced leave schedule to care for an immediate family member with a serious 
health condition, the employee must provide medical certification that such leave 
is medically necessary. “Medically necessary” means there must be a medical 
need for the leave and that the leave can best be accomplished through an 
intermittent or reduced leave schedule. 

 
9. Employee Notice of Leave 
 
Although the District recognizes that emergencies arise which may require employees to 
request immediate leave, employees are required to give notice of their need for leave as 
soon as is practicable. Except for qualifying exigency leave, if leave is foreseeable, at 
least 30 days’ notice is required. In addition, if an employee knows that he/she will need 
leave in the future but does not know the exact date(s) (e.g. for the birth of a child or to 
take care of a newborn), the employee shall inform his/her supervisor as soon as possible 
that such leave will be needed. If the District determines that an employee’s notice is 
inadequate or the employee knew about the requested leave in advance of the request, 
the District may delay the granting of the leave until it can, in its discretion, adequately 
cover the position with a substitute. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 48



4025 11 

For foreseeable leave due to a qualifying exigency, an employee must provide notice of 
the need for leave as soon as practicable, regardless of how far in advance such leave is 
foreseeable. 
 
10. Reinstatement upon Return from Leave 
 

A. Right to Reinstatement 
 
Upon expiration of leave, an employee is entitled to be reinstated to the position of 
employment held when the leave commenced, or to an equivalent position with 
equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of 
employment. Employees have no greater rights to reinstatement, benefits and 
other conditions of employment than if the employee had been continuously 
employed during the FMLA/CFRA period. 
 
If a definite date of reinstatement has been agreed upon at the beginning of the 
leave, the employee will be reinstated on the date agreed upon. If the 
reinstatement date differs from the original agreement of the employee and the 
District, the employee will be reinstated within two business days, where feasible, 
after the employee notifies the employer of his/her readiness to return. 
 
B. Employee’s Obligation to Periodically Report on His/Her Condition 
 
Employees may be required to periodically report on their status and intent to 
return to work. This will avoid any delays to reinstatement when the employee is 
ready to return. 
 
C. Fitness-for-Duty Certification 
 
As a condition of reinstatement of an employee whose leave was due to the 
employee’s own serious health condition, which made the employee unable to 
perform his/her job, the employee must obtain and present a fitness-for-duty 
certification from the health care provider that the employee is able to resume 
work. Failure to provide such certification will result in denial of reinstatement.  

 
D. Reinstatement of “Key Employees” 
 
The District may deny reinstatement to a “key” employee (i.e., an employee who 
is among the highest paid 10 percent of all employed by the District within 75 miles 
of the work site) if such denial is necessary to prevent substantial and grievous 
economic injury to the operations of the District, and the employee is notified of the 
District's intent to deny reinstatement on such basis at the time the employer 
determines that such injury would occur. 

 
11. Required Forms 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 49



4025 12 

Employees must fill out applicable forms in connection with leave under this policy: 
 
A. “Request for Family or Medical Leave Form” prepared by the District to be 
eligible for leave. NOTE: EMPLOYEES WILL RECEIVE A DISTRICT RESPONSE TO THEIR 
REQUEST WHICH WILL SET FORTH CERTAIN CONDITIONS OF THE LEAVE. 
 
B. Medical certification—either for the employee’s own serious health condition or 
for the serious health condition of a child, parent, spouse or domestic partner. 
 
C. Authorization for payroll deductions for benefit plan coverage continuation. 
 
D. Fitness-for-duty to return from leave form.  

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 50



4030 1 

4030 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 
 
1. This policy shall apply to regular employees in all classifications.  
 
2. In the event of a death of a spouse, parent, grandparent, child, brother or sister, 
grandchild, or corresponding relatives by marriage, an employee shall be granted a paid 
leave of absence not to exceed three (3) days. The employee may request use of 
accumulated vacation time during any additional bereavement leave, not to exceed two 
additional days to be approved by the District Administrator.  
 
Proof of the need for bereavement leave may be required by the District Administrator or 
other responsible managing employee. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 51



4035 1 

4035 - PREGNANCY RELATED LEAVES AND TRANSFER PRIVILEGES 
 
1. This policy applies to all District employees. Under California Pregnancy Disability 
Leave (PDL) in the event of pregnancy, childbirth, and related physical and mental 
conditions, employees have rights and protections including the right to reasonable 
accommodations and the right to time off from work. It is illegal for employers to fire, 
refuse to hire, bar, harass, discharge, or otherwise discriminate against an employee 
because of their pregnancy, childbirth, or related condition.  
 
A pregnancy disability is a physical or mental condition related to pregnancy or childbirth 
that prevents an employee from performing essential duties of her job, or if her job would 
cause undue risk to her or her pregnancy’s successful completion.  
 
There is no minimum service or hours worked requirement for eligibility for PDL.  
 
However, if an employee is eligible for FMLA during PDL leave, then FMLA will run 
concurrently with PDL, provided the District has met the FMLA notice requirements. The 
duration of leave of absence for pregnancy disability under PDL shall be for the period of 
time the employee is actually disabled, as certified by the employee's health care provider, 
up to a maximum of four months (i.e., 17 and 1/3 weeks). 
 
2. An employee who is temporarily unable to work due to a disability related to pregnancy, 
childbirth, or related medical conditions may take an unpaid pregnancy disability leave, 
except that the District may require the employee to use sick leave while disabled during 
the waiting period prior to commencement of indemnity benefits.  
 
3. An employee affected by pregnancy or a related medical condition may be eligible to 
transfer to a less strenuous or hazardous position or to less strenuous or hazardous duties, 
if such a transfer is medically advisable and can be reasonably accommodated. 
 
Employees with a certified medical necessity for an accommodation shall provide 
reasonable advance notice to allow for the interactive process in determining the 
feasibility of implementing a reasonable accommodation. 
 
4. Time off for necessary prenatal care, severe morning sickness, prenatal or postnatal 
care, doctor ordered bed rest, childbirth, gestational diabetes, pregnancy-induced 
hypertension, preeclampsia, post-partum depression, loss or end of pregnancy, and 
recovery from loss or end of pregnancy are all covered by this policy.  
 
5. Employee Obligations 
 

A. An employee should make requests for pregnancy disability leave to her 
supervisor at least 30 days in advance of foreseeable events and as soon as 
possible for unforeseeable events. 
 
B. A health care provider’s statement must be submitted verifying the need for 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 52



4035 2 

pregnancy disability leave or for a transfer and stating: (1) The date on which the 
employee became disabled due to pregnancy, childbirth or related medical 
condition or the date on which the need for a transfer became medically advisable; 
(2) The probable duration of the period(s) of disability or the duration of the need 
for a transfer; and (3) A statement that, due to the disability, the employee is unable 
to perform one or more of the essential functions of her position without undue risk 
to herself, the successful completion of her pregnancy, or to other persons, or that 
the transfer is medically advisable. The District may require recertification if the 
employee requests an extension beyond the original certification. 
 
C. If there is any change in the information contained in the health care provider’s 
statement, the employee should report these changes promptly to her supervisor. 

 
6. Length of Leave 
 

A. Full-time employees are granted unpaid leave for the period of actual disability, 
up to a maximum of four months (17 1/3 weeks, 40-hour week employees). 
 
B. Part-time employees are granted unpaid leave on a pro-rata basis. 
 
C. The pregnancy disability leave need not be taken in one continuous period of 
time but can be taken on an as-needed basis. In other words, leave may be taken 
intermittently or on a reduced work schedule when determined medically advisable 
by the employee’s health care provider.  
 
The smallest increment of time that can be used for such a leave is one-half hour. 
The District may transfer the employee to an alternative position or temporarily 
alter the existing job to accommodate intermittent leave or a reduced work 
schedule, due to pregnancy disability. The employee will receive the same pay 
and benefits in the alternative position. Upon such request, the District will enter 
into the interactive process to determine feasibility to provide a reasonable 
accommodation. 

 
7. Compensation and Benefits 
 

A. An employee taking pregnancy leave must use accrued sick leave before 
entering leave-without-pay status. The employee may then substitute all accrued 
paid vacation before continuing leave on an unpaid basis. Compensated and 
uncompensated leave will be counted toward the four-month entitlement. 
 
B. The employee may also be eligible for state disability insurance for the unpaid 
portion of the leave. 
 
C. Employees on leave-without-pay will not continue to accrue vacation time and 
will not be paid for holidays during the leave. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 53



4035 3 

D. If an employee taking a Pregnancy Disability Leave would be entitled to 
continuation of health benefits under the District, the employee will continue 
participating in any health and welfare benefit plans in which he/she was enrolled 
before the first day of the leave (for up to a maximum of 12 workweeks) at the level 
and under the conditions of coverage as if the employee had continued in 
employment for the duration of such leave, provided that the employee continues 
to pay his or her required portion of the premium payments (if any).  
 
The District will continue to make the same premium contribution as if the 
employee had continued working. The continued participation in health benefits 
begins on the date leave first begins. An employee who does not return from leave 
may be required, under certain circumstances provided by the law, to reimburse 
the District for any employee contributions paid by the District while the employee 
was on unpaid leave.  
 
Any employee taking a Pregnancy Disability Leave who is not eligible for benefits 
continuation under the Family and Medical Leave Policy will receive continued 
benefits on the same terms and conditions as other medical leaves. 

 
8. When a pregnancy disability leave ends, the District will reinstate an employee to her 
original position or to a comparable position with equivalent pay, benefits, and other 
employment terms and conditions. However, an employee has no greater right to 
reinstatement than if the employee had been continuously employed rather than on leave. 
For example, if an employee on Pregnancy Disability Leave would have been laid off had 
she not gone on leave, or if the employee’s position has been eliminated during the leave 
and there is no comparable position available, then the employee would not be entitled 
to reinstatement.  
 
An employee’s use of Pregnancy Disability Leave will not result in the loss of any 
employment benefit that the employee earned or was entitled to before the leave. So that 
the District can properly schedule an employee’s return to work, an employee on 
pregnancy disability leave should provide her supervisor with at least two week’s advance 
notice of the date she intends to return to work. 
 
9. Employees returning from pregnancy disability leave must submit a health care 
provider’s verification of their fitness to return to work. 
 
10. After an employee is no longer disabled under PDL, and meets eligibility for 
FMLA/CFRA, any remaining FMLA leave shall run concurrently with CFRA to bond with 
the newborn. (See Section 4025-Family and Medical Leave for CFRA bonding leave.) 
 
11.  Lactation Accommodations 
 

A. The District will provide nursing mothers, up to one year after the birth of 
their child, a reasonable break time each time the employee needs to express 
milk, unless doing so would seriously disrupt District operations. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 54



4035 4 

 
B. The employee shall make a reasonable request with enough advance notice 
to allow for securing an appropriate location, and to allow for back-up staffing 
so as to not unduly disrupt District services. 

 
C. Any time needed beyond the employee’s regular break and meal period(s) 
shall require the use of an appropriate paid leave accrual. 

 
D. The District must provide a place, other than a toilet stall, that is shielded 
from view and free from intrusion from coworkers and the public, which nursing 
mothers may use. A “do not disturb” sign shall be placed on the door and 
windows (if any) shall be covered. 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 55



4040 1 

4040 - LEAVE FOR JURY DUTY 
 
This policy shall apply to probationary and regular employees in all classifications. 
 
1. An employee summoned for jury duty will immediately notify the District Administrator 
or other responsible managing employee.  
 
2. While serving on a jury, he/she will be paid for the duration of said jury duty at their 
regular pay rate.  
 
3. Said paid leave of absence is conditional upon the employee returning to work upon 
dismissal each day to complete his/her remaining normal workday, and District receipt of 
Court documents certifying (by the Clerk's Office staff) the jury time served at the end of 
the service.  
 
4. It is also conditional upon the employee's conveyance to the District of any 
compensation received; however, employees may keep any mileage paid by the Court. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 56



4045 1 

4045 - CATASTROPHIC LEAVE DONATION PROGRAM 
 
Upon written request of an employee and approval from the District Administrator, sick 
leave accruals may be transferred from one or more employee(s) to another under the 
following conditions: 
 
1. The employee receiving sick leave credits faces financial hardship due to an injury, or 
prolonged illness, or other medical condition of the employee, as certified by a medical 
provider.  
 
2. The employee receiving the credit has exhausted all paid sick and vacation leave 
accruals, and any other paid leave accruals. 
 
3. Vacation leave, compensatory time, holiday accruals or any other type of credit cannot 
be transferred. 
 
4. Donations of sick leave must be in whole hour increments and may not exceed forty 
(40) hours by the donating employee without approval from the District Administrator. 
Further, the donating employee must retain a bank of 40 hours sick leave accruals after 
the donation. 
 
Employee participation as a donor is voluntary, and employees shall not be pressured 
into participating by donating time from their own sick leave accruals.  
 
Transfer of sick leave is on an hour for hour basis, the transfer of which in non-revocable. 
 
5. Donors and individual hours donated shall be maintained as confidential payroll 
information and shall not be released. Recipients accept donated hours with the 
understanding that the District will not release information regarding individual donors. 
 
6. Provisions of this catastrophic leave program are not subject to any grievance 
procedures or the subject of any appeal to the Board of Directors. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 57



4050 1 

4050 - VOLUNTARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE 
 

1. Voluntary Leaves of Absence without Pay 
 

A. With the approval of the District Administrator, an employee may request a leave 
of absence without pay for a period of up to 90 days. Such request shall be written.  
 
B. Voluntary leaves of absence without pay will only be authorized once all 
available vacation and any other accrued leave time has been used by the 
employee. The leave of absence without pay will be without any accrual of pay 
and/or other benefits available to regular employees of the District and shall extend 
the salary anniversary date if the employee has not yet reached the top step of 
their salary range. 
 
C. Due to the District's limited work force, maintenance of job classifications for the 
term of a voluntary authorized leave of absence without pay cannot be guaranteed 
beyond the approved end date. 
 
D. For an employee who requests a voluntary leave of absence that would be 
granted for eligible employees under the Family Medical Leave Act, Section 4025 
shall determine accommodations.  
 

2. Employee Obligations 
 

A. For most leaves, (except FMLA or other protected eligible leaves), employees 
will not be permitted to take their leave intermittently or on a reduced-leave 
schedule without the District Administrator's approval.  

 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 58



4055 1 

4055 - FAMILY-SCHOOL PARTNERSHIP ACT aka Child Related Activities 
 
1. Policy Statement: 
 
An employee who is a parent of one or more children of the age to attend kindergarten or 
grades 1 through 12 inclusive, or under the care of a licensed child-care provider, may 
upon reasonable notice take their own paid leave to participate in one or more of his/her 
children's school activities. 
 
2. Definitions 
 
Under this policy:  
 
“Child Related Activities” means activities related to the following: 
 

• To find, enroll, or reenroll an employee’s child in a school or with a licensed child-
care provider. 

• To participate in school-related or licensed child-care related activities, if prior to 
taking time off the employee gives reasonable notice to their supervisor. 

• To address a school emergency or licensed child-care provider emergency, if the 
employee gives notice to the employer. 

 
“Documentation” means proof that the employee is engaged in child-related activities 
permitted by this policy, on a specific date and at a particular time. Whatever written 
verification of parental participation the school or licensed child day care provider deems 
appropriate and reasonable. 
 
“Emergency Need” means school emergency or licensed child-care provider emergency 
such that an employee’s child cannot remain in a school or with a licensed child-care 
provider due to the following: 
 

• The school or licensed child-care provider has requested that the child be picked 
up, or has an attendance policy, excluding planned holidays, that prohibits the child 
from attending or requires the child to be picked up from the school or licensed 
child-care provider. 

• Behavioral or discipline problems. 
• Closure or unexpected unavailability of the school or licensed child-care provider, 

excluding planned holidays. 
• A natural disaster, including but not limited to, fire, earthquake, or flood. 

 
“Licensed Child Care Provider” means a facility licensed by the State of California. The 
Child Care Licensing Program is mandated by law to provide preventive, protective, and 
quality services to children in care by ensuring that licensed facilities meet established 
health and safety standards through monitoring facilities, providing technical assistance, 
and establishing partnerships with providers, parents, and the child-care community. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 59



4055 2 

“Parent” means a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster parent, or grandparent of, or a 
person who stands in loco parentis to a child. 
 
“Reasonable Notification For Time Off” means when an employee identifies the need for 
paid leave as child-related in advance, and gives notice pursuant to District notification 
purposes. 
 
3. Level of Coverage 
 

A. Eligibility 
Employees must use an appropriate paid leave accrual and are limited to no more 
than forty (40) hours annually, up to a total of eight (8) hours of paid leave in any 
month, regardless of how many children they have.  
 
B. Both Parents Employed by the Same Employer 
If both parents of a child are employed by the District, only the parent who first 
gives notice to the employer is entitled to the time off at any one time. The other 
employee may request a planned simultaneous absence if the employer approves 
the requested time off. 
 

The employee shall utilize accrued vacation, management leave or earned floating 
holiday hours, (to the extent available), prior to being on leave without pay up to the 
prescribed time limitations. Sick leave is not available for use under this provision. Leave 
used under Child Related Activities time is not eligible as leave covered under 
FMLA/CFRA. 
 
4. Procedure for Requesting Time Off 
 
The employee shall provide advance reasonable notice for the paid time off, so as not to 
interfere seriously with or impair the efficiency of operations.  
 
The District may also require proof in the form of documentation be provided verifying 
employee participation in child-related activities. See documentation under Definitions 
above. 
 
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 60



4060 1 

4060 – INJURED ON DUTY 
 
1. All on-the-job injuries shall be immediately reported to a supervisor, no matter how 
minor. The supervisor shall complete an onsite review of where the injury occurred, take 
photos regarding any safety issues and make an immediate report to the District 
Administrator where appropriate documentation shall be made. 
 
2. All minor injuries should be treated with first aid as soon as possible, and then a “first 
aid” report completed and turned in to a supervisor. 
 
If the injury or illness requires the care of a physician, the employee must be provided a 
workers’ compensation claim form (DWC-1) within one working day after the work-related 
injury or illness is reported. The District Administrator or designee must return a copy of 
the completed form to the employee within one working day of receipt. 
 
3. Exposure forms must be completed for exposure to hazardous materials or infectious 
blood borne pathogens and turned in to the supervisor on shift or designee. Documents 
must be maintained pursuant to the District Records Management System. 
 
4. In addition to immediately reporting on-the-job injuries to a supervisor, employees must 
complete an injury, accident, and damage report within twenty-four hours of occurrence. 
These reports must be filed in ink; no pencil written reports will be accepted. Upon 
completion of report, it must be turned in to the District Administrator who shall retain such 
reports pursuant to the District Records Management System. 
 
5. All evidence must be preserved, until such time that the District Administrator deems 
appropriate, in keeping with the District Records Management System.  
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 61



4065 1 

4065 - LEAVE FOR VICTIMS (LC §230) 
 
1. Confidentiality 
 
Confidentiality of the employee requesting leave, and all related documents under this 
provision must be maintained. Managers and supervisors may only provide a narrow 
scope of information required to conduct District business, for example those parties with 
a “business need to know” for scheduling or work production, may only receive verbal 
information relative to the probable duration of the absence and/or accommodation. 
 
A verbal or written statement or document shall not be disclosed except as required by 
federal or state law, or as necessary to protect the employee’s safety in the workplace. 
The employee shall be given notice before any authorized disclosure of such document. 
 
2. Level of Coverage 
 
An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking may take 
time off from work to obtain or attempt to obtain any relief, including, but not limited to: 
 

A. A temporary restraining order or restraining order, or other injunctive relief to 
help ensure the health, safety or welfare of themselves and/or their children. 
 
B. To seek medical attention (including psychological counseling) caused by 
domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 
 
C. To obtain services from a domestic violence shelter, program, or rape crisis 
center as a result of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking. 
 
D. To participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety from 
future domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, including temporary or 
permanent relocation. 

 
An employee who is a victim of a crime, an immediate family member of a victim, a 
registered domestic partner of a victim, or the child of a registered domestic partner of a 
victim may be absent from work to attend judicial proceedings related to that crime. 
 
3. Definitions 
 
“Certification” means written and dated documentation that shall be sufficient in the form 
of any of the following: 
 

A. A police report identifying the employee as a victim; 
 
B. A court order protecting or separating the employee from the perpetrator, or 
other document that the employee appeared in court; 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 62



4065 2 

C. A court order that the employee attended a judicial proceeding; 
 
D. Documentation from a licensed medical professional and/or licensed counselor, 
that the employee was undergoing treatment from the victimization. 
 

“Domestic Violence” means any of the types of abuse set forth in Section 6211 of the 
Family Code, as amended. Abuse is not limited to the actual infliction of physical injury or 
assault. 
 
“Immediate family member” means spouse, child, stepchild, brother, stepbrother, sister, 
stepsister, mother, stepmother, father, or stepfather. 
 
“Interactive process” means a timely, good faith communication between the employer 
and the employee (or his/her representative), when necessary because of circumstances 
covered under this policy, to explore whether or not the employee needs a reasonable 
accommodation for him/her to perform the essential functions of the job; and if so, how 
the employee can be reasonably accommodated. The employer is permitted to ask for 
reasonable documentation (certification) confirming the existence of the need for a 
reasonable accommodation. 
 
“Registered domestic partner” means a domestic partnership established in California 
when two adults not related by blood (in a way that would prevent them from being 
married to each other in this state) and otherwise eligible, file a Declaration of Domestic 
Partnership with the Secretary of State. 
 
“Reasonable accommodations” may include the implementation of safety measures, 
including a transfer, reassignment, modified schedule, changed work telephone, changed 
work station, installed lock, assistance in documenting domestic violence, sexual assault, 
or stalking that occurs in the workplace, an implemented safety procedure, or another 
adjustment to a job structure, workplace facility, or work requirement in response to 
domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, or referral to a victim assistance 
organization. 
 
In determining whether the accommodation is reasonable, an exigent circumstance or 
danger facing the employee shall be considered, provided it is not an undue hardship for 
the District. 
 
"Safe Time" means employees may take safe time if the employee is a victim of domestic 
violence, sexual assault or stalking and time off is needed to attend to safety planning or 
other actions to assist the employee, such as judicial assistance, medical attention, 
counseling, etc. 
 
“Sexual assault" means a crime set forth in the Penal Code. 
 
“Stalking” means a crime set forth in the Penal Code or Civil Code. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 63



4065 3 

“Victim” means a person against whom one of the following crimes has been committed: 
a violent felony, or a serious felony, or a felony proscribing theft or embezzlement as 
defined by the Penal Code. 
 
 
4. Reasonable Accommodation 
 

A. Upon receipt of notification, the District shall engage in a timely, good faith, and 
interactive process with the employee to determine effective reasonable 
accommodations for the safety of the victim while at work. 
 
B. An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, stalking, or 
a referral to a victim assistance organization, and desires a reasonable 
accommodation shall provide a signed and dated written statement certifying that 
the accommodation request is for the purpose authorized under this section. 
 
C. A statement signed and dated by an individual acting on behalf of the employee 
shall suffice, provided it identifies the need for a reasonable accommodation under 
this section, for said employee. If a written statement has not been provided, the 
employee will be given a reasonable period of time to comply through the 
interactive process. 
 

1. In addition to the employee’s written statement, a written and dated 
certification may be requested of the employee; and if so shall be 
considered sufficient if it meets the requirements of “certification” under 
definitions above. Recertification may be requested of the employee every 
six months. 

 
D. If the circumstances change, and the employee needs a new accommodation, 
the employee shall request a new accommodation in writing, following the 
procedures defined herein. The District shall resume the interactive process to 
determine if a new reasonable accommodation is effective. 
 
E. If an employee no longer needs an accommodation, the employee shall 
promptly notify the employer in writing that the accommodation is no longer 
needed. 

 
5. Leave Use 
 
An employee who has a need to be absent from work related to this section, may elect to 
use their accrued paid vacation time, sick leave time, earned floating holiday if any, 
earned management leave, or other paid leave or unpaid leave time. 
 
This provision does not create a right for an employee to take unpaid leave time that 
exceeds the unpaid leave time allowed under, or is in addition to, the unpaid leave 
permitted by the federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 64



4065 4 

 
6. Procedure for Requesting Time Off 
 

A. As a condition of taking time off, an employee shall provide reasonable advance 
notice of the need for leave, unless advance notice is not feasible. 
 
B. The employee shall follow District procedures for proper notification of the need 
for leave, including in emergency situations. 
 
C. If the need for leave use is unforeseeable, the employee shall provide notice of 
the need for the leave to their supervisor as soon as is practicable. 
 
D. Certifications may be required as noted above, for use of leave when services 
are needed for employees who are victims of domestic violence, sexual assault, 
or stalking, pursuant to LC §230. 
 
E. Presentation of appropriate documentation (written statement and certification) 
in advance is required, unless the absence is unscheduled. In such case the 
employee will be given a reasonable period of time to provide certification 
depending upon the circumstances unique to their request for use of leave. 
 
F. After an employee gives their supervisor advance notice of the need to use sick 
leave, whether foreseeable or unforeseeable, the employee shall complete the 
appropriate District forms for documentation purposes, to support the hours used 
and recorded on the appropriate timecard. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 65



4080 1 

4080 - COBRA HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS NOTICE 
 
1. Purpose: 
Federal law requires most employers sponsoring group health plans to offer employees 
and their families the opportunity for a temporary extension of health coverage (called 
"continuation coverage") at group rates in certain instances where coverage under the 
plan would otherwise end. Additionally, the Tax Reform Act of 1986 makes a number of 
technical amendments to the continuation coverage provisions. Finally, the Consolidated 
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) of 1986 further amends the continuation 
coverage provisions.  
 
2. Policy Statement: 
This notice is intended to inform you, in a summary fashion, of your rights and obligations 
under the continuation coverage provisions of COBRA. Both you and your spouse should 
take the time to read this notice carefully. 
 
3. Process: 
If you are a District employee covered by the District health plan, you have a right to 
choose this continuation coverage if you lose your health coverage because of a 
reduction in your hours of employment or the termination of your employment (for reasons 
other than gross misconduct on your part). 
 

A. If you are the spouse of an employee covered by the health plan, you have the 
right to choose continuation coverage for yourself if you lose group health 
coverage under the health plan for any of the following five qualifying events: 
 

1. The death of your spouse; 
2. A termination of your spouse's employment (for reasons other than 

gross misconduct) or reduction in your spouse's hours of employment; 
3. Divorce or legal separation from your spouse; 
4. Your spouse becomes eligible for Medicare; or 
5. A bankruptcy proceeding under Title XI is commenced with respect to 

the District from whose employment your spouse retired at any time, and 
your benefits are terminated or substantially reduced within one year of 
the filing of such bankruptcy. 

 
B. In the case of a dependent child of an employee covered by the health plan, he 
or she has the right to continuation coverage if group health coverage under the 
plan is lost for any of the following six qualifying events: 

 
1. The death of a parent; 
 
2. The termination of a parent's employment (for reasons other than gross 

misconduct) or reduction of a parent's hours of employment with the 
District; 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 66



4080 2 

3. A parent's divorce or legal separation; 
 
4. A parent becomes eligible for Medicare; 
 
5. The dependent ceases to be a "dependent child" under the health plan; 

or 
 
6. A bankruptcy proceeding under Title XI is commenced with respect to 

the District from whose employment your parent retired at any time and 
your benefits are terminated or substantially reduced within one year of 
the filing of such bankruptcy. 

 
C. If there is a choice among the types of coverage under the health plan, each 
qualified beneficiary (e.g., employee, retiree, spouse or dependent child) is entitled 
to make a separate selection among such types of coverage. With regard to the 
term "qualified beneficiaries," such term does not include nonresident aliens 
without any earned income. 
 
D. Under the law, the covered employee or qualified beneficiary has the 
responsibility to inform the District Administrator of a divorce, legal separation, or 
a child losing dependent status under the health plan within sixty (60) days after 
the date of such event. Failure to provide such notice may result in a forfeiture of 
a qualified beneficiary's right to continuation coverage. 

 
1. When the District Administrator is notified that one of these events has 

happened, the Administrator will in turn notify you within fourteen (14) 
days that you have the right to choose continuation coverage. Under 
COBRA, you have at least sixty (60) days from the date you would lose 
coverage because of one of the events described above to inform the 
Plan Administrator that you want continuation coverage. 

 
E. If you do not choose continuation coverage, your group health insurance 
coverage will end. If you choose continuation coverage, the District is required to 
give you coverage which, as of the time coverage is provided, is identical to the 
coverage provided under the plan to similarly situated employees or family 
members. In case of termination of employment or reduction in hours, your 
required continuation coverage period is eighteen (18) months. Further, a qualified 
beneficiary may have more than one qualifying event, but the coverage period may 
not exceed a total of thirty-six (36) months.  
 
F. COBRA also provides that your continuation coverage may be cut short for any 
of the following reasons: 
 

1. The District no longer provides group health coverage to any of its 
employees; 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 67



4080 3 

2. The premium for your continuation coverage is not paid within thirty (30) 
days after the date due or within such longer period as applies under the 
plan; 
 

3. You become covered under any other group health plan (as an 
employee or otherwise); 
 

4. You become eligible for Medicare; or 
 

5. You are disabled for a period in excess of 120 days. 
 

G. You do not have to show that you are insurable to choose continuation coverage. 
However, under COBRA, you may have to pay 102% of the premium for your 
continuation coverage. (At the end of the 18-month continuation coverage period, 
you must be allowed to enroll in an individual conversion health plan provided 
under the health plan if otherwise generally available under that plan.) 
 
H. There may be a more affordable or more generous coverage options for you 
and your family through other group health plan coverage (such as a spouse's 
plan), the Health Insurance Marketplace, or Medicaid. In the Marketplace you may 
be eligible for a tax-credit that lowers your monthly premiums and cost-sharing 
reductions; you can determine what your costs will be before you enroll in a plan. 
In California see Covered California at www.coveredca.com.  
 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 68

http://www.coveredca.com/


4090 1 

 
4090 - MILITARY LEAVE 
 
1. Purpose: 
 
Pursuant to California Military Code §394.5 the District will provide up to 17 days of job-
protected unpaid leave to employees who are members of the reserve corps of the armed 
forces of the United States, the National Guard or the naval militia when called to military 
duty for purposes of military training, drills, encampment, naval cruises, special exercises 
or the like. This leave is in addition to the leave provided under the federal Uniformed 
Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), 39 U.S.C. §4301, et 
seq. 
 
2. Policy Statement: 
 
An employee who enters the armed forces of the United States will be placed on an 
extended leave, without pay, in accordance with federal and state laws governing such 
leaves including The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act 
(USERRA) and California Military Code §394.5.  
 
3. Process: 
 
Eligible employees are members of the reserve corps of the armed forces of the United 
States, the National Guard or the naval militia, or members of the California State Military 
Reserve. 
 

A. The employee shall provide a copy of his/her official orders for entry into active 
or inactive duty.  Failure to submit a copy of the official orders may result in 
ineligibility for reemployment protection following the period of military leave. 

 
Employees on Military Leave do not accrue paid leave benefits while on leave. 
 
Normal health insurance benefits shall be continued by the District, if the military 
leave is 30 days or less. For absences of 31 days or more, insurance coverage 
stops unless the employee elects to pay for continued coverage (for a period of up 
to 18 months) of no more than 102 percent of the plan's full premium. Health 
insurance shall be reinstated on the day the employee is reinstated with no waiting 
period.  

 
B. Upon completion of military service, the employee will be reinstated with full 
seniority to his/her former position or to a comparable position if application for re-
employment is made within the following time limits, which are dependent upon 
the duration of the orders.  
 
C. An employee, who enters active military duty (voluntarily or involuntarily) from 
any position, including a temporary position, has full job protection, provided he or 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 69

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=mvc&group=00001-01000&file=389-399.5


4090 2 

she applies for reemployment within the following time limits: 
 
 1. Employees who served less than 31 days must report back to work at the 

beginning of the next scheduled workday following their release from 
service and the expiration of 8 hours after a time for safe transportation back 
to the employee's residence. 

 
 2. Employees who served more than 30 days, but less than 181 days; must 

apply for reemployment within 14 days of release by the military. 
 
 3. Employees who served 181 days to five years, have 90 days to apply for 

reemployment. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 70



4095 1 

4095 - TIME OFF TO VOTE 
 
1. If a voter does not have sufficient time outside of working hours to vote in a statewide 
election, the voter may, without loss of pay, take off enough working time that, when 
added to the voting time available outside of working hours, will enable the voter to vote.   
 
2. The District will pay a voter (employee) for up to but no more than the first two hours 
of absence from regularly scheduled work necessary to vote. The time off for voting shall 
be only at the beginning or end of the regular working shift, whichever allows the most 
free time for voting and the least time off from the regular working shift, unless otherwise 
mutually agreed.  
 
3. Any additional time off will be without pay.  
 
4. An employee must give reasonable notice of the need to have time off to vote; if the 
voter knows or has reason to believe that time off will be necessary to be able to vote 
on election day, the employee shall give the employer at least two working days' notice 
that time off for voting is desired, in accordance with Elections Code 14000. 
 
5. No employee will be penalized or retaliated against for requesting time off to vote. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 71



5000 1 

 
5000 - UNAUTHORIZED VOLUNTARY ABSENCE 
 
1. Voluntary absence from work without permission is considered job abandonment and 
grounds for termination. 
 
2. Voluntary absence from work without permission for three (3) consecutive working days 
shall be considered an automatic resignation from District service as of the last day the 
employee worked. 

 
A. The absent employee may file a written appeal for reinstatement with the District 
Administrator, no later than seven (7) calendar days after the date of notification 
by the District that the employee was terminated due to job abandonment. Upon 
receipt of a written appeal to termination for job abandonment, the District 
Administrator will hold a Skelly-type due process hearing within ten (10) calendar 
days. The District Administrator shall make the final determination, with no further 
right of appeal.  
 
B. Reinstatement will be granted only if the employee provides a satisfactory 
explanation with supporting documentation during the appeal process, as to the 
cause of the absence and his/her failure to obtain leave, and it is found that s/he 
is ready, able, and willing to discharge his/her duties or has obtained approval for 
a leave of absence. 

 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 72



5010 1 

5010 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
1. Purpose: 
 
The purpose of this policy is to provide a procedure by which an employee may formally 
claim that he/she has been affected by a specific violation, misapplication, or 
misinterpretation of a law, District policy, rule, regulation, written instruction and/or 
memorandum of understanding (MOU) provision, for which there is no other specific 
method of review provided by the District. 
 
2. Policy Statement:  
 
This policy shall apply to all regular employees in all classifications. 
 
Specifically excluded from the grievance procedure are changes in employee relations 
resulting from the amendment of state or federal law; and those resolutions, ordinances 
or minute orders of the District’s Board of Directors, which do not affect wages, hours and 
terms and conditions of employment. Performance evaluations (which may be responded 
to within thirty (30) calendar days), and due process progressive discipline are also 
excluded from the grievance procedure. 
 
3. Grievance Procedure Steps. 
 

A. Level I – Immediate Supervisor. Within 5 workdays following the incident that 
caused or led to the grievance, the employee will give notice of the grievance to 
his/her immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor shall hold discussions 
and attempt to resolve the matter within three (3) working days after receiving 
notice of the grievance. It is the intent of this informal meeting that at least one 
personal conference be held between the employee and the immediate supervisor. 
 
B. Level II – Immediate Supervisor. If the employee is not satisfied with the 
discussions and personal conference, the employee shall then present a formal 
written grievance (using the form provided by the District), including evidence to 
his/her immediate supervisor within five (5) working days after the date of 
conference between the employee and the immediate supervisor. The written 
grievance shall cite the specific law that was misinterpreted, or the specific policy, 
rule, regulation, written instruction, or MOU provision alleged to have been violated 
or misapplied. The supervisor will then provide the employee with a written reply 
within five (5) working days. 
 
If the employee's immediate supervisor is the District Administrator and the 
employee is not satisfied with Level I discussions and personal conference, the 
employee may advance from Level I to Level III. 
 
C. Level III – District Administrator. If the grievance has not been resolved at Level 
II, the employee must present his/her grievance on the written form provided by 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 73



5010 2 

the District to the District Administrator within ten (10) working days after receiving 
the written reply from his/her immediate supervisor. The statement shall include 
the following: 

 
1. A concise statement of the grievance including specific reference to any 
law, policy, rule, regulation, written instruction and/or MOU provision 
deemed to be violated, misapplied or misinterpreted; 
 
2. The circumstances involved;  
 
3. The decision rendered by the immediate supervisor at Level II; 
 
4. The employee's reason that the immediate supervisor's written response 
did not resolve the matter; 
 
5. The specific remedy sought. 
 

The District Administrator shall communicate his/her decision within ten (10) 
workdays after receiving the grievance. Decisions will be in writing setting forth the 
decision and the reasons therefore and will be transmitted promptly to the grieving 
employee.  
 
If the District Administrator does not respond within the time limits, or if the District 
Administrator's response does not resolve the grievance, the employee may seek 
a second opinion through mediation, as specified below. Time limits for requesting 
mediation shall begin the 5th day following transmission of the District 
Administrator's written decision or after the time limits for the District 
Administrator's response have expired. Within the above time limits either party 
may request a personal conference with the other. 
 
D.  Level IV -- Advisory Mediation and Final Decision.  If the grievance has not 
been resolved at Level III, the employee must present his/her written request to 
the District Administrator to submit the grievance to mediation from the State 
Mediation and Conciliation Service within seven (7) calendar days. The mediation 
shall be concluded as promptly as practicable, and the evidence, written findings 
and advisory decision of the mediator submitted to the District Administrator. 
 
The District Administrator, after weighing the advisory decision, findings and 
evidence of the mediator, shall render a final written decision on the grievance and 
transmit it to the employee within thirty calendar days after receiving the evidence, 
findings and advisory decision of the mediator. 
 
The District Administrator's decision following the mediation, or, if a decision is not 
timely transmitted to the employee, the advisory decision of the mediator, shall be 
final and the matter shall be closed. Any fees or expenses associated with having 
the Service provide a mediator shall be: 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 74



5010 3 

• borne equally by the employee and the District if the District Administrator's 
decision does not override the mediator's; or 

• borne by the District if the District Administrator's decision overrides the 
mediator's. 

 
E. Basic Rules – If an employee does not timely present the grievance or does not 
timely comply with each of the steps set out above or does not appeal the decision 
rendered regarding the grievance within the time limits specified above, the 
grievance shall be considered resolved, and the matter shall be closed. 
 
By agreement in writing, the parties may extend any and all time limitations of the 
grievance procedure. 
 
The District Administrator may temporarily suspend grievance processing on a 
District-wide basis in an emergency situation. 
 
A copy of all formal grievance decisions shall be maintained in a confidential file 
and retained pursuant to the District's Records Management System. 

 
4. Other Remedies: 
 
Prior to pursuing remedies provided by law, employees must first comply with the 
District’s grievance procedure. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 75



5020 1 

5020 - DISCIPLINE AND APPEALS PROCEDURE 
 
1. Purpose: 
 
The purpose of this procedure is to establish the types of actions for which an employee 
can be disciplined and the disciplinary measures that may be used. 
 
2. Exclusive Remedy:  
 
The procedure set forth in this Procedure shall be exclusive, and the failure of an 
employee to utilize the provisions herein shall constitute a waiver of any claim to relief. 
 
3. Application:  
 
This Procedure applies only to Regular Employees including Exempt Employees. Regular 
Employees do not include Probationary Employees, the District Administrator, the District 
Legal Counsel, any employee employed by contract, or any employee hired on a 
temporary, special, provisional, seasonal, or emergency basis, or any independent 
contractor. An employee not covered by this Procedure may be disciplined without 
reference to these provisions. 
 
4. Grounds for Discipline:  
 
Discipline may be taken against an employee for "cause." Cause exists where any fact or 
set of facts, based upon relevant circumstances, may be reasonably relied upon in the 
exercise of discretion as a basis for disciplinary action.  
 
The following are set forth as examples only and shall not be construed as an exclusive 
list: 

A. Fraud in securing employment. 
B. Improper use of sick leave privileges, continued absenteeism or tardiness, 

and/or unexcused absences. 
C. Violation of any lawful or reasonable regulation or order made and given by an 

employee's supervisor; insubordination. 
D. Failure to follow the chain of command as directed by a supervisor and 

established in Section 2010 of these Policies. 
E. Theft. 
F. Misuse of District credit cards and violation of purchasing policies. 
G. Negligence, incompetence, or inefficiency in the performance of duties, 

including failure to perform assigned tasks or training, or failure to discharge 
duties in a prompt, competent, and responsible manner. 

H. Use, possession, being under the influence of, sale/purchase or offer to 
sell/purchase illegal drugs and narcotics or alcohol during working hours or on 
District premises or having a blood alcohol concentration of 0.00 or greater 
while on duty. 

I. Falsification of records. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 76



5020 2 

J. Fighting, threats, or other abusive conduct toward employees or the public. 
K. Careless, negligent, improper, or reckless operation of district vehicles, 

equipment, or other property. 
L. Destruction or damage to district property, public property or the property of 

another employee. 
M. Possessing firearms or dangerous weapons on district property or during hours 

when the employee is employed by the District. 
N. Dishonesty. 
O. Personal use of district equipment, vehicles, tools and/or materials including 

for personal purposes, without written approval of the District Administrator or 
his/her designee. 

P. Violation of safety rules. 
Q. Conviction for a misdemeanor or felony. 
R. Refusal to take and subscribe any oath or affirmation, which is required by law 

in connection with his or her employment. 
S. Violation of District or other applicable written rules, regulations or policies. 
T. Violation of State or Federal law. 
 

5. Types of Discipline - Minor 
 

A. Corrective Counseling: Corrective counseling may be conducted with an 
employee whose conduct or performance must be improved and which details the 
areas for improvement, the degree of improvement required, and notice that failure 
to improve will result in more serious disciplinary action. The supervisor shall 
document the verbal warning and provide a copy to the employee. Corrective 
Counseling is not subject to appeal. 

 
B. Written Reprimand: The appointing authority may issue a formal written notice 
to an employee which summarizes previous related corrective or disciplinary 
action, if any, and/or which details conduct subject to discipline and which advises 
that continued conduct at such levels may result in suspension, pay reduction, 
demotion or dismissal from employment. The employee must acknowledge receipt 
of the reprimand by signing the letter at the time of presentation; this signature 
signifies only receipt of the document, not necessarily agreement as to the 
contents. A copy of the reprimand shall be filed in the official personnel file for said 
employee. The written reprimand is not subject to appeal; however, the employee 
shall have the right to submit a written rebuttal within thirty (30) calendar days after 
receipt of the written reprimand. A written rebuttal shall be kept in the employee's 
personnel file. 

 
6. Types of Discipline - Major 
 

A. Suspension: The temporary removal of an employee from the service of the 
District without compensation or benefits. A suspension of this type does not 
include placing an employee on unpaid administrative leave, pending an 
investigation of alleged misconduct as described in Section 7.A below. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 77



5020 3 

 
B. Pay Reduction: The reduction in pay of one or more pay steps where 
performance falls short of normal established standards or where performance is 
clearly inadequate in one or more of the critical job duties for the position. 
 
C. Demotion: The removal of an employee from a position to one of lower grade 
or classification. 
 
D. Dismissal: The removal of an employee from the service of the District. 

 
7. Disciplinary Procedures for Major Discipline. 
 

A. Notice of Intent to Discipline for Suspension, Pay Reduction, Demotion or 
Dismissal. Where the proposed discipline is major, as defined, above in Section 
6., a Notice of Intent to Discipline signed by a Supervisor, supporting the discipline 
shall be served on the employee. Service of the Notice of Intent to Discipline shall 
be made at least ten (10) calendar days if served personally, or twelve (12) 
calendar days if served by certified mail, before a any hearing is held pursuant to 
Section 7 C below. The Notice shall include: 

 
1.  The proposed discipline. 
 
2.  The effective date of the discipline. 
 
3.  The reasons for the discipline. 
 
4.  Attachment of, or reference to, any written documents pertinent to 

the discipline. 
 
An employee may, where circumstance warrant, be placed on administrative leave 
with or without pay by the appointing authority, pending the hearing held pursuant 
to Section 7C., below or pending an investigation of alleged misconduct. 
 
B. Service of Charges. Service of the Notice of Intent to Discipline shall be made 
by: 

1. Personally giving the employee a copy, which shall be signed by the 
employee as receipt thereof. Employee's refusal to sign in receipt of 
said notice shall not affect the validity of the service; or 

 
2. If service under 1., is infeasible; by first class certified mail, return 

receipt requested, to the last known mailing address of the 
employee. The post marked date shall serve as the date of Notice of 
Intent to Discipline. A declaration of mailing under penalty of perjury 
must be completed by the employee who delivered the notice to the 
post office. 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 78



5020 4 

Service is deemed complete when any one of the preceding steps is taken. 
 
C. Informal Hearing Procedure (Skelly Hearing). The employee shall be given an 
opportunity at an informal hearing to show why the proposed major discipline 
should not be imposed prior to its imposition. 
 

1. The employee may request an extension to respond, if his/her written 
request for an extension is received by the District Administrator, 
within seven (7) calendar days of the Notice of Intent to Discipline. 

 
2. The hearing will be conducted by a Reviewing Officer who shall be 

the District Administrator or his/her designee. The hearing shall 
include the employee, the employee’s representative, if the 
employee so wishes, and others as directed by the Reviewing 
Officer. 

 
 The pre-disciplinary response allows the employee an opportunity to 

present his/her side of the facts leading to discipline; however, it is 
not intended to be an adversary hearing. The employee shall identify 
in writing the identity of relevant witnesses to testify at least 48 hours 
prior to said informal hearing. The employee need not be accorded 
the opportunity to cross-examine a District witness, nor shall the 
employee be required to present a formal case in opposition to the 
proposed discipline.  

 
3. At the pre-disciplinary hearing the employee shall be given an 

opportunity, either orally, in writing, or both, to bring forward facts or 
circumstances which may cause the proposed discipline to be 
revised or dismissed. The hearing shall be recorded, with a copy 
provided to the employee. 

 
4. The Reviewing Officer shall issue his/her decision within ten (10) 

working days of the hearing. The decision may uphold the 
disciplinary action, modify the discipline, reduce the level of discipline 
to a minor status, or dismiss the proposed discipline. 

 
5. The decision will contain a synopsis of the informal hearing and shall 

be served on the employee as provided in Section 7.B. The decision 
shall also inform the employee of his or her right of appeal as 
provided in Section 9, below. 

 
8. Appeal from Minor Discipline: 
 
As stated above minor discipline is not subject to appeal; however, a rebuttal to a written 
reprimand may be filed within parameters and the timeframes prescribed in Section 5.B., 
above. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 79



5020 5 

 
9. Appeal from Major Discipline: 
 
If an employee desires to appeal the decision issued pursuant to Section 7, above, then 
the following procedures shall apply. 

 
A. The appeal must be in writing and received by the District Administrator within 
ten (10) working days after service on the employee of the decision of the 
Reviewing Officer. 
 
B. The Board of Directors shall appoint a Hearing Officer who shall not be another 
Director, an employee, or an independent contractor of the District to conduct a 
hearing on the appeal from the decision of the Reviewing Officer. 
 
C. The hearing shall be conducted within sixty (60) days of the appellant’s request 
for appeal, unless the District Administrator and the appellant agree in writing that 
the date of the hearing be extended for a specified time. 
 
D. All hearings shall be closed to the public, unless the employee requests the 
hearing to be open to the public. Any request for an open hearing shall be 
submitted in writing at least fifteen (15) working days prior to the hearing, or the 
hearing will be closed.  
 

1.  The employee (and his/her representative), District representatives 
and the Hearing Officer shall be notified in writing of the date, time, 
and place of the hearing at least ten (10) working days prior to the 
hearing. 

 
2.  Seven (7) working days prior to the date set for the hearing, each 

party shall serve upon the other party and submit to the Hearing 
Officer a list of all witnesses, exhibits, and any briefs. 

 
E. The hearing shall be conducted in the manner most conducive to determination 
of the truth, and the Hearing Officer shall not be bound by technical rules of 
evidence. The Hearing Officer shall determine the relevancy, weight, and credibility 
of testimony and evidence. Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of 
supplementing or explaining any direct evidence but shall not be sufficient in itself 
to support a finding unless it would be admissible over an objection in civil actions.  
The Hearing Officer shall base his/her findings on the preponderance of the 
evidence. 
 
F. The Hearing Officer shall rule on the admission or exclusion of evidence.  The 
Hearing Officer reserves the right to question witnesses during testimony for 
clarification purposes. The evidentiary decisions of the Hearing Officer shall not be 
invalidated by any informality in the proceedings. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 80



5020 6 

G. Oral evidence shall be taken only on oath or affirmation. 
 
H. The appellant shall personally attend all sessions of the hearing, unless 
specifically excused by the Hearing Officer for proper cause. Unexcused failure of 
the appellant to appear at a hearing shall be deemed a withdrawal of the appeal. 
 
I. The Hearing Officer shall record all proceedings.  Both parties shall have access 
to the recordings. Either party may request a stenographer. The requesting party 
shall pay for those costs.  If both parties request a stenographer, the cost shall be 
split by both parties. 
 
J.  The hearing shall proceed in the following order, unless the Hearing Officer 
directs otherwise: 
 

1.  The District shall be permitted to make an opening statement. 
 
2.  The appellant shall be permitted to make an opening statement. 
 
3.  The District shall produce its evidence. 
 
4.  The appellant shall then have the right of impeachment and/or cross-

examination.  Further presentation shall be at the pleasure of the 
Hearing Officer. 

 
5.  The appellant may then offer his/her evidence. 
 
6.  The District shall then have the right of impeachment and/or cross-

examination. Further presentation shall be at the Hearing Officer's 
pleasure. 

 
7.  The parties may then offer rebutting evidence only, unless the 

Hearing Officer, for good cause, permits them to offer evidence upon 
their original case. 

 
8.   Arguments may be permitted at the discretion of the Hearing Officer.  

The party with the burden of proof shall have the right to close the 
hearing by making the last argument. 

 
9.  Post trial briefs may be requested at the discretion of the Hearing 

Officer.  
 

 
K. During the examination of a witness, all other witnesses, except the parties, 
shall be excluded from the hearing upon motion of either party. 
 
L. The District's exhibits shall be designated numerically. The appellant's exhibits 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 81



5020 7 

shall be designated alphabetically. Neither party will be permitted to call a witness 
or use an exhibit not previously identified unless the party can demonstrate that 
they could not reasonably have anticipated the prior need for such witness or 
exhibit. 
 
M. Each party shall have the following rights: 
 

1. The District and the appellant may be represented by legal counsel 
or other person of his/her choice. 

 
2.  To call, examine and cross-examine witnesses. 
 
3.  To Introduce evidence. 
 
4.   To impeach any witness regardless of which party first called him/her 

to testify and to rebut the evidence against him/her. 
 

N. The Hearing Officer, upon a request by either party and upon his/her 
determination concerning relevance and propriety, may issue subpoenas to 
witnesses and/or require the production of other records or material evidence. 
 
O. The Hearing Officer may, prior to or during a hearing, grant a continuance upon 
showing good cause. 
 
P. The Hearing Officer shall prepare a written decision and serve it on the appellant 
pursuant to Section 7.B, above, and provide a copy to the Board of Directors not 
later than thirty (30) calendar days after the matter of appeal was taken under 
submission by the Hearing Officer. The written decision shall set forth the Hearing 
Officer's findings of fact and shall state reasons why the discipline is to be 
sustained, modified, reduced or dismissed. 
 
Q. The written decision of the Hearing Officer shall be final and binding. The 
Hearing Officer's written decision shall not be invalidated by any informality in the 
proceedings. 
 
R. If the appellant is dissatisfied with the Hearing Officer’s decision and wishes to 
seek judicial review, the limitations period provided in Code of Civil Procedure 
Section 1094.6, or any successor statute, shall apply. 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 82



5030 1 

5030 - SAFETY 
 
1. Accident Prevention 
The District is concerned about the health and safety of all employees. Employees are 
expected to share that concern by practicing safe working habits for their own benefit, as 
well as that of their fellow employees, and the public. District policy and federal law 
requires that employees be provided places of employment free from recognized safety 
hazards and with proper tools and equipment necessary to accomplish their work 
assignment in as safe a manner as possible. Employees are required to notify their 
Supervisor immediately whenever they have a question that concerns safety. 
 
2. Injury and Illness Prevention Plan (IIPP) 
Employees are required to actively participate in the review of, the District’s plan with the 
District Safety Officer or his/her designee and must follow the plan. Further, employees 
must be proactive in identifying and avoiding potential safety hazards and immediately 
report any concerns to a supervisor or the District Safety Officer/designee. The District 
intends to comply with applicable federal and state laws regarding illness and injury 
prevention and shall prepare an IIPP and name safety coordinator(s) as soon as 
practicable. 
 
3. Accident Reporting 
All job-related injuries and illnesses, regardless of severity, must be reported immediately 
to the Supervisor to provide prompt and trained evaluation and medical attention, if 
necessary. 
 
4. Smoking in the Workplace 
No smoking and/or use of e-cigarettes will be permitted in the District office or other 
District work spaces, District buildings, vehicles, and equipment or enclosed work areas. 
Smoking is allowed on breaks, with the designated smoking area defined as the gravel 
parking area adjacent to the airport, or if needed, shall be designated in non-work areas, 
by the District Administrator. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 83



5040 1 

5040 - USE OF DISTRICT VEHICLES AND PROPERTY 
 
1. District vehicles, equipment, tools and other property shall only be used for District 
business and operations. No District employee, Board member or member of the public 
shall use any such District property for any personal or non-District use. 
 
2. Transportation in District vehicles of persons other than Directors, officers, employees, 
agents of the District, or authorized guests, is prohibited. 
 
3. Exemptions must be pre-approved by the District Administrator or his designee and 
may be allowed for general public good will and the general benefit of the District. 
 
4. Plant Superintendent shall be assigned a District vehicle and may drive said vehicle 
home as long as residence is within 30 minutes of assigned workplace and Plant 
Superintendent is able to arrive at District facilities within 35 minutes from the time of 
leaving home.  
 
5. The Superintendent may authorize employees on “Stand-by Duty” to drive a District 
vehicle home as long as their residence is within 30 minutes of their assigned workplace.  
 
6. The use of a take home vehicle is a noncash fringe benefit subject to income tax as 
determined by the IRS. By the commuting rule, each direction of an employee's commute 
using a business vehicle is considered $1.50 in wages. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 84



5050 1 

5050 - APPEARANCE AND CONDUCT 
 
Conduct, dress and appearance is important to the success of both the employee and the 
District. Each employee is expected to be neat in appearance and dress. All employees 
shall conduct themselves in a manner that will reflect creditably and favorably on the 
District. In dealing with the public, all employees will maintain a polite and helpful attitude. 
 
1. Facial hair requirements – If job or safety related pursuant to OSHA standards. 
 
2. Uniform policy – pursuant to District standards as required for operators. 
 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 85



5060 
 

1 

5060 - SUBSTANCE ABUSE 
 
1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this policy is to assure a work environment that is free from the 
illegal possession and/or use of alcohol, illegal drugs, or controlled substances. 
Additionally, the use of, and being under the influence of, alcohol and/or controlled 
substances on the job detrimentally affects the work performance, safety, security, 
and public confidence of employees and the health and welfare of the public 
served by the District. 
 
The Board of Directors for the District has a vital interest in the protection and 
health and safety of customers and the public from hazards relating to substance 
abuse. Further the Board is concerned with the physical safety of all employees, 
potential damage to property and equipment, mental and physical health of 
employees, productivity and work quality, medical insurance costs, and the harm 
done to employees and their families by the inappropriate use of controlled 
substances. 
 
2. Policy Statement 
 
The unlawful possession, sale, use and/or transportation of narcotics, drugs, 
controlled substances, or alcoholic beverages by employees while on duty, driving 
a District vehicle, or on District property is illegal and forbidden.  Further, no 
employee shall report to work under the influence of narcotics, drugs, controlled 
substances, whether prescribed or not, alcohol, or any other substance which may 
impair the employee’s judgment and ability to perform his/her job in a safe and 
efficient manner.  Violation of this stated Substance Abuse Policy may result in not 
being hired, or disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment, 
even for a first offense. 
 
This policy applies to all full-time and part-time District employees and volunteers 
conducting District business on or off site, and to all applicants for positions with 
the District. 
 
3. Definitions 

 
A. CHEMICAL TESTING – the examination of blood, breath, or urine to 

determine if a person has used the prohibited materials. 
 

B. CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE – a drug substance or immediate precursor 
listed in any schedule in the California Health and Safety Code. 

 
C. DISCIPLINARY ACTION – rules and regulations for taking disciplinary 

action as outlined in the District Disciplinary Policy. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 86



5060 
 

2 

D. DRUG/SUBSTANCE – any drug or substance, which can negatively affect 
work performance. 

 
 

E. INTOXICATED/UNDER THE INFLUENCE – being affected by a prohibited 
material so as to noticeably impair physical coordination, balance, and 
control and/or to noticeably impair mental functions of judgment, decision 
making, memory, concentration, and cognitive problem solving.  
Performance is adversely affected by a drug/substance or alcohol, or a 
combination of a drug/substance and alcohol.  Symptoms may include, but 
not be limited to, obvious impairment of physical or mental ability, such as 
slurred speech or difficulty in maintaining balance, as noted in the definition 
titled “Reasonable Suspicion,” Section 3-M. 

 
F. LABORATORY – State certified laboratory for sample testing. 

 
G. LEGAL DRUGS – includes prescribed drugs and over-the-counter drugs 

which have been legally obtained and are being used for the purpose and 
in the manner for which they were prescribed or manufactured. 
 

H. MEDICAL REVIEW OFFICER (MRO) – is a person who is a licensed 
physician and who is responsible for receiving and reviewing laboratory 
results generated by an employer's drug testing program and evaluating 
medical explanations for certain drug test results. 

 
I. POSITIVE RESULTS – the qualitative identification of a prohibited material 

in a breath, urine, or blood sample; or an adulterated or tampered test result.  
Standards used to determine a positive result will be those standards 
considered admissible in a California court of law. 

 
J. PROHIBITED MATERIAL – any alcohol, drug, or substance as defined 

above. 
 

K. NEGATIVE DRUG TEST – a result that indicates that a specimen did not 
exceed specified cutoff levels. 

 
L. NON-NEGATIVE DRUG TEST – the initial test result was at or above the 

specified cutoff levels and will require further review to determine the cause 
of the result. A non-negative result can also mean that a specimen was 
adulterated (tampered with), substituted or invalid. A non-negative test 
result shall be considered the same as a positive test result. 

 
M. REASONABLE SUSPICION – is a belief based on objective and articulable 

facts sufficient to lead a reasonably prudent person to suspect that an 
employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol so that the employee’s 
ability to perform the functions of the job is impaired or so that the 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 87



5060 
 

3 

employee’s ability to perform his/her job safely is reduced. Examples may 
include, but are not limited to, any of the following, that alone or in 
combination, may constitute reasonable suspicion: 

 
1) Aberrant or unusual behavior affecting: 

• Appearance, behavior, speech, awareness, motor skills, balance 
• Alcohol on breath; 
• An accident involving District property; 
• Physical altercation; 
• Verbal altercation; 
• Lethargy or grogginess; 

2) Behavior which is so unusual that it warrants summoning a supervisor or 
anyone else with authority; 

3) Possession of alcohol or drugs;  
4) Reliable corroborated information obtained from a person with personal 

knowledge; or 
5) Acknowledgement by an individual that they have recently used a prohibited 

material to such an extent that there is high probability that it is still in his/her 
system. 

 
N. SPLIT SAMPLE – splitting a test sample into several portions for use in 

independent testing of positive or non-negative samples. 
 

O. SUBSTANCE ABUSE PROFESSIONAL (SAP) – is a person who evaluates 
employees who have violated a drug and alcohol program regulation and 
makes recommendations concerning education, treatment, follow-up 
testing, and aftercare. 

 
4. Prohibited Conduct. 
 
Although the recent passage of California Proposition 64 allows for recreational 
use of marijuana, it does not amend, repeal, affect, restrict or pre-empt the rights 
and obligations of employers to maintain a drug and alcohol free workplace. Under 
the federal Controlled Substances Act, marijuana remains an illegal substance. 
 
Violation of any of the following rules will result in disciplinary action up to and 
including termination of employment: 
 

A. Possessing, using, manufacturing, distributing, dispensing, selling or 
purchasing illegal drugs or other controlled substances while on the job or off 
the job. 
 
B. Conviction or a plea or "no contest" to any of the offenses stated in 
subparagraph A. above. 
 
C. Possessing or drinking alcoholic beverages, while on duty and/or on the 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 88



5060 
 

4 

premises of the District. 
 
D. Driving a vehicle on District business while under the influence of alcohol 
(as defined by the California Vehicle Code), or illegal drugs or other controlled 
substances. 
 
E. Reporting to work while under the influence of alcohol, or any illegal drug 
or other controlled substances. 
 
For the purposes of applying this policy: 

 
I. Being under the influence of drugs and/or other controlled substances 
means being impaired in any way from fully and proficiently performing 
job duties and/or having a detectable amount of said substance in one's 
body. 
 
II. Being under the influence of alcohol means being impaired in any 
way from fully and proficiently performing job duties, and/or having a 
0.00 percent or more, by weight, of alcohol in one's blood. 

 
5. Voluntary Assistance 
 
Employees with substance abuse (i.e., alcohol/drug abuse) problems are 
encouraged to voluntarily seek assistance. An employee will not be disciplined 
because he/she voluntarily requests assistance for a substance abuse problem 
and information gathered from employees seeking voluntary assistance will be 
treated as confidential and will only be provided to those persons who, for business 
reasons, have the need to know such information. This would include providing 
information necessary for management to administer disability benefits, apply for 
work restrictions, assure compliance with treatment, or administer discipline 
consistent with the terms of this policy. 
 
However, seeking assistance or raising any claim related to substance abuse does 
not relieve an employee of his/her responsibility to meet the District's performance, 
safety or attendance standards, does not relieve an employee of his/her 
responsibility to adhere to this policy and does not insulate the employee from 
discipline for reasons other than seeking assistance for a substance abuse 
problem. 
 
Employees who have a problem with alcohol or drugs and who decide to enroll 
voluntarily in an accredited alcohol or drug rehabilitation program will be 
considered for an accommodation of unpaid leave to participate in the program. 
The District Administrator will determine whether the District can accommodate the 
employee for the duration of leave for the time necessary as deemed by the 
treating physician and/or Substance Abuse Professional, on a case by case basis; 
as the depth of drug use can determine the length of the program. The employee 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 89



5060 
 

5 

may use any accrued sick leave or vacation benefit while on leave provided they 
provide proof of consistent participation and completion of the rehabilitation 
program. However, additional benefits will not be earned during the leave of 
absence unless the employee is eligible for benefits applicable to other medical 
leaves as provided in District policies. 
 
Accommodations: Nothing in this policy is intended to diminish the District’s 
commitment to employ and reasonably accommodate qualified disabled 
individuals. The District will reasonably accommodate qualified disabled 
employees who must take legal drugs because of their disability and who, because 
of their appropriate use of such drugs, cannot perform the essential functions of 
their positions without reasonable accommodation. Any documentation of the 
Interactive Process to discuss and consider reasonable accommodations shall be 
filed in a confidential medical file for the employee. (See Section 12. Confidentiality 
subsection below.) 
 
The District is not obligated, however, to continue to employ any person whose 
performance of essential job duties is impaired because of current drug or alcohol 
use, nor is the District obligated to re-employ any person who has participated in 
treatment and/or rehabilitation if that person’s job performance remains impaired 
as a result of dependency. Nor is the District obligated to accommodate current 
usage of illegal drugs or alcohol. 
 
6. Required Notice of Prescription or Over-the-Counter Drug Use. 
 
The use of either prescription or over-the-counter drugs or medication may impair 
an employee's ability to work safely and efficiently and create an unsafe work 
environment. In order to assure that employee performance on the job is not 
misconstrued and to assure a safe and efficient work environment, employees 
using either prescription or over-the-counter drugs or medication which may impair 
their judgment, or ability to work safely and efficiently must inform their supervisor 
prior to their first work assignment after taking the drug or medication.  
Management may direct the employee to provide written documentation from 
his/her medical professional that the employee does not pose a threat to his/her 
own safety, or the safety of co-workers or the general public, and that the 
employee's job performance is not impaired by the legal drug with or without an 
accommodation. By fulfilling this obligation, employees will avoid disciplinary 
action for failure to notify supervision. 
 
7. Applicant Testing. 
 

A. All offers of employment are contingent upon an applicant's passing a test 
to determine whether alcohol, illegal drugs or controlled substances are 
present in his/her body. 
 
B. If an applicant is found to have falsified, substituted, adulterated, diluted, 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 90



5060 
 

6 

or in any way tampered with any sample of a body fluid (urine/blood/saliva) 
associated with testing for substances, he/she will not be hired. 
 
C. Applicants whose final results are positive or non-negative for substance 
abuse will not be allowed to re-apply for employment or be offered 
employment at the District for a period of 24 months. 

 
8. Drug and Alcohol Testing under Reasonable Suspicion. 
 
If the District directs an employee to undergo drug or alcohol testing based upon 
a reasonable suspicion, the employee will be placed on unpaid leave from the time 
of the initial testing until test results are received and reviewed by the District.  In 
the event drug and alcohol screen results are negative, the District shall convert 
the unpaid leave to a paid leave. 
 

A. Where management has reasonable grounds to believe that the 
employee's faculties are impaired on the job due to drug or alcohol abuse 
and such impairment presents a clear and present danger to the physical 
safety of the employee, co-workers or the public, management will require 
the employee to submit to a medical evaluation, including substance abuse 
testing. 
 
B. Where an employee is directly involved in an accident on the job and 
management has reasonable grounds to believe that the employee's faculties 
were impaired due to drug or alcohol abuse, management will require the 
employee to submit to a medical evaluation, including substance abuse 
testing, as part of the accident investigation or benefit plan administration 
process. 
 
C. A refusal to test shall be treated the same as a positive test result. In the 
circumstances specified in Section 6(A) and (B), an employee who refuses 
to submit to a medical evaluation, including substance abuse testing, or who 
tests positive or non-negative for substance abuse will be subject to discipline 
up to and including termination of employment. An employee engaging in 
conduct that obstructs the testing process will be deemed as refusing to test.  
A supervisor engaging in conduct that interferes with the testing process will 
be subject to discipline up to and including termination of employment. 
 

9. Scope of Medical Testing and Evaluations. 
 

A. Employees shall immediately submit to all medical examinations and 
testing required by this policy and shall be transported to the test site 
accompanied by a Supervisor. 
 
B. Immediately prior to reporting for a drug/alcohol testing, all employees 
shall complete a Consent and Release Form to be kept on file in the District 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 91



5060 
 

7 

office. 
 
C. The scope of tests performed shall be for the purpose of detecting and 
identifying the presence of alcohol and/or drugs and not for the purpose of 
detecting and identifying any other medical condition. 
 

10. Employee's Right to Challenge the Results of a Positive or Non-Negative 
Substance Abuse Test 
 
In all cases where employees are tested for substance abuse, and the test is 
positive or non-negative, they have the right to challenge the results of the test at 
a qualified facility of their choice at District expense if an adequate quantity of body 
fluid is provided. This second test is a confirmatory test that must be performed 
with the same sample of body fluid utilized for the first test. If the confirmation test 
is positive or non-negative, the employee may re-test the sample at a qualified 
laboratory of his/her own choosing and at his/her own expense. 
 
Employees shall provide, within three (3) business days of request, proof of a 
current valid prescription for any drug or medication identified when a drug 
screen/analysis is positive.  The prescription must be in the employee’s name. 
 
11. Discipline 
 
Discipline procedures will comply with Section 5020. 
 
12. Searches  
 
Management reserves the right, in accordance with applicable state and federal 
law, to conduct searches of District premises and property for the purpose of 
protecting the safety and well-being of its employees, customers and the public; 
for the purpose of conducting work-related, non-investigatory intrusions; to 
conduct investigations of work-related misconduct; and for the purpose of 
preventing criminal activity on District premises. The District has a right to place in 
custody of law enforcement authorities any suspected illegal or controlled 
substances or contraband discovered on the District's premises. 
 
Lockers, desks, and storage areas are the property of the District and must be 
maintained according to the District’s standards.  All such areas must be kept clean 
and are to be used only for work-related purposes.  The District reserves the right, 
at all times and without further notice, to conduct searches and inspections of any 
or all lockers and other District property for the purposes of determining if this 
Policy has been violated. 
 
All vehicles and containers, including but not limited to, bags, boxes, purses, lunch 
pails, brought onto the District’s premises, are subject to inspection at any time an 
authorized representative of the District has a reasonable suspicion that a District 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 92



5060 
 

8 

rule, policy, or regulation has been violated and such an inspection is reasonably 
necessary in the investigation of such violation(s).  
 
Any search of an employee's personal possessions will be consented to in writing 
and conducted in the presence of the employee. Such inspections will be 
conducted, to the extent reasonably possible, in a manner designed to preserve 
the dignity of the employee. Inspections will be done in a private area, and in the 
presence of a member of the same sex.  A represented employee may request a 
shop steward or other non-union representative be present for the inspection. An 
employee who refuses to consent to such an inspection may be subject to 
disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. 
 
Supervisors shall not physically search employees; however, a supervisor may 
detain an employee with pay for a reasonable period of time to allow for arrival of 
law enforcement officials.  
 
13. Overview of Alcohol/Drug Testing Protocol 
 

A. Laboratory Certification: 
All laboratories used to perform urine testing pursuant to this program will be 
certified under the National Institute on Drug Abuse guidelines developed for 
the Department of Health and Human Services. 
 
B. Testing: 
In testing samples, the testing laboratory will test specifically for alcohol 
and/or those drugs and classes of drugs required by South San Luis Obispo 
County Sanitation District Alcohol and Drug Testing Protocols. 
 
The current panel of drugs which will be tested for are as follows: 
· Alcohol 
· Amphetamines 
· Barbiturates 
· Benzodiazepines 
· Cannabinoids (Marijuana) 
· Cocaine 
· Methadone 
· Methaqualone 
· Opiates 
· Phencyclidine 
· Propoxyphene 
 
C. Split Sample: 
If the employee provides enough urine for a second sample, there will be a 
split sample option available. When a test kit with two samples is received by 
the laboratory, one sealed urine specimen bottle shall be removed 
immediately for testing. The remaining urine sample shall be immediately 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 93



5060 
 

9 

placed in secure refrigerated storage. 
 
D. Confirmatory Test: 
All Specimens which test positive or non-negative on the initial test will be 
confirmed using a second more specific gas chromatography/mass 
spectrometry (GC/MS) test. 
 
E. Medical Review Officer Involvement: 
After a laboratory confirmed positive or non-negative test, employees, where 
appropriate, will be afforded an opportunity to have a Medical Review Officer 
review their medical history and other relevant medical data at the employee's 
expense. The Medical Review Officer will be a licensed physician, 
knowledgeable in drug pharmacology and drug abuse disorders, and may be 
an employee or independent contractor. The interview with the Medical 
Review Officer may be conducted by telephone. If the Medical Review Officer 
determines and reports that a test is positive or non-negative, upon request 
of the employee, an aliquot of the remaining urine specimen or the second 
sealed bottle will be forwarded to another NIDA approved laboratory of the 
party's choice for GC/MS confirmatory testing of the presence of the drug. 
 
F. Reporting of Results: 
All specimens that test negative on either the initial test or the GC/MS 
confirmation test shall be reported only as negative. Only specimens that test 
positive or non-negative on both the initial and the confirmation test shall be 
reported as positive or non-negative. In reporting a positive or non-negative 
test result, the laboratory will state the specific substance(s) for which the test 
is positive or non-negative and will, when requested by the Medical Review 
Officer, provide the quantitative results of both the screening and the GC/MS 
confirmation test, in terms of nanograms per milliliter. All positive or non-
negative test results must be reviewed by the certifying scientist or laboratory 
director and certified as accurate. 
 
G. Specimen Retention: 
All specimens deemed positive or non-negative must be retained by the 
laboratory for a period of one year in a secure storage facility. 

 
14. Confidentiality 
 
It is the intent and obligation of the District to maintain complete confidentiality 
concerning the administration of this policy. 
 
Information regarding chemical testing, laboratory reports or test results shall be 
included in a separate confidential medical folder contained for the employee. The 
reports or test results may be disclosed to District management on a strictly need-
to-know basis and to the tested employee upon request.  Disclosures, without 
patient consent, may also occur when: (1) the information is compelled by law or 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 94



5060 
 

10 

by judicial or administrative process; (2) the information has been placed at issue 
in a formal dispute between the employer and employee; (3) the information is to 
be used in administering an employee benefit plan; (4) the information is needed 
by medical personnel for the diagnosis or treatment of the patient who is unable to 
authorize disclosure. 
 
15. Non-Smoking Policy 
 
The District is committed to a philosophy of good health and a safe workplace. In 
keeping with this philosophy, it is important that the workplace and office 
environment reflect the District’s concern for good health. Smoking and use of e-
cigarettes is therefore not permitted inside District buildings, vehicles, and 
equipment, or enclosed work areas. Smoking areas, if needed, shall be designated 
in non-work areas, by the District Administrator. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 95



5070 1 

5070 - POLICY AND COMPLAINT PROCEDURE AGAINST HARASSMENT, 
DISCRIMINATION, AND RETALIATION 
 
1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this Policy is to emphasize the District’s commitment to: keeping its 
workplace free of harassment, discrimination, and retaliation; to define the District’s policy 
and procedures regarding harassment, discrimination, and retaliation by or against any 
employee of the District; and to provide notice to all employees about said policy and 
procedures. 
 
2. Policy Statement 
 
District employees have a responsibility for maintaining high standards of honesty, 
integrity, impartiality and conduct to assure proper performance of the District's business 
and the maintenance of confidence of the public it serves. 
 
This Policy establishes procedures for employees and applicants for employment who 
feel they have been subjected to harassment, discrimination, or retaliation to pursue their 
complaints. 
 
This Policy prohibits employees (co-workers, supervisors, managers), elected or 
appointed officials, third-parties, vendors, or members of the public from harassing or 
discriminating against employees, applicants for employment, unpaid interns, or 
volunteers because of an individual’s protected classification. 
 
As part of the District’s continuing efforts to ensure full equal employment opportunity and 
conform to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and pursuant to the guidelines issued 
by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, and the regulations issued by the 
California Fair Employment and Housing Commission, this Policy shall be distributed to 
all current and future employees.  Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 is not a “general 
civility code.” Therefore, claims of harassment, discrimination, or retaliation under this 
Policy must be found to be based on the employee’s statutorily protected classification or 
activity. 
 
The District’s policy is one of “Zero Tolerance” for any form of discrimination, harassment, 
or retaliation.  An employee who is determined to have discriminated, harassed, or 
retaliated against another person while pursuing a District activity, either on or off duty, 
or otherwise violated the provisions of this Policy, may be subject to disciplinary action, 
up to and including termination. In addition, an employee found to have submitted a 
capricious or malicious complaint may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination, as such actions may also constitute prohibited harassment, 
discrimination, or retaliation.  
 
For purposes of this Policy, and consistent with the District’s “Zero Tolerance” policy, it is 
not necessary that the conduct complained about actually rises to the level of unlawful 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 96



5070 2 

harassment or retaliation for such conduct to be a violation of the District’s Policy. Thus, 
even if objectionable conduct is determined not to be unlawful harassment or retaliation, 
the employee who engaged in such conduct may still be subject to remedial action and/or 
discipline up to and including termination in accordance with the District’s Disciplinary 
Policy. 
 
This Policy does not restrict nor inhibit any supervisor from their responsibility or in their 
ability to direct, critique, and discipline employees in a non-discriminatory manner. 
 
3. Definitions 
 
A) "Complaint" An allegation brought forth by an employee, that there has been a violation 
of this Policy. 
 
B) "Discrimination" Treating an individual differently because of the individual’s protected 
classification as defined in this Policy. 
 
C) "Employee" For the purposes of this Policy only, an employee shall mean a paid 
District employee, an independent contractor substituting as a temporary District 
employee, a paid or unpaid Intern and/or a District volunteer. 
 
D) "Harassment" For the purposes of this Policy, a form of discrimination consisting of 
unwelcome and unsolicited behavior which is taken because of an individual’s statutorily 
protected classification and which is so severe and/or pervasive that it creates a hostile 
or abusive working environment and interferes with an employee’s ability to do his or her 
job. An environment may be hostile if unwelcome behaviors, sexual or other, are directed 
specifically at an individual, or if an individual witnesses discriminatory harassment in 
his/her immediate surroundings. 
 
Depending upon the severity of the circumstances, a single act of discriminatory 
harassment, as defined below, can violate this Policy. Forms of discriminatory 
harassment are: 
 

1) Verbal Harassment.  Includes, but is not limited to, speech, epithets, jokes, slurs, 
derogatory or other unwelcome comments communicated to or about the 
employee on the basis of an individual’s protected classification. This might include 
inappropriate comments on appearance, including dress or physical features, or 
dress consistent with gender identification, or race-oriented stories or jokes. 

 
2) Physical Harassment. Includes, but is not limited to, assaulting, excessive 
staring, inappropriate or offensive touching, impeding or blocking movement, or 
any physical interference with normal work or movement of the employee, when 
directed at the employee on the basis of an individual’s protected classification. 
This includes pinching, grabbing, patting, propositioning, leering, or making explicit 
or implied job threats or promises in return for submission to physical acts. 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 97



5070 3 

3) Visual or Written Forms of Harassment. Includes, but is not limited to, 
derogatory material, posters, notices, bulletins, cartoons, drawings, or any pictorial 
or written depiction including, but not limited to: graffiti, reading materials, computer 
graphics, or electronic media transmissions, based upon an individual’s protected 
classification. 
 
4) Hostile Environment. A work environment that is permeated with insults or 
abuse, sexually oriented talk or innuendo, not relevant to the subject matter of the 
job and based upon an individual’s protected classification. An environment may 
be hostile if unwelcome behavior is directed specifically at an individual or if the 
individual merely witnesses discriminatory harassment in his or her immediate 
surroundings.  The determination of whether an environment is hostile is based on 
the totality of the circumstances, including such factors as the frequency of the 
conduct, the severity of the conduct, whether the conduct is humiliating or 
physically threatening, and whether the conduct unreasonably interferes with an 
individual’s work. 

 
E) “Protected Activity” Any action that an employee is permitted to engage in under the 
law in his/her capacity as an employee and includes, but is not limited to filing a complaint 
with a federal agency, state enforcement or administrative agency, or the District; 
opposing harassment; participating or cooperating in an investigation regarding alleged 
activities in violation of this Policy; providing informal notice to the District regarding 
alleged activity in violation of this Policy; calling a governmental agency's "whistleblower 
hotline." 
 
F) "Protected Classifications" Includes race, color, ancestry, national origin, religion, 
creed, age (over 40), mental and physical disability, sex, gender (including pregnancy, 
childbirth, breastfeeding or related medical conditions), sexual orientation, gender 
identity, gender expression, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, military 
and veteran status, or any other basis protected by California or Federal law. 
 
G) "Retaliation" An adverse employment action that is directly and causally related to the 
protected activity by an employee. Adverse employment action can include, but is not 
limited to, spreading rumors about a complaint, shunning and avoiding an individual who 
reports harassment or discrimination, or real or implied threats of intimidation to prevent 
an individual from reporting harassment, discrimination, or engaging in a protected activity 
as defined by this policy. 
 
H) "Sexual harassment" A form of harassment on the basis of gender, which may involve 
the behavior of a person, against a person of the opposite or same sex, and occurs when 
such behavior constitutes unwelcome sexual advances, unwelcome requests for sexual 
favors, and other unwelcome verbal, physical, or visual occurrences of a sexual nature. 
This may include situations which began as reciprocal attractions, but later ceased to be 
reciprocal. In addition to those examples set forth below in the Guidelines for Identifying 
Harassment, examples of sexual harassment include: 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 98



5070 4 

Quid Pro Quo Sexual Harassment: 
Submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition 
of an individual’s employment; 
 
Submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for 
employment decisions affecting the individual’s welfare.  
 
Hostile Environment Sexual Harassment: 
An unwarranted focus on sexual topics or sexually suggestive statements in a work 
setting, which has the purpose or effect of substantially interfering with an 
individual’s welfare or work performance, or creates an intimidating, hostile, 
offensive, or demeaning work environment.   

 
4. Guidelines for Identifying Harassment 
 
To help clarify what constitutes harassment in violation of this Policy, use the following 
guidelines: 
 
A) Harassment includes any conduct which would be "unwelcome" to an individual of the 
recipient’s same protected classification and which is taken because of the recipient’s 
protected classification. 
 
B) It is no defense that the recipient appears to have voluntarily "consented" to the 
conduct at issue. A recipient may not protest for many legitimate reasons, including the 
need to avoid being insubordinate or to avoid being ostracized. 
 
C) Simply because no one has complained about a joke, gesture, picture, physical 
contact, or comment does not mean that the conduct is welcome. Harassment can evolve 
over time. The fact that no one is complaining now does not preclude anyone from 
complaining if the conduct is repeated in the future. 
 
D) Even visual, verbal, or physical conduct between two individuals who appear to 
welcome the conduct can constitute harassment of a third individual who observes the 
conduct or learns about the conduct later. Conduct can constitute harassment even if it 
is not explicitly or specifically directed at an individual. 
 
E) Conduct can constitute harassment in violation of this Policy even if the individual 
engaging in the conduct has no intention to harass. Even well-intentioned conduct can 
violate this Policy if the conduct is directed at, or implicates a protected classification, and 
if an individual of the recipient’s same protected classification would find it offensive (e.g., 
gifts, over attention, endearing nicknames). 
 
5. Publication of Policy 
 
A) All employees shall be informed of the District's Policy and Complaint Procedure. Also, 
said policy and complaint procedure shall be readily available to all employees and 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 99



5070 5 

members of the general public utilizing the District's facilities and services. 
 

1) All new employees shall be given a copy of this Policy at the time of hiring and 
shall sign an acknowledgment of understanding this Policy and as receipt of the 
copy. In addition, the Department of Fair Employment and Housing brochure on 
sexual harassment (Form DFEH-185) shall be distributed to all new employees  

 
B. The District Administrator shall be available to answer questions of District employees 
regarding this District Policy. 
 
6. Responsibilities 
 
A) Individual Employees 
 
Employees should note that courts have ruled that a sexual harasser may be found 
personally liable to the victim of the harassment.  As such, all employees are responsible 
to: 
 

1. Act professionally and refrain from discriminatory, harassing or retaliatory conduct; 
 

2. Understand and follow the District’s Policy and Complaint Procedure;  
 

3. Promptly report any conduct which fits the definition of discrimination, harassment, 
or retaliation as defined herein, including but not limited to: sexual harassment, 
verbal harassment, and physical harassment. The report should be made to the 
supervisor(s), or appropriate authority figure, as provided in this Policy, whether or 
not reported by the individual who is the object of the harassment; 

 
4. Seek clarification of this Policy, and sign a form which acknowledges that s/he has 

read and understands the District’s Policy and Complaint Procedure; 
 

5. Cooperate with any investigation of any alleged act of discriminatory harassment 
or retaliation, conducted by the District or its agents, including producing and not 
destroying any evidence relevant to an investigation of harassment discrimination; 

 
6. Maintain confidentiality of any investigation that the employer conducts by not 

disclosing the substance of any investigatory interview, except as directed by the 
District Administrator or Chair of the Board of Directors/Chair/s designee (in the 
event the complaint involves the District Administrator). 

 
7. Not use peer pressure to discourage employees who believe they are the victims 

of or have observed harassment, from complaining to the appropriate authorities 
regarding the harassment. 

 
B) Management and Supervisory Employees 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 100



5070 6 

In addition to the responsibilities listed above for individual employees, management and 
supervisory personnel are responsible to help prevent harassment, discrimination, and 
retaliation in their departments and areas of responsibility.  In that regard, managers and 
supervisors are to: 
 

1. Inform everyone who works for them that discrimination, harassment and 
retaliation is against the law, is a form of employment discrimination, and that the 
District may be held responsible if any District employee is found guilty of 
harassment. 

 
2. Ensure that supervisory staff receives the appropriate training with regard to this 

Policy and demonstrate an understanding of this subject matter, including the 
provisions of this Policy. The District shall provide at least two hours of classroom 
or other effective interactive training and education regarding sexual harassment 
to all supervisory employees. Such training shall be required every two years.  
Newly hired supervisors shall receive training within six months after assuming a 
supervisory position. Furthermore, supervisors are responsible to avail themselves 
of training opportunities. 

 
3. Establish and communicate that all staff shall adhere to a standard of conduct that 

promotes a work environment free of harassment. 
 

4. Be responsive and take immediate documented steps to report complaints, 
observations, or knowledge of harassment in a confidential manner. Immediately 
notify the District Administrator, or the Chair of the Board of Directors/Chair’s 
designee (in the event the complaint involves the District Administrator) of any 
allegations or observations of Policy violations. Cooperate to resolve the complaint 
effectively and as quickly as possible. Consult with the District Administrator, or 
Chair of the Board of Directors/Chair’s designee (in the event the complaint 
involves the District Administrator) immediately should any questions arise. 

 
5. Inform all employees about the District’s Policy and Complaint Procedure. 

 
6. Understand that managers and supervisors are held to a higher standard in regard 

to workplace conduct; therefore, they must set the example, and as such, must 
promote a workplace free from harassment and retaliation and not engage in 
actions or behaviors that violate or encourage violation of this Policy.  For this 
reason, romantic or sexual relationships between supervisors and their 
subordinates are to be avoided.  There is an inherent imbalance of power and 
potential for exploitation in such relationships. The relationship may create an 
appearance of impropriety and lead to charges of favoritism by other employees. 

 
7. Be aware that managers and supervisors are responsible for acts of illegal 

harassment in the work place by employees and non-employees, and become 
personally liable when the manager/supervisor knows, or should have known, of 
the conduct but fails to take immediate and appropriate corrective action. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 101



5070 7 

 
The District will take disciplinary action, up to and including termination, against any 
supervisor who fails in his/her responsibility to take immediate action in response to an 
employee’s complaint of harassment, or conduct related to harassment, about which the 
supervisor has knowledge, or should have knowledge. 
 
C) District Administrator or Chair of the Board/Chair’s designee (in the event the complaint 
involves the District Administrator) 
 

1. Upon receiving notification of a harassment complaint, adhere to the 
responsibilities listed above for individual employees, management and 
supervisory personnel, and to the Investigative Procedure cited below in a timely 
manner. 

 
7. Training Documentation 
 
Documentation of the training provided must be maintained for a minimum of two years, 
or pursuant to the District's Records Management System. The documentation will 
include at a minimum the names of employees trained, the date of training, the type of 
training, and the name of the training provider, the sign-in sheet, a copy of all certificates 
of attendance/participation/completion and a copy of all written or recorded materials that 
comprise the training. Training certificates of completion should be maintained in the 
employee's personnel file. 
 
8. Complaint Process 
 
Any employee who believes s/he is the victim of discrimination, harassment or retaliation 
may file a formal or informal confidential complaint without fear of retaliation.  Employees 
are encouraged to immediately report any incident of harassment so complaints can be 
quickly and fairly resolved. 
 
 
A) Any employee of the District who believes that s/he has been the victim of 
discrimination, harassment, or retaliation should provide a verbal or written complaint as 
soon as possible after the incident to: 
 
 A supervisor; or  
 the District Administrator; or 
 the Chair of the Board of Directors (in the event the complaint involves the District 

Administrator). The Chair may in turn designate another individual, who may be 
contract District Counsel or the contract Human Resources consultant, to address 
the complaint.  

 
The chain of command need not be followed when filing a complaint covered under this 
Policy. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 102



5070 8 

B) The complaint should include details of the incident(s), name(s) of the individual(s) 
involved, together with the name(s) of any witness(es).  
 
C) Staff and supervisors receiving a harassment complaint(s) shall immediately notify the 
District Administrator or the Chair of the Board of Directors/Chair's designee (in the event 
the complaint involves the District Administrator) to afford an opportunity to resolve the 
complaint internally.  
 
D) The District Administrator or the Chair of the Board of Directors/Chair's designee (in 
the event the complaint involves the District Administrator) will undertake a fair, timely, 
thorough, and objective investigation of the allegation(s) which are covered under this 
Policy. 
 
9. Complaint Response Process 
 
A) Confidentiality: The District will take all practical means available to it to assure the 
confidentiality of complaints made under this Policy; however, complete confidentiality 
cannot occur due to the need to fully investigate and the duty to take effective remedial 
action. As a result, confidentiality will be maintained to the extent possible. The District’s 
investigation will be designed to maintain, to the extent possible, the privacy and 
confidentiality of all parties involved. 
 
An individual who is interviewed during the course of an investigation is prohibited from 
discussing the substance of the interview, except as otherwise directed by the District 
Administrator or Chair of the Board/Chair/s designee (in the even the complaint involves 
the District Administrator). Any individual who discusses the content of an investigatory 
interview will be subject to discipline or other appropriate sanction. The District will not 
disclose a completed investigation report except, as it deems necessary to support a 
disciplinary action, to take remedial action, to defend itself in adversarial proceedings, or 
to comply with the law or court order. 
 
B) Within seven (7) working days of receipt of a formal or informal complaint, even if it is 
withdrawn, an objective investigation shall be commenced by the District Administrator. 
In the event the District Administrator is personally involved in said complaint, the 
investigation shall be commenced by the Chair of the Board of Directors or his/her 
designee. 
 

1) The District Administrator or Chair of the Board or his/her designee (in the event 
the complaint involves the District Administrator) shall provide the complainant with 
a timely response indicating that the complaint has been received and that a fair, 
timely, and thorough investigation will be conducted by impartial and qualified 
personnel. The investigation will include interviews with:  

a) Complainant, who has the right to be accompanied by an advocate(s) 
when discussing alleged incidents. Said person shall be advised of this right 
prior to the commencement of such discussions; 
b) Subject of the complaint, who has the right to be represented; and  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 103



5070 9 

c) Other persons who have relevant knowledge concerning the allegations 
in the complaint. 
 

2) The investigator will review the factual information gathered through the 
investigation to reach a reasonable conclusion as to whether the alleged conduct 
occurred giving consideration to all factual information, the totality of the 
circumstances, including the nature of the conduct, and the context in which the 
alleged incidents occurred. 
 
3) The investigator will timely report a summary of the determination as to whether 
Policy violation(s) occurred. 

 
4) The District Administrator or Chair of the Board/Chair's designee (in the event 
the complaint involves the District Administrator) will monitor the complaint’s 
progress. 
 
5) A written record of the investigation of alleged harassment shall be maintained 
by the District as confidential for the period required by law or in the District's 
Records Management System. 

 
C) The District Administrator shall have the ability to effect temporary transfers or initiate 
administrative leave with pay for any employee involved in any aspect of the harassment 
complaint, until the complaint is resolved and/or all levels of appeal have been exhausted. 
The District Administrator shall have the ability to temporarily suspend any volunteer 
involved in any aspect of the harassment complaint, until the complaint is resolved. The 
District Administrator shall also have the authority to impose reasonable and lawful 
requirements upon employees, regarding workplace behaviors, while a harassment 
complaint is being investigated and resolved. Such actions will ensure that employees 
conduct themselves appropriately and in a manner to be reasonably expected in the work 
environment. These provisions are intended to encourage the continuation of a 
harmonious work environment, while a harassment complaint is being investigated and 
resolved. 
 
10. Disciplinary Procedures and Completion of the Investigation 
 
If it is determined that a policy violation has occurred, effective remedial action will be 
taken in accordance with the circumstances involved. Any employee determined to be 
responsible for a violation of this Policy will be subject to appropriate disciplinary action, 
up to and including termination. The remedial action will be commensurate with the 
severity of the offense; however, the level of action will not be communicated to the 
complainant. Rather the complainant shall be notified that the investigation was 
concluded and the allegations findings were determined to be unfounded, exonerated, 
sustained or not-sustained. 
 
A) Appropriate action shall be taken based on the results of the investigation. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 104



5070 10 

B) Action taken to remedy a discrimination, harassment, retaliation situation shall be done 
in a manner so as to protect potential future victims. 
 
C) Employees filing a good faith complaint under this Policy shall be protected thereafter 
from retaliation. Retaliation by management or co-workers against anyone filing a 
complaint will not be permitted or tolerated. 
 
The District Administrator or Chair of the Board/Chair's designee (if the complaint involves 
the District Administrator) is the final level of investigation and complaint resolution. The 
District Administrator shall have the authority to determine what action will be taken. In 
such cases where the complaint involves the District Administrator, the authority to 
recommend what action to take shall rest with the Board of Directors, who shall take 
appropriate action. 
 
11) Outside the Scope of Employment 
 
Courts have ruled that an employee found to have committed illegal harassment may be 
found personally liable to the victim of the harassment.  Furthermore, any employee 
committing harassment, as defined in this Policy, will be deemed by the District to be 
acting outside the scope of his or her employment, volunteer activity, or official capacity. 
 
12) Outside Agencies 
 
Utilizing this Policy and procedure does not waive an employee’s right to pursue action 
with the agencies listed below or to initiate civil action. However, in order to give the 
District the opportunity to internally correct discriminatory or harassing situations, 
employees are encouraged to follow the complaint process as described in this Policy.  
Employees may also direct their complaints to the following external agencies: 
 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) at www.eeoc.gov 
 
California Department of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH) at www.dfeh.ca.gov 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 105

http://www.eeoc.gov/
http://www.dfeh.ca.gov/


5080 1 

5080 – Political Activities 
 
1. Purpose:  
 
The purpose of this policy is to address political activities by District elected and appointed 
officials (public officers), and/or employees, (including interns and volunteers). 
 
2. Policy Statement:  
 
State law places strict prohibitions on local agency public officers’ and employees’ use of 
political activities and/or solicitation of political contributions. As such, public officers and 
employees have a duty to maintain the public trust through high professional standards 
and attitudes which dictate an objective analysis of issues, free of personal biases, in 
carrying out their official duties. 
 
District public officers and/or employees may use their personal time without the use of 
District resources to engage in political activities. Employees who wish to support/oppose 
a candidate or a ballot measure, must make it clear that they are advocating in their 
capacity as private persons, and not in their capacity as an official and/or employee of the 
District. 
 
When a question arises between a public officers' or employee's official duties and his/her 
rights as a private person, individuals must first seek clarification, prior to taking any action 
that may erode the public trust, or potentially be in violation of this policy. 
 
Questions not covered within this policy, should be called to the attention of the District 
Administrator, or the Chair of the Board of Directors, (in the event the questions involve 
the District Administrator). 
 
3. Definitions: 
 
"Ballot measure" Any measure that may appear on a local, or statewide ballot that may 
be a benefit or a disadvantage to the District. 
 
"District" For the purposes of this Policy, the District proper, including the three member 
agencies as it relates to candidates for office or ballot measures. An elected official of a 
member agency could be appointed as a District Board member;  
 
"Employee" For the purposes of this Policy, an appointed individual on District payroll, or 
a worker assigned tasks at the district, hired through a temporary employment agency 
paid by the District, an unpaid intern, or a volunteer performing work for the District. 
 
"Local agency" A county, city, city and county, political subdivision, district other than a 
school district, or municipal corporation.  
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 106



5080 2 

"Political activities" Seeking, lobbying for, recruiting for, or opposing an individual's 
election or appointment for an office of a government body, or promoting the passage of, 
or defeat of, a ballot measure." 
 
"Public Officer" An individual elected or appointed to a board, commission, or committee. 
 
"Public resources" Any property or asset owned or controlled by the District, including, 
but not limited to, land, buildings, facilities, funds, equipment, supplies, telephones, 
computers, electronic devices, vehicles, travel, and District compensated time. 
 
4. Procedures: 
 
The Government Code of the State of California provides restrictions on political activities 
of local government agency employees. In keeping with the Government Code and to 
avoid the appearance of impropriety, District policy is as follows: 
 

A. Officers and employees of the District are prohibited from participating in any 
political activities while in uniform, during working hours, while representing the 
District, or on District owned or controlled property. 
 
B. No officer or employee of the District may solicit or receive political contributions 
while in uniform, during working hours, while representing the District, or on District 
owned or controlled property. 
 
C. No officer or employee of the District may expend any public resources or work 
time to support or oppose any candidate for elective office or to promote/oppose a 
ballot measure, except to redirect an unsolicited contact from a person or group. 
The official or employee must limit their response to providing a private phone 
number or email account for the person or group to contact them on their personal 
time. 
 
D. An official and/or employee may not use public resources purchased at public 
expense, for campaign purposes. 
 
E. Nominees or candidates for offices of the District are prohibited from promising 
employment benefits to officers or employees of the District. 
 
F. Nominees or candidates for offices of the District are prohibited from directly or 
indirectly using, promising, threatening, or attempting to use any office, authority 
or influence to obtain change in position or compensation for any individual, upon 
consideration or condition of the vote or political action of such person or upon any 
other corrupt condition or consideration. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 107



5090 1 

 
5090 – FITNESS FOR DUTY 
 
1. Purpose 
 
The South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District seeks to provide a work 
environment that is safe for all employees. At times, it is possible that the physical or 
psychological condition of an employee may create a work environment that represents 
a danger to the employee, the employee's co-workers, or others. 
 
2. Policy Statement 
 
When there is reason to believe that an employee's physical or psychological health is 
impaired to the extent that it affects his or her job performance of essential functions or 
presents a direct threat to his or her own safety or the safety of others, a fitness for duty 
evaluation may be conducted.  
 
The purpose of the fitness for duty evaluation is: 
 
 A. To determine if the employee is medically able to perform his or her job duties 

in a safe and efficient manner, and; 
 
 B. To help the employee obtain appropriate treatment or reasonable 

accommodations, if necessary, so that the employee can successfully return to 
work with the District whenever possible.  

 
3. Procedure 
 
If, in the opinion of the District Administrator, an employee is having difficulty performing 
the essential duties of his/her position due to suspected physical or mental health 
problems, the employee may be required to submit to a medical examination designated 
or approved by the District Administrator to determine fitness for continued employment. 
 
The employee may be placed in a modified assignment or on paid administrative leave 
during the time the fitness for duty evaluation is conducted. 
 
After the designated physician completes the examination, he or she will prepare a 
confidential report to the District Administrator indicating whether the employee is able to 
return to full duty or not; what restrictions, if any, apply; and any recommendations for 
reasonable accommodation if applicable.  
 
If the examination finds the employee requires a reasonable accommodation to perform 
the essential functions of the position for continued employment, the District Administrator 
shall extend the opportunity to the employee to engage in a good faith interactive process 
to determine what if any reasonable accommodations may be made. 
 
4. Confidentiality 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 108



5090 2 

 
Medical information pertaining to District employees is strictly confidential. Any 
information generated for the fitness for duty evaluations shall be restricted, with access 
only on a need-to-know basis, limited to those individuals engaged directly in the 
interactive process. The results of the fitness for duty examination and any related 
documentation will be retained only in the employee’s confidential medical file. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 109



 5091  1 

5091 –TECHNOLOGY USAGE 
 
1. Purpose: 
 
The District provides various technology resources and systems to its employees and 
officials, including computers, cell phones, smart phones, tablets, electronic mail, internet 
access, and other forms of technology to facilitate its employees’ work and work-related 
communication. The purpose of this policy is to regulate access to and use of District 
technology. This policy also regulates conduct by officials and employees concerning 
public records, public business using private devices. 
 
 
2. Policy Statement: 
 
This policy shall apply to all District staff and elected and appointed officials when 
communicating with District staff or on District business. District technology resources 
and systems are provided to employees for work-related purposes, in carrying out the 
mission of the District in serving the public.   
 
These technology resources and systems are business tools, which are to be used in 
accordance with generally accepted business practices and to provide an efficient and 
effective means of communications for the District. 
 
Such resources and systems are District property and are not for personal use on District 
time. These systems are not to be used in ways that may be disruptive, offensive, or 
harmful to morale. For example, messages that would violate this provision would include 
sexually explicit messages, ethnic slurs, or other messages that might be construed as 
harassment or disparagement based on protected characteristics. 
 
2. Privacy:  
 
Individuals subject to this policy do not have an expectation of privacy in their use of 
District technology resources and systems. District technology systems, equipment or 
supplies are provided strictly for business purposes and all access on work time must be 
business related. Authorized access to the District technology resources and systems is 
a privilege and not a right. 
 
Similarly, there is no reasonable expectation of privacy in communications sent over the 
District e-mail network.  E-mail communications are not private. For purposes of this 
policy, e-mail shall also include all messages transmitted on the Internet. 
 
District issuance of passwords and access codes to such resources and systems is 
designed to control authorized access to such systems for business purposes and to 
protect the District systems from unauthorized intruders; it is not for the purpose of 
providing privacy to the users. The District retains copies of such passwords and all 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 110



 5091  2 

material on such systems is subject to the District’s review and copying without any notice 
or consent. 
 
The District reserves the right to access and inspect all such systems at any time, without 
notice or employee consent, to ensure that excessive personal use is not taking place, to 
investigate conduct or behavior that may be illegal or adversely affect the District’s 
interests, or for such other reasons as the District deems appropriate. 
 
Individuals subject to this policy should note that even though information on such 
systems may be “erased” or “deleted”, copies of such information may remain on the 
District’s back-up systems. All employees should understand that any information kept on 
the District’s computer systems may be electronically recalled or recreated regardless of 
whether it may have been deleted or erased by an employee. 
 
The District periodically backs-up all computer files and messages, and due to the way in 
which computers re-use file storage space, files and messages may exist that are thought 
to have been deleted or erased. Therefore, individuals who delete or erase information 
or messages should not assume that such information or messages are confidential or 
private. 
 
3.  Improper Use 
 
Improper use of District technology resources by District staff, elected and appointed 
officials is prohibited.  Improper use includes, but is not limited to:   

 
1. Use of the District system that may, for a reasonable person, create or 

further a hostile attitude or give offense on the basis of race, color, national 
origin, citizenship, ancestry, marital status, gender, sexual orientation, 
age, disability, religion or politics. 
 

2. Exposing others unwillingly, either through carelessness or intention, to 
material which is offensive, obscene or in poor taste.  This includes 
information which may create an intimidating, offensive or hostile work 
environment. 
 

3. Communication of confidential agency information to unauthorized 
individuals within or outside of the District. 

 
4. Use of the District system for transmitting any information that is in conflict 

with applicable law or District policies, rules or procedures; or which 
undermines the District’s ability to provide public services through its 
employees; or which harms the integrity of the District, the District system 
or network. 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 111



 5091  3 

5. Use of the District system for initiating or sustaining chain letters; or to 
solicit, promote or proselytize others for non-job-related commercial 
ventures, religious or political causes, or other non-job-related activities. 

 
6. Use of the District system in any way that communicates with the Board 

of Directors in such a way as to violate the Ralph M. Brown Act. 
 

7. Theft or unauthorized copying of electronic files or data. 
 

8. Unauthorized attempts to access data or break into any District or non-
District system; 
 

9. Intentional misrepresentation of one’s identity for improper or illegal acts. 
 
3. E-mail Usage: 
 
All District employees, elected, and appointed officials utilizing electronic communications 
with the District must abide by the following requirements: 
 

A. District Property: The District’s electronic systems and the contents thereof 
are the sole property of the District and therefore not considered personal.  
Communications sent from and received by the District system are subject to 
monitoring by the District and may be subject to disclosure under the Public 
Records Act or litigation.  Communications transmitted over the System shall be 
restricted to business activities of the District or communications that contain 
information related to the accomplishment of District business, administration or 
practices.  Incidental personal use is allowed, subject to the provision below.   
 
B. E-mail Retention: E-mail messages which are “records” as defined by the 
California Public Records Act are subject to protection/retention in accordance with 
the Act.  Because the e-mail system is not designed for long-term storage, e-mail 
communications which are intended to be retained as official records shall be filed 
in electronic or hard copy form as appropriate in the appropriate subject file.  
 
E-mail messages which are responsive to existing public record requests, 
subpoena or production demand, or which are otherwise relevant to pending 
litigation or claim, shall be likewise retained in electronic subject files or hard copy 
format. 
 
C. Attorney Communications: E-mail messages transmitted to or from District 
Legal Counsel and/or his/her employees and agents may be considered to be 
confidential communications and are protected by the work product and attorney-
client privileges. 
 
D. Pre-Approval of Outside Information: All materials – diskettes, flash drives, 
CDs, DVDs, applications, documents, downloaded materials, etc. – brought into 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 112



 5091  4 

the workplace from external sources must be approved by the District 
Administrator before being installed or used on the District’s computer system. 
 
E. Monitoring: The District reserves the right to monitor the District system 
including reviewing, auditing, and disclosing all matters sent over and/or stored in 
the District system. 

 
4. Incidental Personal Use: 
 
Authorized system users are allowed incidental personal use of the District’s technology 
resources and systems only during non-working periods. This incidental personal use 
shall not interfere with District business and shall conform to the provisions and 
restrictions of this policy. 
 
Even if technology resources are used during non-working periods, users should not have 
any expectation of privacy of information transmitted or placed on the District’s technology 
resources. The information is still subject to review, monitoring, and disclosure.   
 
5. Social Media:   
 
Employees are not allowed to use the District’s Technology Resources for personal 
access to any type of social media, including Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, blogs, etc.  
These items (and any others properly characterized as forms of social media) may not be 
accessed for personal use from any District computer, cell phone, smart phone, tablet or 
other technology resources. 
 
6. Internet Use  
 
The District provides authorized employees access to on-line services, such as the 
Internet. Employees are expected to use these services in a responsible way and for 
business-related purposes only. Under no circumstances, are employees permitted to 
use such services to access, download, or contribute to the following: gross, indecent or 
sexually-oriented materials; sport sites; personal job-search sites; entertainment sites; 
gambling sites; games or humor sites; drug-oriented sites; personal pages or of 
individuals; social media sites; or politically-oriented sites; or sites devoted to influencing 
the course of legislation or public policy.  
 
Additionally, employees must not sign guest books at Web sites or post messages at Web 
sites as these actions will generate junk electronic mail and may expose the District to 
liability or unwanted attention. 
 
Employees are further prohibited from using District technology resources and systems, 
in addition to any other District property, to copy, retrieve, forward or send copyrighted or 
other proprietary materials, unless the employee has the author's express written 
permission to do so for a business-related purpose. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 113



 5091  5 

7. Consequences of Policy Violations:   
 
The failure by an employee to adhere to these requirements may result in restriction or 
termination of District system access regardless of whether it impacts his/her ability to 
perform assigned work tasks, and/or disciplinary procedures against the employee, up to 
and including termination from employment for cause. 
 
The failure by a public official to adhere to applicable requirements may result in action 
by the District Board according to the current District Board Bylaws. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 114



5092 1 

5092 - SOLICITATION AND DISTRIBUTION 
 
Employees should not be disturbed or disrupted in the performance of their job duties. 
For this reason, solicitation of any kind by an employee of another employee is prohibited 
while either person is on working time or in a public area of the District. Solicitation by 
non-employees on District premises is prohibited at all times. 
 
Distribution, by employees, of advertising material, handbills, printed or written literature 
of any kind in working or public areas of our District is prohibited at all times. 
 
We also recognize the need to support the fund-raising activities our employees’ children 
are involved in on behalf of non-profit organizations, schools and team sports. Such fund-
raising activities on behalf of employees’ children are permitted on District premises, 
subject to the requirements outlined above. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 115



6000 1 

6000 - BUSINESS TRAVEL & REIMBURSEMENT 
 
It is the policy of the District to pay in advance and/or reimburse District employees for 
expenses while attending to District business, including but not limited to conferences, 
meetings, seminars and classes. On those occasions when travel is required outside the 
District boundaries, the following procedures shall apply: 
 
1. Use of District Vehicles 
 
An employee must obtain permission from the District Administrator or designee to use a 
District vehicle. Any out of pocket expenses, such as parking, tolls or emergency repairs, 
shall be reimbursed upon presentation of appropriate receipts. 
 
2. Use of Private Vehicle 
 
If an employee is authorized to use their private vehicle on District business by the District 
Administrator, he/she shall be compensated at the prevailing IRS per diem mileage rate, 
after submittal of documentation, which states purpose of travel, dates covered, beginning 
odometer and ending odometer readings. The IRS per diem mileage rate is meant to 
cover all costs associated with travel, including gasoline purchases. 
 
Use of personal vehicles shall not be authorized for the performance of District work if a 
suitable District vehicle is available and operational. Every attempt shall be made to 
coordinate work so that District vehicles are available and operational for the performance 
of said work.  
 
Proof of adequate insurance is required covering collision, personal injury and property 
damage for any employee using a personal vehicle in the performance of District work 
and a copy thereof shall be kept on file, to be renewed annually. 
 
3. Air/Other Travel 
 
When the distance may be too great for driving, an employee may be authorized to travel 
by airline at the economy fare. The District shall reimburse the employee for actual bus, 
shuttle, cab fares or car rental that is not District paid in advance. 
 
4. Lodging 
 
It is the policy of the District to exercise prudence with respect to hotel/motel 
accommodations. It is also the policy of the District for Board members and staff to stay 
at the main hotel/motel location of a conference, seminar, or class to gain maximum 
participation and advantage of interaction with others whenever possible. Actual 
hotel/motel costs shall be paid by the District in advance, or reimbursed. Personal phone 
calls, mini bar and movies are not reimbursable. 
 
5. Per Diem 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 116



6000 2 

Any employee traveling on District business shall receive in addition to transportation and 
lodging expenses, a per diem allowance to cover ordinary expenses such as meals, 
refreshments and standard tips. The amount set for per diem shall be considered fair 
reimbursement and the employee shall neither be required to account for use of the per 
diem, return the unused portions, nor claim additional expenses for these items. 
 
The per diem shall include breakfast, lunch and dinner, excluding the cost of any alcoholic 
beverage. The per diem rate shall be pursuant to current General Services Administration 
annually published rates for San Luis Obispo County at: gsa.gov. An employee shall be 
eligible for breakfast per diem if they are required to leave prior to 7:30 a.m. in order to 
reach their destination on time and dinner per diem if they arrive back after 6:30 p.m. The 
employee may be authorized a dinner per diem if they are required to leave the evening 
prior to a conference, meeting or class. An employee shall not receive a per diem for a 
meal when that meal is included in the registration of a conference or class. Conversely, 
if a meal is included as part of the conference, but the cost is additional, the employee 
may be reimbursed the additional out of pocket expenses for the meal provided 
appropriate receipts are turned in. 
 
6. Board of Directors 
 
Reimbursements to Board of Directors shall be provided in the same manner as that for 
employees of the District. Board members shall advise the District Administrator with 
advance notice so that staff may make timely accommodation/registration arrangements 
prior to travel. 
 
7. Credit Cards 
 

A. Use District credit cards may be used only for those necessary and allowable 
expenses contained in this Policy and properly claimed by the individual to whom 
the card has been issued. District credit cards may not be used to obtain cash. Any 
penalty or excessive charges against the District due to misuse of a credit card or 
negligent use of the card, shall be borne by that individual and may subject the 
employee to disciplinary actions. 
 
Credit card vouchers (receipts/drafts) should contain a general description as to 
what was purchased; such as hotel room, air fare, breakfast, lunch, dinner, etc. 
Detailed receipts must be attached. In the event a District credit card is used to 
purchase breakfast, lunch, and/or dinner, the per diem rates shall still apply, and 
the employee must reimburse the District for the difference in the cost, if greater 
than the per diem rates. 
 
Credit card vouchers are essential for reconciling purchases with the credit card 
billing. When a voucher is lost, a duplicate must be ordered from the bank or the 
vendor. The traveler must sign his/her name on the credit card voucher not write 
South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 117



6000 3 

B. Issue/Return Procedure - Personalized District credit cards will be issued not 
earlier than three workdays prior to expected trip departure. Approval must first be 
obtained from the District Administrator prior to issuance of a credit card. If a 
scheduled trip is canceled, the personalized credit card will be returned to the 
District Administrator or designee immediately; but no later than the following 
workday. The personalized credit card issued for a specific trip must be returned 
to the District Administrator on the first day that the traveler returns to work. The 
corresponding claim must be submitted within five days. 
 
C. Lost or Stolen District Credit Cards - Should a credit card be lost or stolen, notify 
issuing authority immediately. The caller must give his/her name and department, 
the credit card number and the name as it appears on the card. As soon as 
possible thereafter, the loss must be reported to the District Administrator. A credit 
card actually lost or stolen will necessitate calling in all other cards bearing the 
same identification number for cancellation. Great care must be taken with the card 
issued to employees. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 118



 
 

6010 1 

6010 – CELL & HANDHELD DEVICES POLICY 

1. PURPOSE 
This policy establishes procedures for the use of cell phones, and other cellular/wireless devices, 
and is applicable to all District employees. This policy is intended to provide uniform and consistent 
standards of application and use of communications devices, including but not limited to: land-line 
telephones, cellular telephones, PDA’s, tablets, pagers, and other portable/mobile devices. 
References herein to phones may include any electronic portable device. 
 
Because the technology industry is an ever-changing field, this policy may cover portable/mobile 
communications devices that are developed after the adoption of this policy not specifically cited 
herein. A statement within this policy referencing cell phone use, also means use of any mobile 
device. 
 
For additional procedures with regard to District technology use, please reference the District 
Personnel Policy Manual. 

2. POLICY 
The District seeks to operate using efficient and safe methods for use of handheld devices. District 
issued cellular/wireless devices shall be utilized for business purposes. Further, any use of said 
devices, while conducting District business shall be in a safe, appropriate, and legal manner. 
Therefore, as defined herein, use of personal cellular/wireless devices is considered “attending to 
personal business” and except for emergencies or with prior supervisory approval as stated herein, 
any personal business, is limited to breaks and meal periods. 
 
Drivers shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws and regulations regarding the use of mobile 
technology devices including cell phones. 

3. RESPONSIBILITIES 

A. Individual Employees 
 
All employees are responsible to: 
 
• Abide by the provisions of this policy, including attention to safety. 
• Review any perceived discrepancy or provision of this policy with a supervisor to ensure clarity 

of the intent. 
• Thoroughly read the policy, and request supervisory direction, should questions arise, to affect 

a clear understanding of this policy. 
• Bring forth issues (with regard to any portion of this policy), in a timely manner, to the attention 

of management staff. 
• Cooperate in any investigation of alleged policy violations, including not destroying evidence. 
• Understand they will be held accountable with regard to frequency or length of personal use of 

devices covered by this policy. 
• Understand they may incur personal tax liability for personal use of a District device, under 

Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regulations. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 119



 
 

6010 2 

• Personal cell phone use, even when permitted when representing the District, must never include 
language that is obscene, discriminatory, offensive, prejudicial or defamatory in any way (such 
as jokes, slurs and/or inappropriate remarks regarding a person's race, ethnicity, sex, sexual 
orientation, religion, color, age or disability). 

• Not use cameras or other recording features on the device, unless expressly authorized and 
requested to by a supervisor, so as to protect the privacy rights of other employees and the 
District. 

 

B. Management/Supervisory Responsibilities 
 
In addition to responsibilities as an individual employee, Management and Supervisory employees 
are to communicate the provisions of this policy to subordinate staff. As with any policy, management 
and supervisory staff are held to a higher standard; therefore, serve as role models for proper 
compliance with the provisions herein. Managers and supervisors are required to: 
 
• Be conversant with the provisions of this policy. 
• Ensure employees are aware of the provisions herein. 
• Provide a copy of this policy and updates to all employees. 
• Provide training through review and expectations of said policy to all new staff upon hire, and 

current employees on a periodic basis. 
• Maintain employee signature form of acknowledgment of this policy. 
• Review monthly District device charges to monitor inappropriate, excessive or irregular use. 
• Regularly remind employees of their responsibilities in complying with this policy. 
• Advise management staff, including the District Administrator with regard to personnel or 

operational issues relative to this policy. 
• Be responsive and take immediate documented steps to address policy violations, appropriate 

to the facts. 
• Cooperate with any investigation with regard to policy violations and preserve evidence to the 

extent possible. 

4. SAFETY 
 
The use of personal devices, including cell phones is expressly prohibited while driving on District 
time. Although state law allows for use of a wireless telephone or electronic wireless communications 
device specifically designed and configured to allow voice-operated and hands-free operation, even 
use of a voice activated wireless device while driving may be a distraction while driving. Therefore, 
employees must pull off to a reasonably safe location, and stop as soon as it is safe to do so, to 
place or accept phone calls. 
 
Texting while driving or operating machinery is prohibited. 
 
Employees are to be proactive in using safety precautions relative to use of cellular phones or other 
devices. 

5. DISTRICT ISSUED DEVICES 
Where job or business needs demand immediate access to an employee, the District may issue a 
District-owned and serviced cell phone to an employee for work-related communications.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 120



 
 

6010 3 

 
District issued cellular phones and/or wireless devices shall remain the sole property of the District 
and shall be subject to inspection and/or monitoring (including related records including text 
messages) at any time. Employees in possession of District equipment such as cellular phones are 
expected to protect the equipment from loss, damage, or theft. Upon resignation or termination of 
employment, or at any time upon request, the employee may be asked to produce the phone for 
return or inspection. The use of District issued mobile devices is a privilege and not a right. 

A. Procedures 
The District will maintain a minimum of two (2) cellular devices for staff use, when the assignment 
requires or may require the need to communicate electronically in carrying out duties. 
 

1. Non-Exempt Staff – Employees assigned to Standby Duty or traveling in the field shall “check-out” 
a District issued device, prior to using it. When the assignment or fieldwork is completed, the device 
is to be immediately returned, by “checking-in” the device. Checkout and check-in shall be 
documented on a form provided by the District, which includes signatures and reflect dates of use.  
 

2. Exempt Management Staff – In conducting District business, an exempt employee may choose to 
either be issued a District-provided cellular device; or use their own personal device and be 
reimbursed a reasonable percentage of the monthly cost, which may be subject to IRS regulations. 
Said employee shall complete an acknowledgment form, documenting which option is selected. 

B. Usage 
In order to avoid incurring a tax liability for the personal use of District equipment, such equipment 
should be used for business reasons. 
 
All employees understand that while some de minimis personal use is inevitable, a District provided 
mobile device is intended for business calls. Employees are not authorized to conduct personal 
business on District time, and shall limit personal phone calls, or other personal business to breaks 
or meal periods. Call summary reports (i.e. number of minutes used) are distributed to supervisors 
on a periodic basis and are to be reviewed for reasonableness. Employees will reimburse the 
District for any overage charges related to personal use, including but not limited to, charges for 
long distance and/or roaming charges, overage charges, multimedia charges, and charges for 
directory assistance. The call detail records generated from assigned cell phones are considered 
records of the District and may, on occasion, be subject to internal and outside audits by the District 
and/or official agencies. 
 
Users are not authorized to access any website using their District issued cellular/wireless device 
that would be a violation of the District’s Computer Systems, Email, and Internet Use Policy. 
 
Use of cells phones, or other mobile device may create an overtime liability to the District, therefore, 
use is only by advance Supervisory approval. 

6. PERSONAL DEVICES 
The District will not be liable for the loss or damage of personal mobile devices brought into the 
workplace. Personal use of any mobile device, unless authorized (e.g., on Standby) is considered 
personal time.  
 
Excessive personal use of cellular/wireless devices during the workday, regardless of the phone or 
device used, can interfere with employee productivity and be distracting to others. During paid work 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 121



 
 

6010 4 

time, employees must exercise the same discretion in using personal cellular/wireless devices as is 
expected for the use of any District telephone or computer. 

A. Telephone Calls/Text Messaging 
1. Employees must turn off ringers or change ringers to “mute/vibrate” on personal electronic 

devices, to avoid disruption in the workplace.  
2. A reasonable standard the District encourages is to limit personal calls and/or text 

messaging during work time to an average of no more than two or three short-duration 
calls/exchanges per day when needed. Employees are to conduct personal business, during breaks 
and meal periods and to ensure that friends and family members are aware of the District’s policy. 

3. Cellular phones may not be used at any work site where the operation of the phone is or 
may be a distraction or otherwise unsafe to the public or other employees. 

4. When a situation exists that requires the employee to be available to outside callers, the 
employee is responsible for timely notification to their supervisor, to seek temporary authorization 
with regard to sending and accepting limited outside communications during productive time.  

B. Prohibited Activities 
In order to ensure a productive workday, the following use of a personal cellular/wireless device are 
prohibited during working hours: 
 

1. Unless otherwise authorized, the use of cameras on cell phones during work time is 
prohibited to protect the privacy of the employer as well as of fellow employees; 

2. Accessing the internet for non-work-related purposes; 
3. Playing games; 
4. Watching movies, television, sports, etc.; 
5. Any activity that violates District policy, including accessing and/or distributing 

pornographic or harassing material; 
6. Cellular telephones, or other mobile devices, may not be used to defame, harass, 

intimidate, or threaten any other person; 
7. Employees are prohibited from using cell phones in any illegal, illicit or offensive manner. 

7. PRIVACY 
As with use of any communications device issued by the District, employees understand there is no 
expectation or right of privacy. 
 
The District has the right to review all records related to District issued cellular and/or mobile devices.  
 
Users should further be aware that in conducting District business, all records maintained by the 
District may be subject to discovery under the Public Records Act. 

8. EMPLOYEE REIMBURSEMENT 
The District will not be liable for the loss of personal cell phones or mobile devices brought into the 
workplace. Unless otherwise stated herein, employees are not authorized to use personal cell 
phones, or other devices in place of District provided equipment. 
 

A. Occasional User 
Employees may be reimbursed $.45 per phone call, when the work-related use is necessary 
in carrying out work duties, and there is no other option for the communication.  
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 122



 
 

6010 5 

B. Frequent User 
In lieu of a District issued device, District Employees who receive frequent and regular phone 
calls may submit written justification to receive a $75 per month cellphone stipend for use 
and listing of their personal cellphone for work purposes when requested and approved by 
District Administrator. 

 
Exempt employees choosing to use their personal device, rather than a District issued device, shall 
be reimbursed a reasonable percentage of the basic monthly cost, commensurate with frequency of 
use. The District may request proof of use (e.g., review of monthly phone bill) to determine a 
reasonable percentage. 

9. POLICY VIOLATIONS 
Employees who are charged with traffic violations resulting from the use of a cellular phone while 
driving on duty may be subject to disciplinary action and to personal liability resulting from such traffic 
violations and are responsible for paying the cost of the citation. 
 
Policy violations shall be addressed with corrective measures appropriate to the situation; including 
but not limited to policy re-review, training; loss of privileges, and/or as applicable, disciplinary action 
up to and including termination of employment. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 123



 

7000 
 

1 

7000 – DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR 

 
EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS  

Position Characteristics Under contract and general direction from the District Board of 
Directors responsible for the implementation of the policies established by the Board of 
Directors for facilitating the operation and administration of the District. The District 
Administrator oversees, participates in and provides direction for planning, coordination, and 
management of the administrative affairs of the District, engineering services as well as 
maintenance, and facilitating operations within a framework of legal requirements, policies 
and established organizational values and processes, with independence of action to meet 
changing operational conditions. 

Distinguishing Characteristics: The District Administrator is the only contract at-will 
classification with the District, who reports directly to the Board of Directors. This classification 
is the highest-level administration position in the District and is responsible for the overall 
administration and facilitating operations of the District. 

Supervision Exercised and Received: Supervision is provided at various classification levels 
within the organization requiring the use of sound management skills, business management 
practices, professional development, and supervisory skills; has direct supervision over the 
Bookkeeper/Secretary and the Wastewater Plant Superintendent; performs related duties as 
required. This is an at-will, exempt salaried position and reports directly to the Board of 
Directors. 

Minimum Qualifications: 

Education: Graduation from an accredited college or university with a related bachelor’s 
degree. 

Experience: Five years increasingly responsible management or administrative experience 
with the responsibility for the formulation and implementation of programs and services; and 
three years supervisory responsibilities. Experience in the field of Wastewater treatment is 
highly desirable.  

Possession of: Must possess a valid California class C driver license and a satisfactory driving 
record to meet eligibility standards for motor vehicle insurance coverage established by the 
District’s insurance carrier. Possession of a related valid Certificate of Registration as an 
Engineer issued by the California State Board of Registration for professional Engineers is 
desired. 

 
Knowledge of:  

• Principles and practices of public administration, including administrative analysis, fiscal 
planning and control, record keeping/retention, and policy and program development. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 124



 

7000 
 

2 

• Cost estimating, construction processes, and contract administration. 
• Laws, rules, ordinances, and legislative processes controlling sanitary district functions, 

programs, and operations. 
• Organization, operations, and complexities of special districts. 
• The Brown Act and Public Records Act. 
• Research and evaluation methodologies. 
• Budgeting principles and practices. 
• Personnel and employer-employee relations. 
• Principles of supervision, training and management. 
• Principles of industrial safety and hygiene. 
• Project management. 
• Recent developments, current technology and informational resources regarding 

wastewater treatment and reclamation.  
• Computer applications related to the work. 
• Standard office practices and procedures, including the use of standard office equipment.  
• Effective and diplomatic communications techniques. 
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service to the public, elected/appointed 

officials, and District staff, in person, electronically, and over the telephone.  
 

Ability to:  
• Plan, organize, coordinate, and direct the work of staff to achieve efficient operations and 

meet program goals. 
• Exercise leadership, authority, and supervision tactfully and effectively. 
• Administer and enforce District budgeting and fiscal controls. 
• Prepare concise and comprehensive reports. 
• Coordinate the preparation of Board agendas and other Board activities in conformance 

with the Brown Act; and attend Board meetings. 
• Direct, coordinate, and implement programs to develop complex capital projects. 
• Take a proactive approach to complex problem solving using a variety of techniques. 
• Conduct technical research work. 
• Review designs, plans and specifications. 
• Provide advice and consultation to the Board of Directors on the development of 

ordinances, regulations, programs, policies, and services. 
• Communicate effectively during public presentations. 
• Effectively represent the District’s policies, programs, and services with the public, 

community groups, and other government agencies. 
• Establish and maintain cooperative and effective working relationships. 
• Effectively interact and coordinate with regulatory agencies. 

 
Typical Duties:  

• Serves as District Administrator to implement the policies and provide services as 
established by the Board of Directors for the operation and administration of the District; 
and acts as liaison with member agencies and all regulatory agencies.  

• Responsible to plan for the operation, maintenance, and enhancement of the District’s 
wastewater collection, treatment, disposal, and reclamation facilities. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 125



 

7000 
 

3 

• Makes recommendations regarding the long-and short-range planning of plant collection, 
operations, and facility construction and modification activities, including plans for 
financing. 

• Implements the Board’s policies and programs with employees, community 
representatives, and other governmental agencies. 

• Acts as appointing authority consistent with District Personnel Policy as established by the 
Board of Directors, relative to employee appointment, supervision, training, evaluation, 
discipline, dismissal, and resolution of grievances. 

• Oversees and participates in the preparation of the annual and capital improvement 
budgets, making recommendations to the Board on final expenditure levels. 

• Responsible for the administration of the District’s finances ensuring District finances are 
managed in accordance with proper public sector accounting principles. 

• Oversees, participates in, and directs the preparation and timely submission of a variety 
of written correspondence, reports, minutes, procedures, ordinances, bid specifications, 
and other materials.  

• Oversees the records keeping system, pursuant to District policy.  
• Monitors changes in laws, regulations and technology necessary to endeavor to keep the 

District in compliance with requirements of applicable State or Federal agencies; 
implements changes to policies and procedures, after approval. 

• Oversees resolution of and responses to complaints regarding plant operations.  
• Studies systems and procedures and proposes improvements and simplification. 
• Performs other related duties as necessary. 

 
Working Conditions: 
Works in administrative office of a wastewater treatment plant, which may require working in 
or near wastewater collection system environments; some exposure to water, chemicals, 
fumes, airborne particles, hazardous materials, and noise; the noise level in the work 
environment is usually low to moderate. Requires sitting, standing, walking, occasional 
climbing, bending, stooping. May work at heights, on uneven construction surfaces and in 
inclement weather conditions. Must be available for evening meetings and emergency 
response, as required. 

Physical Demands: Employee must possess sufficient strength to pull, push, or move 
material, equipment or parts weighing up to 25 pounds and sufficient stamina to walk, stoop, 
kneel, crouch, crawl, step or ascend/descend. Employee is regularly required to stand, sit; 
use hands to finger, handle, or feel; arms to reach; and talk and hear, with vision abilities to 
include close, distance, and peripheral vision, depth perception and ability to adjust focus.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 126



 

7010 
 

1 

7010 – WASTEWATER PLANT SUPERINTENDENT 

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS  
Position Characteristics: Under general direction, oversees, supervises, and 
coordinates wastewater treatment/water reclamation plant and District owned sewer, 
operations and maintenance. This includes administering all wastewater treatment, 
reclamation, collections, and disposal functions for the SSLOCSD Wastewater 
Treatment Plant, providing work oversight, review and evaluation to treatment plant 
operators and assigned maintenance staff. Successful performance of the work 
requires a high degree of technical and regulatory knowledge to ensure that all plant 
operations and laboratory activities are in compliance with National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System (NPDES), Regional Water Quality Control Board 
(RWQCB) and Air Pollution Control District (APCD) as well as other regulatory 
requirements.  

Distinguishing Characteristics: The SSLOCSD Wastewater Plant Superintendent is a 
management-level classification, and acts as Chief Plant Operator, responsible to 
plan, coordinate, manage, review and evaluate all water reclamation facility 
operations, maintenance and effluent disposal activities; ensures compliance with 
federal, state and local water, biosolids and air-quality regulations; performs related 
work as assigned. The Wastewater Plant Superintendent is distinguished from the 
Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor in that the former is an exempt management-
level classification responsible for the overall effective and efficient operations of the 
District plant; and provides direct support to the District Administrator. 

Supervision Exercised and Received: The Wastewater Plant Superintendent receives 
general and specific direction from the District Administrator within a framework of 
legal requirements, policies and established organizational values and processes, with 
independence of action to meet changing operational conditions. Exercises direct 
supervision over various levels of operations and maintenance staff within the 
organization requiring the use of sound management skills, business management 
practices, professional development, and effective supervisory skills.  

Minimum Qualifications:  

Education: Completion of two years of science related college or technical school 
training including 30 units of formal coursework in wastewater operations or 
possession of an accredited Associate of Science degree in chemistry, biology, 
wastewater treatment or a closely-related field and/or successful completion of training 
required by the California State Water Resources Control Board. 

Experience: Five years experience operating and performing increasingly responsible 
operations and maintenance on facilities and equipment in a secondary wastewater 
treatment/reclamation plant, including two years at a supervisory level or shift lead. An 
accredited bachelor's degree with 45 semester units in related science courses may 
substitute for one year of experience.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 127



 

7010 
 

2 

OR any combination of education, training and/or work experience to demonstrate 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to meet the above minimum requirements. 

Possession of: Must possess a valid California class C driver’s license and a 
satisfactory driving record. Must have and maintain a satisfactory driving record to be 
insurable to operate District vehicles. Must possess a Grade III Wastewater Treatment 
Plant Operator certificate issued by the California State Water Resources Control 
Board.  

Knowledge of:  
• Wastewater treatment operations administration; process theory and principles for 

primary and secondary processes, disinfection, solids handling and wastewater 
collections systems and analysis, and related state and federal regulations. 

• The operation, cleaning and preventive maintenance of wastewater treatment and 
disposal facilities and equipment.  

• The operation and preventive maintenance of piping systems, including hydraulics, 
telemetry, valves and related appurtenances.  

• Principles and practices of contract negotiation and administration. 
• Document and staff report preparation and effective presentations.  
• Recent developments, current technology and informational resources regarding 

wastewater treatment and reclamation, including Supervisory Control and Data 
Acquisition (SCADA) systems, and other measuring devices.  

• Standard chemical and physical tests of wastewater, sludge, effluent and related 
materials.  

• Mathematics at a level commensurate with duties;  
• Supervisory principles and practices, including work planning, assignment, review and 

evaluation.  
• Techniques for assessing and training staff in work procedures.  
• Principles and practices of public agency budget preparation, administration, and 

control.  
• The operation and minor maintenance of a variety of hand and power tools, vehicles 

and equipment related to the work.  
• Safety equipment and practices related to the work, including the handling of 

hazardous chemicals and confined space entry procedures, and lock out/tag out and 
industrial hygiene practices/procedures.  

• Applicable laws, codes and regulations.  
• Computer applications related to the work.  
• Standard office practices and procedures, including the use of standard office 

equipment.  
• Effective and diplomatic communications skills. 
• Principles, practices and techniques for providing a high level of customer service to 

public and District staff, in person and over the telephone.  
 

Ability to:  
• Plan, organize, supervise, coordinate, review, evaluate and personally participate in 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 128



 

7010 
 

3 

the operation and maintenance of a comprehensive wastewater treatment, 
reclamation and disposal system. 

• Plan, assign, supervise, review and evaluate the work of treatment plant operations, 
laboratory and maintenance staff. 

• Assess, and train staff in work and effective safety procedures. 
• Prepare a variety of reports, policies and other written materials relative to operations 

activities in a clear and concise manner, using proper English, grammar, spelling, 
vocabulary, and punctuation. 

• Recognize, correct and/or report dangerous, unusual, or inefficient operating 
conditions. 

• Read and comprehend a variety of gauges, charts and meters; record data accurately 
and make appropriate process adjustments.  

• Conduct standard chemical and physical tests of wastewater, sludge and related 
materials. 

• Troubleshoot maintenance problems and determine materials and supplies required 
for repair. 

• Read and accurately interpret construction drawings and specifications.  
• Maintain accurate logs and written records of operations and work performed.  
• Use tact, initiative, prudence and independent judgment within general policy, 

procedural and legal guidelines.  
• Communicate effectively, both orally and in writing. 
• Follow written and oral directions/instructions; 
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 

course of employment, using diplomacy and tact. 
• Take a proactive approach to problem solving; monitor and adjust processes. 
• Respond and direct District staff in the event of a natural disaster or emergency to 

secure and maintain district operations. 
• Use good judgment, make sound decisions. 
• Make recommendations on matters of policy, or complex technical and administrative 

problems.  
• Meet the physical requirements necessary to safely and effectively perform required 

duties. 
• Work productively in a team atmosphere. 

 
 
 
 

Typical Duties: 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
• Plans, manages, reviews and evaluates the operation and maintenance of the District 

wastewater reclamation facility and the associated laboratory.  
• Plans, organizes, prioritizes, assigns, supervises and reviews the work of staff to 

ensure that work is completed in a safe, efficient, and appropriate manner and within 
regulatory requirements; develops and implements work and standby schedules. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 129



 

7010 
 

4 

• Develops and maintains the District preventative maintenance plan to ensure timely 
inspection and service. 

• Trains staff in work procedures and methods; evaluates the work of staff, initiates and 
implements work selection and disciplinary procedures.  

• Inspects the plant and reviews laboratory testing results to determine treatment status; 
authorizes changes in activities to meet regulatory requirements and ensures the most 
effective and efficient processes are used.  

• Assists in and makes recommendations regarding the long-range and short-range 
planning of plant collection, treatment, and disposal facility construction and 
modification activities; assists in the development of the annual and capital 
improvement budgets.  

• Directs the maintenance and inventory of materials, chemicals, supplies and 
equipment required for the effective operation of the wastewater treatment plant.  

• Oversees laboratory testing activities; prepares or directs the preparation of regulatory 
reports and ensures their timely submission to appropriate agencies.  

• Contributes to and assists in the long-and short-range planning of water reclamation 
facility construction and modification projects; develops and administers the water 
reclamation section operating budget; assists in the development and review of 
requests for proposals; contacts vendors and service contractors regarding prices, 
delivery and services for materials, chemicals, supplies and equipment; negotiates 
and administers contracts for contractors and suppliers. 

• Oversees the work of vendors and contractors to ensure adherence to contract.  
• Inspects the plant for safety violations; ensures that safety procedures are followed 

and that safety equipment is worn; makes periodic safety presentations to plant staff.  
• Troubleshoots operational and maintenance problems; corrects, repairs or directs the 

correction and repair of operational and/or equipment problems.  
• Reads and interprets plans, specifications, maps, blueprints and schematics.  
• Responds to and resolves complaints regarding plant operations, including odors, 

discharge quality and permit problems. 
• May review permit applications and renewals. 
• Responds to emergency situations during off-hours, as required; must be available for 

standby assignments and to work emergency overtime, as required. 
• Directs the maintenance of treatment plant, shop areas and other facilities and 

equipment in a clean and orderly condition.  
• May operate valves, pumps and automated controls to regulate the flow of wastewater 

through the plant; may operate a variety of treatment plant equipment, such as pumps, 
motors, chlorinators, filters, chemical valves, digesters, bar screens and blowers.  

• Prepares and directs the preparation and timely submission of a variety of written 
correspondence, reports, procedures, ordinances and other materials.  

• Writes staff reports, drafts operational policies; attends meetings and makes verbal 
and written reports to the Board of Directors, District Administrator, outside agencies 
and the general public. 

• Completes special projects and coordinates assigned services and activities with 
outside agencies and consultants as assigned. 

• Maintains and directs the maintenance of automated and manual files.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 130



 

7010 
 

5 

• Monitors changes in laws, regulations and technology that may affect operations; 
implements changes to policies and procedures, after approval. 

• Performs related duties similar to the above in scope and function as required. 
• Facilitates staff training. 

 
Working Conditions: Works partially indoors and partially in the field at wastewater treatment 
plant, wastewater collection system environments; some exposure to water, chemicals, toxic 
gases, hazardous materials, and noise; hot and cold temperatures, heavy lifting/moving, 
standing, and climbing. May work at heights, in confined spaces, near traffic, road hazards 
and around heavy equipment, and in inclement weather conditions. Must be available to cover 
in emergency situations as required. Job or task assignment may require wearing of personal 
protective equipment as appropriate. May interact with distressed staff and/or public and 
private representatives in interpreting and enforcing District polices and procedures. 
 
Physical Demands: Must possess strength, stamina and mobility to work in a wastewater 
treatment plant and laboratory setting, to effectively move materials weighing up to fifty 
pounds and to use specialized test equipment, hand and power tools and instrumentation; 
stamina to work in confined spaces around machines and to ascend and descend 
ladders; vision to read printed materials, charts, gauges and a computer screen; hearing 
and speech to converse in person and over the telephone or radio. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 131



7020 
 

1 

 
7020 - WASTEWATER PLANT OPERATIONS SUPERVISOR 

 
EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS 
 
Position Characteristics: Under administrative supervision, provides daily lead supervision, 
participates in the daily operations and maintenance of wastewater plant facilities; performs 
a variety of highly skilled technical duties and semi-skilled labor in the operation and 
maintenance of the District’s wastewater treatment plant; performs adjustments and repairs 
to plant equipment; assesses and provides training to assigned staff; may collect and 
document samples for laboratory testing as needed; and performs a variety of related duties 
as assigned. May act as Wastewater Plant Superintendent as directed or Chief Plant 
Operator in his/her absence. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics: The Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor is a single-
position, working, first-line supervisory class, responsible for the reliable and accurate 
operation of wastewater collections and treatment systems. This classification 
recommends improvements, and processing changes to assure efficient use of District 
resources.  The Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor is distinguished from Wastewater 
Plant Operators I and II, and Wastewater Plant Senior Operator in that the former acts as 
a working supervisor. 
 
Supervision Exercised and Received: Receives direction from the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent. Exercises direct and general supervision over operational and 
maintenance staff. 
 
Minimum Qualifications:  
 
Education: Graduation from high school or G.E.D., supplemented with college level 
coursework in chemistry, biology, wastewater treatment or a closely-related field. Associate 
of Science degree in chemistry, biology, wastewater treatment or a closely related field, or 
specialized training in mechanical and/or electric trades, supplemented by management 
coursework is desirable. 
 
Experience: Five years progressively responsible experience in the operation and 
maintenance of a wastewater treatment plant, with two or more years of Grade III level-
experience; and one year of lead supervisory duties.  
 
OR any combination of education, training and/or work experience to demonstrate 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to meet the above minimum requirements. 
 
Possession of: A valid Grade III Wastewater Treatment Plant Operators Certificate issued 
by the State Water Resources Control Board is required. A valid California class C driver’s 
license with a satisfactory driving record is required. May be required to possess a valid 
California Class “A” or "B" driver’s license, or the ability to obtain one within six months of 
hire, subject to the United States Department of Transportation (DOT) Drug and Alcohol 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 132



7020 
 

2 

testing requirements. Must have and maintain a satisfactory driving record to be insurable 
to operate District vehicles. 
 
Knowledge of:  
• Wastewater treatment process theory and principles for primary and secondary 

processes, disinfection, solids handling and wastewater collections systems and related 
state and federal regulations. 

• The operation, cleaning and preventive maintenance of wastewater treatment and 
disposal facilities and equipment.  

• The operation and preventive maintenance of piping systems, including hydraulics, 
telemetry, valves and related appurtenances.  

• Supervisory principles and practices, including work planning, scheduling, assignment, 
review and evaluation.  

• Maintenance and repair principles of mechanical, hydraulic, electrical, and 
instrumentation systems commonly used in wastewater treatment plants. 

• Wastewater laboratory testing procedures and standards and standard process control 
analysis. Fundamentals of laboratory chemistry and mathematics. 

• The operation and maintenance principles of pumps, motors, valves, blowers, electrical 
motor control centers, and electronic instrumentation systems. 

• Basic and advanced arithmetic and statistical techniques, including percentages. 
• Techniques for assessing and training staff in work procedures.  
• Safety practices, rules and regulations involved in working on electrical, mechanical and 

hydraulic systems related to the work, including the handling and storage of hazardous 
chemicals, and other safety practices consistent with Cal/OSHA standards. 

• Laboratory and other operational safety and equipment care.  
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service to public and District staff, in 

person and over the telephone.  
• The effective and efficient use of computers and other technology systems, including 

the operation and maintenance of Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) 
systems. 

• Principles and practices of excellent customer service  
 
Ability to: 
• Supervise plant operations; assure proper adjustment of plant processes; coordinate 

sampling operations to assure proper balance of treatment steps and meeting effluent 
requirements; ensure the proper conduct of laboratory tests performed by operations 
staff  

• Plan, prioritize, organize, and communicate assignments clearly to staff. 
• Communicate effectively, both orally and in writing. 
• Make sound, independent decisions within established policy and procedural mandates 

and guidelines. 
• Effectively assess, train, schedule, evaluate, and supervise assigned staff. 
• Follow written and oral directions. 
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 

course of employment, using diplomacy and tact. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 133



7020 
 

3 

• Assess operations and laboratory procedures to recommend changes.  
• Prepare a variety of reports and other written materials on operations activities in a clear 

and concise manner, using proper English, grammar, spelling, vocabulary, and 
punctuation. 

• Effectively and efficiently implement operations changes. 
• Act effectively and efficiently with regard to operations in the absence of the Plant 

Superintendent. 
• Take a proactive approach to problem solving, including recognizing and correcting 

unusual, inefficient or dangerous operations conditions. 
• Troubleshoot operations problems and/or maintenance problems and determine 

materials and supplies required for repair; react quickly and effectively to emergency 
situations. 

• Read and interpret construction plans. 
• Meet the physical requirements necessary to safely and effectively perform required 

duties. 
• Skillfully use hand and power tools, electrical testing equipment, and equipment 

typically used in facilities and equipment maintenance. 
• Read facility system and equipment drawings and wiring diagrams. 
• Operate a variety of equipment ranging from small tools to heavy equipment. 
• Attend work and perform duties on a regular and consistent basis. 
• Lift 50 lbs. in the normal course of work. 
 
Typical Duties: 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
• Schedules, trains, evaluates, and supervises assigned staff. 
• Inspects and monitors various system processes for adherence to standard operating, 

maintenance, and safety procedures. 
• Supervises and performs accurate record keeping related to operations, and 

preventative maintenance, including graphs, charts, and logs. 
• Performs the most difficult wastewater collections and treatment plant operations, 

maintenance, and repair duties requiring advanced journey-level specialized knowledge 
and provides skilled technical assistance to operators.  

• Initiates purchase requests and work orders for needed services and materials. 
• Participates in the administration of preventive maintenance. 
• Plans and lays out operations and maintenance projects. 
• Adjusts work schedules to meet changing conditions and emergencies. 
• Prepares and maintains a wide variety of reports, both regulatory and administrative 

related to operations, maintenance, training programs and safety. 
• Operates and maintains facilities in a safe, clean, and orderly manner. 
• Coordinates operational activities with staff. 
• May oversee and/or coordinate permit applications and renewals; research and analyze 

data. 
• Reviews sewer maps to locate underground sewer utilities; marks sewer lines above 

ground; contacts utilities to provide underground service alerts. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 134



7020 
 

4 

• Participates in the annual budget preparation and project development. 
• Operates computer system utilizing various menu driven programs. 
• Operates a variety of equipment, vehicles, hand and power tools including trucks, dump 

truck/trailer, articulated loader, light crane, welders, presses, etc. 
• Performs related duties similar to the above in scope and function as required. 
• Performs general plant facility maintenance and performs various grounds maintenance 

duties as required. 
• Works weekends and standby on rotating schedule and work emergency call-back and 

overtime as required. 
 
Working Conditions: Work in wastewater treatment plant, wastewater collection system 
environments; some exposure to water, chemicals, toxic gases, hazardous materials, and 
noise; hot and cold temperatures, heavy lifting/moving, standing, climbing. May work at 
heights, in confined spaces, near traffic, road hazards and around heavy equipment, and 
in inclement weather conditions. Job or task assignment requires wearing of personal 
protective equipment as appropriate. May interact with distressed staff and/or public and 
private representatives in interpreting and enforcing District polices and procedures.  
 
Physical Demands: Must possess strength, stamina and mobility to work in a wastewater 
treatment plant and laboratory setting, to effectively move materials weighing up to fifty 
pounds and to use specialized test equipment, hand and power tools and instrumentation; 
stamina to work in confined spaces around machines and to ascend and descend ladders; 
vision to read printed materials, charts, gauges and a computer screen; hearing and speech 
to converse in person and over the telephone or radio. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 135



7025 
 

1 

7025 – WASTEWATER PLANT SENIOR OPERATOR 
 

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS 
  
Position Characteristics: Under limited supervision, participates in the daily operations and 
maintenance of wastewater plant facilities; performs a variety of advanced skilled technical 
duties and semi-skilled labor in the operation and maintenance of the District’s wastewater 
treatment plant; performs adjustments and repairs to plant equipment per standards; may 
provide team leader oversight and/or training to assigned staff; may assist in the collection 
and documentation of samples for laboratory testing; and performs a variety of related 
duties as assigned. May act as Wastewater Operations Supervisor as directed. May be 
designated as "operator-in-charge" as defined by the State Water Resources Control Board 
(SWRCB), Chapter 26, Title 23 of the California Code of Regulations. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics: The Wastewater Plant Senior Operator is an advanced 
journey-level class, responsible for reliable and accurate operation of wastewater 
collections and treatment systems. This classification recommends improvements, and 
processing changes to assure efficient use of District resources. The Wastewater Plant 
Senior Operator is distinguished from Wastewater Plant Operators I and II in that the former 
has an increased level of independence, responsibility and complexity of assigned duties 
within established guidelines; and may also be assigned as a team leader for a limited 
group of operators in general operations and/or special projects. Advancement to the 
Wastewater Plant Senior Operator classification is through a competitive recruitment 
process. 
 
Supervision Exercised and Received: Receives limited supervision from the Wastewater 
Plant Operations Supervisor and Wastewater Plant Superintendent. May exercise team 
leader duties over operations and maintenance staff as assigned. 
 
Minimum Qualifications: 
 
Education: Graduation from high school or G.E.D. Specialized training in mechanical and/or 
electric trades desirable. 
 
Experience: Three years progressively responsible experience in the operation and 
maintenance of a wastewater treatment plant. 
 
OR any combination of education, training and/or work experience to demonstrate 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to meet the above minimum requirements. 
 
Possession of: 
A Grade III Wastewater Treatment Plant Operators Certificate issued by the State Water 
Resources Control Board; and a valid California Class “C” driver’s license, with a 
satisfactory driving record. The Wastewater Plant Senior Operator may, at a future time, 
be required to obtain a California Class “A" or "B” driver’s license, subject to the United 
States Department of Transportation (DOT) Drug and Alcohol testing requirements. Must 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 136



7025 
 

2 

have and maintain a satisfactory driving record to be insurable to operate District vehicles. 
 
Knowledge of: 
• Principles and practices of wastewater treatment operations and related state and 

federal regulations. 
• The operation, cleaning and preventive maintenance of wastewater treatment and 

disposal facilities and equipment.  
• The operation and preventive maintenance of piping systems, including hydraulics, 

telemetry, valves and related appurtenances.  
• Maintenance and repair principles of mechanical, hydraulic, electrical, and 

instrumentation systems commonly used in wastewater treatment plants. 
• Wastewater laboratory testing procedures and standards and standard process control 

analysis. Fundamentals of laboratory chemistry and mathematics. 
• The operation and maintenance principles of pumps, motors, valves, blowers, electrical 

motor control centers, and electronic instrumentation systems. 
• Basic arithmetic and statistical techniques, including percentages. 
• Basic supervisory techniques; and techniques for training staff in work procedures.  
• Safety practices, rules and regulations involved in working on electrical, mechanical and 

hydraulic systems related to the work, including the handling and storage of hazardous 
chemicals. 

• Laboratory and other operational safety and equipment care.  
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service to public and District staff, in 

person and over the telephone.  
• The effective and efficient use of computers and other technology systems, including 

the operation of Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) systems. 
• Principles and practices of excellent customer service  
 
Ability to: 
• Independently perform plant operations; assure proper adjustment of plant processes 

within established procedures; perform sampling to assure Chain of Custody, and 
proper balance of treatment steps and meeting effluent requirements; perform the 
proper conduct of laboratory tests. 

• Plan, prioritize, and organize assigned work. 
• Make sound, independent decisions within established policy and procedural 

guidelines. 
• Provide effective guidance and oversight to less experienced staff as assigned. 
• Communicate effectively, both orally and in writing. 
• Follow written and oral directions; 
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 

course of employment, using diplomacy and tact. 
• Prepare a variety of reports and other written materials on operations activities in a clear 

and concise manner, using proper English, grammar, spelling, vocabulary, and 
punctuation. 

• Effectively and efficiently implement operations changes. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 137



7025 
 

3 

• Take a proactive approach to problem solving, including recognizing and correcting 
unusual, inefficient or dangerous operations conditions. 

• Independently troubleshoot operating equipment, maintenance problems and 
determine materials and supplies required for repair; react quickly and effectively to 
emergency situations. 

• Read and interpret construction plans. 
• Skillfully use hand and power tools, electrical testing equipment, and equipment 

typically used in facilities and equipment maintenance. 
• Read facility system and equipment drawings and wiring diagrams. 
• Meet the physical requirements necessary to safely and effectively perform required 

duties. 
• Operate a variety of equipment ranging from small tools to heavy equipment. 
• Attend work and perform duties on a regular and consistent basis. 
• Lift 50 lbs. in the normal course of work. 
 
Typical Duties: 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
• Performs assigned treatment plant rounds; operates and maintains facilities in a safe, 

clean, and orderly manner; mixes and add treatment chemicals. 
• Inspects and monitors various system processes for adherence to standard operating, 

maintenance, and safety procedures. 
• Performs accurate record keeping related to operations, and preventative maintenance 

including graphs, charts, and logs. 
• Performs complex wastewater collections and treatment plant operations, maintenance, 

and repair duties and provides skilled technical assistance to operators.  
• Participates in preventive maintenance program. 
• Plans and lays out operations and maintenance projects. 
• Performs general plant facility maintenance and performs various grounds maintenance 

duties as required. 
• Prepares and maintains a wide variety of reports, both regulatory and administrative 

related to operations, maintenance, training programs and safety. 
• Operates computer system utilizing various menu driven programs. 
• Operates a variety of equipment, vehicles, hand and power tools including trucks, dump 

truck/trailer, articulated loader, light crane, welders, presses, etc. 
• Performs related duties similar to the above in scope and function as required. 
• Works weekends and standby on rotating schedule and works emergency call-back and 

overtime as required. 
 
Working Conditions: Work in wastewater treatment plant, wastewater collection system 
environments; some exposure to water, chemicals, toxic gases and hazardous materials, 
and noise; hot and cold temperatures, heavy lifting/moving, standing, climbing. May work 
at heights, in confined spaces, near traffic, road hazards and around heavy equipment, and 
in inclement weather conditions. Job or task assignment requires wearing of personal 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 138



7025 
 

4 

protective equipment as appropriate. May interact with distressed staff and/or public in 
interpreting and enforcing District polices and procedures.  
 
Physical Demands: Must possess strength, stamina and mobility to work in a wastewater 
treatment plant and laboratory setting, to effectively move materials weighing up to fifty 
pounds and to use specialized test equipment, hand and power tools and instrumentation; 
stamina to work in confined spaces around machines and to ascend and descend ladders; 
vision to read printed materials, charts, gauges and a computer screen; hearing and speech 
to converse in person and over the telephone or radio. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 139



7030 
 

1 

7030 – WASTEWATER PLANT OPERATOR II 
 

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS 
 
Position Characteristics: Under general supervision, participates in the daily operations and 
maintenance of wastewater plant facilities; performs a wide variety of technical duties and 
semi-skilled labor in the operation and maintenance of the District’s wastewater treatment 
plant; performs adjustments and repairs to a variety of plant equipment per standards; may 
provide training to other operators, as assigned; assists in the collection and documentation 
of samples for laboratory testing; and performs a variety of related duties as assigned. May 
be designated as "operator-in-charge" as defined by the State Water Resources Control 
Board (SWRCB), Chapter 26, Title 23 of the California Code of Regulations. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics: The Wastewater Plant Operator II is a full journey-level 
class, responsible for reliable and accurate wastewater collections and treatment systems. 
Incumbents may recommend improvements, and processing changes to assure efficient 
use of District resources. This classification is distinguished from Wastewater Plant 
Operators I in that the Wastewater Plant Operator II maintains a Grade II certification and 
may work independently on assigned duties within established guidelines. The Plant 
Operator II may be flexibly staffed with a Plant Operator I (Grade I certificate).  The Plant 
Operator I must attain Grade II certification within one year of date of hire. To advance to 
the Plant Operator II classification, the candidate must demonstrate the ability to perform 
the work of the higher-level class, and have overall satisfactory work performance, prior to 
approval from the appointing authority to advance. 
 
Supervision Exercised and Received: Receives general supervision from the Wastewater 
Plant Operations Supervisor and the Wastewater Plant Superintendent. No supervisory 
duties; however, may provide training to less experienced operators. 
 
Minimum Qualifications: 
 
Education: Graduation from high school or G.E.D. Specialized training in mechanical and/or 
electric trades desirable. 
 
Experience: Two years experience in the operation and maintenance of a wastewater 
treatment plant. 
 
OR any combination of education, training and/or work experience to demonstrate 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to meet the above minimum requirements. 
 
Possession of: 
A Grade II Wastewater Treatment Plant Operators Certificate issued by the State Water 
Resources Control Board; and a valid California Class “C” driver’s license, with a 
satisfactory driving record. The Wastewater Plant Operator II may, at a future time, be 
required to obtain a California Class “A" or "B” driver’s license, subject to the United States 
Department of Transportation (DOT) Drug and Alcohol testing requirements. Must have 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 140



7030 
 

2 

and maintain a satisfactory driving record to be insurable to operate District vehicles. 
 
Knowledge of:  
• Basic principles and practices of wastewater treatment operations and related state and 

federal regulations. 
• The operation, cleaning and preventive maintenance of wastewater treatment and 

disposal facilities and equipment.  
• The operation and preventive maintenance of piping systems, including hydraulics, 

telemetry, valves and related appurtenances.  
• Maintenance and repair principles of mechanical, hydraulic, electrical, and 

instrumentation systems commonly used in wastewater treatment plants. 
• Wastewater laboratory testing procedures and standards and standard process control 

analysis. Fundamentals of laboratory chemistry and mathematics. 
• The operation and maintenance principles of pumps, motors, valves, blowers, electrical 

motor control centers, and electronic instrumentation systems. 
• Basic arithmetic and statistical techniques, including percentages. 
• Basic techniques for training staff in work procedures.  
• Safety practices, rules and regulations involved in working on electrical, mechanical and 

hydraulic systems related to the work, including the handling and storage of hazardous 
chemicals. 

• Laboratory and other operational safety and equipment care.  
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service to public and District staff, in 

person and over the telephone. 
• Basic effective and efficient use of computers and other technology systems, including 

the operation of Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) systems. 
• Principles and practices of excellent customer service  
 
Ability to: 
• Perform plant operations; assure proper adjustment of plant processes within 

established procedures; perform sampling to assure Chain of Custody, and proper 
balance of treatment steps and meeting effluent requirements; perform the proper 
conduct of laboratory tests. 

• Plan, prioritize, and organize assigned work. 
• Use good judgment within established policy and procedural guidelines. 
• Provide effective guidance and oversight to less experienced staff as assigned. 
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 

course of employment, using diplomacy and tact. 
• Prepare a variety of basic reports and other written materials on operations activities in 

a clear and concise manner, using proper English, grammar, spelling, vocabulary, and 
punctuation. 

• Follow written and oral directions. 
• Communicate effectively, both orally and in writing. 
• Effectively and efficiently implement operations changes. 
• Take a proactive approach to problem solving, including recognizing and correcting 

unusual, inefficient or dangerous operations conditions. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 141



7030 
 

3 

• Troubleshoot basic maintenance problems and determine materials and supplies 
required for repair; react quickly and effectively to emergency situations. 

• Read and interpret basic construction plans. 
• Meet the physical requirements necessary to safely and effectively perform required 

duties. 
• Skillfully use hand and power tools, electrical testing equipment, and equipment 

typically used in facilities and equipment maintenance. 
• Read facility system and equipment drawings and wiring diagrams. 
• Operate a variety of equipment ranging from small tools to heavy equipment. 
• Attend work and perform duties on a regular and consistent basis. 
• Lift 50 lbs. in the normal course of work. 
 
Typical Duties: 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
• Performs assigned treatment plant rounds; operates and maintains facilities in a safe, 

clean, and orderly manner; mixes and add treatment chemicals. 
• Inspects and monitors various system processes for adherence to standard operating, 

maintenance, and safety procedures. 
• Performs accurate record keeping related to operations, preventative maintenance, 

including graphs, charts, and logs. 
• Performs wastewater collections and treatment plant operations, maintenance, and 

repair duties and provides technical assistance to operators.  
• Participates in preventive maintenance program. 
• Performs general plant facility maintenance and performs various grounds maintenance 

duties as required. 
• Prepares and maintains a wide variety of reports, both regulatory and administrative 

related to operations, maintenance, training programs and safety. 
• May oversee research and analyze data. 
• Operates computer system utilizing various menu driven programs. 
• Operates a variety of equipment, vehicles, hand and power tools including trucks, dump 

truck/trailer, articulated loader, light crane, welders, presses, etc. 
• Performs related duties similar to the above in scope and function as required. 
• Works weekends and standby on rotating schedule and works emergency call-back and 

overtime as required. 
 
Working Conditions: Work in wastewater treatment plant, wastewater collection system 
environments; some exposure to water, chemicals, toxic gases and hazardous materials, 
and noise; hot and cold temperatures, heavy lifting/moving, standing, climbing. May work 
at heights, in confined spaces, near traffic, road hazards and around heavy equipment, and 
in inclement weather conditions. Job or task assignment requires wearing of personal 
protective equipment as appropriate. May interact with distressed staff and/or public in 
interpreting and enforcing District polices and procedures.  
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 142



7030 
 

4 

Physical Demands: Must possess strength, stamina and mobility to work in a wastewater 
treatment plant and laboratory setting, to effectively move materials weighing up to fifty 
pounds and to use specialized test equipment, hand and power tools and instrumentation; 
stamina to work in confined spaces around machines and to ascend and descend ladders; 
vision to read printed materials, charts, gauges and a computer screen; hearing and speech 
to converse in person and over the telephone or radio. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 143



7035 
 

1 

7035 – WASTEWATER PLANT OPERATOR I 
 

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS 
  
Position Characteristics: Under direct supervision, participates in the daily operations and 
maintenance of wastewater plant facilities; performs a variety of technical duties and semi-
skilled labor in the operation and maintenance of the District’s wastewater treatment plant; 
performs adjustments and repairs to a variety of plant equipment per standards; may assist 
in the collection and documentation of samples for laboratory testing; and performs related 
duties as assigned. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics: The Wastewater Plant Operator I is the entry-level class, 
responsible for reliable and accurate wastewater collections and treatment systems. This 
classification is distinguished from Wastewater Plant Operator II by grade certification, 
experience requirements, and by the level of responsibilities and assigned duties which 
must be performed within established guidelines. The Wastewater Plant Operator I 
classification is solely for flexible staffing of the Wastewater Plant Operator II. The 
Wastewater Plant Operator I must attain grade II certification within one year of date of hire 
and advance to Wastewater Plant Operator II within probationary period. To advance to the 
Wastewater Plant Operator II classification, the incumbent must possess a grade II 
certificate, demonstrate the ability to perform the work of the higher-level class, and have 
overall satisfactory work performance, prior to approval from the appointing authority to 
advance. 
 
Supervision Exercised and Received: Receives direct supervision from the Wastewater 
Plant Operations Supervisor and Wastewater Plant Superintendent. This classification has 
no supervisory duties. 
 
Minimum Qualifications: 
 
Education: Graduation from high school or G.E.D. Specialized training in mechanical and/or 
electric trades desirable. 
 
Experience: One year of experience in the operation and maintenance of a wastewater 
treatment plant. 
 
OR any combination of education, training and/or work experience to demonstrate 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to meet the above minimum requirements. 
 
Possession of: 
A Grade I Wastewater Treatment Plant Operators Certificate issued by the State Water 
Resources Control Board; and a valid California Class “C” driver’s license, with a 
satisfactory driving record. Must have and maintain a satisfactory driving record to be 
insurable to operate District vehicles. 
 
Knowledge of:  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 144



7035 
 

2 

• Basic principles and practices of wastewater treatment operations and related state and 
federal regulations. 

• Basic operation, cleaning and preventive maintenance of wastewater treatment and 
disposal facilities and equipment.  

• Basic operation and preventive maintenance of piping systems, including hydraulics, 
telemetry, valves and related appurtenances.  

• Basic maintenance and repair principles of mechanical, hydraulic, electrical, and 
instrumentation systems commonly used in wastewater treatment plants. 

• The basic operation and maintenance principles of pumps, motors, valves, blowers, 
electrical motor control centers, and electronic instrumentation systems. 

• Basic arithmetic and statistical techniques, including percentages. 
• Safety practices, rules and regulations involved in working on electrical, mechanical and 

hydraulic systems related to the work, including the handling and storage of hazardous 
chemicals. 

• Basic operational safety and equipment care.  
• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service to public and District staff, in 

person and over the telephone. 
• Basic effective and efficient use of computers and other technology systems, including 

the operation of Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) systems. 
• Principles and practices of excellent customer service.  
 
Ability to: 
• Perform basic plant operations; assure proper adjustment of plant processes within 

established procedures; perform sampling to assure Chain of Custody, and proper 
balance of treatment steps and meeting effluent requirements; perform the proper 
conduct of laboratory tests. 

• Plan, prioritize, and organize assigned work. 
• Use good judgment within established policy and procedural guidelines. 
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 

course of employment, using diplomacy and tact. 
• Complete a variety of basic reports and other written materials on operations activities 

in a clear and concise manner, using proper English, grammar, spelling, vocabulary, 
and punctuation. 

• Follow written and oral directions. 
• Communicate effectively, both orally and in writing. 
• Effectively and efficiently implement operations changes. 
• Take a proactive approach to problem solving, including recognizing unusual, inefficient 

or dangerous operations conditions. 
• Recognize basic maintenance problems; react quickly and effectively to emergency 

situations. 
• Read and interpret basic construction plans. 
• Skillfully use hand and power tools, electrical testing equipment, and equipment 

typically used in facilities and equipment maintenance. 
• Read facility system and equipment drawings and wiring diagrams. 
• Operate a variety of equipment ranging from small tools to heavy equipment. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 145



7035 
 

3 

• Meet the physical requirements necessary to safely and effectively perform required 
duties. 

• Attend work and perform duties on a regular and consistent basis. 
• Lift 50 lbs. in the normal course of work. 
 
Typical Duties: 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
• Performs assigned treatment plant rounds; operates and maintains facilities in a safe, 

clean, and orderly manner; mixes and add treatment chemicals per standards. 
• Inspects and monitors various system processes for adherence to standard operating, 

maintenance, and safety procedures. 
• Performs accurate record keeping related to operations, preventative maintenance, 

including graphs, charts, and logs. 
• Performs wastewater collections and treatment plant operations, maintenance, and 

repair duties.  
• Participates in preventive maintenance program. 
• Performs general plant facility maintenance and performs various grounds maintenance 

duties as required. 
• Prepares and maintains reports as directed. 
• Operates computer system utilizing various menu driven programs. 
• Operates a variety of equipment, vehicles, hand and power tools including trucks, dump 

truck/trailer, articulated loader, light crane, welders, presses, etc. 
• Performs related duties similar to the above in scope and function as required. 
• Works weekends and standby on rotating schedule and works emergency call-back and 

overtime as required. 
 
Working Conditions: Work in wastewater treatment plant, wastewater collection system 
environments; some exposure to water, chemicals, toxic gases and hazardous materials, 
and noise; hot and cold temperatures, heavy lifting/moving, standing, climbing. May work 
at heights, in confined spaces, near traffic, road hazards and around heavy equipment, and 
in inclement weather conditions. Job or task assignment requires wearing of personal 
protective equipment as appropriate. May interact with distressed staff and/or public in 
interpreting and enforcing District polices and procedures.  
 
Physical Demands: Must possess strength, stamina and mobility to work in a wastewater 
treatment plant and laboratory setting, to effectively move materials weighing up to fifty 
pounds and to use specialized test equipment, hand and power tools and instrumentation; 
stamina to work in confined spaces around machines and to ascend and descend ladders; 
vision to read printed materials, charts, gauges and a computer screen; hearing and speech 
to converse in person and over the telephone or radio. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 146



 
 

7042 
 

1 

7042 – LABORATORY TECHNICIAN 
 
EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
 
Position Characteristics: Under limited supervision of the Wastewater Plant 
Superintendent, collects samples and performs a variety of routine analyses of water, 
wastewater, reclaimed water and sludge in support of treatment plant operations and to 
meet regulatory requirements. Supports the operations staff by performing basic plant 
operational activities. 

Distinguishing Characteristics: The Laboratory Technician is designed to serve as the 
District Lab Director; perform technical Laboratory duties, and support operations functions 
as an Operator. The Laboratory Technician requires a CWEA Grade I Laboratory analyst 
Certification.  

Minimum Qualifications: 

Education: Graduation from high school or G.E.D. Bachelor’s degree in chemistry, 
biochemistry, biology, microbiology environmental, sanitary or public health engineering, 
natural or physical science is desirable. 

Experience: Minimum of six months experience with water or wastewater lab equipment. 

OR any combination of education, training and/or work experience to demonstrate 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to meet the above minimum requirements. 

 
Possession of: A Grade I or higher certification from the California Water Environmental 
Agency (CWEA) or California-Nevada American Water Works Association (CA-NV/AWWA) 
certification as a Lab Analyst/Water Quality Analyst and a valid Class "C" California driver's 
license, with a satisfactory driving record. Must have and maintain a satisfactory driving 
record to be insurable to operate District vehicles. State Water Resources Control Board 
Operator-in-Training within three months of hire. Grade I Operator certification within two 
years of hire.  

Knowledge of:  
• General principles, methods and techniques of wastewater sampling.  
• Performing biological and chemical test analyses and treatment processes. 
• Principles and practices of qualitative and quantitative chemistry, biology and 

bacteriology. 
• Principles of chemical and physical analysis. 
• Fundamentals of laboratory chemistry and intermediate mathematics. 
• Use and care of laboratory equipment. 
• Aseptic laboratory techniques; laboratory hazards. 
• Proper laboratory safety precautions and procedures as required by federal and state 

mandates, industry standards, and District procedures. 
• Quality assurance and quality control procedures. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 147



 
 

7042 
 

2 

• Proper methods and disinfection. 
• Laboratory equipment care. 
• Principles and practices of excellent customer service. 

 
 

 Ability to: 
• Perform accurate chemical, physical, and biological analyses of water, wastewater, and 

sludge. 
• Operate, maintain, and calibrate analytical instrumentation and equipment. 
• Utilize proper sampling collection and handling techniques with speed and accuracy. 
• Meet the physical requirements necessary to safely and effectively perform required 

duties. 
• Generate accurate reports; complete data analysis and provide graphical 

representations of the data. 
• Operate laboratory equipment; prepare laboratory reagents and solutions. 
• Plan, prioritize, and organize assigned work. 
• Learn practices and techniques of wastewater pumping, disinfection, and collection 

activities. 
• Learn the operation and maintenance of a variety of wastewater treatment equipment. 
• Read meters and gauges correctly. 
• Learn to make routine adjustments and minor repairs to motors, pumps, and other 

equipment. 
• Learn to perform and interpret tests and adjust chemical feed equipment accordingly. 
• Operate a variety of equipment ranging from small tools to heavy equipment. 
• Use good judgment within established policy and procedural guidelines. 
• Provide effective guidance and oversight to less experienced staff as assigned. 
• Understand and follow written and oral directions. 
• Use computers and spreadsheets. 
• Communicate effectively, both orally and in writing. 
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the course 

of employment, using diplomacy and tact. 
• Prepare a variety of basic reports and other written materials on division activities in a 

clear and concise manner, using proper English, grammar, spelling, vocabulary, and 
punctuation. 

• Keep accurate and legible records. 
• Effectively and efficiently implement operations changes. 
• Take a proactive approach to problem solving, including recognizing and correcting 

unusual, inefficient or dangerous conditions. 
• Lift 50 pounds in the normal course of work. 
 
Typical Duties: 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
• Performs a variety of laboratory chemical, physical and biological tests to characterize 

plant and industrial waste streams, and to determine plant compliance with state and 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 148



 
 

7042 
 

3 

federal regulatory agencies requirements, and process control parameters.  
• Analyzes and interprets routine test results. 
• Collects water, wastewater, sludge and receiving water samples from a variety of 

sources including creeks, spill sites, manholes, sewer lines and storm drains and 
maintains automatic samplers in proper working condition. 

• Prepares chemical reagents, lab supplies and glassware for use in analysis. 
• Follows established Chemical Hygiene Plan, Laboratory Quality Assurance (QA) 

program and chain of custody procedures. Recommends changes in collection, 
analyses, QA procedures or lab manuals. 

• Monitors system by reading gauges, graphs, meters, and control panels. 
• Monitors level of laboratory supplies and recommends requisitions of supplies as 

needed.  
• Monitors condition of analytical instruments and performs preventative maintenance of 

equipment. Observes proper safety precautions and procedures and maintains the 
laboratory in a safe, clean, neat and orderly condition.  

• Operates a variety of wastewater equipment. 
• Maintains logs and worksheets of operation. 
• Compiles equipment readings and test results. 
• Maintains wastewater treatment plant facilities, including grounds, buildings, and 

structures. 
• Performs related duties similar to above in scope and function as required.  
 
Working Conditions: Work in wastewater treatment plant, wastewater collection system 
environments; exposure to the environment, water, chemicals, hazardous materials, noise, 
and traffic; heavy lifting/moving, standing, and climbing. Wear personal protective 
equipment as appropriate for job assignments. May work at heights, in confined spaces, 
and in inclement weather conditions. 

 
Physical Demands: Must possess strength, stamina and mobility to work in a wastewater 
treatment plant, collections system, and laboratory setting, to move materials weighing up 
to fifty (50) pounds and to use specialized test equipment, hand and power tools and 
instrumentation; stamina to work in confined spaces around machines and to ascend and 
descend ladders; vision to read printed materials, charts, gauges and a computer screen; 
hearing and speech to converse in person and over the telephone or radio.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 149



7050 
 

1 

7050 - BOOKKEEPER/SECRETARY  

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS 
 
Position Characteristics: Performs a wide variety of responsible administrative and 
financial support activities, which may include data entry, organization and retrieval; 
processing payments and disbursements; automated and manual record keeping; 
document preparation, extensive public contact and assistance in person, over the phone 
and in writing; report preparation and filing; and other related work as assigned. Capable 
of performing a wide variety of work to ensure that financial operations run smoothly and 
that the public and staff receive the highest standards of customer service. Responsibilities 
include performing work independently in day-to-day situations, although supervision is 
available in difficult or unusual situations. The work may have technical aspects, requiring 
the interpretation and application of District policies, procedures, regulations and 
automated business, administrative, records management applications.  
 
Distinguishing Characteristics: The Bookkeeper/Secretary is a single class administrative 
support position that provides financial, administrative and confidential support to the 
District Administrator, and works independently on assignments using established District 
procedures and guidelines. 
 
Supervision Exercised and Received: Under limited and specific supervision of the District 
Administrator. This classification has no supervisory duties. 
 
Minimum Qualifications: 

Education: Equivalent to graduation from high school or G.E.D., supplemented by 30 
semester units of college level coursework in accounting. 

Experience: Two years of experience and knowledge of the activities, operations, 
procedures and policies of at least two financial support systems such as accounts 
receivable, business tax, utility billing, accounts payable, account maintenance, payroll or 
accounts reconciliation; and two years executive administrative support experience in a 
professional office setting, documents/records management and experience dealing with 
the public.  

OR any combination of education, training and/or work experience to demonstrate 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to meet the above minimum requirements. 
 
Possession of:  
A valid California Class "C" driver's license, with a satisfactory driving record. Must have 
and maintain a satisfactory driving record to be insurable to operate District vehicles. 

 
Knowledge of:  
• Methods, principles and practices of financial and statistical record keeping.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 150



7050 
 

2 

• Standard business arithmetic and basic statistical techniques.  
• Standard office practices and procedures, including filing and the use of standard office 

equipment.  
• Business letter writing and the standard format for reports, documents and 

correspondence.  
• Correct business English, including vocabulary, spelling, grammar and punctuation.  
• Principles and practices of excellent customer service.  
• Computer applications related to the work, including intermediate word processing, 

basic presentation graphics, and intermediate spreadsheet applications. 
• Website maintenance, including uploading data and documents. 
• Preparation of correspondence, reports, forms, receipts, vouchers, work orders, 

contracts, certificates and specialized documents related to Board of Directors agenda 
preparation. 

 
Ability To:  
• Perform a variety of financial support duties following standard guidelines requiring the 

use of independent judgment as appropriate. 
• Make accurate arithmetic and statistical calculations and receipting and balancing 

money.  
• Enter data and filing with speed and accuracy: word-processing speed of 45 wpm and 

operation of a ten-key calculator at 8,000 keystrokes per hour.  
• Interpret and implement policies, procedures and computer applications related to the 

finance system to which assigned.  
• Compose standard correspondence and reports independently or from brief 

instructions.  
• Use English effectively to communicate in person, over the telephone and in writing.  
• Use independent judgment within established procedural guidelines and written 

directions. 
• Type 55 words per minute from legible copy. 
• Prepare and present professional reports, documents and correspondence. 
• Follow written and oral directions. 
• Effectively and efficiently implement changes. 
• Take a proactive approach to problem solving, including recognizing unusual, inefficient 

or dangerous conditions. 
• Establish and maintain effective working relationships with those contacted in the 

course of the work. 
• Compile information from various sources and preparing accurate records, reports and 

files. 
• Use specialized software related to assigned duties at an intermediate level. 
• Effectively maintain the District website, including uploading data and documents. 
• Develop effective team relationships with Plant staff at all levels. 
• Attend work and perform duties on a regular and consistent basis. 
• Lift up to 25 lbs. in the normal course of work. 
 
Typical Duties: 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 151



7050 
 

3 

Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
• Performs a variety of complex financial duties in support of accounting and customer 

service operations. 
• Processes accounts receivable: reviews and processes invoices; balances cash 

receipts; enters payments, adjustments and new accounts; maintains payment 
ledgers; and reviews open balances making adjustments as necessary. 

• Processes accounts payable; reviews vouchers for proper account number and 
authorization; prepares voucher batches for data entry and proofs data entry; 
processes encumbrances; processes monthly bills; and prepares payments on 
contracts in compliance with contract stipulations. 

• Prepares balance sheets, month-end closing entries and other financial and statistical 
reports. 

• Processes payroll: reviews timecards for accuracy; calculates new information and any 
necessary adjustments; proofs and corrects data entry; prepares vouchers for payment 
of payroll deductions; balances data to controls; and prepares reports. 

• Performs cashiering duties: calculates, receives, records and processes payment for 
utility bills, accounts receivable and other fees; balances cash register. 

• Performs account reconciliation functions: prepares journal entries; coordinates 
reports, resolutions, contracts, agreements, and budget requests for input into 
accounting system; provides support to other District divisions in analyzing and 
correcting operating budget information. 

• Records data and maintains statistical and financial records and logs; performs data 
entry; checks, verifies, and files financial data. 

• Establishes and maintains financial and office files, following an established records 
management system; compiles information from such files. 

• Prepares, reviews and/or enters employee time card information and maintains related 
records for staff. 

• Explains financial-related policies. 
• Composes standard correspondence, such as transmittal letters, from prior materials 

or brief instructions. 
• Proofreads materials for accuracy, completeness, compliance with District policies, 

formatting and correct English usage including grammar, punctuation and spelling. 
• Enters, edits, updates and retrieves data from narrative reports or spreadsheets and 

prepares periodic or special reports, following established formats and menus; creates 
new District forms. 

• Maintains and purges District files pursuant to District Records Management Systems. 
• Explains District policies. 
• Processes and distributes incoming and outgoing mail. 
• Operates standard office equipment, including job-related computer hardware and 

software applications, electronic ten-key calculators, facsimile equipment and multi-
line telephones; may operate a two-way radio or other communications equipment.  

• Provides assistance and information to the public and other District employees; 
answers telephone and assists public at counter.  

• Completes standard forms (both online formats and hard copy) with information from 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 152



7050 
 

4 

the public.  
• Provides instruction, direction and work review to less experienced, part-time staff or 

volunteers on a project basis. 
• Serves on a variety of project teams or committees as assigned. 
• Performs related duties similar to the above in scope and function as required. 
 
Working Conditions: Work in the office of a wastewater treatment plant, wastewater 
collection system environments; some exposure to water, chemicals, hazardous materials, 
and noise; lifting/moving, standing, climbing. 
 
Physical Demands: Must possess mobility to work in a standard office setting, to use 
standard office equipment (including a computer) and to move between various facility 
locations; strength to lift and carry office materials weighing up to twenty-five pounds; 
vision to read printed materials and a computer screen; and hearing and speech to 
communicate in person and over the telephone or two-way radio. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 153



7060 
 

1 

7060 – WASTEWATER PLANT OPERATOR-IN-TRAINING INTERN  
 
EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS  
 
Position Characteristics: Under direct supervision, performs a variety of skilled and semi-
skilled duties in the operation, maintenance, and repair of the District's wastewater 
treatment plant and associated facilities. 
 
Distinguishing Characteristics: The Wastewater Plant Operator-In-Training is the trainee-
level class. Employment in this position will last for a maximum of one year for the purposes 
of learning the skills and knowledge base necessary to receive certification as a Grade I 
operator under the California State Operator Certification regulations. To advance to the 
Plant Operator I classification, the incumbent must possess a Grade I certificate, 
demonstrate the ability to perform the work of the higher-level class, and have overall 
satisfactory work performance, prior to approval from the appointing authority to advance. 
 
Supervision Exercised and Received: Receives direct supervision from the Wastewater 
Plant Operations Supervisor or a Wastewater Plant Senior Operator as assigned. This 
classification has no supervisory duties. 
 
Minimum Qualifications: 

Education: Graduation from high school or G.E.D.  

Experience: Experience performing basic construction and maintenance of pipes, valves, 
mechanical electrical equipment and fittings, general mechanical/electrical knowledge 
preferred, but not required. 

OR any combination of education, training and/or work experience to demonstrate 
knowledge, skills, and abilities to meet the above minimum requirements. 

 
Possession of: 
A valid California Class “C” driver’s license, with a satisfactory driving record. Must have 
and maintain a satisfactory driving record to be insurable to operate District vehicles. 

 
Knowledge of: 
• Basic math skills, including unit conversion and application of formulas to solve basic 

mathematical problems. 
• Basic computer functions, including file maintenance and basic application program 

operation and other technology systems. 
• Basic materials and equipment used in construction. 
• General mechanical and electrical operations, maintenance, and repair. 
• Safe work practices including chemical storage and handling. 
• Principles and practices of excellent customer service  
• Basic report preparation techniques. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 154



7060 
 

2 

• Techniques for providing a high level of customer service to public and District staff, in 
person and over the telephone. 

 
Ability to:  
• Meet the physical requirements necessary to safely and effectively perform required 

duties. 
• Learn the operation and maintenance of a variety of water and wastewater treatment 

equipment.  
• Read meters and gauges correctly.  
• Learn to make routine adjustments and minor repairs to motors, pumps, and other 

equipment. 
• Complete a variety of basic reports and other written materials on operations activities 

in a clear and concise manner, using proper English, grammar, spelling, vocabulary, 
and punctuation. 

• Follow written and oral directions. 
• Communicate effectively, both orally and in writing. 
• Establish and maintain an effective working relationship with those contacted in the 

course of employment, using diplomacy and tact.  
• Learn to perform and interpret tests and adjust disinfection equipment accordingly.  
• Operate a variety of equipment ranging from small tools to heavy equipment.  
• Lift 50 lbs. in the normal course of work. 
• Keep accurate and legible records. 
• Attend work and perform duties on a regular and consistent basis. 

 
Typical duties: 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
• Assists in plant operations. 
• Assists in routine maintenance. 
• Regularly monitors system through reading gauges, graphs, meters, and control panels. 
• Operates a variety of wastewater equipment. 
• Operates computer system utilizing various menu driven programs. 
• Maintains logs, work sheets of operations, compiles equipment readings and test results 

into logs. 
• Collects and analyzes wastewater samples. 
• Works closely with the water distribution team. 
• Performs related duties as assigned. 
 

Working Conditions: Works in wastewater treatment plant, water distribution and wastewater 
collection system environments; some exposure to water, chemicals, toxic gases, hazardous 
materials, and noise, hot and cold temperatures; heavy lifting/moving, standing, climbing. May 
work at heights, in confined spaces, near traffic, road hazards and around heavy equipment, 
and in inclement weather conditions. Required to wear personal protective equipment 
appropriate for job assignments. 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 155



7060 
 

3 

Physical Demands: Must possess strength, stamina and mobility to work in a wastewater 
treatment plant and laboratory setting, to effectively move materials weighing up to fifty 
pounds and to use specialized test equipment, hand and power tools and instrumentation; 
stamina to work in confined spaces around machines and to ascend and descend ladders; 
vision to read printed materials, charts, gauges and a computer screen; hearing and speech 
to converse in person and over the telephone or radio.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 156



7061 
 

1 

7061 - MAINTENANCE ASSISTANT  
 

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS  
 
Position Characteristics: Performs a variety of basic skilled and semi-skilled duties in the 
maintenance, and repair of the District's wastewater treatment plant and associated 
facilities.  
 
Distinguishing Characteristics: The Maintenance Assistant position is distinguished from 
the Operator classification series in that the Maintenance Assistant is not required to be 
certified by the State Water Resources Control Board as an operator and does not perform 
operator duties. 
 
Supervision Exercised and Received: Receives general supervision from the Wastewater 
Plant Operations Supervisor and the Wastewater Plant Superintendent. No supervisory 
duties are assigned to this classification. 
 
Minimum Qualifications: 
 
Education: Graduation from high school or G. E. D., with general mechanical/electrical 
knowledge. 
 
Experience: Two years of experience performing basic construction and maintenance of 
pipes, valves, mechanical electrical equipment and fittings.  
 
OR any combination of education, training, and/or work experience to demonstrate 
knowledge, skills and abilities to meet the above minimum requirements. 
 
Possession of: A valid Class "C" California driver's license, with a satisfactory driving 
record. Must have a satisfactory driving record to be insurable to operate District vehicles. 
A California Water Environment Association (CWEA) Collection System Grade is 
desirable. 
 
Knowledge of:  
• Materials and equipment used in construction, general mechanical and electrical 

operations, facility, equipment and grounds maintenance, and repair. 
• Basic math used in construction. 
• Principles and practices of excellent customer service.  
• Safe work practices including chemical storage and handling. 
• Basic use of computers.  
 
Ability to:  
• Meet the physical requirements necessary to safely and effectively perform required 

duties.  
• Perform or assist with a wide variety of general facility and grounds maintenance 

functions at the direction of Wastewater Plant Operators.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 157



7061 
 

2 

• Learn the operation and maintenance of a variety of water and wastewater treatment 
general maintenance and grounds maintenance equipment.  

• Learn to make routine adjustments and minor repairs to motors, pumps, and other 
equipment.  

• Follow written and oral directions. 
• Communicate effectively, both orally and in writing. 
• Establish and maintain a effective working relationship with those contacted in the 

course of employment, using diplomacy and tact.  
• Operate a variety of equipment ranging from small tools to heavy equipment. 
• Lift 50 lbs. in the normal course of work.  
• Keep accurate and legible records. 
• Attend work and perform duties on a regular and consistent basis. 
•  
 
Typical Duties: 
 
Duties may include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
• Performs routine maintenance on facility equipment. 
• Performs a variety of grounds maintenance duties. 
• Operates a variety of mechanical equipment including riding mowers, street sweepers 

and other motorized equipment. 
• Maintains logs, work sheets of operations. 
• Works closely with operators assisting with the maintenance of equipment. 
• Performs related duties as assigned. 
 
Working Conditions: Work in wastewater treatment plant, and wastewater collection 
system environments; some exposure to wastewater, chemicals, hazardous materials, 
and noise; heavy lifting/moving, standing, climbing. May work at heights, in confined 
spaces, and in inclement weather conditions. Required to wear personal equipment 
appropriate for job assignments. 
 
Physical Demands: Must possess strength, stamina and mobility to work in a wastewater 
treatment plant and laboratory setting, to effectively move materials weighing up to fifty 
pounds and to use specialized test equipment, hand and power tools and instrumentation; 
stamina to work in confined spaces around machines and to ascend and descend ladders; 
vision to read printed materials, charts, gauges and a computer screen; hearing and 
speech to converse in person and over the telephone or radio. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 158



8000-Appendix A 1 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 
 

EMPLOYEE GRIEVANCE FORM 
 
 
Employee’s Name:   Date:   
 
State specific reference to any law, policy, rule, regulation and/or instruction that was 
violated, misapplied or misinterpreted: 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Statement of Grievance and what occurred to have violated, misapplied or 

misinterpreted the above reference, and on what date(s). 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Circumstances involved, and specific examples/incident applied to violations: 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 
Decision rendered by the informal conference: 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 
Specific remedy sought: 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 159



8000-Appendix A 2 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

      

Employee's Signature Received by Date 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 160



 

8010-Appendix B 1 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 
PRE-EMPLOYMENT 

CONSENT AND RELEASE FORM 

DRUG/ALCOHOL TESTING 

I hereby authorize South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District and any laboratories or 
medical facilities designated by South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District to perform a 
urinalysis and/or blood test to detect the presence of illicit drugs and/or alcohol in my body. I 
further authorize reporting of the results of such test(s) to South San Luis Obispo County 
Sanitation District and its authorized personnel. I recognize that the results of such test will be 
used to determine my suitability for employment or for continued employment with South San 
Luis Obispo County Sanitation District.  

Any attempt to switch a sample, dilute, or adulterate a sample will be considered the same as a 
positive result. The laboratory may use one or more tests for adulteration.  

The only drugs, medicine or mind-altering substances, including drugs prescribed by a physician 
and over-the-counter medications, by brand name if possible (e.g., Extra Strength TylenolTM, 
Robitussin-DMTM, AllerestTM, MediprinTM, etc.), that I have used in the last forty-five (45) days 
are as follows:  

DRUG/MEDICATION  WHEN USED ISSUED BY:  
(IF PRESCRIPTION)  

   
   
   
   
   

 

NAME OF EMPLOYEE:   

FACILITY PERFORMING TEST:   

SIGNATURE OF APPLICANT/EMPLOYEE:   

DATE:   
 
 
SUPERVISOR REQUESTING TEST:  

NAME:   

SIGNATURE:   

DATE:   

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 161



8020-Appendix C 1 

 
SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 

 
CORE VALUES 

 
Our Core Values are as follows and not subject to compromise: 
 
1. Honesty, integrity and fairness in dealing with all representatives from regulating 

agencies, District employees, contractors, visitors and employees of member 
agencies. 

 
2. Mutual respect and dignity for all representatives from regulating agencies, District 

employees, contractors, visitors and employees of member agencies. 
 
3. A daily dedication to quality operation and maintenance and all other duties that 

District employees engage in. 
 
4. Commitment to contribute value through the work that each employee does. 
 
5.  With regard to people: 
 
 Each District employee will support one another in everything that they do. They 

will treat everyone fairly and respectfully - employees, contractors, visitors to the 
facilities and the general public. 

 
6. With regard to work: 
 
 Each employee will bring a daily passion for quality and excellence in the work that 

they do at the District facilities and wherever their work takes them inside the 
District boundaries and outside. Each employee acknowledges that this dedication 
increases the value of the work that we provide to our member agencies and to 
the community at large. 

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 162



8030-Appendix D 1 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 
 

CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

 
All employees are bound by the following of Code of Conduct: 
 
1 Theft, Fraud, Embezzlement and Other Acts of Dishonesty 
No employee shall engage in any conduct that constitutes theft, fraud or embezzlement 
from the District or any other acts of dishonesty that either affects the District or its 
employees financially or affects the District's reputation in the community. 
 
2 Harassment or Intimidation 
Employees of the District understand that harassment or intimidation in any form is 
improper and subject to discipline. Harassment or intimidation to include but not limited 
to; race, color, creed, religion, sex, or sexual preference shall not be tolerated. 
 
3 Reporting False or Misleading Information; Falsifying District Documents 
and/or Records  
Employees acknowledge that it is a violation of the Code of Conduct to provide false or 
misleading information relating to the District or District operations to any person, vendor 
or agency. This provision extends to the falsifying of District documents and/or records. 
 
4 Gifts, Stipends, or Gratuities  
Employees acknowledge that the solicitation of and/or receipt of gifts, stipends, or 
gratuities in any monetary amount or in any non-monetary form, associated with the 
District or District operations is strictly prohibited. 
 
5 Alcohol, Prescribed Medication, Illegal and/or Controlled Substances 
The use of alcohol or being under the influence of alcoholic beverages while engaged in 
work activity at the District is prohibited. Prescribed medication that adversely affects the 
employee's ability to perform District work activities in a safe, responsible manner are not 
permitted under this section. Employees under prescribed medication should consult his 
or her supervisor if the prescribed substance may affect the safety and well-being of the 
employee or other employees at the District. (Refer to Policy Manual Section 5060 
Substance Abuse for further information regarding Illegal/Controlled 
Substances). 
 
6 Unlawful Conduct 
District employees are prohibited from engaging in any unlawful conduct. This includes 
conduct that may occur away from the facility that damages or discredits the image and/or 
reputation of the District. 
 
7 Insubordination 
The District's chain of command is outlined in the District Personnel Policy. For the 
purposes of this section, insubordination means the failure to demonstrate respect for the 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 163



8030-Appendix D 2 

chain of command, the failure to take reasonable and proper work direction from 
supervisors, to include specific direction pertaining to work-related procedures and the 
handling of information. Insubordination may also include engaging in, displaying or 
encouraging any form of adverse behavior directed at anyone in the employee's chain of 
command. 
 
8 Disrupting the Work Environment 
It is important for the District's safe, efficient and effective operation that the work 
environment be free of disruption. No employee through his conduct may disrupt that 
work environment through his or her actions, words, or in any way by his or her conduct. 
 
9 Excessive Absenteeism or Unacceptable Patterns of Absenteeism 
District employees acknowledge that each employee performs a critical function for the 
District. The District policy provides for sick leave and vacation time and other personal 
necessity time away from work. However, absenteeism not handled in accordance with 
the District policies is not acceptable. All employees acknowledge that work vital to the 
successful operation of the District, is performed by those that report promptly for work 
as scheduled. 
 
10 Use of Communication Equipment and Services: 
District telephones, cell phones and computers shall not be used for any purpose other 
than to conduct the business and daily operation of the District. Occasional private use of 
District communication equipment shall be consistent with Personnel Policy Manual 
Section 5091 - Technology. All general records and files relating to telephones, cell 
phones and computers are considered "public records." No right of privacy shall attach to 
the use of a telephone, cell phone or computer owned by the District. 
 
11  General Conduct and Behavior 
District employees acknowledge that they are representatives of the District. As such, 
employees must not engage in any form of conduct or behavior that discredits the image 
or reputation of the District. Such conduct is prohibited by District Policy. 
 
12  Open Communications and Positive Work Environment Supervisors and 
employees should encourage and motivate one another to follow the provisions of the 
Code of Conduct. Questions or concerns should be discussed and resolved in a positive 
and constructive manner. Any unresolved issues should be addressed through proper 
procedures as described in the Personnel Policy Manual. 
  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 164



EMPLOYEE NAME: Regular Report      POSITION TITLE: DATE APPOINTED TO POSITION:
 Special Report   PERFORMANCE CYCLE DATE:

 DISTRICT HIRE DATE:
GENERAL PERFORMANCE CHARACTERISTICS

QUALITY:
   

QUANTITY:
  

SUPERVISION REQUIRED:
  

JUDGMENT:
 

CREATIVITY:
  

INTERPERSONAL SKILL:
  

ATTENDANCE:
   

SUPERVISORY SKILLS:
 

OVERALL RATING:  
    

Employee's Signature                                    Date District Administrator                             Date     Increase Approved (if applicable)

8040-Appendix E   

EX
CE

PT
IO

NA
L

COMMENTS:

MA
RG

IN
AL

COMMENTS:

COMMENTS: 

Probationary Report   

LE
SS

 T
HA

N 
SA

TI
SF

AC
TO

RY

UN
SA

TI
SF

AC
TO

RY
Accuracy; throughness; neatness of work in 
general, including if applicalbe oral and 
written expression; reliability of jobs 
performed.

EMPLOYEE WORK PERFORMANCE AND EVALUATION REPORT

SA
TI

SF
AC

TO
RY

CO
MM

EN
DA

BL
E

Listed below are the general performance 
categories. Each category defins a specific 
element of an employee's job performance.

COMMENTS:

SU
PE

RI
OR

Able to communicate well; works well with 
others;courteous, tactful, creates good public 
image; accepts supervision. 

Promptness in arriving at work; frequency of 
absence.

Ability to plan, organize, coordinate, 
delegate, train, make decisions and 
supervise. 

Indicate a rating for overall performance 
remembering to give extra weight to the 
critical element categories.

I have received a copy of this report and have 
had an opportunity to discuss it with my 
immediate supervisor. My signature does not 
nessarily mean I agree with the report.

COMMENTS: 

COMMENTS: 

Volume of work performed; promptness in 
completion of work.

Observes proper safety practices; 
knowledge of tasks to be done; generally 
amount of time required for supervision. 

Ability to handle new situations as they arise; 
response and reaction under pressure; 
ability to exercise common sense.

Contemplates new ideas; improves work 
situation or productivity with new methods or 
procedures; imaginative and constructive 
approaches to problem solving.

I have received this report and verified the accuracy to the best of my ability; if needed additional 
comments have been added hereto.

I have reviewed and discussed this report with the employee. This report is 
accurate to my best ability.

Supervisor                                                        Date

In each comments section below, explain the rating given and include specific examples, suggestions or other comments that 
may either help the employee to improve or provide insight into the rating given. If the category does not apply, write "N/A" in the 
area. 

As an employee's time on the job increases, the expectation for their level of expertise and productivity also increases. 
The ratings are based on the current performance cycle taking into account the employee's time in the position.

COMMENTS:

COMMENTS:

COMMENTS:

COMMENTS:

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 165



 

 

8050-Appendix F 1 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 
EMPLOYMENT APPLICATION 

 
EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT: It is the policy of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District 
(SSLOCSD) that there shall be no discrimination based upon any protected status under federal or state level, 
including but not limited to race, color, ancestry, national origin, religion, creed, age (over 40), mental and physical 
disability, sex, gender (including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding or related medical conditions), sexual 
orientation, gender identity, gender expression, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, military and 
veteran status, or any other basis protected by California or Federal law, in any personnel action, including 
recruitment, appointment, performance evaluation, promotion, and granting of leaves and any disciplinary or 
grievance action.  

APPLICANT INVESTIGATION POLICY: South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District (SSLOCSD) recognizes 
the importance of maintaining a safe work place with employees who are honest, trustworthy, qualified, reliable and 
non-violent, and who do not represent a risk of harm to them self, their co-employees or others. For purposes of 
furthering these concerns and interests, before hiring a person SSLOCSD reserves the right to investigate the 
applicant’s employment history, by obtaining information from any source regarding the applicant’s education, 
experience, character, financial or credit record, as well as other relevant information that is reasonably available to 
SSLOCSD, as it relates to the applicant’s employment or the position for which the applicant has applied. The 
background check may also include criminal convictions (with exceptions as stated in the background authorization 
form). Consistent with these practices, job applicants continuing in the recruitment process, will be asked to sign an 
agreement requesting, authorizing and consenting to the release of information to SSLOCSD in releasing all 
concerned from liability for disclosure of information. Consistent with legal requirements, SSLOCSD reserves the right 
to exclude any applicant from consideration for employment if the applicant refuses to sign this agreement as 
requested.  

SSLOCSD’s policies regarding company property, security, privacy, searches and its drug-free workplace policy 
provide further information about SSLOCSD’s discretion to investigate employees and mandatory reporting 
obligations. After receiving an offer of employment, any job applicant who wishes to review these policies before 
deciding whether to accept employment may do so by contacting SSLOCSD.  

1. Position Applying For:   

 

2. Candidate Name:   
  (Last) (First)  (Middle Initial) 
 

Candidate’s Other Name(s) Used (To Verify Employment/Educational History):  

  
Name: (Last) (First)  (Middle Initial) 
  
Name: (Last) (First)  (Middle Initial) 
 

3.   
 Present Mailing Address: (P.O. Box& Street)  Street Home Phone 
  
(City) (State) (Zip Code)  Work Phone 
 
4.   
 Permanent Address (if different from above) Street 
  
(City) (State) (Zip Code) 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 166



 

 

8050-Appendix F 2 

 

5. Are you legally old enough to work in this job? (circle one)  YES  NO  

6. If employed, I can produce verification of your legal right to work in the United States?  

 (circle one)  YES NO  

7 Do you speak, read and write a language in addition to English*? If so, please identify:  

  
Language Fluent (read/write) Basic (comprehend/speak) 
*Only respond to this question if the job announcement states bilingual abilities are desired. 
 
8. EDUCATION: Applicant may be required to furnish proof of academic training transcript or 
diploma, or certificate. 

Last High School Attended:   

Did you graduate? YES NO  

If you did not graduate, do you possess a valid GED certificate? YES NO 

RÉSUMÉS MAY BE ADDED, HOWEVER MAY NOT BE SUBSTITUTED FOR THIS SECTION  

 

College or University  Major/Minor  Units 
Completed 

Degree 
Received 

    

    

    

    

 

List any school courses, special skills, training, machines or equipment that you can operate 
that relate to the requirements of the position:  
  

  

  

9. Applicants for jobs requiring typing please certify skill level: Speed  (W.P.M.)  

10. Driver’s license number, if required for job:   

 Date of expiration:  Class Number:   

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 167



 

 

8050-Appendix F 3 

11. Top applicants that are recommended to an eligibility list in the recruitment process, will be 
contacted to submit the following documents, which must be received by all candidates 
within prescribed timeframes:  

(a) Signed Statement of Physical Requirements.  
(b) A signed Notification and Authorization to Conduct Employment Background Investigation, 

which includes criminal convictions (excluding some marijuana convictions more than two 
years old, any post-trial diversion program, or any legally expunged or eradicated 
conviction).  

(c) DMV issued driving record (Motor Vehicle Record (MVR)), dated within the last thirty (30 
days*.) 

(d) Valid required job-related certificate(s) issued by the appropriate authority.  
 
It is the applicants’ responsibility to respond timely in order to move forward with the recruitment 
process 
 
* If the job description requires employee to operate District vehicle, your application will not be 
considered if DMV printout is not attached. 

12. EXPERIENCE: Show your present job first; then list all other jobs in order, working down 
from the most recent. Use a separate block for each position held, even though with the same 
organization. List any job-related volunteer experience. If hours worked per week varied, give 
average. Account for all time for the last ten years. Attach additional sheet, if necessary.  

 

Dates/Hours  Exact Job Title and Duties Employer’s Name/Address/Phone  

__/__/__ to __/__/__   

____ Hours Per Week 

 

May we contact this 
employer? 

Yes No 

Title:   
Duties: 
  
  
  
Reason for Leaving:  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
Supervisor:  
  
  

 

Dates/Hours  Exact Job Title and Duties Employer’s Name/Address/Phone  

__/__/__ to __/__/__   

____ Hours Per Week 

 

May we contact this 
employer? 

Yes No 

Title:   
Duties: 
  
  
  
  
Reason for Leaving:  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
Supervisor:  
  
  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 168



 

 

8050-Appendix F 4 

Dates/Hours  Exact Job Title and Duties Employer’s Name/Address/Phone  

__/__/__ to __/__/__   

____ Hours Per Week 

 

May we contact this 
employer? 

Yes No 

Title:   
Duties: 
  
  
  
  
Reason for Leaving:  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
Supervisor:  
  
  

 

Dates/Hours  Exact Job Title and Duties Employer’s Name/Address/Phone  

__/__/__ to __/__/__   

____ Hours Per Week 

 

May we contact this 
employer? 

Yes No 

Title:   
Duties: 
  
  
  
  
Reason for Leaving:  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
Supervisor:  
  
  

 

Dates/Hours  Exact Job Title and Duties Employer’s Name/Address/Phone  

__/__/__ to __/__/__   

____ Hours Per Week 

 

May we contact this 
employer? 

Yes No 

Title:   
Duties: 
  
  
  
  
Reason for Leaving:  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
Supervisor:  
  
  

 

Dates/Hours  Exact Job Title and Duties Employer’s Name/Address/Phone  

__/__/__ to __/__/__   

____ Hours Per Week 

 

May we contact this 
employer? 

Yes No 

Title:   
Duties: 
  
  
  
  
Reason for Leaving:  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
Supervisor:  
  
  

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 169



 

 

8050-Appendix F 5 

 

13. Were you ever discharged or asked to resign from a position?  YES NO 

 Would you object to contacting of previous/current employer?  YES NO 

 If you have answered yes to either of the above, please explain: 
  

  

 
14. Have you ever initiated an act of violence in your workplace?  YES  NO 

A yes answer will not necessarily disqualify you. Please explain any “yes” answer above fully so 
individual circumstances can be considered. Use additional paper if needed. 

  

  

15. The South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District is an equal opportunity employer and 
does not discriminate in employment. No questions on this application and any supplemental 
information received is used for the purpose of limiting or excusing any Applicant from 
consideration for employment on a basis prohibited by local, state or federal law. 

16. The South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District has a policy that any offer of 
employment shall be contingent upon the applicant successfully passing a District physician’s 
exam and a urine and blood test for illicit drugs pursuant to Personnel Policy Manual Section 
5060 of the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District. Persons who do not receive said 
physician’s certification of qualification to do the type of work required by the position applied 
for, or who test positive for the presence of illicit drugs in their body will not be considered further. 
If you have reason to believe that you will not pass a physician’s examination or will register 
positive on a drug test, or if you are unwilling to consent to such a test or examination, it is 
recommended that you do not submit an application. Immediately prior to reporting for drug 
testing, all applicants shall complete a Consent and Release Form to be kept on file in the District 
office, attached hereto. 

17. Before date of hire, Applicant shall be required to pass a physical exam by a physician at 
District’s designation and expense. Applicant shall submit proof of United States citizenship or 
legal right to remain and work in United States, be fingerprinted and submit proof of age.  

18. Please attach any additional job-related information with your application which you feel 
will help the District in its evaluation of your qualifications. 

19. Prior to turning in your application to the District, re-check it to make sure it is correct, 
accurate, and complete. 

20. I understand that it is the District’s policy not to refuse to hire a qualified individual because 
of this person’s need for a reasonable accommodation that would be required by the ADA/FEHA. 

21. If job description requires employee to operate a District vehicle, I give the District the right 
to investigate my DMV records. 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 170



 

 

8050-Appendix F 6 

22. CERTIFICATION OF APPLICANT: I certify that all the statements made in this application 
are true, accurate, and complete to the best of my knowledge. I understand that all statements 
are subject to verification by the District and any false statements, misrepresentation of fact, or 
omissions of material facts may be considered sufficient to subject me to disqualification or if 
employed, may be cause for dismissal. 

 

Date: Signature:  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 171



8060-Appendix G 1 

 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 

PURSUANT TO LABOR CODE SECTION 432.9, THIS FORM SHALL ONLY BE USED 
AFTER AN INDIVIDUAL HAS BEEN RECOMMENDED TO AN ELIGIBILITY LIST AS 
TOP CANDIDATE 

Notification and Authorization to 
Conduct Employment Background Investigation 

 

I hereby authorize an Agent 
for South San Luis Obispo Community Sanitation District, to investigate my background 
to determine any and all information of concern to my record, whether same is of record 
or not, and I release employers and persons named in my application from all liability for 
any damages on account of his/her furnishing said information. I understand that this form 
indicates that a background search will be conducted and that this is my notification of 
that intent. I understand that the purpose of this background investigation is to determine 
my suitability for employment and may elicit information on my character, general 
reputation, personal characteristics and mode of living.  

Additionally, you are hereby authorized to make any investigation of my personal history, 
educational background, military record, motor vehicle records, criminal records and 
credit history (as applicable to the position for which I have applied) through an 
investigative or credit agency or bureau of your choice. I authorize the release of this 
information by the appropriate agencies to the investigating service.  

This authorization, in original or copy form, shall be valid for this initial report only. 

PLEASE PRINT CLEARLY 

FULL NAME:   

OTHER NAMES USED/DATES:  
 
CURRENT ADDRESS:  

 PHONE:   
 

LIST ALL ADDRESSES FOR PAST 10 YEARS: 

_________________________________________________Dates:   

_________________________________________________Dates:   

_________________________________________________Dates:   

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 172



8060-Appendix G 2 

 
SOCIAL SECURITY #:   

VALID DRIVER LICENSE#  STATE ISSUED:   

 

*** HAVE YOU EVER BEEN CONVICTED OF A CRIME? (You may omit minor traffic 
offenses, any convictions that have been sealed, expunged or statutorily eradicated, and 
misdemeanors for which probation was completed and the case judicially dismissed). DO 
NOT include any conviction under California Health and Safety Codes § 11357 (a or b), 
11360 (c), 11365 or 11557 related to marijuana more than two years ago, or any post-
trial diversion program.  If you have been convicted of a crime please briefly describe the 
nature of the crime(s) (please see exclusions listed above), the date and place of 
conviction, and the legal disposition of the case.  

 YES  NO  

If yes, please explain:  

  

  

 
***Note: No applicant will be denied employment solely on the grounds of conviction of a 
crime. The nature of the offense, the date of the offense, the surrounding circumstances, 
and the relevance of the offense to the position will be considered.  

I certify that all the statements made in this authorization are true, accurate, and complete 
to the best of my knowledge. I understand that all statements are subject to verification 
by the District and any false statements, misrepresentation of fact, or omissions of 
material facts may be considered sufficient to subject me to disqualification or if 
employed, may be cause for dismissal. 

 

SIGNATURE:   

DATE:   

☐ Please check this box if you would like a copy of the background investigation 
mailed to you.  

NOTICE: Under federal law, you have the right to request disclosure of the nature and 
scope of our investigation by providing us with a written request within 60 days of our 
background investigation.  

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 173



8070-Appendix H 
 
1 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 
 

STATEMENT OF PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS 

 
RECEIPT OF JOB DESCRIPTION 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM 
 

Name: 

  

Job Title: 

  

Job Description: Attached.  

Receipt of above-stated job description is hereby acknowledged.  

 

SIGNATURE:   

Date:   

 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 174



8070-Appendix H 
 
2 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT 
 

STATEMENT OF PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS AND ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS 
 
Name:   

Job Title:   

 
Job Description: Attached, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged. 
 

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY REQUIREMENTS 
 

Work Position approx. 20% approx. 30%  approx. 50%  70% or more 
Standing     
Walking     
Sitting     

 
Body Movements  
None = 0 
Occasional = 0 to 1/4 work day 
Some = 1/4 to 1/2 work day 
Frequently = 1/4 to 3/4 work day 
Continuously = 3/4 to full work day 
 
Lifting: 0 – 20 lbs 20-40-lbs 40-60 lbs more than100 

lbs 
None     
Occasional     
Some     
Frequently     
Continuously     

 
Push and/or 
Pull Loads: 

0 – 20 lbs 20-40-lbs 40-60 lbs more than100 
lbs 

None     
Occasional     
Some     
Frequently     
Continuously     

 
Carrying: 0 – 20 lbs 20-40-lbs 40-60 lbs more than100 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 175



8070-Appendix H 
 
3 

lbs 
None     
Occasional     
Some     
Frequently     
Continuously     

 
STATEMENT OF PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS 

AND ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS 
 

Bending: None Occasional Some Frequent Continuous 

Kneeling/Squatting: None Occasional Some Frequent Continuous 

Reaching Overhead 
Stretching: 

None Occasional Some Frequent Continuous 

Climbing Stairs: None Occasional Some Frequent Continuous 

Climbing Ladders: None Occasional Some Frequent Continuous 

Crawling: None Occasional Some Frequent Continuous 

Working on Rough 
and/or Uneven 
Terrain: 

None Occasional Some Frequent Continuous 

Handling and 
Dexterity: 

None Occasional Some Frequent Continuous 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS 

Related to Job Description 
 

Outside 
 

Outside and inside Excessive heat 

Excessive cold Excessive humidity Excessive dampness or 
chilling 

Dry atmospheric conditions Excessive noise, 
intermittent 

Constant noise 

Dust Silica, asbestos, etc Fumes, smoke, or gases 
Solvents (degreasing 
agents) 

Grease and oils Radiant energy 

Electrical energy Slippery or uneven walking 
surfaces 

Working around machinery 
with moving parts 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 176



8070-Appendix H 
 
4 

Working around moving 
objects or vehicles 

Working on ladders or 
scaffolding 

Working below ground 

Unusual fatigue factors 
(specify below) 

Working with hands in 
water 

Working closely with 
others (occasionally) 

Working alone 
(occasionally) 

Protracted or irregular 
hours of work 

Other (specify below) 

 

COMMENTS:   

  

  

STATEMENT BY APPLICANT 
 

Applicant Read and Sign: 
 
I hereby certify that I know of no reason (medical or otherwise) that would prevent me 
from performing the essential job functions or the physical activity and environmental 
requirements of the job listed above. 
 
I understand that District will require me to be examined by a medical doctor selected by 
District to determine my ability to perform the job-related function described above as a 
condition of any offer of employment by District. 
 
I further understand that any false statement or material omission by me in connection 
with such medical examination or concerning my job-related physical abilities will 
disqualify me from employment or be cause for dismissal when the false statement or 
omission is discovered. 
 
I hereby authorize the release of all medical information obtained during my medical 
examination to the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District. 
 
Date:    
 Applicant Signature 
 
 

STATEMENT BY PHYSICIAN 
 
I have considered the Job Description and the Physical Activity Requirements listed 
above in my medical examination and evaluation of this applicant and his/her ability to 
perform the functions as stated above. In my opinion the applicant: 
 
_____ is medically able to perform the job-related functions of the job applied for as set 

forth above. 
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 177



8070-Appendix H 
 
5 

_____ is not medically able to perform the job-related functions of the job applied for as 
set forth above. 

 
 is medically able to perform the job-related functions with the reasonable 

accommodations set forth below. 
 
 
Comments and Recommendations: 
 
(Give an evaluation of any above conditions affecting applicant’s ability to perform the 
job-related functions and any recommendations concerning reasonable 
accommodations.) 
 
  
 
  
 
Date: _______________________ _____________________________________ 
 Signature of Examining Physician 

Name of Examining Physician:   
 

Item 6D. Attachment No. 2 Page 178



Item 6E. Page 1 
 

SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY 
SANITATION DISTRICT 

Post Office Box 339 Oceano, California 93475-0339 
1600 Aloha Oceano, California 93445-9735 

Telephone (805) 489-6666 FAX (805) 489-2765 
www.sslocsd.org 

 
______________________________________________________________________ 

          STAFF REPORT 
 
Date: July 7, 2021 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From: Jeremy Ghent, District Administrator; Michael Arias, Plant Operations 

Supervisor 
 
Subject: DISTRICT ADMINISTRATOR AND PLANT OPERATIONS REPORT 
 
This report represents ongoing information on the latest District staff activities on major 
capital projects and studies, programmatic initiatives, regional collaboration, 
miscellaneous activities, and Plant Operations.   Updates since the last report are 
provided in italics below: 
 
Capital Projects: 
 
 
Redundancy Project:   

• The sheeting and shoring have been installed. 
• The dewatering system is up and running. 
• The mass excavation for the aeration basins and secondary clarifier are 

underway. 
• Rebar and concrete work are expected to begin at the end of July. 

 
Central Coast Blue: 

• No Update 
 
Misc: 
 

• The District will reconvene in person meetings beginning at the August 4th 
meeting.  This meeting will be held at the Oceano Community Services District. 

• The Plant was audited by the Regional Water Quality Control Board on 
06/29/2021.  RWQCB Staff reviewed several components of plant operations 
including previous violations, plant conditions, our preventive maintenance 
program, standard operating procedures, lab conditions, chemical storage, etc. 
The District expects to receive a report from the RWQCB in the coming month 
that will reveal any findings. 

 
Plant Tours:  
 

None 



Item 6E. Page 2 
 

Tentative Items:  
 

• Closed Session Annual Review of District Legal Counsel 8/4/2021 
• Award Professional Services Contract for Local Limit Study 8/4/2021 

 
 
 
 

Plant Operations Report 
 
During this reporting period (June 1st – June 30th ) the District’s facility met its Permit limitations 
as required under the State of California’s National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(NPDES) Permit issued to the District. All analysis was within Permit limitations.  
 

Monthly Plant Data for June 2021 

 
 
Operation and Maintenance Tasks 

• Re-condition, rebuild, paint water valve for air gap system 
• Assist vendor with FFR pump install and seal install 
• Checked Underground Service Alerts 
• Build and install adjustable brace for new auger at centrifuge 
• Installed new sludge bed water line 
• Assisted Filanc with video inspection of storm drain line 
• Replaced metal strap on influent laboratory sampler 
• Clean FFR VFD #1 and enclosure before pump installation 
• Trim trees at back entrance of plant 
• Replace boiler filter, schedule pickup 
• Install new plywood sludge wall at centrifuge 
• Install check valve at final clarifier bug box sump 
• Build  cabinet /rack for new SCADA  server  
• Install speed limit signs on light poles for construction crew/plant safety 
• Assist vendor with troubleshooting Sharples centrifuge 
• Prepare sludge bed #5 for dewatering usage 
• Clean out/prep polymer pump at H&M building for sludge bed dewatering 

 
Work Orders Completed 

• Clean and inspect Fixed Film Reactor orifices and netting, collect oil sample. 
• Rinse surfaces of all clarifiers 
• Amiad filter maintenance 
• Monthly Safety Inspectioin 



Item 6E. Page 3 
 

• Test ran emergency bypass pump and emergency generator 
• De-ragged both primary sludge pumps 
• Inspection and cleaning of digester vacuum/pressure relief valves 
• Quarterly Duperon Flexrake Maintenance (both Flexrakes) 
• Digester Mixing Pump oil seal service 
• Preventative Maintenance: 

o 6-inch trash pump 
o Plant carts 
o Forklift 
o Loader 

 
 
Training 
Staff safety training through Target Solutions online modules. 
 
Call Outs 
No call outs reported for this 
 


	AGENDA 07-07-2021
	Recommendation:  Adopt Resolution No. 2021-431 Adopting a Publicly Available Pay Schedule for Fiscal Years 2021, 2022 and 2023 in accordance with California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) regulations, Exhibit “A”.

	ITEM 5A WARRANT REGISTER 07-07-2021
	07.07.2021

	ITEM 5B MINUTES OF 2021 06-16
	ITEM 6A Staff Report SEIU
	SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY
	Recommendation:
	Adopt Resolution No. 2021-429 Which Grants Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) and Modifications to Benefits for the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the South San Luis Obispo County Sanitation District and the Service Employees’ International ...
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION:

	ITEM 6A. Attachment 1 Redlined 2021-2024 SEIU Full Doc
	1 DESIGNATION OF THE PARTIES
	A. Parties
	B. Recognition

	2 DEFINITIONS
	A. Full-Time Employees
	B. Part-time Employees

	3 REPRESENTATION
	A. Union Officers and Representatives
	B. Employee Relations Officer
	C. Release Time

	4 MEMBERSHIP AND MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP
	A. Dues/Fee Deductions
	B. Leave Without Pay
	C. Indemnification/Hold Harmless Clause
	D. Maintenance of Membership

	5 UNION STEWARDS
	A. Appointment
	B. Release Time

	6 USE OF DISTRICT FACILITIES
	A. Agreement to Use Bulletin Board
	B. District Right
	C. Meeting Rooms

	7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
	8 STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS
	9 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS RESERVED – Relegation of Management Rights
	A. Specific Management Rights Reserved

	10 EMPLOYEES’ RIGHTS
	A. Representation
	B. Refusal
	C. Right of Free Exercise
	D. Employee Status

	11 UNION RIGHTS
	A. Leave for Union Business
	B. Names of Unit Members
	C. Agenda

	12 NON-DISCRIMINATION
	A. Application
	B. Unlawful Interference

	13 PERSONNEL FILES
	A. Inspection of Files
	B. Comments and Review
	C. Authorization to Examine Files

	14 WORKING OUT OF POSITION
	15 HOURS OF WORK
	A. Work Schedule
	B. Emergency Response

	16 OVERTIME
	A. Overtime Hours
	B. Working on a Holiday
	C. Overtime Authorization

	17 COMPENSATORY TIME
	A. Definition
	B. Comp Time or Cash Payment
	C. Annual Cash Out

	18 STANDBY PAY AND AFTER-HOURS CALL-BACK
	A. Standby
	B. After Hours Call-back

	19 HOLIDAYS
	A. Recognized Holidays
	B. Floating Holiday
	C. Holiday Observation
	D. Regular Part-time Employees

	20 VACATION
	A. Full-time Accrual Basis
	B. Part-time Accrual Basis
	C. Holidays During Vacation
	D. Pay-Out Upon Termination

	21 SICK LEAVE
	A. Accrual
	B. Usage
	C. Separation of Employment
	D. Sick Leave Donation
	1. Employees may voluntarily donate up to forty (40) hours of unused sick leave per fiscal year in one (1) hour increments to a “sick leave bank” under the conditions established herein. The sick leave donation shall be on an hour for hour basis and s...
	2. The employee donating the sick leave must have a minimum of eighty (80) hours of accrued sick leave available after the donation. All donations to the “sick leave bank” shall be non-reversible and donations shall be processed on the District’s Pers...
	3. Employees eligible to receive sick leave hours from the “sick leave bank” must have been employed by the District for a minimum of eighteen (18) months, have exhausted all paid leave and are suffering from a long term illness or injury that will re...
	4. Employees utilizing the “sick leave bank” may integrate these benefits with the provisions of Section 35 of this Memorandum of Understanding for State Disability Insurance, as well as Worker’s Compensation, provided however that the total compensat...
	5. The District reserves the right to request sufficient documentation from a health care provider prior to making an eligibility determination.

	E. Conversion of Sick Leave

	22 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE
	23 DEFINITION OF IMMEDIATE FAMILY FOR BEREAVEMENT LEAVE
	24 JURY DUTY
	25 ALLOWANCES
	A. Boot
	B. Daily Uniform
	C. Certificate Reimbursement
	D. Operator and Lab Grade
	E. Computer Purchase
	F. Longevity Pay
	G.  The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to the employee tasked with serving as the District Safety Officer.  The District may rotate safety officer duties at the discretion of the District Administrator.

	26 HEALTH
	A. Employer Contributions for Active Employee Healthcare Coverage
	1. District Flex Dollar Contributions
	2. Cost Sharing for Rate Increases for Calendar Year 20220 and 20231 and 2024

	B. Retiree Health Coverage
	1. Current Classic Employees
	2. Current “InterimNew Members”

	C. Employees Hired After November 15, 2017

	27 DENTAL AND LIFE INSURANCE
	A. Dental Insurance
	B. Life Insurance

	28 VISION/DENTAL/MEDICAL TRUST
	29 RETIREMENT
	30 STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE (SDI)/FICA/MEDICARE
	31 ADVANCEMENT IN SALARY
	A. Step Placement
	B. Step Increases

	32 SALARY INCREASE
	A. Salary Ranges
	1. July 202119
	2. July 202220
	3. July 2023

	B. Comparable Agencies

	33 LAYOFF, BUMPING RIGHTS, REINSTATEMENT
	34 GRIEVANCE
	35 DISCIPLINE AND APPEALS
	36 TERM OF MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
	37 CONTRACTING OUT
	38 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE

	ITEM 6A. Attachment 2 Clean  2021-2024 SEIU Full Doc
	1 DESIGNATION OF THE PARTIES
	A. Parties
	B. Recognition

	2 DEFINITIONS
	A. Full-Time Employees
	B. Part-time Employees

	3 REPRESENTATION
	A. Union Officers and Representatives
	B. Employee Relations Officer
	C. Release Time

	4 MEMBERSHIP AND MAINTENANCE OF MEMBERSHIP
	A. Dues/Fee Deductions
	B. Leave Without Pay
	C. Indemnification/Hold Harmless Clause
	D. Maintenance of Membership

	5 UNION STEWARDS
	A. Appointment
	B. Release Time

	6 USE OF DISTRICT FACILITIES
	A. Agreement to Use Bulletin Board
	B. District Right
	C. Meeting Rooms

	7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
	8 STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS
	9 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS RESERVED – Relegation of Management Rights
	A. Specific Management Rights Reserved

	10 EMPLOYEES’ RIGHTS
	A. Representation
	B. Refusal
	C. Right of Free Exercise
	D. Employee Status

	11 UNION RIGHTS
	A. Leave for Union Business
	B. Names of Unit Members
	C. Agenda

	12 NON-DISCRIMINATION
	A. Application
	B. Unlawful Interference

	13 PERSONNEL FILES
	A. Inspection of Files
	B. Comments and Review
	C. Authorization to Examine Files

	14 WORKING OUT OF POSITION
	15 HOURS OF WORK
	A. Work Schedule
	B. Emergency Response

	16 OVERTIME
	A. Overtime Hours
	B. Working on a Holiday
	C. Overtime Authorization

	17 COMPENSATORY TIME
	A. Definition
	B. Comp Time or Cash Payment
	C. Annual Cash Out

	18 STANDBY PAY AND AFTER-HOURS CALL-BACK
	A. Standby
	B. After Hours Call-back

	19 HOLIDAYS
	A. Recognized Holidays
	B. Floating Holiday
	C. Holiday Observation
	D. Regular Part-time Employees

	20 VACATION
	A. Full-time Accrual Basis
	B. Part-time Accrual Basis
	C. Holidays During Vacation
	D. Pay-Out Upon Termination

	21 SICK LEAVE
	A. Accrual
	B. Usage
	C. Separation of Employment
	D. Sick Leave Donation
	1. Employees may voluntarily donate up to forty (40) hours of unused sick leave per fiscal year in one (1) hour increments to a “sick leave bank” under the conditions established herein. The sick leave donation shall be on an hour for hour basis and s...
	2. The employee donating the sick leave must have a minimum of eighty (80) hours of accrued sick leave available after the donation. All donations to the “sick leave bank” shall be non-reversible and donations shall be processed on the District’s Pers...
	3. Employees eligible to receive sick leave hours from the “sick leave bank” must have been employed by the District for a minimum of eighteen (18) months, have exhausted all paid leave and are suffering from a long term illness or injury that will re...
	4. Employees utilizing the “sick leave bank” may integrate these benefits with the provisions of Section 35 of this Memorandum of Understanding for State Disability Insurance, as well as Worker’s Compensation, provided however that the total compensat...
	5. The District reserves the right to request sufficient documentation from a health care provider prior to making an eligibility determination.

	E. Conversion of Sick Leave

	22 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE
	23 DEFINITION OF IMMEDIATE FAMILY FOR BEREAVEMENT LEAVE
	24 JURY DUTY
	25 ALLOWANCES
	A. Boot
	B. Daily Uniform
	C. Certificate Reimbursement
	D. Operator and Lab Grade
	E. Computer Purchase
	F. Longevity Pay
	G.  The District shall pay a stipend of $100 per month, in addition to other salary, to the employee tasked with serving as the District Safety Officer.  The District may rotate safety officer duties at the discretion of the District Administrator.

	26 HEALTH
	A. Employer Contributions for Active Employee Healthcare Coverage
	1. District Flex Dollar Contributions
	2. Cost Sharing for Rate Increases for Calendar Year 2022 2023 and 2024

	B. Retiree Health Coverage
	1. Current Classic Employees
	2. Current “Interim Members”

	C. Employees Hired After November 15, 2017

	27 DENTAL AND LIFE INSURANCE
	A. Dental Insurance
	B. Life Insurance

	28 VISION/DENTAL/MEDICAL TRUST
	29 RETIREMENT
	30 STATE DISABILITY INSURANCE (SDI)/FICA/MEDICARE
	31 ADVANCEMENT IN SALARY
	A. Step Placement
	B. Step Increases

	32 SALARY INCREASE
	A. Salary Ranges
	1. July 2021
	2. July 2022
	3. July 2023

	B. Comparable Agencies

	33 LAYOFF, BUMPING RIGHTS, REINSTATEMENT
	34 GRIEVANCE
	35 DISCIPLINE AND APPEALS
	36 TERM OF MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
	37 CONTRACTING OUT
	38 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE

	ITEM 6B Staff Report Non-Rep 2021 07-07 with Att
	ITEM 6B Staff Report Non-Rep 2021 07-07
	SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY
	Recommendation:
	Adopt Resolution No. 2021-430, granting Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) and Modifications to Benefits for Non-Represented Full-time Employees, Exhibit “A”.
	BACKGROUND
	DISCUSSION:

	ITEM 6B. Attachment  Non-Rep EXHIBIT A
	A. Salary Ranges
	1. July 2021
	2. July 2022
	3. July 2023
	4. District Flex Dollar Contributions



	ITEM 6B. Attachment  Non-Rep EXHIBIT A
	A. Salary Ranges
	1. July 2021
	2. July 2022
	3. July 2023
	4. District Flex Dollar Contributions


	ITEM 6C Salary Schedule with Att
	ITEM 6C Salary Schedule
	SOUTH SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY
	Recommendation:
	Adopt Resolution No. 2021-431 Adopting a Publicly Available Pay Schedule for Fiscal Years 2021, 2022 and 2023 in accordance with California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) regulations, Exhibit “A”.
	BACKGROUND and DISCUSSION:

	ITEM 6C Exhibit A
	Sal2021
	Sal2022
	Sal2023


	ITEM 6C. Attachment  Exhibit A
	Sal2021
	Sal2022
	Sal2023

	ITEM 6D STAFF REPORT PPM 2021 07-07
	Recommendation:
	Adopt Resolution No. 2021-432 amending and updating the District’s Personnel Policy Manual, Exhibit “A”.

	ITEM 6D. ATTACHMENT A. REDLINED CHAPTERS
	3000 Hours of Work and Overtime
	A. Definition
	B. Comp Time or Cash Payment
	C. Annual Cash Out

	3010 Standby Policy and Pay
	3031 Certificate Pay
	4000 Vacation
	4010 Holidays
	4020 Sick Leave
	6010 Cell & Handheld Device Policy
	1. PURPOSE
	2. POLICY
	3. RESPONSIBILITIES
	A. Individual Employees
	B. Management/Supervisory Responsibilities

	4. SAFETY
	5. DISTRICT ISSUED DEVICES
	A. Procedures
	B. Usage

	6. PERSONAL DEVICES
	A. Telephone Calls/Text Messaging
	B. Prohibited Activities

	7. PRIVACY
	8. EMPLOYEE REIMBURSEMENT
	9. POLICY VIOLATIONS


	ITEM 6D. ATTACHMENT NO. 2
	1PPM Title Page
	Updated Clean PPM July 2021
	5020 Discipline and Appeals Procedure
	Clean PPM July 2021
	1TOC2018
	1000 Introduction
	1010 Policy Amendments
	2000 Definitions
	2010 Chain of Command
	Sheet1

	2015 Nepotism
	2020 Recruitment
	2030 Break in Service
	2040 Outside Employment
	2050 Separation From District Employment
	3000 Hours of Work and Overtime
	A. Definition
	B. Comp Time or Cash Payment
	C. Annual Cash Out

	3010 Standby Policy and Pay
	3020 Pay Periods
	3030 Compensation
	3031 Certificate Pay
	3032 Out of Class Pay
	3040 Accepting and Providing Gifts
	3050 Performance Evaluations
	4000 Vacation
	4005 Management Leave
	4010 Holidays
	4020 Sick Leave
	4025 Family and Medical Leave
	4030 Bereavement Leave
	4035 Pregnancy Related Leaves
	4040 Jury Duty
	4045 Catastrophic Leave Donation
	4050 Voluntary Leaves of Absence
	4055 Family School Partnership Leave
	4060 Injured On Duty
	4065 Leave for Victims
	4080 COBRA Coverage
	4090 Military Leave
	4095 Time Off to Vote
	5000 Unauthorized Voluntary Absence
	5010 Grievance Procedure
	5030 Safety
	5040 Use of District Vehicles
	5050 Appearance and Conduct
	5060 Substance Abuse
	5070 Policy and Complaint Procedure Against Harassment, Discrimination and Retaliation
	5080 Political Activities
	5090 Fitness For Duty
	5091 Technology Usage
	5091 –technology usage
	1. Purpose:
	The District provides various technology resources and systems to its employees and officials, including computers, cell phones, smart phones, tablets, electronic mail, internet access, and other forms of technology to facilitate its employees’ work a...
	2. Policy Statement:
	This policy shall apply to all District staff and elected and appointed officials when communicating with District staff or on District business. District technology resources and systems are provided to employees for work-related purposes, in carryin...
	These technology resources and systems are business tools, which are to be used in accordance with generally accepted business practices and to provide an efficient and effective means of communications for the District.
	Such resources and systems are District property and are not for personal use on District time. These systems are not to be used in ways that may be disruptive, offensive, or harmful to morale. For example, messages that would violate this provision w...
	2. Privacy:
	Individuals subject to this policy do not have an expectation of privacy in their use of District technology resources and systems. District technology systems, equipment or supplies are provided strictly for business purposes and all access on work t...
	Similarly, there is no reasonable expectation of privacy in communications sent over the District e-mail network.  E-mail communications are not private. For purposes of this policy, e-mail shall also include all messages transmitted on the Internet.
	District issuance of passwords and access codes to such resources and systems is designed to control authorized access to such systems for business purposes and to protect the District systems from unauthorized intruders; it is not for the purpose of ...
	The District reserves the right to access and inspect all such systems at any time, without notice or employee consent, to ensure that excessive personal use is not taking place, to investigate conduct or behavior that may be illegal or adversely affe...
	Individuals subject to this policy should note that even though information on such systems may be “erased” or “deleted”, copies of such information may remain on the District’s back-up systems. All employees should understand that any information kep...
	The District periodically backs-up all computer files and messages, and due to the way in which computers re-use file storage space, files and messages may exist that are thought to have been deleted or erased. Therefore, individuals who delete or era...
	3.  Improper Use
	Improper use of District technology resources by District staff, elected and appointed officials is prohibited.  Improper use includes, but is not limited to:
	4. Use of the District system for transmitting any information that is in conflict with applicable law or District policies, rules or procedures; or which undermines the District’s ability to provide public services through its employees; or which har...
	5. Use of the District system for initiating or sustaining chain letters; or to solicit, promote or proselytize others for non-job-related commercial ventures, religious or political causes, or other non-job-related activities.
	6. Use of the District system in any way that communicates with the Board of Directors in such a way as to violate the Ralph M. Brown Act.
	7. Theft or unauthorized copying of electronic files or data.
	8. Unauthorized attempts to access data or break into any District or non-District system;
	9. Intentional misrepresentation of one’s identity for improper or illegal acts.


	3. E-mail Usage:
	All District employees, elected, and appointed officials utilizing electronic communications with the District must abide by the following requirements:
	A. District Property: The District’s electronic systems and the contents thereof are the sole property of the District and therefore not considered personal.  Communications sent from and received by the District system are subject to monitoring by th...
	B. E-mail Retention: E-mail messages which are “records” as defined by the California Public Records Act are subject to protection/retention in accordance with the Act.  Because the e-mail system is not designed for long-term storage, e-mail communica...
	E-mail messages which are responsive to existing public record requests, subpoena or production demand, or which are otherwise relevant to pending litigation or claim, shall be likewise retained in electronic subject files or hard copy format.
	C. Attorney Communications: E-mail messages transmitted to or from District Legal Counsel and/or his/her employees and agents may be considered to be confidential communications and are protected by the work product and attorney-client privileges.
	D. Pre-Approval of Outside Information: All materials – diskettes, flash drives, CDs, DVDs, applications, documents, downloaded materials, etc. – brought into the workplace from external sources must be approved by the District Administrator before be...
	E. Monitoring: The District reserves the right to monitor the District system including reviewing, auditing, and disclosing all matters sent over and/or stored in the District system.

	4. Incidental Personal Use:
	Authorized system users are allowed incidental personal use of the District’s technology resources and systems only during non-working periods. This incidental personal use shall not interfere with District business and shall conform to the provisions...
	Even if technology resources are used during non-working periods, users should not have any expectation of privacy of information transmitted or placed on the District’s technology resources. The information is still subject to review, monitoring, and...
	5. Social Media:
	Employees are not allowed to use the District’s Technology Resources for personal access to any type of social media, including Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, blogs, etc.  These items (and any others properly characterized as forms of social media) may...
	6. Internet Use
	The District provides authorized employees access to on-line services, such as the Internet. Employees are expected to use these services in a responsible way and for business-related purposes only. Under no circumstances, are employees permitted to u...
	Additionally, employees must not sign guest books at Web sites or post messages at Web sites as these actions will generate junk electronic mail and may expose the District to liability or unwanted attention.
	Employees are further prohibited from using District technology resources and systems, in addition to any other District property, to copy, retrieve, forward or send copyrighted or other proprietary materials, unless the employee has the author's expr...
	7. Consequences of Policy Violations:
	The failure by an employee to adhere to these requirements may result in restriction or termination of District system access regardless of whether it impacts his/her ability to perform assigned work tasks, and/or disciplinary procedures against the e...

	5092 Solicitation and Distribution
	6000 Business Travel and Reimbursement
	6010 Cell & Handheld Device Policy
	1. PURPOSE
	2. POLICY
	3. RESPONSIBILITIES
	A. Individual Employees
	B. Management/Supervisory Responsibilities

	4. SAFETY
	5. DISTRICT ISSUED DEVICES
	A. Procedures
	B. Usage

	6. PERSONAL DEVICES
	A. Telephone Calls/Text Messaging
	B. Prohibited Activities

	7. PRIVACY
	8. EMPLOYEE REIMBURSEMENT
	9. POLICY VIOLATIONS

	7000 District Administrator Job Disc
	7010 Wastewater Plant Superintendent
	7020 Wastewater Plant Operations Supervisor
	7025 Wastewater Plant Senior Operator
	7030 Wastewater Plant Operator II
	7035 Wastewater Plant Operator I
	7042 Laboratory Technician
	7050 Bookkeeper-Secretary
	7060 Wastewater Plant Operator In Training
	7061 Maintenance Assistant
	8000-Appendix A Grievance Form
	8010-Appendix B Consent and Release Form
	8020-Appendix C Core Values 
	8030-Appendix D Code of Conduct 
	8040-Appendix E Work Performance Master
	8050-Appendix F Application for Employment
	8060-Appendix G Background Authorization
	8070-Appendix H Job Physical Req



	ITEM 6E DISTRICT ADMIN and PLANT OPERATIONS REPORT



